
Cabinet

Date Wednesday 12 December 2018
Time 10.00 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Public Questions  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2018  (Pages 3 - 6)
3. Declarations of interest  
Key Decision:

4. Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and 
Transfer to High Needs Block -  Joint Report of Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of 
Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/18/06]  (Pages 7 - 58)

Ordinary Decisions:

5. Council Activity Report - Report of Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  (Pages 59 - 68)

6. Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Report - Report of Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 69 - 132)

7. Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - Report 
of Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 133 - 138)

8. Town and Village Centres - Way Forward - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 139 - 180)

9. Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Review: Role of 
the Social Worker from a Child's Perspective - Report of Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 181 - 216)

10. Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency response to 
domestic abuse in Durham - Improvement Action Plan - Report of 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services         
(Pages 217 - 272)

11. Regional Adoption Agency Arrangements - Report of Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People's Services  (Pages 273 - 358)



12. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

13. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
4 December 2018

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, K Shaw and B Stephens

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham, on 
Wednesday 14 November 2018 at 10.30 am

Present:

Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair 

Cabinet Members:
Councillors J Allen, J Brown, O Gunn, L Hovvels, O Johnson, C Marshall, A Napier, 
and B Stephens  

Apologies: 
Councillors K Shaw 

Also Present:
Councillors J Grant, A Hopgood, M McKeon, J Robinson, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes.

1 Public Questions 

There were no public questions.

2 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

3 Declarations of interest 

Declarations of interest were made by Councillor S Henig, and Councillor C 
Marshall in connection with item 5, due to family connections with one of the 
schools. Both left the room during consideration of the item.

4 Council Tax Base 2019/20 and Forecast Surplus on the Council Tax Collection 
Fund as at 31 March 2019 [Key Decision: CORP/R/18/02] 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which  
determined the Council’s Tax Base for all domestic properties liable to pay council 
tax, for 2019/20 and reported on the estimated collection fund surplus as at 31 
March 2019, which will need to be distributed to the principal precepting authorities 
in 2019/20 (for copy see file of minutes).  

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Prior to the next item Councillors S Henig and C Marshall left the room and did not 
take part in the deliberations. Councillor Henig vacated the Chair for item 5.

Councillor A Napier (Deputy Leader of the Council) in the Chair for item 5.

5 Review of School Provision – Future options for Wellfield School as part of 
the Education Review in County Durham [Key Decision: CYPS/02/18]

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which provided details 
of the work that has been undertaken as part of the review of education provision in 
County Durham which was agreed by Cabinet on 15 November 2017. The report 
made recommendations in relation to Wellfield School which would also impact on 
Tanfield School (for copy see file of minutes).

Councillor Gunn responded to questions raised by Councillor Hopgood about the 
council’s policy on school deficit budgets. 

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

6 Council Activity Update 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which updated on work to support some of the council’s key priorities (for copy see 
file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the report be noted. 

7 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 – Period to 30 September 
2018

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which  
provided Cabinet with information on the: 

(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2018/19;

(b) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund position 
at 31 March 2019;

(c) use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves.

The report also sought approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums 
outside of the cash limit (for copy see file of minutes).

Cabinet members spoke of the continuing financial pressures the Authority were 
facing, including to the children and young people’s service and schools, and that it 
was continuing to lobby central government on these issues.

Page 4



Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

8 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period to 30 
September 2018   

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the treasury management mid-year position for 2018/19 
(for copy see file of minutes).

Resolved:

That the report be noted. 

9 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Review of 
Suicide Rates and Mental Health and Wellbeing in County Durham 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
which provided the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
review report into suicide rates and mental health and wellbeing in County Durham 
(for copy see file of minutes). 

Councillor J Robinson, Chairman of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee presented the report to Cabinet, and provided detail on the 
scope of the review and its findings. He thanked Members, officers, partners, and 
everyone who had been part of the working group.

Cabinet Members welcomed the review and its findings, and thanked Councillor 
Robinson and the scrutiny group for the work undertaken. A response to their 
findings in line with the recommendations in the report would be provided.

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

10 Speed Management Strategy 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services which updated on speed management on the public highway and 
sought approval for a public consultation to be undertaken on the proposed Speed 
Management Strategy which has been developed in partnership with Durham 
Constabulary (for copy see file of minutes). 

Councillor Stephens responded to questions from Councillor Wilkes about funding 
the implementation of additional 20 mph zones around schools in the county.

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

Page 5



11 Future Options for Schools in the Horden area, as part of the Education 
Review in County Durham 

The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which provided 
details on the work that has been undertaken as part of the review of education 
provision in County Durham which was agreed by Cabinet on 15 November 2017.  
The report made recommendations in relation to primary schools in the Horden 
area, namely Cotsford Infant and Junior Schools (for copy see file of minutes). 

Resolved:

That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

Page 6



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

12 December 2018 

 Mainstream Primary and Secondary 

Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer 

to High Needs Block 

KEY DECISION: CORP/R/18/06  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services   

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources  

Councillor  Olwyn Gunn, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People’s Services 

Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance  
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To agree the local funding formula for mainstream primary and 
secondary schools for 2019/20, which will apply to maintained schools 
from 1 April 2019 and academies from 1 September 2019.1 

2 The report follows on from the report to Cabinet in 17 October 2018 
where a number of options were considered and a preferred option was 
agreed, subject to the outcome of consultation. 

3 This report provides Cabinet with the outcome of the consultation that 
has been undertaken, sets out details of the application that has been 
made to the Secretary of State for Education to agree to a transfer of 
funding from the Schools Block Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) to the 
High Needs Block DSG, equivalent to 0.5% (£1.535 million) and the 

                                         
1 References in this report to schools should be read to include both maintained schools and 
academies. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



impact on the local funding formula for mainstream primary and 
secondary schools for 2019/20. 

4 Finally, the report sets out proposals for the use of council reserves in 
2019/20 to augment the High Needs budget, in response to the 
significant budget pressures being experienced in this area and to 
reduce the size of the transfer from the Schools Block for which the 
Council will need to seek Secretary of State for Education approval.  

Executive summary 

5 Funding for the mainstream primary and secondary schools formula is 
provided through the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and since 2013-
14, the DSG has been split into different funding blocks, Early Years, 
Schools and High Needs (for Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities - SEND) and from 2018-19 a Central School Services Block 
(CSSB) - the latter includes funding formerly included in the Schools 
Block and Education Services Grant.    

6 The DfE had previously announced that local formulas would be 
replaced by the National Funding Formula (NFF) from 2020-21, 
however, in July 2018, the DfE announced that this has been postponed 
and local authorities will continue to set local formulas for 2020-21. 

7 In setting the funding formula for mainstream primary and secondary 
schools for the current financial year, the Council took the decision to 
use a transitional formula, intended to smooth the transition from the 
local formula in place in 2017/18 to the National Funding Formula based 
allocations for individual schools over three years (2018/19 to 2020/21), 
with the plan to converge in 2020/21. 

8 In October, Cabinet considered a range of options with regards to the 
local formula that could be applied in 2019/20 and resolved to continue 
with the strategy agreed last year, subject to the outcome of 
consultation. 

9 From 2013-14 to 2017-18 funding for the High Needs Block (HNB) was 
largely based on historic patterns of budget allocation in County 
Durham.   The HNB is now based on a national formula. However, the 
amount of funding being provided by Government is insufficient to meet 
demand, where pressure on this area of the budget has increased 
significantly as a result of the SEND Reforms in 2015/16. 

10 In 2017-18 there was an overspend against the HNB of £4.652 million.  
For the current year, the updated forecast overspend is indicating a 
£5.431 million overspend. The QTR2 outturn forecast reported to 
Cabinet on 14 November shows a c£5.284 million overspend. In 

Page 8



2019/20 HNB spending is forecast to exceed the budget by circa £5.6 
million. 

11 No additional High Needs DSG funding allocations were announced in 
the Budget on 29 October 2018. The grant settlement is expected on 6 
December 2018 and the final DSG allocations are expected later in 
December. 

12 In the absence of additional government funding, to help alleviate some 
of these continuing pressures, Cabinet (17 October) considered and 
approved proposals to seek to transfer funding up to the maximum 
permissible from the DSG Schools Block to the HNB in 2019/20, to help 
address the current shortfall, subject to the outcome of consultation.    

13 An application to transfer funding from the Schools Block needed to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State for Education by 30 November.  

14 On 5 November 2018 the Schools Forum met to consider the options 
available with regards to the formula and the proposals to transfer 
funding from the DSG Schools Block to the HNB in 2019/20.  

15 The Schools Forum resolved to ask the Council to consider slowing 
down the rate of transition towards the National Funding Formula and 
instead of reaching convergence in 2020/21 aim to reach convergence 
a year later. In addition, whilst sympathetic to the financial pressures 
being experienced in the HNB, the Schools Forum resolved not to 
support any transfer from the DSG Schools Block. 

16 On 30 November 2018 an application was submitted to the Secretary of 
State for Education to transfer funding from the Schools Block 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) to the High Needs Block DSG, 
equivalent to 0.5% (£1.535 million). This is insufficient to meet the 
financial pressures within the High Needs Budget next year, but 
represents the amount that could have been agreed locally by the 
Schools Forum without the need to apply to the Secretary of State for 
Education. 

17 In making this application, the Council has recognised the financial 
pressures all schools are under as a result of real terms cuts to the 
DSG. A review of HN spending is underway and the Council will 
continue to lobby Government for additional DSG. As a one-off 
measure, the shortfall in the HN Budget will be met from the Council’s 
Budget Support Reserve in 2019/20. This is not however a sustainable 
long term solution. 

Recommendation(s) 

18 Cabinet is recommended to: 

Page 9



(a) Agree to adopt a local funding formula for mainstream primary 
and secondary schools for 2019/20 that continues the transition 
towards the National Funding Formula, but at a slower rate of 
transition, with convergence of the local formula factors in 
2021/22; 

(b) Note the significant financial pressures being experienced in the 
High Needs DSG budget and the need to set a balanced budget 
in 2019/20, which has necessitated an application to the 
Secretary of State for Education to transfer funding from the 
Schools Block Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) to the High Needs 
Block DSG, equivalent to 0.5% (£1.535 million); 

(c) Agree to apply up to £4.1 million of Budget Support Reserve to 
augment the High Needs budget in 2019/20 and allow a balanced 
budget to be set; 

(d) Note that further lobbying will be undertaken to try and secure 
more funding from Government to address these pressures in the 
High Needs DSG budget and that further reports will be submitted 
following the completion of the High Needs review. 

(e) Note that the position will be reviewed in 12 months’ time, in 
advance of agreeing the local funding formula for mainstream 
primary and secondary schools for 2020/21. 

Background 

19 The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary 
schools and academies is the local schools funding formula.   Each 
local authority currently sets its own formula, within the restrictions 
imposed by the Department for Education (DfE), after consultation with 
schools and the Schools Forum.  

20 The DfE had previously announced that local formulas would be 
replaced by the National Funding Formula (NFF) from 2020-21, 
however, in July 2018, the DfE announced that this has been postponed 
and local authorities will continue to set local formulas for 2020-21. 

21 The DfE has cited the progress made by local authorities in aligning 
local formulas to the NFF as the main reason for this decision.   The 
DfE has expressed confidence that in the light of the progress made to 
date, local authorities will continue to increase the alignment between 
local formulas and the NFF in 2020-21 without the need for a statutory 
deadline of convergence in that year.    

22 In the DfE’s view, the NFF is fairer to schools than local formulas, 
because it is consistent between local authority areas, but in the short-

Page 10



term it sees local formulas as a way to allow a smoother transition from 
local formulas to the NFF.   The argument for this is presumably that 
each local authority is best placed to determine the appropriate 
transition to the NFF from its local formula. 

23 Members will recall that in setting the funding formula for mainstream 
primary and secondary schools for the current financial year, the 
Council took the decision to use a transitional formula, intended to 
smooth the transition from the local formula in place in 2017/18 to the 
NFF allocations for individual schools over three years (2018/19 to 
2020/21), with the plan to converge in 2020/21. The strategy agreed last 
year would see continuing the transition in 2019-20, which would have 
been the last year a local formula would have needed to be set if the 
replacement of local formulas had not been delayed. 

Mainstream School Funding 

24 Funding for the mainstream primary and secondary schools formula is 
provided through the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). 

25 Until 2013-14 this funding was provided as a single allocation and local 
authorities had significant freedom as to how this was used, with the 
caveat that it was ring-fenced for spending on schools / education. 

26 Since 2013-14, the DSG has been split into different funding blocks, 
Early Years, Schools and High Needs (for Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities - SEND) and from 2018-19 a Central School Services 
Block (CSSB) - the latter includes funding formerly included in the 
Schools Block and Education Services Grant. 

27 The allocations for academies, as determined by the local formula, is 
recouped from the overall DSG allocations for the local authority area 
and paid by the DfE directly to academies in County Durham. The 
remaining DSG is paid to the Council, who then distributes (delegates) 
the funding received to individual maintained schools in line with their 
formula funding allocations. 

28 Mainstream schools and academies also receive funding for pupils with 
SEND, early years, (where primary schools have nursery units), post-16 
funding and also the Pupil Premium, which in the current year is worth 
circa £20 million.   From 2013/14 there were also changes to how 
SEND is funded, which affected the amounts provided through formula 
funding. 

29 Since 2013-14, local discretion over the local funding formulae has 
been significantly restricted, with local decision making limited to the 
application of a relatively small number of permissible formula factors, 
most of which are pupil-led, (i.e. an amount per eligible pupil), with the 

Page 11



rest being either school-led, (i.e. an amount per school), or relating to 
specific premises related costs, for example rates).   There is still, 
however, significant variation between local authorities in terms of the 
proportions of funding allocated to different factors within the formula. 

30 Local authorities must consult Schools Forums and schools about their 
local formula before deciding on the final version.   The final version of 
the formula is determined in early January, by adjusting the agreed 
formula to take account of the actual amount of funding received and 
updated pupil numbers and data for schools, including the proportions 
of pupils deemed to have additional needs, for example, because of 
deprivation.  

31 Between 2013-14 and 2017-18, the local schools funding formula in 
County Durham did not change significantly from year-to-year in respect 
of either the formula factors or the proportions allocated to each factor 
and in general there was little appetite by either schools or the Council 
to make significant changes to the formula. This was a conscious 
decision to try and restrict turbulence within the schools funding regime 
in County Durham.  One exception was in respect of the primary lump 
sum, which was reduced over the two years 2016-17 and 2017-18, with 
the funding released being used to increase the allocation of pupil-led 
funding for secondary schools. 

32 For 2018-19, the Council decided to begin to make changes to the 
formula, to reduce differences between the local formula used in 
previous years and the NFF, with the intention of smoothing the 
transition to the NFF over the remaining two years of the local formula.   
That decision does not preclude the Council making a different decision 
for 2019-20, and now that the statutory implementation of the NFF has 
been delayed, for 2020/21 as well. 

Government Funding for Schools 

33 Funding per pupil provided through the DSG has increased only 
marginally over the last seven years and has not kept pace with 
inflation. 

34 In terms of real terms cut to schools funding it is possible to extrapolate 
what additional DSG would have been received in 2018/19 if funding 
per pupil across the period 2011 to 2018 had kept pace with either RPI 
or CPI inflationary increases.  

35 This shows that if either RPI or CPI indices had been used to determine 
funding levels per pupil, the amount available for the mainstream school 
funding formula for the current financial year would be circa 15% higher 
than the actual amount received.   For Durham this is equivalent to circa 

Page 12



£46 million, or around £120,000 per primary school and £600,000 per 
secondary school. 

DSG Funding for 2019-20 

36 The majority of funding for individual schools is provided through the 
mainstream primary and secondary schools funding formula. DSG 
funding for this formula is provided as an amount per primary and 
secondary pupil. 

37 The amounts per pupil are set each year by central government and are 
calculated using notional NFF allocations to each school using pupil 
numbers from the previous financial year. 

38 For 2019-20 the amounts per pupil allocated to Durham have increased 
slightly when compared to 2018-19 as set out in the table below, but not 
in line with the inflationary pressures being experienced in schools: 

DSG amounts 
per pupil (£)  

 Primary   Secondary  

 2019-20   4,227.34   5,253.15  

 2018-19   4,183.61   5,236.06  

 Increase (£)  43.73   17.09  

 Increase (%) 1.045% 0.326% 

 

39 The final funding will be determined by the pupil numbers recorded in 
the October 2018 Schools Census.   Total allocations for 2019-20 using 
the £/pupil amounts and estimated October Census numbers are as 
follows: 

 
Estimated 
October 

2018 Pupils 

DSG 
amounts 
per pupil  

£ 

Total £ 
(rounded) 

Primary  39,062 4,227.34 165,128,000 

Secondary 25,459 5,253.15 133,740,000 

Total 64,521  298,868,000 

 

40 In addition to this, funding is provided for premises-related costs and 
growth.   A further adjustment is that, subject to decisions of the 
Schools Forum, an amount is de-delegated from funding for maintained 
schools in respect of support for looked after children, contingencies for 
schools in financial difficulty and trade union facility time.   The 
estimated total funding and the funding net of de-delegation (decisions 
taken by the Schools Forum on 5 November 2018) is shown below:  

Page 13



 

 

 £ (rounded) 

£.pupil funding 298,868,000 

Add - Funding for premises 6,665,000 

Add - Funding for growth 1,700,000 

Less 2017-18 rates adjustment -146,000 

Estimated total funding for 2019-20 307,087,000 

Less - De-delegation -582,000 

Estimated funding net of de-delegation 306,505,000 

 

41 The figures in the above table are higher than the estimates provided in 
the October Cabinet report. They have been revised to take account of 
new estimates from the DfE of funding for growth and also includes an 
adjustment in respect of business rates. 

42 Growth funding is provided to recognise the need to fund additional 
places to meet basic need that are not reflected in October School 
Census pupil numbers.   In 2018-19 funding was based on the growth 
implied by adjustments to pupil numbers for the 2017-18 formula. 

43 For the first time in 2019-20, growth funding is based on changes in 
pupil numbers recorded for Middle-Layer Super Output Areas, which 
are sub-divisions of each local authority area.   Based on the estimated 
pupil numbers used for modelling formula options, the 2019-20 growth 
funding is estimated to be £1.7 million, compared to the £0.4 million 
used in the October report. 

44 An adjustment has been made for the difference between the estimated 
cost of rates used in the 2017-18 formula and the actual cost of rates for 
that year. 

45 A comparison of funding between 2018-19 and 2019-20 is shown below 
and a more detailed breakdown in shown in Appendix 2: 

 £ 

 2019-20 net funding (estimated)  306,505,000 

 2018-19 net funding  298,317,000 

 Change in net funding  8,188,000 

 

46 Members should note that the overall increase in funding does not 
mean that all schools will see an increase in their funding, particularly if 
there has been a significant reduction in the overall number of pupils on 

Page 14



roll or a reduction in the number of pupils who are eligible for additional 
needs funding (deprivation and low prior attainment). 

47 It is also important to note that over half of the increase is due to 
increases in pupil numbers, which for some schools will mean that they 
will have to increase expenditure in order to have adequate resources 
to cope with the larger number of pupils on roll. The increase in required 
expenditure in some schools could exceed the additional resources 
generated by the additional pupil numbers. Schools are also, of course, 
subject to other financial pressures through increased costs brought 
about by inflation and pay awards etc. 

Setting the Local Formula for 2019-20 

48 The final decision about the formula rests with the Council, but it must 
consult schools and the Schools Forum and must apply for permission 
to transfer funding to or from the High Needs Funding Block.    

49 Officers have been working on options for the mainstream primary and 
secondary schools funding formula for a number of months. The 
timetable for decision-making is set out below: 

 Recipient Content 

9,10,13  
July 2018 

Schools Forum 
Working Groups 

 Initial discussions about formula options and 
HNB transfer - prior to announcement of delay 
to replacement of local formulas 

20-21 Sept 2018 
Schools Forum 
Working Groups 

 Options for formula for 2019-20 

 Outline of HNB transfer information and 
impacts on schools formula / individual 
schools 

September 2018 
Extranet 
consultation with 
schools 

 Options for formula for 2019-20 

 Outline of HNB transfer information and 
impacts on schools formula / individual 
schools 

17 October 2018 Cabinet 
 Options for formula for 2019-20 

 HNB transfer - decision as to whether to apply 

5 November 2018 Schools Forum 
 Options for formula for 2019-20 – will include 

de-delegation decisions 

 Proposals for HNB transfer  

7 November 2018 CYPS O&S Cttee 
 Presentation on options for formula for 2019-

20 & overview of proposals for HNB transfer 

30 November 2018 Secretary of State 
 Deadline for submission of application for 

HNB transfer  

5 December 2018 Schools Forum  Update on options for formula 2019-20  

12 December  2018 Cabinet  Decision on formula for 2019-20  

Mid-December 2018 DCC (from DfE) 
 Final funding and data provided for use in final 

local formula 

21 Jan 2019 DfE  Submission of final version of formula to DfE 

20 February 2019 Council 
 Details of final schools formula reported to 

Council as part of the budget report 

Page 15



 

Options for 2019-20 Formula 

50 A number of options were identified for the 2019-20 formula.   These 
were considered in detail as part of the October Cabinet report. 

51 All the options would be affected by a potential transfer of funding to 
High Needs, which is discussed later in this report. 

52 As member will recall, the options which had been identified and for 
which detailed modelling had been undertaken were as follows: 

OPTION 1: Accelerate the pace of change and move to implement 

the NFF as closely as possible from 2019-20 

53 This would involve the use values in the formula as close as possible to 
the indicative NFF values.    

54 The local formula would not replicate the NFF exactly, because, as 
described, funding is based on 2018-19 funding levels and is not 
updated to take account of changes affecting 2019-20, which means 
that the amount that would be allocated using the NFF would not match 
the funding available. 

55 The NFF also incorporates a funding floor, which guarantees a 1% 
increase in funding compared to a baseline amount per pupil from 2017-
18.   This will form part of the funding for schools when the NFF 
replaces local formulas, but at present it is not clear that this could 
actually be applied in Durham without significantly distorting the formula 
and this option has been modelled without the baseline adjustment. 

OPTION 2: Continue with the strategy implemented with effect 

from 2018/19: a transitional formula which moves schools to a NFF 

based allocation from 2020/21 

56 This would continue the path established in setting the 2018-19 formula, 
but would reduce the differences between that formula and the NFF, 
with the intention of a further reduction in 2020-21, which would 
eliminate the differences and replicate the NFF as far as possible.  (As 
with the NFF option above, it would not be possible to replicate the NFF 
exactly at this stage, because it is based on historic data and is not 
updated for 2019-20 data). 

57 The table below shows the difference between the local and national 
formulas in each year of the transition years leading up to a NFF 
equivalent formula in 2020/21: 

Page 16



Year 

Difference 
between 

local 
formula 
and NFF 

2017-18 100% 

2018-19 67% 

2019-20 33% 

2020-21 0% 

 

OPTION 3: Continue with a transitional formula approach, but at a 

slower rate than currently planned i.e. aim for a NFF equivalent 

formula from 2021/22 instead of 2020/21 

58 This would result in a slower pace of change to reduce the differences 
between the current formula and the NFF.  

59 The slower rate would be set to implement a smooth transition from the 
2018-19 transitional formula on the basis that the NFF would be 
implemented from 2021-22. (As with options 1 and 2 above, it would not 
be possible to replicate the NFF exactly at this stage.   

60 The table below shows the difference between the local and national 
formulas in each year of the transition and the first year in which the 
NFF replaces local formulas: 

Year 

Difference 
between 

local 
formula 
and NFF 

2017-18 100% 

2018-19 67% 

2019-20 45% 

2020-21 22% 

2021-22 0% 

 

OPTION 4: Retain the 2018/19 formula factors and halt the 

transition to the NFF in 2019/20 

61 This would update the 2018-19 formula for changes in funding and data, 
(pupil numbers, pupils eligible for additional needs funding, numbers of 
schools and premises factors), but make no changes to the lump sums 
or the relative allocations between pupil-led factors, which are required 
to converge with the NFF. 

Page 17



62 In October, Cabinet considered these options and resolved to continue 
with the strategy agreed last year (Option 2 above), subject to the 
outcome of consultation. 

Transfer of funding to the High Needs Block 

63 The High Needs Block of the DSG funds provision for pupils and 
students with Special Educational Needs, including those in mainstream 
and special schools and out-of-county placements.    

64 Funding for High Needs is provided through the High Needs Block 
(HNB) of the DSG.   The HNB funding is determined by a national 
formula. 

65 From 2013-14 to 2017-18 funding for the HNB was largely based on 
historic patterns of budget allocation in Durham.   The HNB is now 
based on a national formula and the 2018-19 allocation is £0.6 million 
more than it would have been had the 2013-14 allocation been 
increased in line with inflation. However, the amount of funding being 
provided by Government is insufficient to meet demand, where pressure 
on this area of the budget has increased significantly as a result of the 
SEND Reforms in 2016. 

66 In 2017-18 there was an overspend against the HNB of £4.652 million.  
For the current year, the updated forecast overspend is indicating a 
£5.431 million overspend. The QTR2 outturn forecast reported to 
Cabinet on 14 November shows a c£5.284 million overspend.  

67 Durham is not unique in experiencing these pressures and over the past 
year this has been highlighted across the country by a number of local 
authorities and education leaders.  Recent data published by the 
County Councils Network (CCN) indicates that 22 county councils are 
projecting an over spend in their HN DSG in 2018-19. In the North East 
a number of neighbouring councils are also reporting overspends 
against their HNB allocations. 

68 The pressures on the HNB are driven by increasing demand to meet the 
requirement of young people with special education needs and 
disabilities: 

Increasing numbers of children and young people with SEND 

69 There has been a significant increase in the number of children with 
SEND who require high needs support due to: 

70 The extension of support to young people up to the age of 25.     The 
number of young people with complex needs engaging in further 
education has increased from 160 in 2015 to 830 currently.   

Page 18



71 Early identification of additional needs, particularly in the early years. 
EHCP requests for pre-school children increased from 90 three years 
ago to 250 last year.   

Complexity of need 

72 The needs of children with special educational needs and/ or disabilities 
are becoming more complex. 

Inclusiveness of the system 

73 Financial pressures mean that many mainstream schools have 
difficulties in providing additional support and are not always able to 
gain parental preference    

74 There has been an increase in the number of students at risk of or 
being permanently excluded.  Pupil Referral Unit numbers have 
increased in the last three years from 60 to 90.   

75 In 2017 18 the overspend in the HNB was covered by centrally held 
DSG Reserves and in 2018 19 an element of the forecast overspend 
can be absorbed by the DSG reserves, however, there are insufficient 
DSG reserves to cover this in total and the Council’s DSG reserves will 
be in deficit by the end of the financial year, as outlined below: 

Centrally held DSG Reserves 

High 

Needs 

Block 

[£'000] 

Early 

Years 

Block 

[£'000] 

Schools 

Block 

[£'000] 

Total 

DSG 

[£'000] 

Balance as at 1 April 2017 6,070 2,361 2,728 11,159 

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2017/18 -4,652 -286 -1,488 -6,426 

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,418 2,075 1,240 4,734 

Planned Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2018/19 -5,431 -820 -450 -6,701 

Projected balance as at 31 March 2019 -4,013 1,255 790 -1,967 

 
76 In October 2018 the Council completed a re-financing of the Schools 

PFI. This transaction resulted in a gain share of circa £2.8 million, net of 
the transaction costs. This one off income will be credited to the High 
Needs DSG Reserve as part of the quarter 3 forecast of outturn report 
to Cabinet in March in order to partially mitigate the negative DSG 
reserve balance that will otherwise manifest in the final accounts this 
year. The revised forecast would therefore be as follows: 

 

Page 19



DSG Reserves 

High 

Needs 

Block 

[£'000] 

Early 

Years 

Block 

[£'000] 

Schools 

Block 

[£'000] 

Total 

DSG 

[£'000] 

Balance as at 1 April 2017 6,070 2,361 2,728 11,159 

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2017/18 -4,652 -286 -1,488 -6,426 

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,418 2,075 1,240 4,734 

Planned Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2018/19 -2,631 -820 -450 -3,901 

Projected balance as at 31 March 2019 -1,213 1,255 790 833 

 
77 For 2019-20, Durham’s provisional HN DSG allocation has increased by 

2.84% (£1.42 million).  The current rate of inflation is around 3.4%. The 
shortfall in HN spending next years is estimated to be circa £5.6m. 

Schools Block to HN Block Transfer 

78 Children and Young People’s Services are currently undertaking a 
review of HN SEND service delivery, reviewing how the needs of these 
young people are met now and into the future based on future 
demographic demand modelling. Options in terms of securing value for 
money and cost reductions against current HN DSG spending and 
routes to secure additional funding continue to be explored, including 
representations to central government.  

79 No additional HN DSG funding allocations were announced in the 
Budget on 29 October 2018. The grant settlement is expected on 6 
December 2018. 

80 In the absence of additional government funding, to help alleviate some 
of these continuing pressures, Cabinet (17 October) considered and 
approved proposals to seek to transfer funding from the DSG Schools 
Block to the HNB in 2019/20, up to the maximum permissible, to help 
address the current shortfall, subject to the outcome of consultation.    

81 Any transfer from the DSG Schools Block to the HNB would reduce the 
funding available for the mainstream funding formula and thus reduce 
allocations to mainstream primary and secondary schools and 
academies. This accentuates the financial problems being faced by 
those schools whose funding is being reduced as the local formula is 
aligned to the National Funding Formula based allocations. 

82 Transfers of up to 0.5% of the Schools Block can be actioned locally 
provided they are approved by the Schools Forum.   Transfers in 
excess of 0.5% cannot be agreed locally and must be approved by the 
Secretary of State for Education.   

83 There is a statutory deadline of 30 November in terms of making an 
application to the Secretary of State for Education.   

Page 20



84 Any agreement to transfer funding between these blocks is for one year 
only and a further application must be made if the authority wishes to 
repeat the transfer in the following year. 

85 In terms of the two transitional formula options, the following table 
models the potential impact on schools and the Council (in terms of any 
shortfall in funding) at various levels of DSG funding transfer: 

Formula Funding 

Option 

% DSG Funding Transferred from 

Schools Block to HN Block 

Cut to 

Schools 

Block / 

Schools (£) 

Estimated 

Shortfall in 

HN Block in 

2019/20 (£) 

Budget 

Pressure on 

DCC in 

2019/20 

OPTION 2:  

Continue current 

transition 

(convergence with 

NFF in 2020/21) 

No transfer  - 5,600,000 5,600,000 

0.5% transfer  1,535,000 5,600,000 4,065,000 

Max. transfer with a positive ceiling 4,769,000  5,600,000  831,000  

OPTION 3:  

Revised transition 

formula (convergence 

with NFF in 2021/22) 

No transfer  - 5,600,000 5,600,000 

0.5% transfer  1,535,000 5,600,000 4,065,000 

Max. transfer with a positive ceiling £4,987,000  £5,600,000  £613,000  

 
86 The Council is permitted to have a negative DSG reserve provided 

there is a plan in place to recover the position within two years. The 
plan needs to be agreed by the Corporate Director, Resources in his 
capacity as s151 Officer. In this respect the Council's spending on HN 
SEND is controlled much the same way as that of a delegated schools 
budget. 

87 The Council can choose to augment the HN DSG budget (or the DSG 
Schools Block for that matter) with General Fund Resources, but cannot 
directly allocate funding to a particular school and any funding provided 
through the School Block would benefit proportionately all schools, 
including academies. 

88 Any additional funding provided through the Councils General Fund 
could be either one off / non-recurrent (funded from reserves e.g. the 
Budget Support Reserve) or recurrent i.e. built into the MTFP as a base 
budget pressure. 

89 In terms of the two transitional formula options and their impact on 
schools budgets, the following tables show the impact on schools at the 
various levels of DSG Schools Block transfer: 

 

 

 

Page 21



OPTION 2: 
Continue with current Transitional Formula (convergence with NFF in 

2020/21) 

Impact of 2019-20 formula options compared 
to 2018-19 net formula funding 

Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs 

Block 

0% 0.5% Max. 

Schools with 
reduced 
funding 

 Primary  

 No. of schools  106  113  138  

 Average reduction 
(£)  

-17,900  -19,900  -22,400  

 Secondary  
 No. of schools  5  7  8  

 Average reduction 
(£)  

-114,500  -96,700  -118,800  

Schools with 
increased 
funding 

 Primary  

 No. of schools  108  101  76  

 Average increase 
(£)  

27,900  25,500  24,100  

 Secondary  
 No. of schools  26  24  23  

 Average increase 
(£)  

293,900  291,500  245,000  

 
OPTION 3:  

Slower Rate Transitional Formula (convergence with NFF in 2021/22 – 
SCHOOLS FORUM PREFERENCE) 

Impact of 2019-20 formula options compared 
to 2018-19 net formula funding 

Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs 

Block 

0% 0.5% Max. 

Schools with 
reduced 
funding 

 Primary  

 No. of schools  99  109  137  

 Average reduction 
(£)  

-17,200  -18,800  -21,900  

 Secondary  
 No. of schools  5  6  8  

 Average reduction 
(£)  

-117,700  -113,800  -121,000  

Schools with 
increased 
funding 

 Primary  

 No. of schools  115  105  77  

 Average increase 
(£)  

27,000  25,300  23,200  

 Secondary  

 No. of schools  26  25  23  

 Average increase 
(£)  

283,500  268,900  233,600  

 
90 Changes in funding for individual schools compared to 2018-19 funding 

levels currently received are shown in Appendix 3. Details of the 
numbers of pupils funded in the current year and an estimate of the 
numbers that will be funded in 2019/20 are also shown in Appendix 3. 

Consultation 

91 Schools Forum Working Groups met in July and September to consider 
options for the formula and were advised that the Council would need to 
consider applying to the Secretary of State for Education to transfer 
funding from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block in 2019/20. 

Page 22



92 Those attending the working groups expressed concern about the 
impact that a transfer would have on schools at a time when they are 
facing significant budget pressures and noted that this could lead to a 
reduction in their capacity to offer support to pupils with Special 
Educational Needs, leading to more requests for top-up funding. 

93 The Durham Association of Secondary Head Teachers are opposed to 
a transfer and have expressed their reasons for this in writing: 

(a) It would have an adverse impact on academic outcomes and 
support we are to students; 

(b) School budgets are already over-stretched;   

(c) Schools are facing significant increases in costs; 

(d) There would be a direct impact upon the support available to the 
most vulnerable students; 

(e) Secondary schools already suffer underfunding compared to 
other phases of education in Durham; 

(f) The Council is in a far better position than schools to support a 
projected over-spend; 

(g) A persuasive and holistic vision for the use of High Needs funding 
is required to justify such a transfer; 

(h) National data suggests that Durham Secondary Schools currently 
receive the least amount of top-up funding and students in 
Durham Secondary Schools are already significantly 
underfunded; 

(i) Secondary School EHCP rates are significantly lower than the 
national average and significantly lower than rates in primary 
schools. 

94 As part of the consultation, a briefing note on the formula and impacts of 
a potential transfer of funding to the HN Block was added to the Schools 
Extranet on 19 October and was updated during the week commencing 
29 October.   Schools can continue to respond during November and a 
summary of responses will be provided to Cabinet in December. 

95 On 5 November the Schools Forum met to consider the options in terms 
of the Local Formula to be used in 2019/20 and the Council’s proposals 
with regards to transferring funding from the DSG Schools Block to the 
HNB.  

Page 23



96 The Schools Forum was informed of the feedback from the Cabinet 
meeting on 17 October 2018, that it supported Option 2 (continue with 
the strategy implemented with effect from 2018/19: a transitional 
formula which moves schools to a NFF based allocation from 2020/21) 
and that it was minded to seek permission from the Secretary of State 
for Education to transfer funding from the DSG Schools Block to the 
DSG High Needs Block in 2019/20. 

97 There was no support for accelerating the pace of change and moving 
straight to a NFF based formula next year, nor was there any appetite to 
regress back to the 2017/18 formula or any other variation thereof. 

98 The forum voted in favour of Option 3 (continue with a transitional 
formula approach, but at a slower rate than currently planned i.e. aim 
for a NFF based allocation from 2021-22 instead of 2020-21).   Voting 
was as follows: 

 Option 2 (Current Transitional Formula) – 1 vote 

 Option 3 (Slower Rate Transitional Formula) – 22 votes AGREED 

99 In addition, whilst recognising and sympathising with the difficult 
position the Council finds itself in with regards to its HN SEND budget, 
there was strong representation that the Council should not seek to 
place additional pressures on schools by seeking to transfer DSG 
funding away from the DSG Schools Block.  

100 In respect of the proposal to transfer funding for High Needs, the Forum 
did not support this, with 21 members of the forum voting against and 2 
abstaining. 

101 Members of the Schools Forum asked that a fully costed HN SEND 
plan, modelling the pressures and options to address this across the 
next 3 to 5 years is prepared and that the Council give serious 
consideration as to whether it could utilise its reserves in the short term 
to avoid a cost shunt to schools, particularly where they were mindful of 
the potential for these pressures to be addressed as part of the grant 
settlements or the Comprehensive Spending Review next year, given 
the national spotlight on this area. 

102 The Forum asked for these results to be reported to Cabinet along with 
the rationale for slowing down the rate of transition being that it will slow 
reduce the impact on smaller schools in particular, who are likely to be 
worse-off as a result of the NFF. 

103 On 7 November 2018 a presentation was made to the Children and 
Young Peoples Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee 
recognised the difficult position the Council was in and was sympathetic 

Page 24



to the pressures schools were under. Questions were raised regarding 
what lobbying had been undertaken of central government; what would 
be the implications if the Government refused any application to transfer 
funding from the Schools Block and whether local communities fully 
understood these issues. There was support for Cabinet to consider a 
slower convergence in line with the views of the Schools Forum. 

Equality Impact Assessment 

104 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached at 
Appendix 5. In summary, with the exception of age, the formula does 
not differentiate according to any of the protected characteristics from 
an Equality Act perspective. 

105 The differentiation in respect of age is in accordance with the factor 
values attached to each key stage in the education lifecycle, which is 
common practice and a key feature of the existing local formula across 
the country and the NFF, and recognises differences in the provision 
required by pupils of different ages. 

106 There is a small positive impact in relation to disability as the transitional 
formula will increase the proportion of funding allocated to Low Prior 
Attainment (LPA), which is one of the DfE’s proxy indicators for Special 
Educational Needs (SEN). 

107 Compared to the 2018-19 formula allocations, faith schools generally 
see smaller average increases in funding than non-faith schools 
regardless of the option and transfer to the High Needs Block. 

108 However, it should be noted that the formula does not differentiate 
between schools in terms of religion but does take account of additional 
needs in calculating allocations. A comparison of faith and non-faith 
schools supports a view that differences between these types of school 
is a result of differences in the proportion of pupils who are eligible for 
additional needs funding. 

109 Where funding reduces from year-to-year schools will continue to be 
supported to understand the implications, to forecast any budget 
shortfall and to identify appropriate savings that can be made to balance 
the budget. Where a staff restructuring is necessary schools will also 
continue to be supported through this process. 

Conclusion 

110 This report follows on from the report to Cabinet in 17 October 2018 
where a number of options were considered in terms of the local 
funding formula for mainstream primary and secondary schools for 

Page 25



2019/20 and a preferred option was agreed, subject to the outcome of 
consultation. 

111 Members will be aware that in 2017-18 there was an overspend against 
the DSG High Needs Block of £4.652 million.  For the current year, the 
updated forecast overspend is indicating a £5.431 million overspend. 
The quarter 2 outturn forecast reported to Cabinet on 14 November 
shows an estimated c£5.284 million overspend.  

112 Durham is not unique in experiencing these pressures and over the past 
year this has been highlighted across the country by a number of local 
authorities and education leaders.  Recent data published by the 
County Councils Network (CCN) indicates that 22 county councils are 
projecting an over spend in their HN DSG in 2018-19. In the North East 
a number of neighbouring councils are also reporting overspends 
against their HNB allocations. 

113 The report to Cabinet in October considered the option to top-slice the 
schools core DSG block to fund the deficit, which effectively moves 
funding from the core schools block into the high needs block – cutting 
the funding available to allocate to schools. The Schools Forum can 
agree to a top slice up to 0.5% of this funding, however any top-slice 
above 0.5% has to be approved by the Secretary of State for Education 
– an application for which needed to be submitted regard by 30 
November.  

114 Consultation has been taking place with all schools and the Schools 
Forum met on 5 November 2018 to consider the options to address the 
current position in terms of the overspending against the high needs 
block and the need to find a sustainable solution. A presentation was 
also made to the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting on 7 November. 

115 The Schools Forum have supported a transitional formula, but at a 
slower rate given the announcements made by the DfE in July 2018. 
This was also supported by the Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. Given this feedback, the proposal is to adopt a 
formula in line with the wishes of the Schools Forum in 2019/20. 

116 The Schools Forum, whilst sympathetic to the position the Council finds 
itself in, did not however support any top-slice to support the high needs 
funding block, due to their concerns about the real terms cuts they are 
facing and the pressures already prevalent across many of our schools.  

117 As a result of the Government underfunding of High Needs and the real 
terms cuts to wider school funding, the Council finds itself in a very 
difficult position. The HN SEND budget must be balanced next year, 
therefore the Council needs to find a way of topping up the DSG funding 

Page 26



received for High Needs, whilst continuing to lobby for more funding and 
undertaking a review of High Needs expenditure. 

118 Taking into account the feedback from the Schools Forum and the 
significant pressure that the high needs block is under, an application 
was submitted to seek Secretary of State for Education approval for a 
top-slice of 0.5% of the DSG schools block in 2019/20. This represents 
circa £1.535 million of funding, which is significantly below the 
estimated £5.6 million shortfall in funding required in 2019/20 and which 
could have been covered by applying for the maximum amount of 
transfer permitted. 

119 As a temporary measure, for next year only, the Council will agree to 
fund the remaining deficit on the high needs block in 2019/20 from its 
reserves (Budget Support Reserve). The Councils MTFP will therefore 
factor in a £4.1 million budget pressure in 2019/20, funded through a 
one off application of Budget Support Reserve to augment the High 
Needs budget in 2019/20 and allow a balanced budget to be set. 

120 It is important to note that this is only a temporary solution and will 
require the Council to use general fund resources to meet Education 
expenditure which should be funded through DSG. If the Council was to 
permanently meet the pressure in this area from its own resources this 
would require further savings from general fund services of between 
£5m and £6m to be found in addition to the estimated savings of circa 
£25m to £30m required over the MTFP9 planning period.  

121 A sustainable solution will have to be found in partnership with schools 
to this issue and further reports will be considered by cabinet over the 
coming months on this issue.  

122 Appendix 3 sets out details of the sets out details of the impact on the 
local funding formula for mainstream primary and secondary schools for 
2019/20, including the impact of the application to Secretary of State for 
Education to agree to a transfer of funding from the Schools Block 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) to the High Needs Block DSG, 
equivalent to 0.5% (£1.535 million).   Comparative figures with no 
transfer and with the maximum transfer possible are also provided to 
put the 0.5% transfer in context. 

123 Appendix 4 provides details of the local formula factors to be applied in 
2019/20, which are draft at this stage. The final formula factors will be 
determined in January following receipt of the final conformed pupil 
numbers and DSG funding allocations. 

  

Page 27



Background papers 

Schools Forum, 5 November 2018, Item No 7, Mainstream Primary and 
Secondary Funding Formula 2019-20 & transfer to High Needs Block  

Other useful documents 

Cabinet, 17 October 2018, Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula 
Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block  

 

Contact: Paul Darby Tel:  03000 261930 

 David Shirer Tel:  03000 268554 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 28



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Schools are largely funded by Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  

The Dedicated Schools Grant is issued by the Department for Education, with 
the terms of grant given governed by section 16 of the Education Act 2002, 
which states that it is a ring-fenced specific grant that must be used in support 
of the schools budget as defined in the School and Early Years Finance 
(England) Regulations. 

Local authorities are currently responsible for establishing a local formula for 
distributing the funding to individual schools. This is subject to national 
regulations and statutory restrictions established by the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency. 

Since 2013/14, local discretion over the funding formulae that can be applied 
has been significantly restricted, with local decision making limited to the 
application of a relatively small number of formula factors, most of which are 
pupil-led, with the rest being either school-led or relating to specific premises 
related costs.    

The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local 
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 45-
53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  Under this legislation, 
the council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for Schools.   

The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority and the 
maintained schools that it funds, including the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the authority and schools. Under the scheme, deficits of 
expenditure against budget share (formula funding and other income due to 
the school) in any financial year are charged against the school and deducted 
from the following year’s budget share to establish the funding available to the 
school for the coming year. 

The HN DSG allocation comes with relatively loose grant conditions – which 
are that the Council must meet its statutory duties under SEND legislation and 
cannot spend the DSG on General Fund activities. The Council can apply 
centrally retained DSG reserves on top and have a negative DSG Reserve 
within restrictions, provided there is a plan to recover this within 2 years.  

The Council can also, with the approval of the Schools Forum, locally 
augment it with Schools Block DSG (up to a max if 0.5%) and apply to the 
Secretary of State for Education for anything beyond that.  

Page 29



  

The HN DSG block doesn’t work like the Schools DSG Block in that there is 
no formula or regulation over how the HN DSG block allocated in terms of top 
up funding passed to mainstream schools or how special schools are funded 
and how we commission out of county placements etc. 

The Council has the powers to augment the HN DSG budget using its general 
power of competence. There is nothing in the legislation to prevent us from 
doing this. The Council is however restricted by legislation from allocating 
funding to a particular mainstream school as its funding must come from the 
local formula. 

Finance 

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is a specific earmarked grant provided 

by the Government which provides the major source of funding for schools 

and the provision of support to them.  It is notionally split into four ‘blocks’: 

Early Years, High Needs Central School Services and Schools.   

All DSG funding must be spent on schools or support to them.   

Starting in 2018-19, funding allocations to each local authority’s Schools Block 

of the DSG are based on notional funding for each school using the National 

Funding Formula, which is determined by the DfE. Individual local authorities 

use the Schools Block funding to set a local formula using the available 

funding and in accordance with funding regulations, which limit the discretion 

of authorities.   

Following the announcements in July 2018, local authorities will continue to 

set local formulas until at least 2020-21.   DfE policy is that in the longer term 

local formulas will be replaced by the NFF, which will determine allocations to 

individual schools. The Government are encouraging local authorities to align 

their local formula with the NFF. 

The NFF puts more funding into pupil-led factors than school-led factors, 

which could create longer-term challenges for smaller schools, because the 

increase in pupil-led funding will be of less benefit to schools with smaller 

numbers of pupils.   The NFF will include minimum funding levels which may 

reduce the amount that can be allocated through factors such as deprivation. 

Estimated funding for 2019-20 is £306.5 million. 

There was an overspend against the DSG High Needs Block of £4.652 million 

in 2017/18 and in the current year, the updated forecast overspend is 

indicating a £5.431 million overspend. The QTR2 outturn forecast reported to 

Cabinet on 14 November showed a c£5.284 million overspend.  

Page 30



In 2017/18 the overspend was covered by centrally held DSG Reserves and in 

2018/19 an element of the overspend can be absorbed by the DSG reserves, 

however, there is insufficient DSG reserves to cover this in total and on this 

basis the Council’s DSG reserve will be in deficit by the end of the financial 

year. 

On 5 November 2018 the Schools Forum refused to agree to the transfer of 

any funding from the DSG Schools Block. Nevertheless, an application was 

submitted to seek Secretary of State for Education approval for a top-slice of 

0.5% of the DSG schools block in 2019/20. This represents circa £1.535 

million of funding, which is significantly below the estimated £5.6 million 

shortfall in funding required in 2019/20 and which could have been covered by 

applying for the maximum amount of transfer permitted. 

As a temporary measure, for next year only, the Council will agree to fund the 

remaining deficit on the high needs block in 2019/20 from its reserves (Budget 

Support Reserve). The Councils MTFP will therefore factor in a £4.1 million 

budget pressure in 2019/20, funded through a one off application of Budget 

Support Reserve to augment the High Needs budget in 2019/20 and allow a 

balanced budget to be set. 

This is only a temporary solution and will require the Council to use general 

fund resources to meet Education expenditure which should be funded 

through DSG. If the Council was to permanently meet the pressure in this area 

from its own resources this would require further savings from general fund 

services of between £5m and £6m to be found in addition to the estimated 

savings of circa £25m to £30m required over the MTFP9 planning period. 

Consultation 

The Council must consult with schools and the Schools Forum before setting 
its local funding formula for mainstream schools.   The latter is a statutory 
consultative body, mainly consisting of representatives of head teachers, 
governors and academy trusts, plus Trade Unions. 

The Schools Forum received a report about these issues in June and initial 
consultation with Schools Forum Working Groups took place in July. 

A more detailed consultation with working groups took place in September 
and a consultation document was made available to schools through the 
Schools Extranet.    

Further consultation with schools took place in November and December, 
including scheduled Schools Forum meetings, (5 November and 5 
December).  

Page 31



A presentation was made to the Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting on 7 November 2018. 

There was no support for accelerating the pace of change and moving straight 
to a NFF based formula next year, nor was there any appetite to regress back 
to the 2017/18 formula or any other variation thereof. 

The forum voted in favour of Option 3 (continue with a transitional formula 
approach, but at a slower rate than currently planned i.e. aim for a NFF based 
allocation from 2021-22 instead of 2020-21).    

Whilst recognising and sympathising with the difficult position the Council finds 
itself in with regards to its HN SEND budget, there was strong representation 
that the Council should not seek to place additional pressures on schools by 
seeking to transfer DSG funding away from the DSG Schools Block. The 
Schools Forum did not agree to any proposed transfer of DSG from the 
Schools Block. 

The Durham Association of Secondary Head Teachers are opposed to a 
transfer and have expressed their reasons for this in writing, with full details 
included in the body of the report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment screening has been undertaken on the 
options set out in this report and is attached at Appendix 5. 

In summary, with the exception of age, the formula does not differentiate 
according to any of the protected characteristics from an Equality Act 
perspective. 

The differentiation in respect of age is in accordance with the factor values 
attached to each key stage in the education lifecycle, which is common 
practice and a key feature of the existing local formula across the country and 
the NFF, and recognises differences in the provision required by pupils of 
different ages. 

There is a small positive impact in relation to disability as the transitional 
formula will increase the proportion of funding allocated to Low Prior 
Attainment (LPA), which is one of the DfE’s proxy indicators for Special 
Educational Needs (SEN). 

Compared to the 2018-19 formula allocations, faith schools generally see 
smaller average increases in funding than non-faith schools regardless of the 
option and transfer to the High Needs Block. 

However, it should be noted that the formula does not differentiate between 
schools in terms of religion but does take account of additional needs in 
calculating allocations. A comparison of faith and non-faith schools supports a 

Page 32



view that differences between these types of school is a result of differences 
in the proportion of pupils who are eligible for additional needs funding. 

Where funding reduces from year-to-year schools will continue to be 
supported to understand the implications, to forecast any budget shortfall and 
to identify appropriate savings that can be made to balance the budget. Where 
a staff restructuring is necessary schools will also continue to be supported 
through this process. 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

There are likely to be consequential restructuring and potential redundancies 

in schools where funding is reduced. 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

The National Funding Formula increases the proportion of funding allocated 
on pupil based factors, by reducing the amounts of funding allocated through 
schools led factors such as lump sums.  

The NFF also distributes deprivation linked funding differently to the previous 
local formula arrangements, with greater proportions of funding being 
distributed on the basis of low Prior Attainment.  Small schools and those 
schools receiving a proportionately higher proportion of deprivation linked 
funding currently distributed via the existing local formula will face a greater 
financial challenge as a result of the move towards a National Funding 
Formula for schools.  

The long-term policy of replacing local formulas with the NFF requires local 
authorities to consider the implications for schools when local formulas are 
replaced by the NFF.    

There is a risk of significant turbulence for schools if there is a ‘cliff-edge’ 
change in funding when their funding changes to the NFF. 

Procurement 

None  

Page 33



Appendix 2:  Change in funding from 2018-19 to 2019-20 

 

 Primary Secondary Total 

October 2018 pupils  (estimated)  39,062 25,459  

October 2017 pupils  39,165 24,447  

Change in pupil numbers -103 1,012  

2018-19 units of funding (£/pupil)  4,183.61 5,236.06  

Change in funding because of change in pupil numbers (£)  -431,000 5,299,000 4,868,000 

    

2019-20 units of funding (£/pupil)  4,227.34 5,253.15  

2018-19 units of funding (£/pupil)  4,183.61 5,236.06  

Change in units of funding (£/pupil) 43.73 17.09  

October 2018 pupils (estimated)  39,062 25,459  

Change in funding because of change in units of funding (£)  1,708,000 435,000 2,143,000 

Total change in pupil funding (£)    7,011,000 

 2018/19 
2019/20 

Estimate 
 

Premises (£)  6,328,000 6,665,000 337,000 

Growth (£)  397,000 1,700,000 1,303,000 

2017-18 rates adjustment (£)    -146,000 

Adjustment for Apollo funding (£)  [See Note 1]   -352,000 

Total change in formula funding (£)    8,154,000 

De-delegation (£)  [See Note 2] -616,000 -582,000 34,000 

Net change in funding (£)    8,188,000 

 

1 The adjustment for Apollo funding is an adjustment for this school, 
which ceased to be a mainstream school in September 2017.   The 
adjustment took the form of additional funding in 2018-19 which is not 
repeated in 2019-20. 

2 The change in de-delegation is because of changes in pupil numbers 
and the conversion of maintained schools to academies since last 
year’s formula was determined.  

 

Page 34



Appendix 3:  Impact on Schools – Formula Funding Options 

 

  

Page 35



Appendix 4 - Formula Funding Factors - Options 

 

  

Page 36



 

Appendix 5:  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham 

County Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity 

and foster good relations between people from different groups. Assessing 

impact on equality and recording this is one of the key ways in which we can 

show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section Financial Services, School Funding Team 

Lead Officer David Shirer 

Title 

 

Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula 
Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs 
Block 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 17 October 2018 & 12 December 2018 

Start Date November 2017, Reviewed October and 
November 2018 

Review Date October / November 2019 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as 
appropriate (a copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

The Council is required to set a formula to distribute funding to mainstream 
primary and secondary schools, including academies and will continue to 
set a local formula for at least the next two years.   Government policy is to 
replace local formulas set by local authorities with the National Funding 
Formula (NFF).   For 2018-19, the Council set a transitional formula, 
intended to reduce the differences between the local formula and the NFF 

Page 37



over a three-year period, culminating in 2020-21 when the NFF was 
expected to replace local formulas. 

At the end of July 2018, the DfE announced that the replacement of local 
formulas was being delayed and that local authorities would set local 
formulas for 2020-21.   The Council is considering options for the local 
formula for 2019-20 and is consulting schools and the Schools Forum during 
the autumn term, prior to taking a final decision in December. 

The options under consideration were: 

 Option 1: Implement the NFF as closely as possible from 2019-20 
 

 Option 2: Continue with the transitional formula to converge in 
2020/21 
 

 Option 3: Continue with the transitional formula, but at a slower rate – 
to converge in 2021/22 
 

 Option 4: Using existing formula, with no further transition 
 
At the same time, Cabinet will be recommended to approve an application to 
transfer funding from the Schools Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG), to the High Needs Block. 

The Schools Block provides the funding for the mainstream primary and 
secondary formula, so a transfer will reduce the amount distributed through 
the formula. 

The High Needs Block provides the funding for provision for pupils and 
students with Special Educational Needs and there is a substantial shortfall 
in funding for this provision. 

A national equality impact assessment for the NFF is available through the 
gov.uk website: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-
schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment 

This is relevant, because the option that is recommended for the formula is 
the transitional option, which is partly based on the NFF. 

Transition to the NFF will increase the funding allocated to pupil-led factors 
and reduce the lump sum provided to all schools, which could create longer 
term challenges for smaller schools which is relevant to the County due to 
its semi-rural nature.   Pupil-led factors include factors linked to deprivation, 
English as an Additional Language and Low Prior Attainment.   The 
transition to the NFF will reduce the amount allocated to deprivation, albeit 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment


using a wider range of measures, and will significantly increase the funding 
allocated to Low Prior Attainment. 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, 
specific clients/service users): 

Pupils, their families and school-based staff.   Also affected are the Council, 
which is responsible for maintaining schools, academy trusts and Roman 
Catholic and Church of England diocese, in respect of voluntary controlled 
and voluntary aided schools. 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Age ? N 

Disability ? Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  

(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity N N 

Race (ethnicity) N ? 

Religion or Belief N N 

Sex (gender) ? N 

Sexual orientation N N 

Transgender N N 

 

Page 39



Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. 
Record full details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

The impact on schools is varied and for those that lose out financially there 
are potential negative impacts for both pupils and staff. In relation to staff 
there may be greater potential impact in terms of age (older) and gender 
(women) where staffing profiles for some schools indicate higher proportions 
of female and/or older staff. 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  
 

 advance equality of opportunity, and  
 

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The formula includes factors which act as proxy measures for pupils who 
are likely to need additional support to achieve the expected level of 
attainment, which will contribute to increasing equality of opportunity. 

The formula does not differentiate between pupils from different groups and 
allocates funding on the basis of factors that are likely to be relevant to their 
educational needs. 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  

Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight 
any gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. 
Record greater detail and analysis in the following section of this 
assessment. 

NFF EIA: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-
formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment 

Report to Cabinet on 13.12.17 detailed the factors considered in 
determining the transitional formula recommended to Cabinet to approve. 
The report appendices contain detail on how each school in the County will 
be financially impacted by all three implementation options. This EIA is 
based on the recommended transitional model. 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-funding-formula-for-schools-and-high-needs-equalities-impact-assessment


Report to Cabinet 17.10.18 to agree submission of an application for a 
transfer of funding from the Schools Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
of the maximum permissible, without creating a negative ceiling.  
 
Consultation Oct/Nov 2017 

Feedback from the Schools Forum working groups (Oct/Nov 2017) has 
been mixed but overall has tended to favour a transitional option. 

On 7th Nov 17, Children’s and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
committee received a report and presentation on the schools funding 
formula options and the impact of NFF. The committee recognised that the 
impact on schools varied and that change would inevitably be to the benefit 
of some schools, but to the detriment of other schools. They also recognised 
that no moment towards the NFF would potentially create significant 
challenges for a number of schools in 2020/21. In conclusion the committee 
was supportive of the proposals to use a transitional model recognising this 
was something the Education and Skills Funding Agency was encouraging 
and this seemed the fairest solution to a difficult issue. 

Consultation Update November 2018 

Schools Forum Working Groups met in July and September 2018 to 
consider options for the formula and were advised of the Council’s intention 
to apply to transfer funding from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block. 

Those attending the working groups expressed concern about the impact 
that a transfer would have on schools at a time when they are facing 
significant budget pressures and noted that this could lead to a reduction in 
their capacity to offer support to pupils with Special Educational Needs, 
leading to more requests for top-up funding. 

Subsequently, this issue has been discussed by the Durham Association 
of Secondary Headteachers, who are opposed to a transfer as they feel 
this would have an adverse impact on academic outcomes and support we 
are to students. Also that school budgets are already over-stretched and  a 
persuasive and holistic vision for the use of High Needs funding is required 
to justify such a transfer (full details are contained within the report to 
Cabinet on 12 December 2018). 

The Schools Forum met on 5 November 2018 and was informed of the 
feedback from Cabinet on 17 October 2018, that it supported Option 2 
(Continue with the strategy implemented with effect from 2018 19: a 
transitional formula which moves schools to a NFF based allocation from 
2020 21). 

Page 41



The forum voted in favour of Option 3 (Continue with a transitional formula 
approach, but at a slower rate than currently planned i.e. aim for a NFF 
based allocation from 2021 22 instead of 2020 21).   Voting was: 

Option 1 (NFF version) – 0 votes 

Option 2 (Transitional Formula) – 1 vote 

Option 3 (Slower Rate Transitional Formula) – 22 votes AGREED 

Option 4 (Updated 2018-19 Formula) – 0 votes 

The Forum asked for this result to be reported to Cabinet along with the 
rationale for this being that it will slow down the change to the NFF and 
reduce the impact on smaller schools in particular, who are likely to be 
worse-off as a result of the NFF. 

In respect of the proposal to transfer funding for High Needs, the Forum did 
not support this, with 21 members voting against and 2 abstaining. 

Feedback from the Forum was that they were concerned about a lack of 
detail in respect of plans for SEN funding and about the impact of the 
transfer on schools.    

The Council has carefully reflected on this feedback.  

Taking into account the feedback from the Schools Forum and the 
significant pressure that the high needs block is under, an application was 
submitted to seek Secretary of State for Education approval for a top-slice of 
0.5% of the DSG schools block in 2019/20. This represents circa £1.535 
million of funding, which is significantly below the estimated £5.6 million 
shortfall in funding required in 2019/20 and which could have been covered 
by applying for the maximum amount of transfer permitted. 

As a temporary measure, for next year only, the Council will agree to fund 
the remaining deficit on the high needs block in 2019/20 from its reserves 
(Budget Support Reserve). The Councils MTFP will therefore factor in a 
£4.1 million budget pressure in 2019/20, funded through a one off 
application of Budget Support Reserve to augment the High Needs budget 
in 2019/20 and allow a balanced budget to be set. 

This decision will result in a much lower impact on schools than would be 
the case had the Council sought approval for the maximum amount 
permissible to be transferred. 

 

 

Page 42



Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: Confirm 
which refers 
(Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics which will proceed to full 
assessment? 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

David Shirer 

Date: 

November 2018 
(Updated) 

Service equality representative sign off: 

Research and Equality Manager 

 

Date: November 2017 

Updated October 
2018 and November 
2018 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to 

your service equality representative and forward a copy to 

equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research 

and equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 43

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected 

characteristics relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there 

is or likely to be a differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. 

benefits for certain groups, advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. 

barriers for and/or exclusion of particular groups. Record the evidence you 

have used to support or explain your conclusions. Devise and record 

mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to 
support or explain your 
conclusions on impact. 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
Public authorities do not 
have to comply with the 
Public Sector Equality 
Duty in relation to age for 
the provision of education 
and services to pupils in 
schools. 
 
In relation to potential 
impact on staff for schools 
experiencing funding 
reductions there could be 
implications for older staff. 
 
Following agreed HR 
procedures will ensure fair 
treatment. 
 
 

 
Basic funding per pupil 
increases from primary 
(reception to Year 6) to 
KS3 (Years 7 to 9) to KS4 
(Years 10 to 11).   This is in 
line with normal practice in 
most authorities and the 
NFF and recognises the 
increasing cost per pupil as 
they get older: As pupils 
progress through key 
stages, the breadth and 
complexity of the 
curriculum increases, 
requiring more subject 
experts, specialist teaching 
facilities and examination 
fees expenditure. (NFF 
EIA, paragraph 19, DfE). 
 
The table below shows the 
allocations in the 2018-19 
formula and those for the 
options for 2019-20, 
assuming that the 
maximum amount 
permissible is transferred 
for each option. 
 

 
Where funding 
reduces from 
year-to-year 
schools are 
supported to 
understand the 
implications, to 
forecast any 
budget shortfall 
and to identify 
appropriate 
savings that can 
be made to 
balance the 
budget.   Where a 
staff re-structuring 
is necessary 
schools are 
supported 
through this 
process. 
 

 

Page 44



 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
Limited positive impact. 
 
 
 
 
The transitional formula 
will increase the 
proportion of funding 
allocated to Low Prior 
Attainment (LPA), which is 
one of the DfE’s proxy 

 
Most funding to meet the 
needs of children with 
disabilities is provided 
separately to this formula.   
 
The proportion of funding 
allocated for LPA will 
increase from 3.49% in the 
2018-19 formula to at least 
4.33%.  Schools contribute 
the first £6,000 of the cost 

 
As above 

Proportions of 

funding allocated 

through formula 

factors 

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) 
1819 

formula Proportion of Schools Block 

transferred to High Needs Block 

Proportion of Schools Block 

transferred to High Needs Block 

  0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum  

 Pupil-led factors      
 

    
 

  

 Basic amount per 

pupil  
71.14%  71.08%  70.97%  70.87%  70.81%  70.69%  70.34%  

 Deprivation  11.71%  11.70%  11.68%  11.80%  11.79%  11.77%  11.96%  

 English as an 

Additional Language  
0.11%  0.11%  0.11%  0.09%  0.09%  0.09%  0.06%  

 Low Prior Attainment  4.60%  4.60%  4.59%  4.37%  4.36%  4.36%  3.49%  

 Minimum per-pupil 

funding  
0.02%  0.02%  0.03%  0.00%  0.01%  0.01%  0.01%  

 School-led factors  
       

 Lump Sum  10.19% 10.24% 10.35%  10.65% 10.70% 10.82% 11.90%  

 Sparsity  0.08% 0.08% 0.08%  0.06% 0.06% 0.07% 0.04%  

 Premises-related 

factors  
       

 Rates  1.53% 1.54% 1.56% 1.53% 1.54% 1.56% 1.59%  

 Split-site  0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13% 0.13%  

 PFI  0.48% 0.48% 0.48% 0.48% 0.48% 0.48% 0.47%  

 Joint-use Leisure  0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.02%  

Page 45



indicators for Special 
Educational Needs (SEN). 
 
Increasing the proportion 
of funding provided 
through LPA should 
increase the correlation 
between the number of 
pupils with disabilities and 
the notional SEN budget, 
which should improve the 
efficiency of the allocation 
of targeted support in 
reaching schools with the 
most pupils with 
disabilities. 
 
In relation to potential 
impact on staff for schools 
experiencing funding 
reductions there could be 
implications for disabled 
staff and reasonable 
adjustments will be made 
where required. 

of SEN provision and 
receive targeted support to 
offset these costs if the 
contributions for High 
Needs SEN pupils (those 
whose provision costs more 
than £6,000) exceeds the 
school’s notional SEN 
budget. The SEN budget is 
a notional share of formula 
funding, based on a target 
of £350/pupil in each phase 
(primary/secondary) and 
includes all of the LPA 
funding with the balance 
from deprivation funding.    
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace 
only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
N/A 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
None 
 
 

 
This is not relevant to 
school funding 

 
None 

 

Page 46



Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
Limited positive impact. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The transitional formula 
does not include a mobility 
factor, which is potentially 
relevant to Gypsy/Roma 
pupils and pupils of Irish 
traveller heritage.    

 
The proportion of funding 
allocated for pupils 
recorded as having had 
with English as an 
Additional Language in the 
past three years increases 
under all options except the 
existing formula option, 
(Option 4).  
 
No funding is included in 
the funding allocation to 
Durham in respect of 
mobility because it has not 
been used in the past and 
the data can be unreliable 
due to issues with 
recording of data on pupils’ 
previous schools after 
academy conversion.   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support for 
Gypsy/Roma 
pupils and pupils 
of 
Irish traveller 
heritage is 
available through 
centrally funded 
service provided 
by 
the Council, 
which 
responds to 
specific needs, as 
opposed to a 
formula allocation 
based on lagged 
data. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
The formula is applied to 
Roman Catholic primary 
and secondary schools 
and Church of England 
primary schools (there are 
no Church of England 

 
The proportion of pupils 
who are eligible for funding 
through additional needs 
factors is generally higher 
for non-faith schools in all 
categories except English 

 
As above 

Page 47



secondary schools). The 
formula does not 
differentiate between 
schools according to 
whether they are faith 
schools or not.  
 
Compared to the 2018-19 
formula allocations, faith 
schools generally see 
smaller average increases 
in funding than non-faith 
schools regardless of the 
option and transfer to the 
High Needs Block, but this 
is a result of applying the 
formula, which takes 
account of additional 
needs (deprivation, 
English as an Additional 
Language and Low Prior 
Attainment), where faith 
schools tend to have 
fewer eligible pupils. 
 
 

as an additional language 
which is predominately why 
faith schools will see a 
smaller increase in funding 
per pupil.  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
The formula does not 
differentiate between 
pupils on this basis and 
there are no single-sex 
schools affected by the 
formula. 
 
In relation to potential 
impact 
on staff for schools 
experiencing funding 
reductions there could be 
disproportionate impact on 

 
Higher proportions of 
female 
staff are employed within 
the 
primary school sector. 

 
 
As above 

Page 48



female staff especially 
within 
primary education. 
Following 
agreed HR procedures will 
ensure fair treatment. 
 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
None 
 
 
 

 
The formula does not 
differentiate between pupils 
on this basis 

 
None 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant 
evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

 
None 
 
 

 
The formula does not 
differentiate between pupils 
on this basis 

 
None 
 
 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, 
both positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

With the exception of age, the formula does not differentiate according to 
protected characteristics.  The differentiation in respect of age is in 
accordance with usual practice and recognises differences in the provision 
required by pupils of different ages. There is a small positive impact in 
relation to disability as the transitional formula will increase the proportion of 
funding allocated to Low Prior Attainment (LPA), which is one of the DfE’s 
proxy indicators for Special Educational Needs (SEN). 
 

Page 49



Compared to the 2018-19 formula, faith schools generally will see smaller 
increases in funding than non-faith schools. The formula does not 
differentiate between schools but does take account of additional needs. A 
comparison of faith and non-faith schools illustrates that funding differences 
between these types of school is a result of differences in the proportion of 
pupils who are eligible for additional needs funding.  

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so 
how? 

No impact expected 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action 
appear? 

Consultation with 
schools and the 
Schools Forum on 5 
November 

David Shirer 30 November N/A 

 
Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to 
be undertaken? (Y/N) 

Refresh of faith school 
analysis 
 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the 
template 

November 2019 

 
Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
David Shirer  
 

Date: 
22.11.17 
Updated 19.11.18 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Research and Equality Manager 
Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager 

Date: 
22.11.17 
Updated 19.11.18 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and 

forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 50

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

2000 Ropery Walk Primary Maintained 263          256          -7 1,099,991 -                    -8,000 -25,000 -1,000 -8,000 -25,000 -3,000 -8,000 -25,000 -6,000 -12,000 -25,000

2001 Middlestone Moor Primary Maintained 263          252          -11 1,052,737 -26,000 -31,000 -41,000 -23,000 -28,000 -39,000 -22,000 -27,000 -38,000 -20,000 -25,000 -37,000

2002 Chilton Primary Academy 269          266          -3 1,080,033 -8,000 -16,000 -32,000 -8,000 -15,000 -32,000 -8,000 -14,000 -32,000 -16,000 -21,000 -34,000

2003 North Park Primary Maintained 194          191          -3 875,749 9,000 2,000 -11,000 8,000 3,000 -11,000 8,000 4,000 -11,000 5,000 1,000 -11,000

2004 Seascape Primary Maintained 246          233          -13 1,241,332 -51,000 -57,000 -68,000 -40,000 -46,000 -59,000 -37,000 -43,000 -56,000 -30,000 -36,000 -54,000

2005 Pelton Primary Maintained 279          278          -1 1,156,159 24,000 15,000 -3,000 24,000 16,000 -3,000 23,000 17,000 -3,000 17,000 11,000 -3,000

2008 Acre Rigg Primary Academy 256          249          -7 1,097,545 -5,000 -10,000 -27,000 -8,000 -13,000 -26,000 -8,000 -14,000 -26,000 -10,000 -16,000 -29,000

2009 Victoria Lane Primary Academy 159          167          8 739,218 45,000 41,000 32,000 43,000 39,000 31,000 42,000 39,000 30,000 41,000 37,000 29,000

2010 Stephenson Way Primary Academy 311          307          -4 1,309,479 16,000 6,000 -15,000 16,000 7,000 -15,000 18,000 9,000 -15,000 16,000 9,000 -15,000

2015 Browney Primary Academy 111          133          22 501,800 70,000 70,000 70,000 68,000 67,000 67,000 70,000 68,000 66,000 75,000 72,000 66,000

2016 Rosa Street Primary Academy 198          177          -21 831,769 -59,000 -65,000 -76,000 -58,000 -63,000 -74,000 -59,000 -62,000 -74,000 -60,000 -64,000 -73,000

2017 Shield Row Primary Academy 181          172          -9 784,571 -40,000 -43,000 -43,000 -31,000 -34,000 -42,000 -28,000 -31,000 -39,000 -21,000 -25,000 -33,000

2018 Dene House Primary Academy 275          273          -2 1,198,725 -17,000 -23,000 -24,000 -1,000 -8,000 -20,000 4,000 -2,000 -16,000 14,000 8,000 -7,000

2019 South Hetton Primary Academy 207          200          -7 879,336 -19,000 -23,000 -31,000 -15,000 -19,000 -28,000 -13,000 -17,000 -27,000 -10,000 -15,000 -25,000

2020 St. Joseph's RC, N/A Primary Academy 121          125          4 579,448 7,000 7,000 7,000 13,000 10,000 7,000 16,000 14,000 8,000 23,000 20,000 13,000

2021 Sacriston Primary Academy 213          203          -10 873,916 -16,000 -23,000 -36,000 -16,000 -22,000 -35,000 -14,000 -20,000 -35,000 -13,000 -17,000 -34,000

2023 New Seaham Primary Academy 264          261          -3 992,445 -8,000 -13,000 -23,000 -1,000 -6,000 -16,000 2,000 -3,000 -14,000 6,000 1,000 -10,000

2043 Westlea Primary Maintained 233          226          -7 1,009,495 -10,000 -14,000 -26,000 -9,000 -13,000 -26,000 -8,000 -13,000 -25,000 -8,000 -12,000 -25,000

2105 Edmondsley Primary Maintained 171          166          -5 695,752 -21,000 -24,000 -25,000 -14,000 -17,000 -23,000 -11,000 -14,000 -21,000 -6,000 -9,000 -16,000

2107 Lumley Jun. Primary Maintained 160          154          -6 660,234 -24,000 -27,000 -28,000 -18,000 -21,000 -27,000 -16,000 -19,000 -25,000 -12,000 -15,000 -21,000

2108 Lumley Inf. Primary Maintained 129          142          13 554,840 37,000 37,000 37,000 40,000 37,000 35,000 42,000 40,000 35,000 47,000 44,000 38,000

2114 West Pelton Primary Maintained 69            58            -11 394,299 -48,000 -48,000 -48,000 -45,000 -45,000 -45,000 -43,000 -44,000 -44,000 -35,000 -36,000 -39,000

2116 Nettlesworth Primary Maintained 92            87            -5 451,676 -23,000 -23,000 -23,000 -22,000 -22,000 -22,000 -20,000 -22,000 -22,000 -12,000 -14,000 -18,000

2125 Red Rose Primary Maintained 276          285          9 997,994 32,000 27,000 19,000 36,000 31,000 21,000 38,000 33,000 21,000 41,000 35,000 23,000

2126 Woodlea Primary Maintained 208          203          -5 830,811 -21,000 -25,000 -27,000 -12,000 -15,000 -24,000 -8,000 -12,000 -21,000 -2,000 -6,000 -16,000

2133 Cestria Primary Maintained 418          414          -4 1,485,521 11,000 4,000 -12,000 11,000 3,000 -13,000 10,000 3,000 -15,000 10,000 2,000 -16,000

2136 Ouston Primary Academy 267          253          -14 975,648 -37,000 -42,000 -51,000 -37,000 -41,000 -51,000 -36,000 -41,000 -51,000 -36,000 -40,000 -51,000

2146 Bournmoor Primary Maintained 113          110          -3 521,914 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -13,000 -15,000 -16,000 -10,000 -12,000 -16,000 -4,000 -6,000 -11,000

2185 Cotherstone Primary Maintained 50            45            -5 304,279 -19,000 -19,000 -19,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -17,000 -17,000 -18,000 -13,000 -14,000 -16,000

2205 Beamish Primary Maintained 72            68            -4 407,657 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -18,000 -19,000 -19,000 -15,000 -17,000 -19,000 -9,000 -11,000 -15,000

2208 Collierley Primary Maintained 142          143          1 632,425 -2,000 -4,000 -4,000 5,000 2,000 -4,000 7,000 4,000 -2,000 12,000 9,000 2,000

2210 Catchgate Primary Maintained 237          238          1 1,055,924 21,000 16,000 5,000 20,000 15,000 4,000 20,000 15,000 3,000 19,000 14,000 2,000

2212 Annfield Plain Jun. Primary Maintained 134          134          -           606,475 13,000 9,000 -                    13,000 9,000 -                    14,000 10,000 -                    18,000 14,000 -                    

2213 Annfield Plain Inf. Primary Maintained 115          119          4 562,528 9,000 9,000 9,000 15,000 12,000 8,000 17,000 15,000 9,000 22,000 20,000 14,000

2217 East Stanley Primary Maintained 228          221          -7 966,654 -24,000 -28,000 -37,000 -17,000 -22,000 -32,000 -15,000 -20,000 -30,000 -11,000 -15,000 -26,000

2225 South Stanley Inf. Primary Academy 131          124          -7 627,033 -27,000 -30,000 -35,000 -23,000 -26,000 -31,000 -21,000 -24,000 -30,000 -18,000 -21,000 -27,000

2226 South Stanley Jun. Primary Academy 175          182          7 819,204 48,000 41,000 28,000 46,000 41,000 28,000 45,000 40,000 27,000 41,000 37,000 27,000

2232 Burnside Primary Maintained 197          200          3 902,830 33,000 26,000 12,000 30,000 26,000 12,000 29,000 24,000 12,000 25,000 21,000 10,000

2233 Bloemfontein Primary Academy 157          159          2 727,458 -4,000 -7,000 -8,000 4,000 -                    -7,000 6,000 3,000 -5,000 11,000 8,000 -                    

2234 Burnopfield Primary Maintained 366          361          -5 1,308,713 15,000 5,000 -16,000 15,000 6,000 -15,000 18,000 8,000 -15,000 30,000 20,000 -15,000

2257 Shotley Bridge Primary Maintained 378          390          12 1,362,961 74,000 71,000 71,000 72,000 63,000 39,000 75,000 64,000 39,000 69,000 62,000 38,000

2259 Leadgate Primary Maintained 182          183          1 828,236 23,000 17,000 4,000 22,000 17,000 4,000 24,000 18,000 4,000 31,000 25,000 4,000

2261 Burnhope Primary Maintained 73            73            -           414,349 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 -1,000 -3,000 -4,000 5,000 3,000 -                    

2266 Castleside Primary Maintained 129          131          2 566,796 -                    -                    -                    5,000 2,000 -                    7,000 5,000 -                    13,000 10,000 4,000

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

22/11/18 1 of 6

P
age 51



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

2269 The Grove Primary Maintained 163          157          -6 718,803 -15,000 -18,000 -24,000 -13,000 -16,000 -23,000 -12,000 -15,000 -22,000 -10,000 -14,000 -21,000

2272 Delves Lane Primary Maintained 311          296          -15 1,195,305 -24,000 -33,000 -51,000 -24,000 -31,000 -50,000 -21,000 -29,000 -50,000 -30,000 -36,000 -50,000

2276 Moorside Primary Maintained 103          102          -1 531,047 -3,000 -5,000 -10,000 -                    -2,000 -7,000 1,000 -1,000 -6,000 3,000 1,000 -4,000

2277 Consett Jun. Primary Maintained 191          204          13 772,686 63,000 57,000 45,000 61,000 56,000 43,000 60,000 56,000 43,000 56,000 52,000 42,000

2278 Consett Inf. Primary Maintained 153          166          13 632,774 46,000 43,000 37,000 49,000 45,000 39,000 50,000 46,000 39,000 51,000 48,000 41,000

2301 Hamsterley Primary Maintained 45            41            -4 285,733 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -12,000 -12,000 -14,000 -7,000 -8,000 -12,000

2302 Hunwick Primary Maintained 160          158          -2 655,243 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -8,000 -11,000 -14,000 -5,000 -7,000 -14,000 1,000 -1,000 -8,000

2307 Tow Law Primary Maintained 84            94            10 466,512 35,000 35,000 35,000 36,000 34,000 33,000 38,000 36,000 33,000 43,000 41,000 36,000

2308 Crook Primary Maintained 363          371          8 1,474,714 67,000 55,000 30,000 66,000 55,000 30,000 68,000 57,000 30,000 69,000 60,000 29,000

2310 Hartside Primary Academy 208          208          -           892,670 -13,000 -18,000 -25,000 -7,000 -11,000 -21,000 -5,000 -9,000 -19,000 -1,000 -5,000 -15,000

2311 Peases West Primary Maintained 94            90            -4 482,421 -20,000 -20,000 -20,000 -16,000 -18,000 -19,000 -13,000 -15,000 -19,000 -9,000 -11,000 -15,000

2313 Stanley (Crook) Primary Maintained 136          136          -           612,521 -7,000 -7,000 -7,000 -4,000 -6,000 -7,000 -                    -2,000 -7,000 8,000 5,000 -1,000

2316 Sunnybrow Primary Maintained 80            86            6 466,532 21,000 21,000 21,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 19,000 19,000 19,000 29,000 26,000 22,000

2318 Howden-le-Wear Primary Maintained 124          132          8 559,076 22,000 22,000 22,000 25,000 22,000 21,000 28,000 25,000 21,000 33,000 31,000 25,000

2319 Frosterley Primary Maintained 37            37            -           268,417 -2,000 -2,000 -2,000 -                    -1,000 -2,000 1,000 -                    -1,000 2,000 2,000 -                    

2321 Rookhope Primary Maintained 12            8              -4 207,298 -24,000 -24,000 -24,000 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -19,000 -19,000 -19,000

2322 St. John's Chapel Primary Maintained 20            13            -7 221,148 -30,000 -30,000 -30,000 -27,000 -27,000 -27,000 -26,000 -26,000 -26,000 -24,000 -24,000 -24,000

2324 Wearhead Primary Maintained 32            21            -11 247,726 -39,000 -39,000 -39,000 -36,000 -36,000 -36,000 -35,000 -35,000 -35,000 -31,000 -31,000 -33,000

2326 Willington Primary Maintained 205          200          -5 956,929 -20,000 -24,000 -31,000 -9,000 -14,000 -23,000 -6,000 -10,000 -21,000 1,000 -4,000 -19,000

2328 Witton-le-Wear Primary Maintained 86            90            4 419,506 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000 12,000 10,000 8,000

2329 Wolsingham Primary Maintained 200          191          -9 768,450 -30,000 -33,000 -38,000 -24,000 -27,000 -34,000 -21,000 -25,000 -33,000 -18,000 -21,000 -29,000

2330 Oakley Cross Primary Maintained 144          145          1 682,251 -1,000 -4,000 -4,000 5,000 2,000 -4,000 8,000 4,000 -3,000 12,000 9,000 1,000

2351 Byers Green Primary Maintained 97            86            -11 472,650 -44,000 -44,000 -44,000 -39,000 -41,000 -41,000 -36,000 -38,000 -41,000 -30,000 -32,000 -36,000

2357 Bluebell Meadow Primary Maintained 306          311          5 1,257,968 50,000 39,000 19,000 43,000 37,000 19,000 41,000 35,000 18,000 36,000 30,000 15,000

2361 Kirk Merrington Primary Maintained 125          131          6 559,553 14,000 14,000 14,000 17,000 15,000 14,000 20,000 18,000 13,000 27,000 24,000 19,000

2362 Cassop Primary Maintained 139          147          8 613,802 21,000 21,000 21,000 23,000 20,000 20,000 27,000 24,000 20,000 35,000 33,000 26,000

2368 Ferryhill Station Primary Maintained 80            78            -2 440,367 -11,000 -13,000 -13,000 -6,000 -8,000 -12,000 -4,000 -6,000 -10,000 -1,000 -2,000 -7,000

2370 West Cornforth Primary Maintained 177          165          -12 849,803 -49,000 -53,000 -57,000 -43,000 -46,000 -54,000 -40,000 -44,000 -53,000 -36,000 -40,000 -48,000

2372 Coxhoe Primary Maintained 299          315          16 1,108,941 75,000 69,000 53,000 70,000 64,000 52,000 69,000 63,000 49,000 66,000 60,000 46,000

2374 Kelloe Primary Maintained 86            97            11 464,719 38,000 38,000 38,000 39,000 37,000 36,000 41,000 39,000 36,000 46,000 44,000 39,000

2379 Tudhoe Colliery Primary Academy 202          202          -           827,992 5,000 1,000 -7,000 13,000 9,000 -                    15,000 11,000 -                    20,000 16,000 -                    

2385 Dean Bank Primary Maintained 159          167          8 777,739 35,000 31,000 23,000 39,000 35,000 27,000 40,000 36,000 27,000 43,000 39,000 30,000

2388 Bowburn Jun. Primary Maintained 171          194          23 750,361 104,000 97,000 85,000 99,000 95,000 82,000 97,000 93,000 82,000 93,000 89,000 80,000

2389 Bowburn Inf. Primary Maintained 139          125          -14 622,178 -54,000 -56,000 -57,000 -47,000 -49,000 -54,000 -44,000 -47,000 -52,000 -39,000 -42,000 -48,000

2394 Ox Close Primary Maintained 279          285          6 1,087,942 26,000 21,000 10,000 31,000 25,000 14,000 33,000 27,000 14,000 36,000 30,000 17,000

2397 Cleves Cross Primary Academy 202          204          2 845,669 -1,000 -4,000 -4,000 9,000 5,000 -4,000 13,000 9,000 -1,000 19,000 15,000 5,000

2399 Fishburn Primary Maintained 158          157          -1 644,832 11,000 6,000 -3,000 9,000 6,000 -3,000 8,000 5,000 -3,000 6,000 3,000 -4,000

2400 Broom Cottages Primary Maintained 264          263          -1 1,134,860 23,000 14,000 -3,000 23,000 15,000 -3,000 21,000 15,000 -3,000 16,000 10,000 -3,000

2401 Etherley Lane Primary Maintained 313          303          -10 1,221,038 -7,000 -16,000 -34,000 -11,000 -18,000 -34,000 -13,000 -19,000 -34,000 -16,000 -22,000 -37,000

2409 Ramshaw Primary Maintained 72            69            -3 384,460 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -14,000 -5,000 -6,000 -10,000

2410 Forest-of-Teesdale Primary Maintained 9              8              -1 190,075 -7,000 -7,000 -7,000 -6,000 -6,000 -6,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000

2411 Aycliffe Village Primary Maintained 153          153          -           649,057 -8,000 -8,000 -8,000 -7,000 -8,000 -8,000 -2,000 -5,000 -7,000 8,000 5,000 -2,000

2413 Butterknowle Primary Maintained 32            38            6 260,600 25,000 25,000 25,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 21,000 21,000 21,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

2417 Escomb Primary Maintained 208          209          1 837,182 -7,000 -7,000 -7,000 1,000 -3,000 -7,000 5,000 1,000 -7,000 15,000 10,000 1,000

22/11/18 2 of 6

P
age 52



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

2419 St. Helens Auckland Primary Maintained 159          168          9 731,709 31,000 27,000 25,000 33,000 30,000 24,000 34,000 31,000 24,000 36,000 33,000 24,000

2423 Thornhill Primary Maintained 208          208          -           900,966 -11,000 -11,000 -11,000 -2,000 -7,000 -11,000 3,000 -2,000 -11,000 12,000 7,000 -3,000

2426 Toft Hill Primary Maintained 186          200          14 738,217 46,000 42,000 37,000 51,000 47,000 39,000 52,000 49,000 40,000 56,000 52,000 43,000

2428 Woodland Primary Maintained 44            35            -9 289,718 -33,000 -33,000 -33,000 -31,000 -31,000 -31,000 -31,000 -31,000 -31,000 -27,000 -28,000 -29,000

2430 Middleton-in -Teesdale Primary Maintained 123          118          -5 522,381 -15,000 -17,000 -21,000 -11,000 -13,000 -18,000 -10,000 -12,000 -17,000 -8,000 -10,000 -14,000

2433 Cockton Hill Jun. Primary Maintained 204          208          4 893,914 19,000 14,000 6,000 25,000 21,000 11,000 28,000 23,000 13,000 32,000 27,000 15,000

2434 Cockton Hill Inf. Primary Maintained 161          164          3 733,037 2,000 2,000 2,000 11,000 8,000 2,000 14,000 11,000 3,000 20,000 16,000 8,000

2438 Timothy Hackworth Primary Maintained 396          384          -12 1,596,392 -6,000 -18,000 -43,000 -6,000 -17,000 -43,000 -3,000 -14,000 -43,000 12,000 1,000 -42,000

2440 Cockfield Primary Maintained 109          98            -11 528,173 -47,000 -47,000 -47,000 -40,000 -42,000 -45,000 -37,000 -39,000 -44,000 -31,000 -33,000 -38,000

2442 Montalbo Primary Maintained 142          149          7 580,822 17,000 16,000 16,000 23,000 20,000 15,000 25,000 22,000 16,000 28,000 26,000 20,000

2453 New Brancepeth Primary Maintained 90            106          16 436,520 53,000 51,000 51,000 53,000 51,000 48,000 53,000 51,000 47,000 54,000 52,000 47,000

2455 Langley Moor Primary Maintained 200          199          -1 764,195 5,000 1,000 -6,000 6,000 2,000 -6,000 6,000 3,000 -6,000 7,000 3,000 -5,000

2462 Witton Gilbert Primary Maintained 192          204          12 775,706 45,000 41,000 33,000 49,000 45,000 37,000 50,000 46,000 38,000 53,000 49,000 39,000

2470 Pittington Primary Maintained 195          189          -6 749,996 -26,000 -28,000 -28,000 -18,000 -22,000 -27,000 -16,000 -19,000 -27,000 -10,000 -14,000 -22,000

2472 Ludworth Primary Maintained 77            74            -3 423,810 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -9,000 -11,000 -14,000

2473 Sherburn Primary Maintained 169          163          -6 729,426 -13,000 -16,000 -22,000 -11,000 -15,000 -22,000 -11,000 -14,000 -21,000 -9,000 -13,000 -20,000

2475 West Rainton Primary Maintained 121          121          -           594,584 -3,000 -6,000 -7,000 3,000 -                    -5,000 5,000 2,000 -4,000 9,000 6,000 -                    

2477 Bearpark Primary Maintained 105          113          8 522,066 24,000 24,000 24,000 26,000 23,000 23,000 28,000 26,000 23,000 33,000 31,000 25,000

2481 Neville's Cross Primary Maintained 285          277          -8 1,023,200 -12,000 -17,000 -26,000 -11,000 -16,000 -27,000 -11,000 -16,000 -27,000 -10,000 -15,000 -27,000

2488 Newton Hall Inf. Primary Maintained 172          159          -13 651,736 -47,000 -47,000 -47,000 -40,000 -43,000 -46,000 -37,000 -40,000 -45,000 -33,000 -35,000 -42,000

2497 Esh Winning Primary Maintained 208          228          20 909,310 94,000 87,000 73,000 91,000 86,000 71,000 89,000 84,000 70,000 85,000 80,000 69,000

2498 Cheveley Park Primary Maintained 197          200          3 766,748 23,000 19,000 10,000 22,000 18,000 10,000 21,000 18,000 9,000 20,000 17,000 8,000

2499 Laurel Avenue Primary Maintained 88            96            8 494,636 28,000 28,000 28,000 29,000 27,000 27,000 30,000 28,000 26,000 34,000 32,000 26,000

2509 Hesleden Primary Maintained 109          107          -2 501,676 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -12,000 -11,000 -11,000 -11,000

2516 Deaf Hill Primary Maintained 130          123          -7 620,133 -22,000 -25,000 -30,000 -20,000 -23,000 -28,000 -19,000 -22,000 -28,000 -17,000 -20,000 -26,000

2523 Thornley Primary Maintained 178          182          4 794,178 18,000 14,000 6,000 22,000 18,000 10,000 24,000 20,000 11,000 26,000 23,000 14,000

2526 Wheatley Hill Primary Maintained 177          183          6 836,470 24,000 20,000 13,000 20,000 16,000 13,000 19,000 15,000 13,000 16,000 13,000 13,000

2531 Wingate Primary Maintained 368          346          -22 718,816 -57,000 -67,000 -88,000 -49,000 -56,000 -76,000 -49,000 -55,000 -71,000 -48,000 -55,000 -70,000

2532 Horden Cotsford Jun. Primary Maintained 114          109          -5 610,717 -28,000 -28,000 -28,000 -27,000 -27,000 -27,000 -22,000 -25,000 -27,000 -13,000 -16,000 -22,000

2534 Horden Cotsford Inf. Primary Maintained 72            64            -8 432,020 -39,000 -39,000 -39,000 -37,000 -37,000 -37,000 -36,000 -36,000 -36,000 -29,000 -30,000 -34,000

2536 Shotton Primary Maintained 317          298          -19 1,299,692 -40,000 -50,000 -69,000 -39,000 -48,000 -68,000 -37,000 -46,000 -68,000 -47,000 -53,000 -68,000

2540 Acre Rigg Inf. Primary Maintained 203          194          -9 901,630 -40,000 -44,000 -46,000 -31,000 -35,000 -44,000 -27,000 -32,000 -41,000 -21,000 -25,000 -36,000

2563 Sedgefield Primary Maintained 192          196          4 720,922 10,000 6,000 4,000 15,000 12,000 5,000 17,000 14,000 6,000 21,000 18,000 10,000

2593 Hardwick Primary Maintained 213          212          -1 785,683 9,000 5,000 -3,000 7,000 4,000 -4,000 7,000 3,000 -5,000 6,000 2,000 -6,000

2704 Copeland Road Primary Maintained 150          144          -6 678,488 -30,000 -30,000 -30,000 -26,000 -29,000 -29,000 -21,000 -24,000 -29,000 -12,000 -15,000 -22,000

2705 St. Andrew's Primary Maintained 100          122          22 531,755 83,000 83,000 83,000 87,000 85,000 80,000 90,000 87,000 81,000 94,000 92,000 84,000

2706 Byerley Park Primary Maintained 212          211          -1 834,950 -12,000 -14,000 -14,000 -1,000 -5,000 -13,000 2,000 -2,000 -11,000 9,000 5,000 -4,000

2708 Horndale Inf. Primary Maintained 98            90            -8 505,626 -37,000 -37,000 -37,000 -30,000 -32,000 -35,000 -28,000 -30,000 -34,000 -23,000 -25,000 -29,000

2729 Langley Park Primary Maintained 161          155          -6 682,675 -11,000 -14,000 -21,000 -11,000 -14,000 -20,000 -10,000 -13,000 -20,000 -10,000 -13,000 -20,000

2733 Yohden Primary Maintained 168          161          -7 791,160 -37,000 -37,000 -37,000 -32,000 -36,000 -36,000 -27,000 -30,000 -36,000 -16,000 -20,000 -29,000

2734 Howletch Lane Primary Maintained 376          373          -3 1,492,182 -4,000 -12,000 -26,000 3,000 -4,000 -20,000 6,000 -2,000 -19,000 11,000 3,000 -15,000

2737 Blackhall Primary Maintained 226          215          -11 961,241 -19,000 -26,000 -40,000 -19,000 -25,000 -39,000 -17,000 -23,000 -39,000 -22,000 -27,000 -38,000

2742 Vane Road Primary Maintained 384          387          3 1,424,424 46,000 34,000 10,000 44,000 35,000 10,000 41,000 34,000 10,000 35,000 27,000 10,000

2743 Sugar Hill Primary Maintained 396          401          5 1,493,387 55,000 42,000 18,000 54,000 43,000 17,000 53,000 45,000 17,000 42,000 34,000 15,000

22/11/18 3 of 6

P
age 53



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

2744 Pelton Roseberry Primary Maintained 176          196          20 752,372 84,000 80,000 72,000 81,000 77,000 69,000 81,000 77,000 68,000 79,000 75,000 66,000

2745 Bullion Lane Primary Maintained 260          247          -13 1,177,217 -32,000 -37,000 -52,000 -32,000 -38,000 -51,000 -32,000 -38,000 -51,000 -32,000 -38,000 -52,000

2746 Easington Colliery Primary Maintained 523          504          -19 2,095,975 -19,000 -36,000 -69,000 -21,000 -34,000 -69,000 -24,000 -35,000 -69,000 -32,000 -43,000 -69,000

2747 Gilesgate Primary Maintained 183          174          -9 838,934 -17,000 -23,000 -35,000 -16,000 -22,000 -34,000 -15,000 -20,000 -34,000 -19,000 -23,000 -33,000

2748 Finchale Primary Maintained 215          208          -7 803,852 -9,000 -13,000 -22,000 -9,000 -13,000 -21,000 -9,000 -13,000 -21,000 -9,000 -13,000 -22,000

2749 Benfieldside Primary Maintained 236          221          -15 966,379 -31,000 -38,000 -51,000 -30,000 -36,000 -50,000 -28,000 -35,000 -50,000 -28,000 -33,000 -49,000

2750 King Street Primary Maintained 214          208          -6 905,609 -8,000 -13,000 -22,000 -8,000 -13,000 -22,000 -8,000 -12,000 -22,000 -8,000 -12,000 -22,000

2751 Framwellgate Moor Primary Maintained 220          236          16 832,913 72,000 65,000 52,000 70,000 64,000 51,000 71,000 65,000 50,000 63,000 59,000 49,000

2943 Newker Primary Maintained 402          403          1 1,464,347 39,000 28,000 4,000 36,000 28,000 4,000 33,000 26,000 4,000 28,000 21,000 3,000

3031 Chester-le-Street CE Primary Maintained 326          316          -10 1,240,852 -5,000 -15,000 -34,000 -5,000 -13,000 -33,000 -3,000 -11,000 -33,000 -8,000 -14,000 -33,000

3063 Ebchester CE Primary Maintained 81            83            2 410,433 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 11,000 9,000 5,000

3085 St. Stephen's CE Primary Maintained 201          201          -           879,983 -10,000 -11,000 -11,000 5,000 -                    -9,000 10,000 5,000 -5,000 19,000 15,000 -                    

3087 Stanhope Barrington CE Primary Maintained 125          132          7 528,381 21,000 19,000 16,000 24,000 22,000 17,000 25,000 23,000 18,000 27,000 25,000 19,000

3121 Green Lane CE Primary Maintained 226          223          -3 834,702 2,000 -2,000 -10,000 2,000 -2,000 -11,000 2,000 -2,000 -11,000 1,000 -3,000 -12,000

3123 St. Anne's CE Primary Maintained 214          216          2 849,872 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 3,000 -1,000 -4,000 8,000 4,000 -4,000 18,000 14,000 4,000

3130 Evenwood CE Primary Maintained 83            83            -           449,938 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -4,000 -4,000 -4,000 2,000 1,000 -3,000

3131 Gainford CE Primary Maintained 74            73            -1 382,396 -5,000 -6,000 -7,000 -2,000 -3,000 -6,000 -1,000 -2,000 -5,000 1,000 -                    -3,000

3134 Ingleton CE Primary Maintained 66            64            -2 352,589 -10,000 -10,000 -10,000 -7,000 -9,000 -9,000 -6,000 -7,000 -9,000 -3,000 -4,000 -7,000

3141 Staindrop CE Primary Maintained 175          173          -2 681,210 -2,000 -5,000 -11,000 -                    -3,000 -10,000 1,000 -2,000 -9,000 2,000 -1,000 -8,000

3161 Belmont CE Primary Maintained 267          272          5 985,475 25,000 20,000 11,000 28,000 23,000 13,000 29,000 24,000 13,000 31,000 26,000 14,000

3165 St. Oswald's CE Primary Maintained 118          120          2 506,685 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000 1,000 1,000 6,000 4,000 1,000 12,000 10,000 5,000

3167 Shincliffe CE Primary Maintained 209          204          -5 783,067 -20,000 -23,000 -25,000 -12,000 -16,000 -24,000 -10,000 -13,000 -22,000 -5,000 -8,000 -17,000

3168 St. Margaret's CE Primary Maintained 422          425          3 1,409,102 95,000 95,000 95,000 53,000 53,000 53,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

3182 Easington CE Primary Maintained 113          128          15 503,502 44,000 44,000 44,000 42,000 42,000 42,000 45,000 43,000 42,000 54,000 51,000 46,000

3183 Hutton Henry CE Primary Maintained 68            69            1 379,396 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

3213 Lanchester EP Primary Maintained 329          340          11 1,211,843 42,000 36,000 24,000 48,000 41,000 28,000 50,000 43,000 29,000 53,000 46,000 31,000

3300 St. Cuthbert's RC, New Seaham Primary Maintained 204          198          -6 799,946 -30,000 -30,000 -30,000 -20,000 -23,000 -29,000 -16,000 -20,000 -28,000 -9,000 -12,000 -21,000

3301 St. Mary Magdalen RC Primary Maintained 285          294          9 1,064,914 38,000 32,000 21,000 41,000 36,000 24,000 43,000 37,000 25,000 45,000 40,000 26,000

3303 Bowes Hutchinson CE Primary Maintained 45            49            4 290,406 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

3343 St. Cuthbert's RC, Ch-le-St Primary Maintained 211          202          -9 787,324 -32,000 -36,000 -38,000 -25,000 -29,000 -37,000 -23,000 -27,000 -35,000 -18,000 -22,000 -31,000

3344 St. Bede's RC, Sacriston Primary Maintained 94            93            -1 441,034 -8,000 -8,000 -8,000 -6,000 -8,000 -8,000 -3,000 -5,000 -8,000 4,000 2,000 -3,000

3346 St. Benet's RC Primary Maintained 209          212          3 776,308 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 7,000 3,000 -1,000 10,000 7,000 -1,000 17,000 13,000 4,000

3381 St. Joseph's RC, Stanley Primary Maintained 209          208          -1 859,095 -15,000 -15,000 -15,000 -9,000 -13,000 -14,000 -3,000 -7,000 -14,000 8,000 3,000 -7,000

3382 St. Patrick's RC, Dipton Primary Maintained 167          164          -3 720,272 -20,000 -20,000 -20,000 -17,000 -19,000 -19,000 -11,000 -15,000 -19,000 -                    -3,000 -11,000

3384 St. Mary's RC, South Moor Primary Maintained 136          130          -6 653,086 -32,000 -32,000 -32,000 -22,000 -25,000 -31,000 -18,000 -21,000 -28,000 -11,000 -14,000 -22,000

3401 St. Mary's RC , Blackhill Primary Maintained 207          209          2 802,741 11,000 7,000 -1,000 15,000 11,000 2,000 16,000 12,000 3,000 19,000 15,000 6,000

3403 St. Pius X RC Primary Maintained 100          97            -3 477,185 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -16,000 -13,000 -15,000 -15,000 -4,000 -6,000 -10,000

3404 St. Patrick's RC, Consett Primary Maintained 386          390          4 1,338,053 46,000 35,000 29,000 42,000 34,000 13,000 39,000 31,000 13,000 32,000 25,000 8,000

3406 Esh CE Primary Maintained 90            93            3 423,538 6,000 6,000 6,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 9,000 7,000 5,000

3407 St. Michael's RC, Esh Laude Primary Maintained 184          179          -5 721,455 -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -17,000 -21,000 -25,000 -14,000 -17,000 -24,000 -6,000 -10,000 -17,000

3409 Our Lady & St. Joseph's RC Primary Maintained 117          118          1 542,930 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 4,000 1,000 -3,000 7,000 5,000 -1,000 13,000 11,000 3,000

3411 Bishop Ian Ramsey CE Primary Maintained 204          205          1 777,373 8,000 4,000 -3,000 10,000 6,000 -2,000 11,000 7,000 -1,000 13,000 9,000 -                    

3413 All Saints' RC Primary Maintained 178          171          -7 701,771 -32,000 -32,000 -32,000 -23,000 -26,000 -31,000 -19,000 -22,000 -29,000 -12,000 -15,000 -22,000

3421 St. Cuthbert's RC, Crook Primary Maintained 190          188          -2 809,389 -12,000 -16,000 -17,000 -4,000 -8,000 -16,000 -1,000 -5,000 -13,000 4,000 1,000 -9,000

22/11/18 4 of 6

P
age 54



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

3425 Our Lady & St. Thomas RC Primary Maintained 114          119          5 521,496 12,000 12,000 12,000 13,000 11,000 11,000 17,000 14,000 11,000 23,000 21,000 15,000

3441 St. Michael's CE Primary Maintained 114          124          10 492,436 27,000 27,000 27,000 30,000 28,000 26,000 33,000 30,000 26,000 38,000 35,000 30,000

3442 St. Williams RC Primary Maintained 120          122          2 528,707 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000 2,000 1,000 13,000 11,000 6,000

3444 St. Charles' RC, Tudhoe Primary Maintained 208          209          1 841,523 -7,000 -7,000 -7,000 -                    -4,000 -7,000 6,000 2,000 -7,000 16,000 12,000 2,000

3461 St. Mary's RC, Barnard Castle Primary Maintained 98            100          2 440,150 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 6,000 4,000 2,000

3462 St. Wilfrid's RC Primary Maintained 199          203          4 896,584 9,000 4,000 4,000 19,000 15,000 5,000 22,000 18,000 8,000 29,000 24,000 14,000

3465 St. Chad's RC Primary Maintained 94            90            -4 451,792 -19,000 -19,000 -19,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -10,000 -12,000 -16,000

3469 St. Joseph's RC, Coundon Primary Maintained 106          115          9 530,857 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 28,000 28,000 32,000 30,000 27,000 40,000 37,000 31,000

3470 St. Mary's RC, N/A Primary Maintained 200          199          -1 808,124 15,000 9,000 -3,000 12,000 8,000 -3,000 11,000 7,000 -3,000 9,000 5,000 -4,000

3472 St. Francis CE Jun. Primary Maintained 132          124          -8 614,581 -27,000 -30,000 -35,000 -24,000 -27,000 -33,000 -23,000 -26,000 -32,000 -21,000 -24,000 -30,000

3481 St. Patrick's RC, Langley Moor Primary Maintained 96            91            -5 441,825 -22,000 -22,000 -22,000 -21,000 -21,000 -21,000 -20,000 -20,000 -20,000 -13,000 -14,000 -18,000

3483 Our Lady Queen of Martyrs' RC Primary Maintained 93            87            -6 446,105 -26,000 -26,000 -26,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -23,000 -24,000 -25,000 -14,000 -16,000 -20,000

3485 St. Hild's College CE Primary Maintained 178          172          -6 786,629 -10,000 -13,000 -23,000 -10,000 -14,000 -22,000 -10,000 -14,000 -22,000 -10,000 -14,000 -22,000

3486 St. Godric's RC, Durham Primary Maintained 215          212          -3 776,243 -8,000 -12,000 -19,000 -4,000 -8,000 -15,000 -2,000 -6,000 -14,000 -                    -3,000 -12,000

3488 St. Joseph's RC, Ushaw Moor Primary Maintained 99            99            -           483,148 -6,000 -6,000 -6,000 -5,000 -5,000 -5,000 -1,000 -3,000 -5,000 6,000 4,000 -                    

3489 St. Joseph's RC, Durham Primary Maintained 137          133          -4 620,826 -14,000 -17,000 -22,000 -10,000 -12,000 -18,000 -8,000 -11,000 -17,000 -5,000 -8,000 -14,000

3491 Blue Coat CE Jun. Primary Maintained 246          245          -1 866,262 11,000 6,000 -3,000 8,000 4,000 -5,000 8,000 4,000 -6,000 7,000 2,000 -8,000

3492 St. Thomas More RC Primary Maintained 94            95            1 424,066 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 -1,000 3,000 1,000 -1,000

3501 St. Joseph's RC, Murton Primary Maintained 145          151          6 616,432 13,000 13,000 13,000 17,000 14,000 13,000 21,000 18,000 12,000 28,000 25,000 19,000

3502 St. Godric's RC, Thornley Primary Maintained 103          94            -9 507,977 -40,000 -40,000 -40,000 -38,000 -38,000 -38,000 -38,000 -38,000 -38,000 -30,000 -32,000 -37,000

3504 Our Lady of Lourdes RC Primary Maintained 157          168          11 664,284 30,000 30,000 30,000 37,000 34,000 29,000 40,000 37,000 30,000 46,000 43,000 35,000

3505 St. Mary's RC, Wingate Primary Maintained 51            56            5 326,654 18,000 18,000 18,000 16,000 16,000 16,000 16,000 16,000 16,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

3506 St. Joseph's RC, Blackhall Primary Maintained 72            81            9 386,858 30,000 30,000 30,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 27,000 27,000 27,000 30,000 28,000 26,000

3507 Our Lady Star of the Sea RC Primary Maintained 111          108          -3 566,726 -19,000 -19,000 -19,000 -18,000 -18,000 -18,000 -15,000 -17,000 -18,000 -6,000 -9,000 -14,000

3510 Our Lady of the Rosary RC Primary Maintained 279          275          -4 1,154,122 -4,000 -10,000 -21,000 -1,000 -7,000 -19,000 -                    -6,000 -19,000 2,000 -4,000 -18,000

3511 Blessed John Duckett RC Primary Maintained 65            57            -8 383,700 -37,000 -37,000 -37,000 -35,000 -35,000 -35,000 -34,000 -34,000 -34,000 -32,000 -32,000 -32,000

3513 St. John's CE Shildon Primary Maintained 205          208          3 960,625 -                    -                    -                    14,000 9,000 -                    19,000 14,000 3,000 28,000 23,000 11,000

3516 Prince Bishops Primary Maintained 185          180          -5 908,656 -31,000 -31,000 -31,000 -27,000 -31,000 -31,000 -20,000 -25,000 -31,000 -8,000 -12,000 -22,000

3517 Ribbon Primary Academy 490          511          21 1,878,409 124,000 108,000 75,000 123,000 109,000 75,000 121,000 110,000 75,000 104,000 93,000 68,000

3518 Woodham Burn Primary Maintained 236          228          -8 999,115 -7,000 -14,000 -29,000 -7,000 -13,000 -29,000 -5,000 -12,000 -28,000 -10,000 -15,000 -28,000

3519 Silver Tree Primary Maintained 178          175          -3 802,521 7,000 1,000 -11,000 6,000 2,000 -10,000 4,000 1,000 -10,000 1,000 -3,000 -11,000

3520 Seaview Primary Maintained 286          296          10 1,324,025 43,000 36,000 24,000 47,000 40,000 25,000 48,000 41,000 25,000 50,000 43,000 26,000

3522 Tanfield Lea Primary Maintained 297          295          -2 1,159,394 8,000 2,000 -9,000 11,000 5,000 -7,000 12,000 6,000 -7,000 14,000 8,000 -6,000

3523 Woodhouse Primary Maintained 200          202          2 1,000,944 -                    -4,000 -4,000 4,000 -1,000 -4,000 5,000 -                    -4,000 7,000 2,000 -4,000

3524 Seaham Trinity Primary Maintained 388          387          -1 1,574,100 35,000 23,000 -2,000 35,000 24,000 -2,000 32,000 24,000 -2,000 21,000 12,000 -7,000

3525 Brandon Primary Maintained 262          266          4 1,072,424 40,000 31,000 15,000 39,000 32,000 15,000 40,000 33,000 15,000 31,000 26,000 14,000

3526 Greenland Primary Academy 335          346          11 1,400,941 78,000 66,000 42,000 76,000 66,000 42,000 76,000 68,000 42,000 65,000 58,000 40,000

3527 Shotton Hall  Primary Maintained 349          347          -2 1,440,279 28,000 16,000 -6,000 27,000 17,000 -6,000 27,000 19,000 -6,000 27,000 20,000 -6,000

4000 North Durham Secondary Academy 875          859          -16 5,120,061 6,000 -22,000 -89,000 -18,000 -46,000 -105,000 -26,000 -54,000 -117,000 -43,000 -71,000 -138,000

4001 Consett Secondary Academy 1,146       1,277       131 5,788,365 811,000 755,000 644,000 754,000 717,000 640,000 713,000 677,000 595,000 630,000 594,000 546,000

4006 UTC South Durham Secondary Academy 233          288          55 1,531,021 303,000 303,000 303,000 298,000 298,000 298,000 297,000 297,000 297,000 331,000 321,000 298,000

4007 Teesdale Secondary Academy 493          500          7 2,382,275 93,000 72,000 34,000 87,000 73,000 32,000 75,000 62,000 32,000 52,000 39,000 8,000

4008 Staindrop  Secondary Academy 513          465          -48 2,737,558 -192,000 -205,000 -242,000 -185,000 -199,000 -241,000 -183,000 -197,000 -240,000 -180,000 -194,000 -239,000

4019 Seaham High Secondary Maintained 959          1,050       91 5,390,357 508,000 476,000 415,000 493,000 461,000 400,000 488,000 456,000 400,000 476,000 444,000 399,000

22/11/18 5 of 6

P
age 55



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 3 - Comparison of Formula Funding Options with 2018-19 Funding

0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

    63,634     64,547           913 298,317,000        8,188,000       6,653,000       3,785,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,419,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,201,000       8,188,000       6,653,000       3,036,000       

Net  formula funding in 2018-19 formula (after MFG / capping and de-delegation)

Option 2 (Transition) Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) Option 4 (Updated 1819 Formula)

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Proportion of Schools Block transferred to High 
Needs Block

Option 1 (NFF)

Net  formula funding after MFG 
and de-delegation (£, rounded)

Pupil 
Numbers 
used in 
2018-19 
Formula

Pupil 
Numbers 

in Formula

Change in 
pupil 

numbers
2018-19 formula

4047 Park View  Secondary Academy 1,130       1,162       32 5,755,856 267,000 234,000 160,000 231,000 198,000 129,000 219,000 186,000 112,000 194,000 161,000 83,000

4052 Fyndoune College Secondary Maintained 327          285          -42 1,959,687 -240,000 -249,000 -254,000 -237,000 -246,000 -251,000 -236,000 -245,000 -250,000 -235,000 -244,000 -248,000

4054 The Hermitage Secondary Academy 988          1,021       33 4,960,070 280,000 250,000 162,000 239,000 210,000 149,000 226,000 197,000 132,000 197,000 168,000 100,000

4099 Tanfield Secondary Maintained 609          694          85 3,354,388 534,000 508,000 444,000 499,000 478,000 433,000 488,000 467,000 419,000 464,000 443,000 393,000

4128 Parkside Secondary Academy 774          820          46 4,352,695 274,000 249,000 201,000 291,000 265,000 211,000 297,000 271,000 213,000 306,000 279,000 218,000

4139 Wolsingham Secondary Maintained 496          531          35 2,692,081 209,000 195,000 167,000 179,000 164,000 133,000 169,000 154,000 132,000 148,000 134,000 132,000

4150 Ferryhill Secondary Academy 657          709          52 3,699,517 304,000 282,000 240,000 290,000 268,000 221,000 286,000 264,000 214,000 275,000 253,000 201,000

4009 Whitworth Park Secondary Academy 827          802          -25 4,406,865 -27,000 -64,000 -138,000 -45,000 -69,000 -137,000 -58,000 -82,000 -137,000 -85,000 -109,000 -166,000

4162 Bishop Barrington Secondary Maintained 730          801          71 4,131,409 420,000 395,000 348,000 419,000 394,000 341,000 419,000 394,000 338,000 417,000 392,000 332,000

4175 Woodham Secondary Academy 701          738          37 3,644,278 285,000 252,000 186,000 282,000 254,000 185,000 267,000 245,000 184,000 236,000 214,000 163,000

4176 Greenfield Secondary Maintained 916          969          53 5,217,505 400,000 370,000 295,000 382,000 352,000 288,000 377,000 346,000 278,000 363,000 332,000 260,000

4178 King James 1 Secondary Academy 651          746          95 3,859,300 480,000 479,000 479,000 527,000 503,000 476,000 542,000 518,000 475,000 570,000 546,000 487,000

4185 Belmont Secondary Maintained 739          771          32 3,992,834 221,000 198,000 154,000 204,000 181,000 132,000 199,000 176,000 124,000 187,000 164,000 109,000

4190 Framwellgate Secondary Academy 886          982          96 4,238,544 567,000 526,000 498,000 536,000 509,000 443,000 516,000 490,000 430,000 476,000 450,000 388,000

4192 DCBC Secondary Maintained 322          303          -19 1,955,700 -91,000 -101,000 -119,000 -87,000 -96,000 -116,000 -85,000 -95,000 -116,000 -82,000 -92,000 -115,000

4200 Johnston Secondary Maintained 1,273       1,306       33 6,245,401 328,000 328,000 328,000 298,000 263,000 197,000 272,000 237,000 156,000 219,000 184,000 101,000

4214 Dene Secondary Maintained 628          632          4 3,901,230 -25,000 -31,000 -31,000 15,000 -6,000 -31,000 28,000 6,000 -31,000 52,000 30,000 -21,000

4215 Shotton Hall Secondary Academy 1,226       1,244       18 7,120,350 278,000 229,000 103,000 235,000 198,000 103,000 221,000 183,000 99,000 190,000 153,000 64,000

4218 Wellfield Secondary Maintained 653          732          79 3,704,685 523,000 488,000 419,000 494,000 472,000 416,000 475,000 453,000 402,000 436,000 414,000 361,000

4231 Sedgefield Secondary Maintained 977          996          19 5,723,262 257,000 208,000 109,000 215,000 187,000 109,000 196,000 168,000 105,000 157,000 129,000 62,000

4280 Easington Secondary Academy 745          745          -           4,053,565 69,000 47,000 1,000 47,000 24,000 -23,000 40,000 17,000 -34,000 24,000 2,000 -52,000

4681  St John's RC Secondary Academy 1,159       1,179       20 5,836,346 242,000 202,000 99,000 198,000 165,000 93,000 184,000 150,000 74,000 153,000 119,000 40,000

4691 St. Leonard's RC Secondary Academy 1,149       1,163       14 5,472,550 210,000 162,000 137,000 186,000 154,000 65,000 160,000 128,000 57,000 106,000 75,000 1,000

4693 St. Bede's RC, Peterlee Secondary Maintained 494          489          -5 2,742,790 -10,000 -25,000 -53,000 1,000 -13,000 -45,000 5,000 -10,000 -43,000 12,000 -3,000 -38,000

4694  St Bede's RC, Lanchester Secondary Academy 1,171       1,200       29 5,774,920 295,000 243,000 140,000 241,000 208,000 137,000 213,000 180,000 104,000 156,000 123,000 53,000

Primary 39,187 39,088 -99 166,571,000 609,000 -101,000 -1,354,000 1,119,000 334,000 -1,265,000 1,405,000 614,000 -1,204,000 1,987,000 1,207,000 -745,000

Secondary 24,447 25,459 1,012 131,745,000 7,580,000 6,754,000 5,139,000 7,069,000 6,319,000 4,684,000 6,783,000 6,039,000 4,405,000 6,202,000 5,446,000 3,781,000

Total 63,634 64,547 913 298,317,000 8,188,000 6,653,000 3,785,000 8,188,000 6,653,000 3,419,000 8,188,000 6,653,000 3,201,000 8,188,000 6,653,000 3,036,000

No. of schools 120 122 140 106 113 138 99 109 137 85 92 125

Average reduction (£) -19,200 -21,600 -23,500 -17,900 -19,900 -22,400 -17,200 -18,800 -21,900 -16,500 -18,400 -21,300

No. of schools 6 7 7 5 7 8 5 6 8 5 6 8

Average reduction (£) -97,300 -99,500 -132,200 -114,500 -96,700 -118,800 -117,700 -113,800 -121,000 -125,100 -119,000 -127,300

No. of schools 94 92 74 108 101 76 115 105 77 129 122 89

Average reduction (£) 31,000 27,500 26,100 27,900 25,500 24,100 27,000 25,300 23,200 26,300 23,800 21,500

No. of schools 25 24 24 26 24 23 26 25 23 26 25 23

Average reduction (£) 326,500 310,400 252,700 293,900 291,500 245,000 283,500 268,900 233,600 262,600 246,400 208,700

Impact of 2019-20 formula options 
compared to 2018-19 net formula 
funding - schools with reduced 
funding

 Primary 

 Second-
ary 

Impact of 2019-20 formula options 
compared to 2018-19 net formula 
funding - schools with increased 
funding

 Primary 

 Second-
ary 

22/11/18 6 of 6

P
age 56



Cabinet 12 December 2018, 
Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block

Appendix 4 - Comparison of Formula Values

Pupil-led formula factor values (£/pupil, rounded) 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum 0% 0.5% Maximum

Basic amount per pupil (Primary) 2,786.85 2,843.65 2,827.33 2,792.88 2,831.89 2,815.56 2,778.85 56.80 40.48 6.04 45.04 28.71 -8.00

Basic amount per pupil (KS3) 3,726.61 3,899.86 3,877.48 3,830.24 3,851.28 3,829.07 3,779.15 173.24 150.87 103.63 124.66 102.46 52.54

Basic amount per pupil (KS4) 4,806.59 4,723.65 4,696.55 4,639.33 4,764.45 4,736.98 4,675.23 -82.94 -110.04 -167.26 -42.13 -69.60 -131.36

Deprivation - FSM (Primary) 147.61 301.95 300.22 296.56 250.23 248.79 245.54 154.34 152.61 148.95 102.62 101.17 97.93

Deprivation - FSM (Secondary) 2,199.53 1,356.36 1,348.58 1,332.15 1,646.94 1,637.45 1,616.10 -843.17 -850.95 -867.38 -552.59 -562.09 -583.43

Deprivation - FSM6 (Primary) 181.16 370.58 368.45 363.96 307.10 305.33 301.35 189.42 187.29 182.80 125.94 124.17 120.19

Deprivation - FSM6 (Secondary) 263.35 538.71 535.62 529.10 446.43 443.86 438.07 275.36 272.27 265.74 183.08 180.50 174.72

IDACI Band F (Primary) 359.20 287.36 285.71 282.23 312.57 310.77 306.72 -71.85 -73.50 -76.98 -46.63 -48.43 -52.48

IDACI Band E (Primary) 437.54 348.16 346.16 341.95 379.51 377.32 372.40 -89.37 -91.37 -95.59 -58.03 -60.22 -65.14

IDACI Band D (Primary) 542.71 463.87 461.21 455.59 491.94 489.10 482.72 -78.84 -81.50 -87.12 -50.77 -53.61 -59.98

IDACI Band C (Primary) 617.68 517.81 514.84 508.57 553.18 549.99 542.82 -99.87 -102.84 -109.11 -64.50 -67.69 -74.86

IDACI Band B (Primary) 725.12 588.44 585.06 577.93 636.52 632.85 624.60 -136.68 -140.06 -147.19 -88.60 -92.27 -100.52

IDACI Band A (Primary) 1,166.59 894.94 889.81 878.97 989.78 984.07 971.25 -271.65 -276.78 -287.63 -176.81 -182.52 -195.35

IDACI Band F (Secondary) 350.01 328.88 326.99 323.01 336.94 335.00 330.63 -21.13 -23.02 -27.00 -13.06 -15.01 -19.37

IDACI Band E (Secondary) 439.72 426.36 423.92 418.75 432.04 429.55 423.95 -13.35 -15.80 -20.96 -7.67 -10.16 -15.76

IDACI Band D (Secondary) 537.81 541.00 537.90 531.35 541.36 538.24 531.22 3.19 0.09 -6.47 3.55 0.42 -6.59

IDACI Band C (Secondary) 609.07 600.74 597.30 590.02 605.18 601.69 593.84 -8.32 -11.77 -19.05 -3.89 -7.38 -15.23

IDACI Band B (Secondary) 706.73 671.48 667.63 659.49 685.26 681.31 672.43 -35.25 -39.10 -47.23 -21.46 -25.41 -34.29

IDACI Band A (Secondary) 1,114.13 988.75 983.07 971.10 1,034.05 1,028.09 1,014.69 -125.39 -131.06 -143.04 -80.08 -86.04 -99.45

EAL (Primary) 172.77 353.42 351.40 347.11 292.88 291.19 287.40 180.65 178.62 174.34 120.11 118.42 114.62

EAL (Secondary) 464.64 950.47 945.01 933.50 787.65 783.11 772.90 485.82 480.37 468.86 323.01 318.47 308.26

Low Attainment (Primary) 692.72 711.93 707.85 699.22 707.29 703.21 694.05 19.21 15.12 6.50 14.57 10.49 1.32

Low Attainment (Secondary) 757.12 1,185.55 1,178.75 1,164.39 1,042.89 1,036.88 1,023.36 428.43 421.63 407.26 285.77 279.76 266.24

Minimum per-pupil funding (prim) 3,300.00 3,400.00 3,400.00 3,400.00 3,300.00 3,300.00 3,300.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 -               -               -               

Minimum per-pupil funding (sec) 4,600.00 4,700.00 4,700.00 4,700.00 4,600.00 4,600.00 4,600.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 -               -               -               

School-led formula factor values (£/school, rounded)

Lump sum (prim) 143,333.33 126,666.67 126,666.67 126,666.67 132,222.22 132,222.22 132,222.22 -16,666.67 -16,666.67 -16,666.67 -11,111.11 -11,111.11 -11,111.11

Lump sum (sec) 153,333.33 131,666.67 131,666.67 131,666.67 138,888.89 138,888.89 138,888.89 -21,666.67 -21,666.67 -21,666.67 -14,444.44 -14,444.44 -14,444.44

Sparsity (prim) 8,333.33 16,666.67 16,666.67 16,666.67 13,888.89 13,888.89 13,888.89 8,333.33 8,333.33 8,333.33 5,555.56 5,555.56 5,555.56

Sparsity (sec) 21,666.67 43,333.33 43,333.33 43,333.33 36,111.11 36,111.11 36,111.11 21,666.67 21,666.67 21,666.67 14,444.44 14,444.44 14,444.44
These are 
the values 
used in the 
2018-19 
formula

These are the values used in this option 
for the 2019-20 formula.   There are 
different versions to show the impact 
of a transfer from the Schools Block to 
the High Needs Block

These are the values used in this option 
for the 2019-20 formula.   There are 
different versions to show the impact 
of a transfer from the Schools Block to 
the High Needs Block

These are the changes from the 2018-
19 formula to the 2019-20 option, for 
the different transfers from the 
Schools Block.   Changes reflect both 
the rate of transition from the local 
formula to the NFF and the extent of 
the transfer from the Schools Block

These are the changes from the 2018-
19 formula to the 2019-20 option, for 
the different transfers from the 
Schools Block.   Changes reflect both 
the rate of transition from the local 
formula to the NFF and the extent of 
the transfer from the Schools Block

 2018-19 
formula 

2019-20 Formula Factor Values  Change in Values compared to 2018-19 Formula 

 Option 2 (Transition)  Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition)  Option 2 (Transition)  Option 3 (Slower Rate Transition) 

 Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs Block 

 Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs Block 

 Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs Block 

 Proportion of Schools Block 
transferred to High Needs Block 

22/11/18 1 of 1

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 12 December 2018 

 Council Activity Report 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update on work to support some of the council’s key 
priorities. 

Executive summary 

2 The report provides an update on progress towards delivering some of 
the council’s key priorities and summarises a number of other 
newsworthy aspects of the council’s work: 

(a) Promoting positive relationships across the globe 

(b) Supporting good causes 

(c) Reducing single use plastics 

(d) Working for a sustainable future 

(e) Fairer deal for children’s services 

(f) #OurDay 

Recommendation 

3 Cabinet is recommended to note the contents of this update. 

Background 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



4 The council undertakes a great deal of work across the county. 

5 This report offers an overview of some key projects and details of recent 
news items.  

 

Promoting positive relationships across the globe 

 

6 The authority’s international relations team works with partners around 
the world to deliver projects that help County Durham maintain positive 
links with other countries and cultures. Projects also provide activities 
for young people, often outside of school, which help them develop their 
skills and aspirations. 

7 This month, the team has arranged a number of festive initiatives 
including visits to the German towns of Tuebingen and Giessen for 40 
children from four County Durham primary schools. As well as visiting 
traditional Christmas markets and historic and cultural sites, the 
youngsters, their teachers and mentors from a local secondary school 
had the chance to share Christmas traditions with some of their German 
peers. 

8 Meanwhile, children from Ramshaw Primary and Consett Infant School 
have also been making Christmas tree decorations to send to schools in 
Europe along with an information pack they have made about how they 
celebrate the festive season. In turn, the schools will receive 
decorations from the other participating European schools. 

Page 60



9 The team is also supporting St Cuthbert’s primary, in Seaham, and 
Bowes Hutchinson primary, Barnard Castle, in linking with their partner 
schools in Jasz-Nagykun-Szolnok, in Hungary, to exchange information 
about Christmas traditions through Skype sessions and Hungarian 
language classes. 

10 Tomorrow (13 December), young people from Seaham High School and 
Dene Community School will attend a languages and employability 
event at Newcastle University where they will be able to find out how 
having a second language can improve your employment prospects. 
The event follows a session last month when youngsters from Dene 
Community School worked with students from Durham University on an 
initiative designed to show how learning one language can help you 
learn another. 

11 These projects are part of a wide-ranging year-round programme of 
events and activities organised and supported by the team, which last 
month included a visit by children from the Georg Forster School in 
Kreis Weisel, Germany, to Park View School in Chester-le-Street as 
part of the armistice commemorations. The children from the two 
schools discussed their different attitudes to the First World War and the 
reasons why people wanted to go to war. 

Supporting good causes 

 

12 Each December, the council runs a number of seasonal charity projects 
which give staff the opportunity to help others in the run-up to 
Christmas. 

Page 61



13 The authority supports Durham Foodbank throughout the year, with 
more than 315kg of food – the equivalent of 395 meals – donated 
during 2018. Staff have also recently been asked to consider dontating 
toiletry and sanitary products. 

14 During November, staff are specifically asked to contribute items for 
inclusion in Christmas hampers and food parcels for families in need. In 
2017, staff donated the equivalent of 758 meals for this seasonal 
collection. This year’s total has yet to be calculated but staff have once 
again contributed significantly via nine collection points at council 
buildings. 

15 Since July, 354kg of clothes have also been donated to the charity. 

16 Local families are also supported through the annual Chairman’s toy 
appeal, with staff donating new toys and gifts for children and young 
people to be distributed by the Salvation Army. Last year, it took four 
cars to transport the collected items. 

17 A further charitable collection takes place on Christmas Jumper Day 
when members of staff are encouraged to wear their festive pullovers, t-
shorts, jewellery and other items for a small donation of one pound. The 
money collected is donated to the Chairman’s charity, which this year is 
the Royal British Legion. 

Reducing single use plastics 

 

18 The council is leading the way in efforts to reduce the amount of 
disposable plastic waste it produces with a wide range of initiatives 

Page 62



being introduced across the authority to cut down on unnecessary 
single use plastics. 

19 Up to half a million tonnes of plastic can be found on beaches in the EU 
– equivalent to all of the rubbish, not just plastic, that is collected in 
County Durham in two years. In the county itself, 82 per cent of 
pollutants found on our beaches are plastics and 22 per cent of rubbish 
in general waste bins is plastic that could have been recycled. 

20 In order to help tackle the problem, the council has been undertaking a 
‘quiet revolution’ in recent months to reduce unnecessary single use 
plastics. 

21 This has included replacing straws, stirrers and takeaway cups in 
council canteens with compostable alternatives, phasing out plastic 
overshoes in leisure centres and using paper rather than plastic confetti 
for the Gala theatre’s pantomime Snow White and the Seven Dwarves. 

22 The authority has also trialled new ‘plastic road’ technology, which sees 
normally unrecycled materials added to the mix during resurfacing 
works, engaged with its suppliers to see if they can do more to reduce 
their waste and looked at ways to make it harder for staff to buy single 
use plastics in the future. 

23 Elsewhere, a number of schools are playing their part, with St Bede’s at 
Sacriston now making its own yoghurt in large batches to cut down the 
number of plastic pots thrown away. 

24 The work is ongoing, with current plans including extending recycling 
facilities for staff and the public at council offices; obtaining additional 
funding to carry further resurfacing using non-recyclable plastics; the 
introduction of further procurement controls; and looking at how the 
collection of plastic bottles and other items at event such as the Miners’ 
Gala could be improved. 

25 The council is also looking at signing a collective pledge with its 
partners to significantly reduce and ultimately remove the use of 
unnecessary single use plastics from operations. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



Working for a sustainable future 

 

26 During the last 10 years, carbon emissions in County Durham have 
fallen by more than 40 per cent, largely due to a number of initiatives 
introduced by the council and its partners to protect the environment. 

27 The authority works with schools, homes, public buildings and 
businesses to help cut their energy costs, while developing renewable 
energy schemes from solar, mine water and hydropower. 

28 In October, the area’s green credentials were recognised with the 
decision to launch the first ever national Green Great Britain Week in 
Durham City. A special electric vehicle motor show took place in the 
Market Place and Millennium Square to promote the benefits of plug-in 
vehicles for businesses and the public. 

29 The same month, the authority launched the Solid Wall Insulation 
Innovation community energy project. Funded by the European Union, it 
will provide 220 homes in the county built with stone or brick with the 
latest technology in solid wall insulation. Smart heating controllers will 
also be installed to monitor energy use. Durham University will research 
and evaluate the benefits of the system. 

30 Businesses are being supported in their efforts to reduce energy costs 
by the council-led Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP), which 
provides advice to SMEs wanting to reduce their energy consumption. 
Launched in partnership with Business Durham in 2016, BEEP carries 
out free energy audits and offers grant funding for reducing energy use. 

Page 64



31 The project has received international recognition, being singled out for 
as an example of best practice by the Interreg Europe programme, 
which supports regional and local governments across Europe in 
delivering better policy. 

32 The council is also working on a national level to take carbon emissions, 
joining forces with partners from Hungary, Italy and Romania to launch 
a joint bid for funding to carry out research into a potential ‘virtual power 
plant’ in the UK, which would provide the opportunity to share and 
collate information about carbon efficiency. 

Fairer deal for children’s services 

 

33 The leader of the council has warned 
that the future of children’s services 
across the country hangs in the 
balance in a column in the Journal 
newspaper. 

34 The authority has already been forced to make £224 million of savings to 
balance its budget since 2010 after seeing its funding from central 
government reduced by more than 50 per cent. 

35 Now, with frontline services already stretched and back office teams 
significantly reduced – the authority’s workforce has shrunk by 3,000 – the 
council, like many others in the region, is struggling to meet increasing 
demand for services and in no area is this being felt more acutely than in the 
provision of children’s services. 

36 Since 2009, the number of looked after children in the county has increased 
by 88 per cent. A recent study for the Association of Directors of Children’s 
Services has also revealed a national increase in calls from the public and 
professionals worried about children. However, there has been no increase 
in funding to reflect these pressures since 2010. 

37 There has also been a huge increase in the number of special needs pupils 
needing support, with the council spending £5 million more in this area than 
it has available in government funding. 

38 The authority continues to campaign for a better deal for local authorities in 
the region particularly in advance of the Government’s fair funding review 
which is expected in the new year. 

39 Last month, the Chancellor’s budget including promise of ‘one-off’ money for 
children’s services but the amounts identified will not meet the scale of the 
financial challenge the council faces. 

 

Page 65



#OurDay 

 

40 The work of staff across the council was highlighted last month when 
the authority took part in the Local Government Association’s annual 
#Our Day campaign. 

41 Developed to celebrate the varied work of local authority employees 
across the country, the day see councils using social media to tell the 
stories of how the everyday efforts of staff help to improve residents’ 
quality of life. 

42 Across the 24-hour period, the council sent out 26 messages on Twitter. 
The messages, which were seen 29,407 times, aimed to showcase the 
diverse range of roles carried out by council staff, from social work to 
gritting and refuse collection. Staff were encouraged to share and 
retweet messages, resulting in 71 retweets and 142 likes. 

43 However, a key part of the campaign is to highlight unsung heroes and 
back office workers so ICT services, school catering, customer services 
and elections staff were also among those featured. 

44 Tweets included facts and figures about the authority’s work, with 
residents informed that the council has more than 200 apprentices, its 
registrars officiate at more than 1,600 weddings a year and its school 
catering staff serve more than 780,000 sausages a year to pupils. 

45 In addition to the Twitter campaign, a short video was also produced 
featuring members of staff who had taken part in recent filming projects 
briefly describing their day. The video (available here: 

Page 66



https://youtu.be/Bo_IeKqbbKc) was posted on Facebook and Twitter, 
where the post was seen 7,641 times and the video was viewed more 
than 5,300 times. 

Background papers 

 None 

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Contact: Michelle Atkinson Tel:  03000 268 049 

   

   

  

Page 67

https://youtu.be/Bo_IeKqbbKc


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Not applicable. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

Page 68



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

12 December 2018 

 Quarter Two 2018/19 

Performance Management Report  

 Ordinary Decision  

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council  
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework. 

Performance Report for quarter two, 2018/19 

2 The performance report for quarter two, 2018/19 is attached at 
Appendix 2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the 
six priority themes of the Altogether framework and includes the key 
performance messages from data available this quarter along with 
visual summaries and data tables for each priority theme. 

Executive summary 

3 Key performance messages for quarter two, by priority theme: 

Altogether Wealthier 

a) There has been an improvement in the medium-term employment 
trend, but household income remains a cause for concern. 
Median gross weekly household earnings for full-time employees 
are £68 below the national average and this gap has recently 
widened. Since 1 April, 641 jobs have been created or 
safeguarded by Business Durham and further projects, with the 
potential to create many more jobs, are being developed. 
Although households accessing Housing Solutions has remained 
constant, we are expecting increases during quarters three and 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



four due to the ‘duty to refer’ (obligation to refer those who are 
homeless or threatened with homelessness to Housing 
Solutions). Durham Town Hall is now open for visitors every 
Saturday from 10am to 3pm, to showcase its heritage, its 
collections and its history. 

Altogether Better for Children and Young People  

b) There have been improvements in educational attainment across 
all key stages but there is a widening gap between disadvantaged 
and non-disadvantaged pupils in GCSE attainment. Permanent 
exclusions have increased but we have actions in place to 
address the associated issues. Demand remains high for our 
children’s social work teams with the number of looked after 
children at 30 September at its highest level. Work relating to 
improvement programmes following recent Ofsted inspections 
continues, but caseloads within the family first teams remain too 
high and further improvements are still needed in the overall 
quality of case files. Statutory referrals (of which domestic 
violence is identified as a factor in 38%) spiked during July, most 
likely due to a combination of domestic abuse and teacher 
concerns about pupils prior to the school summer holidays.   

Altogether Healthier 

c) Almost 70% of adults are carrying excess weight and County 
Durham is ranked 135 of 152 authorities across England. 
Smoking prevalence is better than both the England and regional 
average but mothers smoking at time of delivery, although 
improved, remains a concern. The percentage of women 
breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks has declined from last year. More 
older people were admitted to hospital due to the summer 
heatwave and this had a knock-on-effect for adult care and 
support services (e.g. reablement, intermediate care).  

Altogether Safer 

d) The recorded increase in crime and decrease in Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) incidents is mainly due to a change in recording 
practices. However, it is acknowledged that there has also been a 
real increase in some crime types as well as environmental ASB 
incidents reported to the council (more reports of littering, detritus 
and bonfires). The number of first time entrants to the youth 
justice system has decreased, primarily due to using pre-
reprimand disposals for first offences. Fewer people were killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic collisions. We continue our work in 
relation to water safety, both in Durham City and countywide. 

 

Page 70



Altogether Greener 

e) Overall environmental cleanliness levels remain good and 
environmental satisfaction (National Highways and Transport 
Survey) is consistently better than national levels. However, there 
was some deterioration in during quarter 2 (areas of concern are 
industrial estates and business parks), especially relating to 
detritus, and there were increases in some enviro-crime 
categories. Actions to address these issues are now in place. 
Since 1990, countywide carbon emissions have halved and those 
from council operations have decreased by 40%. Countywide, 
only transport related emissions have increased (slightly) due to 
more vehicles being on the road (although those vehicles are 
more efficient) possibly due to the rise in home deliveries. There 
has been an increase in recycling and composting tonnage, 
especially green waste through our Household Waste Recycling 
Centres (HWRCs). Three road resurfacing schemes trialled the 
use of waste plastics in the road surface. We are the first local 
authority in the North East to try this new technology. 

Altogether Better Council 

f) During the last 12 months, there has been a slight rise in the level 
of sickness absence. However, almost 60% of employees had no 
recorded absence and almost 80% employees had absence of 
five days or less. Mental health and musculo-skeletal issues 
continue to make up two thirds of absence. Various projects to 
improve customer experience and service efficiency have been 
completed, with more going forward and we are currently 
consulting on our new Digital Strategy (survey). There have been 
increases in the number of customers contacting us using social 
media and webforms. The Digital Durham programme, due to 
finish in December 2018, has so far delivered faster, fibre-based 
broadband to more than 107,000 households and businesses and 
a further 29,000 homes and businesses are planned in more 
challenging rural locations. Timeliness of Freedom of Information 
(FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations (EIR) requests 
has deteriorated but actions are being undertaken to improve 
performance. 

Risk Management 

4 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects.  Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering 
the ambitions for each priority theme and how we are managing them.  

Page 71

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/DCS2018DUR


Recommendation 

5 That Cabinet considers and comments on the council’s performance at 
quarter two.  

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

  

Page 72



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

Page 73



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank

Page 74



Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Two, 2018/19 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 75



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

Do residents have (1) good job prospects and (2) is County Durham a good place to do business? 

 

Gross value added from jobs created£7.7m

ERDF grant submitted £6m

private sector investment secured£1m

of Business Durham floor space occupied82%

Inward Investment Secured from Duchy Homes1

Plans for the site to be delivered 

across three phases, beginning with 

the northern zone (phase 1) in 2019. 

The site has the potential to attract: 

700,000+ sq. ft. of development 

6,000 new skilled jobs (approx.) 

 

• Consultation around preferred options has 
ended

• 4,000 responses will be considered as part of the 
pre-submission draft plan work which will be 
presented to Cabinet in December for approval 
to consult in early 2019

County Durham Plan

Gross Value Added – The Value of goods and services 

produced in an area, industry or sector of an economy. 

Job Prospects

Durham

National

Year on year 
comparison

Per capita household 
disposable income

£15,325 (2015)

£15,221 (2016)

£19,744 (2015)

£19,878 (2016)

Durham - 0.7%

National + 0.6%

Median gross weekly 
household earnings

(full time employees)

£490 (2017)

£503 (2018)

£552 (2017)

£571 (2018)

Durham + 2.7%

National + 3.4%

-2,924 -2,685 -2,718 -8,369 -9,453 
-10,814 

2009 2013 2016

GVA comparison to regional and national 
averages

Regional

National

Durham £14,212 
 

£15,247 
 

£16,294 

 
 

66.8

69.5

71.7 71.6

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

County Durham North East England

% of working age population in employment 

P
age 76



Altogether Wealthier  

1 The priority theme of Altogether Wealthier is structured around the following five 

key questions: 

 Do residents have good job prospects? 

 Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

 Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing? 

 Is it easy to travel around the county? 

 How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

2 Since the last report, four new indicators have been added to support the key 

question ‘Is County Durham a good place to do business?’  

Do residents have good job prospects?  

3 Households with low incomes remain a cause for concern, as although median 

gross weekly household earnings for employees across County Durham have 

increased, the gap between full time employees across County Durham and the 

national average has widened.  

4 Creating highly skilled employment locations continues to be a key priority, and 

during quarter two, a detailed phased development plan of Aykley Heads strategic 

employment site, with the potential to attract up to 6,000 new jobs, was approved by 

Cabinet. 

5 In addition, Business Durham is working to secure several potential inward 

investment projects that, if they proceed, will create many jobs. 

Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

6 Business Durham has applied to the European Regional Development Fund 

(ERDF) for a £6 million capital grants programme for businesses ‘County Durham 

Growth Fund’. If successful, this would provide grants of up to 40% to businesses 

investing at least £100k in capital equipment or new premises to support their 

growth.   

7 One inward investment from luxury house builder Duchy Homes was secured, 

creating eight jobs with more envisaged.   

8 Overall occupancy of Business Durham’s portfolio remained relatively constant 

despite a high turnover of tenants (especially in the Consett office sector): 19 

businesses leaving and 17 new lettings.  A chemical development company 

moved to Discovery One (NETPark) and five new tenants moved to the Dales 

Centre following a sustained marketing campaign over the last twelve months.   

Page 77



9 Luciano's Italian Restaurant in Peterlee secured £1 million private sector 

investment in conjunction with a target business improvement grant, creating 16 

full time equivalent jobs and resulting in the complete refurbishment of the 

Oaklands pub.  

10 During quarter two, we engaged with 314 businesses. Providing support for 

individual companies, engagement through the business park communities, the 

Durham 2sday networking event, Digital Drive County Durham Programme and 

Durham Business Opportunities Programme. 

11 The Durham Business Opportunities Programme engages with businesses that 

don’t typically take up business support and connects them to development 

opportunities. During quarter two, its programme of delivery supported 46 

childcare businesses and 13 creative businesses.  It also procured support for 

food and drink businesses and delivery is about to start.   

Page 78



Ease of travel 

around the county 

•£1.5 million 
project to replace 
the bridge

• Work completed 
August 2018

Deerness 
Bridge

Time taken to 
complete 

roadworks

46% (2016)

48% (2018)

43% (National)

Cold weather 
gritting

55% (2016)

57% (2018)

58% (National)

Keeping roads 
clear of 

obstructions

59% (2016)

59% (2018)

56% (National)

Condition of road 
surfaces

46% (2016)

41% (2018)

32% (National)

Dealing with 
potholes and 

damaged roads

43% (2016)

38% (2018)

31% (National)

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

Do residents (3) have access to decent and affordable housing? Is it (4) easy to travel around the county? How well (5) do 
tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 

Launched in 2014, the Durham at War 
Project is set to end in December. 
Over the last 4 years it has achieved  

£475,100 grant awarded by Heritage Lottery Fund 

100,000 website users (approx.) 

16,000 volunteer hours spent on the project 

300 Registered volunteers (approx.) 

171 events organised / participated in by staff 

 

Net economic impact£533,081

Net visitor spend£354,154

National Highways and Transport Survey: Satisfaction with… 
(1 Oct 17 to 30 Sep 18 – compared to same period 2016) 

 

 More information 

on the junction 

improvement 

works at A19 / 

A179 here  

 

Decent & 
Affordable 
Housing 

(Data Jul-Sep18) 
compared to 
previous quarter

469 properties improved / adapted / 
brought back into use

3,112 households accessed Housing 
Solutions Service

289 households helped to stay in their homes 
through homelessness prevention work  43%

278 households helped to move to alternative 
accommodation 

 138%

(Data Apr-Sep 18) 
compared to same 
period previous 
year

111 properties brought back into use following 

Local Authority intervention
 2%

659 net homes completed  13% Coastal Tourism 

3.23 million visitors in 2017, an increase of 2.2% 

from 2016 

P
age 79

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qeS3vOkG0GU&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qeS3vOkG0GU&feature=youtu.be


Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?  

12 We are monitoring the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) and are 

currently producing a six-month review report. Minor changes have been made to 

service delivery in response to initial findings and further trials and training are 

ongoing.  

13 The duty to refer, a statutory obligation to refer on certain public bodies those who 

are homeless or threatened with homelessness to Housing Solutions, was 

introduced in October 2018.  Consequently, we expect the number of households 

accessing Housing Solutions to increase during quarters three and four. 

14 The new relief stage introduced by the HRA requires intensive support.  Therefore, 

in the Sedgefield and Durham areas, we are trialling new ways of working, 

whereby housing officers deal with either prevention or relief cases only.  We will 

review this pilot in January 2019. 

15 Both the draft Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy will be presented to 

Cabinet in December following consultation. 

Is it easy to travel around the county?  

16 Detailed design work for the car park and rail station at Horden is nearing 

completion and Network Rail have now submitted a planning application. 

17 The government, in the latest budget, committed £420 million extra funding to be 

given to local highways authorities immediately to tackle pothole and bridge 

repairs, and £150 million to improve local traffic hotspots such as roundabouts. We 

will use our allocation to resurface unclassified roads.   

18 Results from the 2018 National Highways and Transport Survey (NHT) indicate 

that satisfaction continues to exceed1 national levels.   

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy?  

19 Bishop Auckland Food Festival 2018 generated a 969% return on our investment. 

20 A new operating model is now in place for Durham Town Hall. The building is open 

for visitors every Saturday from 10am to 3pm, to showcase its heritage, its 

collections and its history. New interpretation, information panels, audio tours and 

digital content combine to create an engaging visitor experience. 

                                         
1 NHT Survey, performance is significantly better if performance is 4% or more above average and 
significantly worse if performance is 4% or more below average.  

Page 80



 better than 

last year 

 worse than 

last year

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of (1) universal services and (2) early help services appropriately supported?   

 
Schools judged  

good or outstanding 
(as at 31 August 2018) 

92% 
Primary 

61% 
Secondary 

For the relationship between 

secondary school Ofsted ratings 

and indicies of deprivation,  

please click here. 

2.1%

Durham 
+0.2% 
points 
from 

16/17 

2.0%

North 
East 

15/16

2.1%

England 
15/16

% of children with at least  

one fixed term exclusion 
91% 

plans issued
within 20 week 

timescale.

Significant 
improvement 
on last year.

88.7 %
0-2 year olds in 

top 30% Index of 
Multiple 

Deprivation 
registered with a 

Family Centre, 
having sustained 

contact.

Slightly worse 
than last year.

% of children in Early Years Foundation Stage 

Achieving a Good Level of Development 

 
Durham

42% (2012/13)

79% (2017/18)

England

52% (2012/13)

78.5% (2017/18)

Performance previously lower than 

the national average, now 

outperforming  

Educational 
Attainment 
(Provisional)

17/18 
academic year

Early Years 
Foundation 

Stage achieving 
good level of 
development

79.4%
KS2 pupils 
achieving 
expected 

standard in 
Reading, 

Writing, Maths

67%

KS2 
Attainment Gap

-17.2
Average 

Attainment 8
KS4

44.9

KS4

Attainment Gap

-15.1

A-level average
point score

33

Education Health 

& Care Plans  

Early Help 

Services 

• 19.4% of all school age 
pupils eligible for and 
claiming Free School 
Meals

Look out for new 
Child Poverty 
Measures from 
the Social Metrics 
Commission

• Downward trend 
maintained from 499 in 
1998 to 174 conceptions 
in the rolling year July 
2016 to June 2017

• Under 18s below 
regional levels

Look out for 
Teenage 
Pregnancy Action 
Plan

P
age 81

https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/SimpleViewer/index.html?appid=a2e6a34745b744c086b4752ec9243d23


Altogether Better for Children and Young People  

21 The priority theme of Altogether Better for Children and Young People is 

structured around the following four key questions: 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported?  

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services 

appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

 Are we being a good corporate parent for looked after children?  

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help and 

universal services appropriately supported? 

22 An Early Years Dashboard has been published by the Department for Education. 

The dashboard provides comparator data for the attainment gap between 

disadvantaged children and their peers locally and nationally. The dashboard 

currently relates to 2016/17 data, 2017/18 will be reported when available.  

23 Reading (77%), writing (80%), grammar, punctuation and spelling (GPS) (80%) 

and maths (78%) are all above average and continue an upward trend (Year 6). 

The gap between our disadvantaged pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils 

nationally has reduced, in part due to providing additional support and training for 

school leaders on how to effectively use the pupil premium funding. 

24 In 2016, two new measures (‘Attainment 8’ and ‘Progress 8’) replaced the former 

GCSE measures. 

25 The Attainment 8 score, which measures pupil achievement across eight different 

subjects has improved, although there is a widening gap between disadvantaged 

and non-disadvantaged pupils.   

 2016/17 2017/18 

County Durham 44.6 44.9   

County Durham (disadvantaged) 36.8 34.8   

Gap between  7.8 10.1   

26 The Attainment 8 score of the increasing number of children attending alternative 

provision, special schools or the University Technical College, is below average 

Page 82



and is impacting on the overall countywide performance. A significant proportion of 

disadvantaged pupils are enrolled within these schools. 

27 We are working with head teachers of secondary schools to determine how we 

can raise standards within alternative provision schools. This includes targeted 

support for contracted institutions and reviewing inclusion and provision options.   

28 The Progress 8 score shows improvement during secondary school by comparing 

to other pupils who were at the same level at the end of primary school. 

Secondary schools with a score which is average or below average are invariably 

classed as ‘requires improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ in their inspection outcome. 

29 Twelve of the county’s 31 secondary schools are rated as ‘requires improvement’ 

or ‘inadequate’, although latest published national data identifies 76% of our 

secondary pupils are taught in ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ secondary schools.  

30 Permanent exclusions continue with their upward trend and have increased by 

19%, compared to a national increase of 7%. Most exclusions were from 

academies (54, 58%). 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

57 78 93 

31 A summary report, highlighting the issues associated with pupil exclusions, is 

being drafted. These include concerns about the permanent exclusion of year 11 

pupils before the January census, pressure on the Woodlands Pupil Referral Unit 

(caused by actual pupil numbers consistently exceeding planned numbers due to 

pupils not reintegrating back into mainstream education), continued increase in 

managed moves and in year school transfers, as well as the number of pupils 

being electively home educated. 

32 Actions in place to address these issues include: 

 Behaviour Partnership Panels reducing the risk of pupils disengaging from 

mainstream school. 

 Developing an Alternative Provision Free School to support the needs of young 

people (a Department for Education bid is being prepared). 

 Reviewing Managed Move protocols to enhance the support offered to pupils. 

 Reviewing the Elective Home Educated monitoring arrangements. 

33 A Health Needs Assessment of children and young people with special 

educational needs and disability (SEND) is underway. 

Page 83



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

 

J
o

u
rn

e
y
 o

f a
 c

h
ild

 

Statutory case file audit quality:  

scale score of 6 or above 

(New Indicator) 

61.9%  

13 of 21 case files  

given a scaling score of 6 or above. 

Did not achieve target (80%). 

Social Worker Caseloads (Sep 2018) 

386
340

407

502

464

Se
p

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4

Ja
n

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

Se
p

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

Se
p

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6

Ja
n

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
l-

1
7

Se
p

-1
7

N
o

v-
1

7

Ja
n

-1
8

M
ar

-1
8

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

Se
p

-1
8

Number of Children on a Child Protection Plan

8% fewer children on 

a CPP than Sep 2017 

 

66 fewer single 

assessments 

compared to Sep 2017 

0.8% increase in 

referrals compared 

to Sep 2017 

 

14% increase in 

enquiries compared 

to Sep 2017  

 

P
age 84



Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

34 Our statutory social work teams support almost 3,800 children, including 464 

children on a child protection plan and 822 looked after children. 

35 As part of the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) 

framework, we have developed a 12-month plan to improve the quality of our 

social work practice. 

36 There was a spike in the number of statutory referrals received during July (591).  

We believe this may have been due to a combination of more domestic abuse 

incidents and teacher concerns about pupils prior to the school summer holidays.  

37 Throughout 2017/18, domestic violence was identified as a factor in 38% of our 

statutory assessments, less than the England average of 51%. 

38 During quarter two, almost 85% of statutory single assessments were completed 

within the 45 day timescale. This improvement is due to a new way of working, 

whereby we aim to complete less complex assessments within 25 working days. 

The time to complete assessments during quarter two was on average four days 

quicker than quarter one. This has now been rolled out to all Families First Teams. 

39 A proportion of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) went out of timescale 

mainly due to delays in requesting the meetings, sending the invites, and reports 

being incomplete. We are monitoring this closely and escalation procedures are 

now in place. 

Page 85



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

 
 

   

 
County 
Durham  

Sep 2018 

North  
East 

2016/17 

National 
2016/17 

17-18 year olds in education, 
employment or training (EET) 

85.9% 
 

66% 62% 

19-21 year olds in education, 
employment or training (EET) 

51.6% 
 

50% 50% 

17-18 year olds in suitable 
accommodation 

92.9% 
 

67% 64% 

19-21 year olds in suitable 
accommodation 

84.5%  90% 84% 

 
County Durham North 

East. 
2016/17 

National 
2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 

KS2 achieving the 
expected standard in 
reading, writing, 
maths. 

35% 39.5% 
 

33% 32% 

  

612 660 722
806 822

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Rate of LAC per 10,000 population under 18 

Based on latest available data, our LAC rate is lower than regional and 

most similar authority averages, but higher than national average.  

Fostering & Adoption 

 Reduction in number of children adopted 
from care  

 Reduction in number of children in foster 
care  

 Reduction in external residential 
placements of looked after children 
 

Educational Attainment of Looked after Children 

 

Looked After Children 

81.287.5

62

92

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1

2018/19
Q2Durham Most similar authorities

All England North East authorities

Number of LAC 

LAC has been stable at around 800 for eight quarters, however there 

is an increasing demand. Currently at highest rate recorded.  

P
age 86

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjqgcysoLrdAhXvyIUKHWW5DOYQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://emojipedia.org/white-heavy-check-mark/&psig=AOvVaw3nQ7u6hVG5GNd0qu84Vyth&ust=1537006144849614


Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children 

(LAC)?  

40 We are working with colleagues in County Durham and Darlington Foundation 

Trust to ensure initial health assessments are undertaken within 20 days of a child 

becoming looked after.  

41 We are implementing actions to ensure all looked after children and care leavers 

have access to Relationship and Sex Education (RSE) and appropriate sexual 

health services. 

42 We are continuing our foster care recruitment campaign to increase in-house 

capacity during quarter two.  

43 159 children left care during quarter two, of these 21 were adopted. A campaign to 

target adoptive parents will be organised in the future. 

44 Work continues to establish the new Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Coast to 

Coast, by October 2019. It involves Cumbria County Council, Durham County 

Council and Together for Children (Sunderland City Council). 

45 We remain in touch with 284 care leavers aged 16 to 24 years old. Those care 

leavers aged 19-21 not in suitable accommodation (five people), are currently 

serving custodial sentences. 

Page 87



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

• Better than last year (19.6%) 

• Worse than national (10.4%) and regional 
(15.1%)

• Did not meet target (14.7%)

16.9% of mothers were Smoking At 
Time Of Delivery

• Did not meet target (600 smokers)

• Equates to 736.3 quitters per 100,000 smokers

556 smokers supported to quit via Stop 
Smoking Service

• Better than 2016 (17.9%)

• Similar to national (14.9%) and regional (16.2%)

• Equates to 60,084 adults who smoke in County 
Durham

14.3% Smoking prevalence (2017)

Durham
62.9%
active

England
62.3%
active

North East
59.2%
active

67.7% of adults are carrying excess weight

increased slightly compared to last year (67.5%) 

worse than England average (61.3%) 

ranked 135 of 152 LAs in England 

Active Participation 150+ minutes per week 

Data May 17-May 18 

Excess Weight in Adults (2016/17) Smoking Quitters 

Increase nationally of one 

million adults being active by 

walking for leisure (+739k) or 

travel (+325k)  

National decrease in adults 

cycling (-400k), swimming  

(-360k) and playing team sports 

(-264k)  

Data Apr-Jun 2018 

P
age 88



Altogether Healthier 

46 The priority theme of Altogether Healthier is structured around the following two 

key questions: 

 Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

 Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives?  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

47 In 2017, for the first time, County Durham’s smoking prevalence rate was below 

the England and North East Regional average (see Tobacco Control Profiles). 

Lower prevalence and extreme cold weather experienced in March and April 

reduced referrals to the Stop Smoking Service (SSS) during quarter one. 

Consequently, fewer people than target stopped smoking with SSS support.  

Further activity includes SSS promotion within GP practices for those with long-

term conditions, patients who smoke and targeted locality-based Stoptober 

activity. 

48 Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) has the highest rate (21.4%) of mothers smoking at the time of delivery in 

the North East and is the sixth highest of all CCGs in England.  

49 An incentive scheme from DDES (those who commit to quit are offered high street 

shopping vouchers) has been extended to February 2019 whilst success of the 

scheme is evaluated. An update will be provided in quarter three. The SSS is also 

trialling automatic home visits for pregnant women who have not been contactable 

following their midwife referral. 

50 During quarter two, 374 mothers were breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks. New marketing 

material has been produced to increase sign up to the Breastfeeding Friendly 

County Durham Scheme. In June 2019, an Infant Feeding Conference will raise 

awareness of the benefits of breastfeeding amongst practitioners and other 

stakeholders. 

51 We are developing a policy to minimise the impact of hot food takeaways, 

specifically in areas of existing high proliferation. The policy will restrict 

applications whereby the proposal would result in hot food takeaways making up 

more than 5% of premises within the town centre or be within 400 metres of school 

or college buildings, existing or proposed.  

52 In addition, we are communicating with existing takeaway food providers to more 

widely promote a healthier food and drink offer to their customers. 

 

Page 89

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/


200
151

393

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

 
 

 

 

392.5 
adults aged 65+ 

(per 100,000 population) 

admitted to residential or 

nursing care on a 

permanent basis 
(Apr-Sep 2018) 

 

453,486 
Bed days commissioned 

for 65+ in residential or 

nursing care 
(Apr-Sep 2018) 

 

3.4 
Daily delayed transfers of 

care, per 100,000 

population 
(Aug 2018) 

 

86.1% 
Of patients discharged into 

reablement/ rehabilitation 

services were still at home 

after 91 days 
(Jan-jun 2018) 

 

Better than national 

(9.7) and regional (7.1) 

Better than target 

(85.9%) 

Increase compared to 

last year (322.5) 

Increase compared to 

last year (447,732)  

Adults 65+ (per 100,000 population) admitted to residential or nursing care on a permanent basis 

 

P
age 90



Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives?  

53 County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust reported increased operational 

pressures throughout the summer months as greater numbers of older people 

were admitted to hospital suffering from the heatwave, e.g. with dehydration, 

overheating, heat exhaustion or heatstroke. This had a knock-on-effect for adult 

care and support services (e.g. reablement, intermediate care).  

54 The Integrated Care Board has put processes in place to prevent unnecessary 

hospital admissions and move people out of hospital and back home (whether that 

be a private residence or care/nursing home) as soon as possible, and once the 

appropriate care and support packages are in place. 

55 Although overall satisfaction of people who use our adult social care services is 

higher than last year (67% compared to 64%) and the national rate (65%), the 

differences are not statistically significant. 

56 The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) has published a dashboard 

which brings together a range of performance metrics to determine a ‘good health 

and care interface’. Six metrics assess areas against their statistical nearest 

neighbours (CIPFA) and nationally. A combined national ranking is also calculated 

from the metrics. 

 National Ranking 

(out of 152) 

Nearest Neighbour 

(out of 16) 

Emergency admissions per 100,000 (65+) 
population 

66 
2nd 

quartile 
4 

Top 
quartile 

90th percentile of length of stay for 
emergency admissions (65+) 

32 
Top 

quartile 
6 

2nd 
quartile 

Delayed days per day per 100,000 per 18+ 
population 

4 
Top 

quartile 
2 

Top 
quartile 

Proportion of older people (65+) who are 
discharged from hospital who receive 
reablement/ rehabilitation services 

43 
2nd 

quartile 
5 

2nd 
quartile 

Proportion of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement/ rehabilitation services 

41 
2nd 

quartile 
4 

Top 
quartile 

Proportion of discharges (following 
emergency admissions) which occur at a 
weekend 

118 
Bottom 
quartile 

10 
3rd 

quartile 

Overall national ranking 17 
Top 

quartile 
3 

Top 
quartile 

 

Page 91



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

How effective are we at tackling (1) crime and disorder, and (2) anti-social behaviour?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

all recorded crime

+ 6,442

+ 15%

violence 
against the 

person

+ 3,906

+ 26%
other 
crimes

+ 1,153

+ 20%

theft 
offences

+ 813

+ 6%

criminal 
damage & 

arson

+7

0%

sexual 
offences

+202

+14%

robbery

+44

+31%

unclassified

+ 317

-

50,659 
crimes 

26,986 
ASB incidents 

53% of respondents to National Crime Survey think Council & Police are dealing with ASB and crime 

issues that matter to the local area (June 2018) 

1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018 

Compared to same period the previous year 

12,426 
council reported 

-699 
 (-5%) 

14,560 
police reported 

- 1,516 
 (- 9%) 

97 crimes per 

1,000 population   

P
age 92



Altogether Safer  

57 The priority theme of Altogether Safer is structured around the following five key 

questions: 

 How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

 How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour? 

 How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol? 

 How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, 

child exploitation and radicalisation? 

 How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways? 

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

58 Although most of the increase in recorded crime can be attributed to a change in 

recording practices, it is acknowledged that there has also been a real increase 

in most crime types during the same period.  However, it is difficult to quantify the 

extent of this real increase due to the recording changes. 

59 Previously, many incidents would not have been classified as a crime but the 

change in recording practices means all reports of a crime must be recorded as 

such until investigation proves otherwise. The increase across County Durham is 

higher than most other forces across England but this is due to Durham 

Constabulary being one of the first police forces to be audited for compliance 

with the new recording practices. As other forces are audited, it is expected that 

they will also show higher increases.  

60 The category of ‘violence against the person’ experienced the greatest increase, 

the clear majority of which (90%, 3,511) was due to an increase in the sub-

category of ‘violence without injury’ – where the victim is punched, kicked, 

pushed or jostled with no resulting injury. The increase is consistent across all 

localities in County Durham. 

61 Across the categories, crimes involving harassment increased by 1,381 incidents 

(+30%). This increase is also likely to be due to the new recording practices and 

coincides with a decrease in Anti-Social Behaviour. 

62 There has been some movement within the underlying categories and across 

localities in relation to theft offences. For example, residential burglaries 

increased by 594 whilst non-residential burglaries decreased by 575. Notable 

increases included vehicle thefts, shoplifting and other theft.  

63 Year to date, shoplifting has increased by 12% (+241 crimes). Bishop Auckland, 

Newton Aycliffe, Chester-le-Street and Stanley have all shown increases of 

around a third. Spennymoor has experienced a 128% increase (+100). We are 

Page 93



analysing the data set to determine if there is any link to the roll-out of Universal 

Credit, an update will be provided at quarter three.  

64 This reduction in the rate of first time entrants to the Youth Justice System is 

primarily due to the introduction nationally (in 2008) of pre-reprimand disposals 

for children committing their first offence as an alternative to court and possible 

conviction.  

65 Local data from CDYOS' Case Management System shows that between April 

and September 2018 there were 61 FTEs which equates to a rate of 141.3 per 

100,000 population. 

How effective are we at tackling Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)?  

66 The decrease in the number of ASB incidents can be partly attributed to the 

change in crime recording practices. Many of the incidents which were previously 

recorded as ASB would now be recorded as crimes. 

67 ‘Environmental ASB’ sub-categories reported to the council showing increases 

between 1 October 2017 and 30 September 2018, compared to the same period 

last year, are reports of street litter/detritus (+525, +15%), bonfires (+137, +90%) 

and graffiti (+44, 13%). 

68 Initial analysis shows most of the increases were in the East of the County; 

Easington, Peterlee, Horden. There was also a similar increase in criminal 

damage and arson in the area. The police and fire services had a coordinated 

attempt to address the issues (Operation Valdis) and there has been a subsequent 

decrease in incidents. Many of these incidents involved people setting fire to 

rubbish.

Page 94



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

How well do we (3) reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol, and (4) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Successful 

Completion 

of treatment. 
(Mar 17 to Feb 18 

with reps to Aug 18) 

 

• 32% (369)

• Target 28%

• England 39%

Alcohol

• 5.5% (85)

• Target 6%

• England 6%

Opiates

• 29% (226)

• Target 26.4%

• England 37%

Non-
opiates

experienced 

by 58%
of children 

in need

a factor in 

38%
of social care 
assessments

an issue in 

65% of 

initial child 
protection 

conferences 

45% of 

victims are 
repeat 
victims

Operation 
Encompass in 

every
County 
Durham 
school

700
children 

referred to 
Harbour 
support 
Services

96% 
children felt 
safer upon 

exiting 
support 
services

Domestic Violence 

Key Stats 

 

170 child sexual 

exploitation referrals (12 

months ending Sep-18) 

1 April 2018 to 30 

September 2018 

Compared to same period 

the previous year 

2,048 Alcohol 

related violent crime 
-106  

1,402 Alcohol 

related ASB^ 
- 22 

(- 2%)  

XXX Drug related 

violent crime 
+ XXX  

133 Drug related 

ASB^ 
+ 40 

(+43%)  
^police figures only 

Modern Slavery  

P
age 95

https://youtu.be/fkodp2J6yEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkodp2J6yEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkodp2J6yEA


How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

69 The percentage of alcohol related police reported ASB incidents in the first six 

months of 2018/19 remained static in comparison to the same period 2017/18 and 

currently stands at 18.5%. 

70 The County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for adults, young people 

and family members affected by substance misuse was launched on 1 February 

2018 and continues its transition into a new community-based model. A Care 

Quality Commission (CQC) inspection undertaken in October 2018 will further 

direct the attainment of a high-quality standard for service delivery in the first year 

of service implementation. A comprehensive contract monitoring process has been 

established with the new service provider and a baseline tracker for 2018/19. This 

will be reviewed and new targets set for 2019/20 as the service fully embeds.  

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic 
abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

71 In July 2018, we received, along with our partners, a Joint Targeted Area 

Inspection (JTAI) which examined how well we work together to protect children 

living with domestic abuse. The inspection team looked at decision making at the 

point of referral and assessment, the quality of our children in need and child 

protection plans and the support we provide in the context of multi-agency 

working. A multi-agency action plan to address the recommendations is currently 

being developed and will be submitted for approval in December 2018. 

72 With partners, we have adopted a Community Cohesion Toolkit to target the 

under-reporting of hate crime, been involved in workshops offering the latest 

training and professional advice in relation to exploitation, grooming and 

radicalisation (more than 800 multi-agency attendees) and reviewed referral 

pathways to ensure alignment with increased local government responsibilities for 

the ‘Channel’ process and safeguarding policy and practice. Training includes 

LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation e-learning, a one-day course ‘working together to 

safeguard children and young people from sexual exploitation’ and PREVENT e-

learning (to date, more than 6,500 have completed). 

 

 

 

Page 96



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5. How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Road Safety Key 

Activity: 12 months 

ending Sep-18 

 

 

Safety of walking / 
cycling

67% (2016) -
walk

57% (2016) -
cycle

60% (2018)

57% (National)

Safety of children 
walk / cycling to 

school

57% (2016) -
walk

49% (2016) -
cycle

56% (2018)

53% (National)

Road Safety 
Training/Education

: children

56% (2016)

58% (2018)

55% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 
Education: 
motorcycle

52% (2016)

56% (2018)

52% (National)

Road Safety 
Training / 

Eduction: young 
drivers

51% (2016)

52% (2018)

51% (National)

Safety 
Carousel 

2,677
attendees   

Child 
Pedestrian 

Training 

1,297
attendees Slow to 20 

27
schools

Young Driver    
Passenger 
Training   

60
attendees

Car Seat 
Fitting 

Courses 

200
attendees

Safer Driving 
with Age      

37 
attendees

Bikeability

3,163
attendees

National Highways and Transport Survey 
(1 October to 30 September 2018 – compared to same period the 

previous year) 

Road Safety Overall 

Satisfaction 

58% 

Poems are used to 

promote road safety in 

schools. Watch the video 

here   

https://www.youtube.com/

watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw 

 

34 people 

2 fatalities 

32 injuries 

 

-29 
(46%)  Killed or 

seriously 

injured in 

road traffic 

collisions 6 children 

0 fatalities 

6 injuries 

 

-3 
(- 33%)  

1 July 2018 to 30 September 

2018 

Compared to same period 

the previous year 

P
age 97

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qRUfknCuCNw


How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and 
waterways?  

73 We continue to develop road safety education and training. The Bikeability 

programme now includes teaching children to cycle using balance bikes and basic 

cycle repairs.  Several road safety programmes were delivered in the Mid-Durham 

AAP locality, including in schools, and involved promoting driver training schemes, 

encouraging seat belt wearing and communicating general road safety.  

74 Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city centre 

and countywide, continue to meet. 

75 The City Safety Group has undertaken a range of initiatives in the lead up to 

student freshers’ week and appropriate arrangements were in place for the period 

1-7 October. The group also reviewed self-harm related incidents, from the 

previous quarter, within the river corridor and the death of a man whose body was 

recovered near Prebends Bridge (cause currently unknown). The group 

considered the requirement for additional control measures within the areas where 

incidents occurred.  

76 Countywide, work continues to review existing risk assessments on water safety 

for priority areas across the county. There were no significant incidents throughout 

quarter two, which is very positive given the extremely hot weather. Work has 

commenced on planning for next year’s campaigns and activities.  

77 The Health and Safety Team is assisting with the safety aspects of the design of 

the Chester-le-Street flood alleviation scheme and working closely with Technical 

Services throughout the project phases. 

Page 98



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

27 cameras 
deployed

1 incident 
caught on CCTV

8 stop & search 
operations

17 duty of care 
warning letters

3 producers 
issued

414 further 
investigations

4 PACE 
Interviews

6 prosecutions

10 FPNs

1,707 
Reported fly-tipping 

incidents  

-472 
(- 22%) 

Environmental Cleanliness: % of relevant land 

and highways assessed as falling below an 

acceptable standard 

51% overall 

satisfaction with 

highways 

maintenance 
(55% in 2016) 

+1.1pp (5.5%) 

+3.2pp (10.7%) 

+0.6pp (0.4%) 

6.6%

13.9%

1%

Cleanliness of 
pavements

55% (2016)

51% (2018)

52% (National)

Cleanliness of 
roads

62% (2016)

58% (2018)

54% (National)

Condition of road 
markings

62% (2016)

61% (2018)

54% (National)

Maintenance of 
highway verges/ 

trees/shrubs

55% (2016)

54% (2018)

50% (National)

Weedkilling on 
pavements and 

roads

54% (2016)

52% (2018)

49% (National)

Cutting back 
overgrown hedges

48% (2016)

49% (2018)

45% (National)

National Highways and Transport Survey 
(1 Oct 2017 to 30 Sep 2018 – compared to same period the previous year) 

Environmental cleanliness survey carried out August to 

September 2018 – compared to same period 2017. 

Jul-Sep 2018 Jul-Sep 2017 

P
age 99



Altogether Greener 

78 The priority theme of Altogether Greener is structured around the following three 

key questions: 

 How clean and tidy is my local environment? 

 Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? 

 How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste? 

How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

79 The latest environmental cleanliness survey shows that levels of detritus have 

deteriorated. Detritus is a biological waste (e.g. mud, soil, grit, gravel, leaves or 

blossom) which will decompose, whereas litter is simply a waste that will not 

decompose. If not swept away, detritus can encourage weeds to grow, damaging 

road and paving surfaces, trapping litter and leading to a rapid deterioration of 

the environmental cleanliness standards of an area. 

80 Further analysis of the environmental cleanliness survey results highlighted 

issues within industrial estates and business parks. We are working with the 

associated businesses through targeted interventions to improve these areas.  

81 There were fewer reported fly-tips but the most prevalent waste type, accounting 

for 62% of incidents, continues to be household waste. This includes wheeled 

recycling bins abandoned due to contamination and waste cleared from yards 

and gardens.  

82 We continue to tackle fly-tipping through covert CCTV in hotspot areas and 

enforcement actions. For the first time, we will destroy a vehicle used for fly-

tipping. As well as the forfeiture and destruction of their vehicle, the individual 

was also sentenced to 180 hours of unpaid work and must pay £350 costs. 

83 We are aware that our CRM mapping software, which allows customers to 

pinpoint the exact location of a fly-tip they are reporting, is defaulting to the 

nearest property and this is reducing the accuracy of fly-tip locations, especially 

in rural areas. This has now been rectified. 

Page 100



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

Are we (2) reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change? How (3) effective and sustainable is our collection and 

disposal of waste?  

 

 

 

 

% reduction in CO₂ 
emissions in County 

Durham 
52.3% (2016) 

From 1990 baseline 

 4.7% from 2015 

96.3% of municipal 

waste diverted from 

landfill  

(Apr-Jun 2018) 

+0.4pp 

(same period 

last year) 

48.5% of household 

waste re-used, recycled 

or composted 

(Apr-Jun 2018) 

+4.4pp 

(same period 

last year) 

% change in CO₂ 
emissions from local 

authority operations 
-9% (2017/18)  

compared to -14 (2016/17) 

- 40% from 2008/09 

baseline 

Single Use 
Plastic (SUP) 
quick wins

Over 300 
reusable DCC 

coffee cups sold 
to date

6.5 tonnes 
of SUP 

incorporated into 
A689

Appetite / 
opportunity for 

change confirmed 

by 19 responses 
received from 

suppliers re 
future SUP issues 700kg of SUP 

confetti removed 
from Gala 
Theatre 

SUP pledges 
promoted during 
Recycling Week 

(Sep 18): 

143 from staff

117 from 

residents

839,000
blue overshoes 
removed from 
Leisure Centres

(annual figure)

G
re

e
n

 M
o

ve
 

O
u

t 
2

0
1

8

Partnership project enabling students leaving Durham 
City to donate unwanted items to a local charity.

907 properties in 66 streets visited

discussed the scheme with 129 students

356 bags weighing 2.5 tonnes collected from 
student houses

2,524 bags weighing 16 tonnes collected from 
around university colleges

More details on Green Move 

out, can be found here  

DCC uses recycled plastic materials for road resurfacing. More details, here   

P
age 101

https://youtu.be/hNUO_ETaTIc
https://youtu.be/hNUO_ETaTIc
https://youtu.be/xsrB9T88OKQ
https://youtu.be/xsrB9T88OKQ


Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

84 There are several reasons CO2 emissions have reduced across County Durham, 

including a greener electricity grid as we now generate more renewable energy 

and use less coal. Domestic, industrial and commercial CO2 emissions continue to 

go down, but transport emissions have seen a slight rise. There are more vehicles 

on the roads (although vehicle efficiency has improved). We believe this is due, in 

part, to an increase in home deliveries associated with internet shopping. The 

Business Energy Efficiency project, working to reduce the carbon footprint of Small 

and Medium Enterprises (SMT’s) continues to grow and has been held up as 

national best practice.   

85 The reduction in CO2 emissions from local authority operations is due to the 

implementation of several energy efficiency projects including the Building Energy 

Efficiency Retrofit project, Street Lighting Energy Reduction Programme and the 

Schools Carbon Reduction project. We continue to explore new and innovative 

projects including the utilisation of mine water heat, battery storage projects and 

district heating. 

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of 

waste?  

86 The proportion of household waste recycled, composted or reused has increased. 

There has been a 9% increase of tonnage through our Household Waste 

Recycling Centres (HWRCs), half of which was increased green waste, as well as 

a 3% increase in kerbside recycling tonnage. This is most likely due to 

unseasonably hot weather and the World Cup resulting in additional garden work, 

DIY and purchases. 

87 Lower tonnage was collected through our garden waste scheme due to a 

combination of fewer subscriptions and hot weather stunting grass growth 

(kerbside garden waste is mainly grass clippings). 

88 The new Stainton Grove HWRC, due to re-open at year-end, will contain a new 

on-site shop. Any items of furniture in good condition deposited at the site will be 

cleaned up / restored and sold by the shop at prices aimed at low income families. 

Once established this initiative will be expanded to include other items in good 

condition such as toys.   

89 We continued with several campaigns including ‘Waste Less, Save More’ 

(Sainsbury’s funded) which redistributed more than 4.5 tonnes of food to almost 

1,200 customers and held three ‘feed the 1,000’ events, Recycling Matters and 

Metal Matters and the Green Move Out Scheme. 

Page 102



 

90 During quarter two, we trialled using waste plastics in three road surfacing 

schemes: Toft Crescent in Murton, a section of the A68 and the A689 near 

Sedgefield. We are the first local authority in the North East to try this new 

technology and the A689 is the largest such scheme to date, with over 1,500 

tonnes of asphalt and six and a half tonnes of plastic waste (which equates to just 

over 250,000 single use carrier bags). If successful in our funding bid from the 

Department for Transport Innovation Fund, we will carry out a programme of 

further road surfacing trials increasing the levels of plastics used. 

91 The 'capping activities' at Joint Stocks Landfill has experienced a significant 

rotational slip to some of the placed and compacted soils forming the slopes for 

capping. This will need to be controlled and re-engineered and a Geotechnical 

Engineering Contractor is currently being procured to determine next steps and 

the impact of this on delaying the programme.  

  

Page 103



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

10.9
days/shifts 

lost

59% of 

posts had 
no absence

35% cite 

'mental 
health' as 
reason*

28% cite 

'musculo-
skeletal' as 

reason*

70% of Q2 sickness 

was long term  

 

79% of posts had 5  

days or less.  

No absence 

rate is highest 

recorded 

Days / shifts lost by reason (Q2) 

Oct 17- Sep 18 

*Jul – Sep 2018 

O
u

r 
V

al
u

e
s 

Respect your bin crew campaign  

 

On 10 October 2018  

(World Mental Health Day)  

Cllr Lucy Hovvels signed the 

Employer Pledge and publically 

showed our commitment to 

helping to end mental health 

discrimination in the workplace. 

P
age 104

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wfXtfTXaS60&feature=youtu.be


Altogether Better Council  

92 The priority theme of Altogether Better Council is structured around the following 

three key questions: 

 How well do we look after our people? 

 Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents 

and customers? 

 How good are our services to customers and the public?  

How well do we look after our people?  

93 The two most prevalent sickness types (mental health and musculo-skeletal) make 

up almost two thirds of all sickness absence.  

 

94 Our Occupational Health Service is trialling early intervention physiotherapy 

services where musculo-skeletal risks remain high. We are also providing 

manager and employee support to prevent and manage musculo-skeletal 

disorders in the workplace (Get up and Move).  

 
95 Various initiatives and events relating to staff mental health and wellbeing were 

held during quarter two, including a training programme to equip staff with the 

necessary skills to enable them to talk about mental health and identify early signs 

of stress. Also, as of 30 September 2018, 63% of managers enrolled had 

completed the e-learning module ‘recognise and manage stress in the workplace’.  

In addition, during quarter two, to mark World Mental Health Day, we signed the 

pledge to end mental health discrimination and became a ‘Time to Change’ 

employer2. Furthermore, in conjunction with Wellbeing for Life, Mental Health 

Awareness Training has been arranged for December 2018 for Management 

Team and Strategic Managers.  

 
96 We have begun the process of embedding our new values and behaviours, 

updated and simplified all key HR policies to make it easier for both managers and 

employees to find the information they need, and replaced the existing appraisal 

system with a ‘Managing Employee Performance’ framework. These changes will 

not only help achieve organisational objectives but also retain and develop staff at 

all levels of the organisation. 

 

                                         
2 For more information on the council work around mental health, visit 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s96797/7%20Activity%20Update%20October%202018%20
v0.3%20JB.pdf  

Page 105



97 Training in Managing People: New Approaches for Leaders and Strategic 

Managers has now concluded and is being rolled out to Team Leaders and those 

members of staff who have line management responsibility.  

98 Over the next six months, we will deliver further improvements through the 

following developments: 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Roll out of the new Code of our Values, Behaviours and Conduct 

 Talent Management Strategy, including succession planning 

 Corporate Workforce Development Plans  

 Member Development Plan  

 Senior Manager Review 

 Employee Engagement and Recognition 

 Approach to Leadership and Management Development.  

 

Page 106



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

Are our (2) resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers? How (3) good are our services to 
customers and the public? 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Unless stated all data is 1 July 2018 to 30 

September 2018, compared to the same 

period the previous year 

67% FOI/EIR 
responses sent within 

20 working days

Missed 

National target 

of 90% 

Down from 

75% 

56.3% of council 
tax collected

59% of business 
rates collected

Down from 56.8% Down from 59.6% 

6% increase 

(+£15 million) in net 

payments 

Missed target of 

59.7% 

£750,000 more collectable debit (over £121 million) 

27,611 pay council 

tax over 11 or 12 

months. Up 25% 

11% is
face to 

face

145,360

5% of calls were 
abandoned

76% is

telephone

972,426

9% is
web-forms

119,601

4% is
e-mails

45,267

57 seconds on 
average to answer 
call 

0.3% is
social media

4,261

Customer 

Contact 

1 Oct 17 - 30 Sep 18 

Email

29%

Face to Face

5%

Social media

204%

Web forms

65%

Telephone

2% 

Customer Feedback: quarter 2  

85% were treated with 

dignity and respect 

79% satisfied with 

handling of initial contact 

50% satisfied with 

service delivery  

57% were informed of 

progress 

92% felt request was 

handled knowledgeably 

and effectively 

72% satisfied with time 

taken to complete task 

88% found it easy to 

contact the right service 

59% informed how 

long task would take 

72% were provided 

with clear information 
943

corporate 
complaints

209
compliments

128
Suggestions

(from closure process within the CRM) 

P
age 107



Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for 

residents and customers?  

99 During quarter two, we completed projects including: 

 Single person discount and Move in and Move out: new online forms 

available in CRM. 

 E-ticketing at the Gala: Customers can now receive e-ticket direct to their 

mobile phone.  

 Mobile working: has been implemented for the ICT Schools Contract and the 

Parks inspection team which can now inspect play equipment and record any 

faults/issues on mobile devices.  

 Electronic Waste Permits: are now available for use in our HWRCs. 70% of 

customers are now doing it online and 76% are choosing to have the QR code 

emailed to them.  

 Council Tax E-Billing: 2,500 additional residents have signed up for paperless 

billing. 

100 We continue with projects including: 

 Inspire. 

 Members’ Portal: a ‘one-stop shop’ for accessing information, reporting issues, 

receiving progress updates and completing administrative tasks, e.g. training 

and expenses. 

 SMS mass bulk-messaging pilot (missed bins): to keep customers informed, 

e.g. service disruption caused by inclement weather, and reduce avoidable 

contact. 

 Eckoh voice recognition for call transfer: Phase 1, to capture and assess 

10,000 call transfer requests, to programme the new system is now complete. 

Understanding the words customers use to ask for services will also help inform 

the search facility within our website. 

 Locality based services: a working group, made up of Heads of Services, is 

reviewing how best we can improve service delivery by removing internal 

barriers. 

101 We are currently seeking views on how we use digital technology and the areas 

we need to develop, as part of our Digital Strategy. Consultation will take place 

until 25 November. 

How good are our services to customers and the public?  

102 The Freedom of Information (FOI) request backlog, which reached more than 30 in 

September, was caused by a combination of organisational restructures, 

increased workload following the introduction of the General Data Protection 

Page 108



Regulation (GDPR) and more complex requests. It has been reduced to about 

seven during October.    

 

103 During the quarter, phase 2 of the Digital Durham programme, to provide superfast 

broadband, was delayed to December 2018 due to the contractor missing target. 

However, the programme has delivered faster, fibre-based broadband to more 

than 107,000 households and businesses so far and a further 29,000 homes and 

businesses are planned in more challenging rural locations. 

 

Page 109



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 110

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

1. Do residents have good job prospects?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

1 
% of working age population in 
employment 

71.6 
Jul 17- 
Jun 18  

Tracker 71.7 75.1 70.6  
 Yes 

N/a AMBER RED GREEN  

2 
Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 

15,221 2016 
Tracker 15,496 19,878 15,595  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

3 
Number of gross jobs created or 
safeguarded as a result of Business 
Durham activity 

262 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 186    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

4 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

9.8 
As at 30 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 9.5 6.2 8.5 7.6 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

5 
Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use  

469 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

6 
Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention 

111 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

74 113    
 Yes 

GREEN AMBER    

7 Number of net homes completed 659 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 758    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

P
age 111



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

8 
Number of affordable homes 
delivered 

473 2017/18 
200 322    

 No 
GREEN GREEN    

9 
Number of households accessing the 
Housing Solutions Service 

3,112 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

10 
Number of households helped to stay 
in their home 

289 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
    

Yes 
N/a N/a    

11 
Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 

278 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
    

Yes 
N/a N/a    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

12 
Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 

16,513* 2016 
Tracker 16,362 27,060* 19,542*  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

13 
Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 

17,120 2017 
Tracker 16,585    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

14 Value (£M) of new contracts secured 0 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

P
age 112



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

15 
Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs 
created 

7.7 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

6  
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
GREEN N/a    

16 
Number of Inward Investments 
secured 

1 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

17 
% of Business Durham business floor 
space that is occupied 

82.0 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 
New 

indicator 
   

 Yes 
N/a N/a    

*provisional data 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

18 
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended  

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3 3   

2016/17 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN   

19 
% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

4 2017/18 
Tracker 3 6   

2016/17 No 
N/a AMBER GREEN   

20 
% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended  

21 2017/18 
Tracker 20 17   

2016/17 No 
N/a AMBER RED   

21 
Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 

187.6 2017 
Tracker 191.7    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

P
age 113



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

22 
Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 
Roads 

80.0 2017 
Tracker 83.8    

 No 
N/a RED    

23 
Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal 
Roads 

81.0 2017 
Tracker 83.7    

 No 
N/a RED    

 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 
months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

24 
Number of visitors to County Durham 
(million) 

19.71 2017 
Tracker 19.3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

25 
Number of jobs supported by the visitor 
economy 

11,682 2017 
Tracker 11,158    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

26 
Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 

866.71 2017 
Tracker 806    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

 

  

P
age 114



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

27 Average Attainment 8 score 44.9* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 44.6 46.4* 45.2*  
 

Yes 
 N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

28 
Average point score per A level entry 
of state-funded school students 

33.0* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 31.9 31.1 30.8 30.7 2016/17 
Ac Yr 

Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

29 
% of pupils achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (KS2) 

67* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 64.6 64 67 65.9 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

30 
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET) 

5.1 
Apr-Jun 

18 

Tracker 4.8 2.7 4.0  
 No 

N/a RED RED RED  

31 

Gap between average Attainment 8 
score of Durham disadvantaged pupils 
and non-disadvantaged pupils 
nationally (KS4) 

-15.1* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker -13 -12.8 -13.9*  
England 
2016/17 

Yes 
N/a RED RED RED  

32 
% of children in the Early Years 
Foundation Stage achieving a Good 
Level of Development 

79.4* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

64 72 78.5* N/a  
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN N/a  

33 

Gap between % of Durham 
disadvantaged pupils and % of non-
disadvantaged pupils nationally who 
achieve expected standard in reading, 
writing and maths (KS2) 

-17.2* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker -18 -19.8 N/a  

 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN N/a  

34 
Ofsted % of Primary schools judged 
good or better 

92 
As at 31 

Aug 2018 

Tracker 91 87 91  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

*provisional data 

 

 

P
age 115



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

35 
Ofsted % of secondary schools 
judged good or better 

61 
As at 31 

Aug 2018 

Tracker 65 75 58  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN  

36 
Exclusion from school of all Durham 
children - % of children with at least 
one fixed exclusion 

2.1* 
2017/18 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker      1.9  2.11 2.01  2015/16 
Ac Yr 

Yes 
N/a RED GREEN AMBER  

37 
% of all school pupils eligible for and 
claiming Free School Meals (FSM) 

19.4 Jan 2018 
Tracker 20.2 14.2 19.8  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

38 
Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17 

22.3^ 
Jul 16- 
Jun 17 

Tracker 24.1 18.2^ 24.6^  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

39 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

74.2 2016/17 
Tracker 64.9 76.7 76.1  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

40 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 

56.2 
2014/15-
2016/17 

Tracker 67.5 34.2 64.8  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

41 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of self-harm 

400.8 2016/17 
Tracker 420.8 404.6 425.3  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

42 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese 

24.1* 
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 24.3 22.6 24.5  
 No 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

43 

 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese 
 

37.7*  
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 37.0 34.2 37.3 
  

No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER 

 

*provisional data 

 

 

P
age 116



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

44 
% of Education Health and Care 
Plans completed in the statutory 20 
week time period (excl. exceptions) 

91.3 
Jan–Sep 

2018 

90 76.6 64.9 78.8   

2017 

 
Yes 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN  

 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

45 

% of successful interventions (families 
turned around) via the Stronger 
Families Programme (Phase 2) 
[number] 

36.9 
[1,610] 

Sep 14- 
Oct  18 

51.3 
[2237] 

N/a 23.1 27.0 23.9 
 Yes 

RED GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

46 
% of children aged 0-2 years in the top 
30% IMD registered with a Family 
Centre and having sustained contact 

88.7 
Oct 17-
Sep 18 

80 89.6    
 Yes 

GREEN AMBER    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 117



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

47 

% of statutory referrals received by the 
First Contact Team or Emergency 
Duty Team processed within 1 working 
day 

82.1 
[2,381] 

Apr-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
84.5 

[2,102] 
   

 Yes 

N/a RED    

48 
% of statutory children in need 
referrals occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral 

15.9  
[464] 

Apr-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
16.3 
[420] 

21 17 20.7 
2017/18 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

49 
% of single assessments completed 
within 45 working days 

79.3 
[1,930] 

Apr-Sep  
2018 

Tracker 
79.1 

[1,857] 
83 82 79 

2017/18 Yes 
N/a GREEN RED RED GREEN 

50 
Rate of children subject to a child 
protection plan per 10,000 population 
aged under 18 [number of children] 

45.9  
[464] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
49 

[502] 
45 66  As at 31 

Mar 2018 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a  

51 
Rate of children in need per 10,000 
population aged under 18 (statutory L4 
open cases) [number of children] 

374.9  
[3,769] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
355 

[3570] 
341 460 380 As at 31 

Mar 2018 
Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

52 
Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 
10,000 population aged under 18 (One 
Point open cases) [No. of children] 

208.7 
[2,099] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
205.2 

[2,058] 
   

 Yes 

N/a N/a    

53 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 
led to an initial child protection 
conference being held within 15 
working days 

69.2 
[256] 

Apr–Sep 
2018 

75 
61 

[261] 
77 83 75 

2017/18 Yes 
RED GREEN RED RED RED 

54 
% of Social Workers with fewer than 
20 cases 

47 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 48    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

55 
% of Case File Audits which are given 
a scaling score of 6 or above 

61.9 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

80 
New 

indicator 
      

Yes 

RED N/a    

P
age 118



 ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

56 
Rate of children looked after per 
10,000 population aged under 18 
[number of children]  

81.8 
[822] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
80.6 
[806] 

62 92 87.5 As at  
31 Mar 
2017 

Yes 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

57 
% of children adopted from care (as % 
of total children leaving care) 
[number of children] 

12.7*                                              
[21]                             

Apr-Sep 
2018 

15.0 
13.5 
[27] 

14 14 16.6 
2016/17 Yes 

RED RED RED RED RED 

58 % of LAC who are fostered  
74.6  
[613]  

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
79.4 
[640]  

   
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

59 % of external residential placements 
2.7 
[22] 

As at 
30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
3.2 

 [26] 
   

 Yes 

N/a N/a     

60 
% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who had a 
dental check 

92 
As at 30 

Sep 2018 

Tracker 90.3 83 83 83 
2016/17 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

61 

% of children looked after continuously 
for 12 months or more who have had 
the required number of health 
assessments 

87.3 
As at 30 

Sep 2018 

Tracker 83.8 89 91 91 
2016/17 Yes 

N/a GREEN AMBER RED RED 

62 
Emotional and behavioural health of  
children looked after continuously for 
12 months or more 

15.5 2017/18 
Tracker 16.0 14.1 14.7 14.0 

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

63 
Average Attainment 8 score of Looked 
After Children 

21.9 
2016/17 

(Academic 
Year) 

Tracker 
Not 

comparable 
19.3 20.1 18.3 

 No 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

64 
% of LAC achieving the expected 
standard in Reading, Writing and 
Maths (at KS2) 

39.5* 
[17/42] 

2017/18 
(Academic 

Year) 

Tracker 35 32 33 38 
 

2016/17 
(Academic 

Year) 

 
Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*provisional data 

P
age 119



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

65 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

85.9 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
62 66 64 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

66 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in  
education, employment or training 
(EET) 

51.6 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
50 50 50 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

67 
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
suitable accommodation 

92.9 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
88 93 88 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN 

68 
% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
suitable accommodation 

84.5 
As at 

30 Sep 
2018 

Tracker 
New 

definition 
84 90 90 

2016/17 Yes 
N/a N/a GREEN RED RED 

 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

69 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

16.9* 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

14.7 19.6 10.4* 15.1*  
 Yes 

RED GREEN RED RED  

70 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

736.3 
[556] 

Apr-Jun 
2018  

795 
[600] 

888.6 
[671] 

   
 Yes 

RED RED    

71 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.0 2014-16 
Tracker 78.1 79.5 77.8  

 No 
N/a AMBER AMBER GREEN  

P
age 120



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

72 Female life expectancy at birth (years) 81.3 2014-16 
Tracker 81.2 83.1 81.5  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

73 
Female healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59 2014-16 
Tracker 57 63.9 60.6  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

74 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

59.1 2014-16 
Tracker 59.7 63.3 59.7  

 No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

75 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion of 
adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

67.7 2016/17 
Tracker 67.5 61.3 66.1  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

76 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population 

12.6 2014-16 
Tracker 15.7 9.9 11.6  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

77 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth 

29.6 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 29.9 44.4 32.5  Apr-Jun 
18 

Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

78 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

14.3 2017 
Tracker 17.9 14.9 16.2  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

79 
Self-reported wellbeing - people with a 
low happiness score 

6.9 2016/17 
Tracker 11.5 8.5 8.7  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

80 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

62.9 
May 17–
May 18 

Tracker 61.4 62.3 59.2  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

81 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

26.6 
May 17- 
May 18 

Tracker 24.5 25.2 29.0  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED GREEN  

*provisional data 

P
age 121



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

392.5 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

343.5 322.5    
 Yes 

RED RED    

83 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

86.1 
Jan-Jun 

2018 

85.9 88.9 82.5 85.3 83.3* 
2016/17 Yes 

GREEN RED 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 
Not 

comparable 

84 
% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

95.3 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 96.3    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

85 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

86.6 
Sep 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 87.3    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

86 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

66.6 2017/18 
Tracker 63.6 65.0 67.9 66.3* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 

87 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

43.3 2016/17 
Tracker 

New 
indicator 

39.0 45.7  
 No 

N/a N/a GREEN RED  

88 
Daily Delayed transfers of care beds, 
all per hospital per 100,000 population 
age 18+ 

3.4 
As at Aug 

2018 

Tracker 3.4 9.7 7.1 10.1 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

89 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

74.9 2017/18 
Tracker 73.1 68.2 72.1 69.1* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 

  

P
age 122



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

90 
First time entrants to the youth justice 
system aged 10 to 17 (per 100,000 
population of 10 to 17 year olds) 

253 
Apr-Mar 
2017/18 

Tracker 387 276 368 273 
 Yes 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

91 
Overall crime rate per 1,000 
population 

51 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 47.3 37.8   Apr-Aug 
2018 

Yes 
N/a RED RED   

92 
Rate of theft offences per 1,000 
population 

14 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 14.1    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

93 
Proportion of all offenders who re-
offend in a 12 month period 

32.0 
Jan-Dec 

2016 

Tracker 32 29.5   
 Yes 

N/a GREEN 
Not 

comparable 
  

94 
Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%) 

41.6% 
Jan-Dec 

2016 

Tracker - 41.6 44.4  
 Yes 

N/a  GREEN GREEN  

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

95 
Dealing with concerns of ASB and 
crime issues (%) by the local council 
and police 

53 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Tracker 61.3    
 No 

N/a RED    

96 
Number of police reported incidents of 
anti-social behaviour 

14,560 
Oct 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 16,076    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

P
age 123



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

97 
Number of council reported incidents 
of anti-social behaviour  

12,426 
Oct 17- 
Sep 18 

Tracker 13,125    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

98 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment   

32.2 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

28.0 32.6* 39.1 30.8  North East 
2016 

Yes 
GREEN AMBER RED GREEN  

99 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.5 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

6.0 5.5* 6.4 5.2  North East 
2016 

Yes 
RED GREEN RED GREEN  

100 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

29.2 
Mar 17-Feb 
18 with reps 
to Aug 2018 

26.4 28.8* 36.6 27.4  North East 
2016 

Yes 
GREEN  GREEN RED GREEN  

101 
% of anti-social behaviour incidents 
that are alcohol related   

18.5 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 17    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

102 
% of violent crime that is alcohol 
related  

28.7 
Apr-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 25.3    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

103 Alcohol seizures 194 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 398    
 No 

N/a GREEN    

*2017/18 baseline  
 

P
age 124



 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

104 
Building resilience to terrorism (self-
assessment). Scored on level 1 (low) to 
5 (high) 

3 2017/18 
Tracker 3    

 No 
N/a GREEN    

105 
Number of child sexual exploitation 
referrals 

170 
Oct 17 – 
Sep 18 

Tracker 167    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

5. How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

106 
Number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

34 

Jul-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 63    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 2  3    

 
- Number of seriously injured 32  60    

107 
Number of children killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic accidents 

6 

Jul-Sep 
2018 

Tracker 9    
 

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 
- Number of fatalities 0  0    

 
- Number of seriously injured 6  9    

 

 

P
age 125



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

108 
% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of litter  
that fall below an acceptable level  

6.61 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 5.22    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

109 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of 
detritus that fall below an acceptable 
level  

13.87 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 10.72    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

110 

% of relevant land and highways 
assessed as having deposits of dog 
fouling that fall below an acceptable 
level 

1 
Aug-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 0.44    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

111 Number of  fly-tipping incidents 1,731 
Jul-Sep 

2018 

Tracker 2,179     

Yes 
N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER GREENER 

2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

112 
% reduction in CO₂ emissions in 
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and 
55% by March 2031) 

52.3 2016 
Tracker 49.9    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

113 
% change in CO₂ emissions from local 
authority operations 

-9 2017/18 
Tracker -14    

 Yes 
N/a RED    

 

 

P
age 126



ALTOGETHER GREENER 

3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to 
Data 

updated 
this 

quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North East 
figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered 

if 
different 

114 
% of municipal waste diverted from 
landfill 

96.3 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

95 95.9    
 Yes 

GREEN GREEN    

115 
% of household waste that is re-
used, recycled or composted 

48.5 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 44.1    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

116 
% of performance appraisals 
completed in current post in rolling 
year period (excluding schools) 

N/a* 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

92 88.61    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

117 
Days / shifts lost to sickness absence 
(all services excluding schools) 

10.94 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

11.20 10.51    
 Yes 

GREEN RED    

118 
% posts with no absence in rolling 
year (excluding schools) 

59.13 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 58.23    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

119 
% of sickness absence which is short 
term 

14.19 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 13.15    
 Yes 

N/a N/a     

120 
% of sickness absence which is 
medium term 

14.52 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 13.66    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

P
age 127



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

1. How well do we look after our people?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

121 
% of sickness absence which is long 
term 

71.29 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

Tracker 73.18    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

122 
% of employees having five days or 
less sickness per 12 month period 

79.58 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 79.60    
 Yes 

N/a AMBER    

*due to new system introduction 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

123 % of council tax collected in-year 56.23 
Apr–Sep 

2018 

56.83 56.79    
 Yes  

RED AMBER    

124 % of business rates collected in-year 58.9 
Apr–Sep 

2018 

59.64 59.69    
 Yes 

AMBER AMBER    

 

  

P
age 128



ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL 

3. How good are our services to customers and the public?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

125 

% of Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Information Regulations 
requests responded to within 20 
working days 

67 
Jul–Sep 

2018 

90 70    
 Yes 

RED RED    

126 
Average time taken to answer a 
telephone call (seconds) 

57 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 47    
 Yes 

N/a RED    

127 % of abandoned calls 5.1 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 5.4    
 Yes 

N/a GREEN    

128 Customer contacts: face to face 145,350 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 152,130    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

129 Customer contacts: telephone 972,426 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 949,280    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

130 Customer contacts: web forms 119,601 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 72,220    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

131 Customer contacts:  emails 45,267 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 63,784    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

132 Customer contacts:  social media 4,261 
Oct 17 -
Sep 18 

Tracker 2,109    
 Yes 

N/a N/a    

 

 

  

P
age 129



Appendix 3:  Risk Management  

 

1 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s challenging 
improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified and 
minimised. The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside service 
improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and improvement 
projects.  

2 The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate theme are 
detailed against each Altogether theme in the relevant sections of the report. These 
risks have been identified using the following criteria: 

a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or 
possible. 

b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable. 
c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable. 

3 As at 30 September 2018, there were 26 risks on the corporate strategic risk 
register, three more than as at 31 May 2018. During this period, three risks were 
added and none were removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks 
according to their net risk evaluation as at 31 May 2018. To highlight changes in 
each category during the last quarter, the number of risks as at 31 December 2017 
is shown in brackets.  

Corporate Risk Heat Map 

IM
P

A
C

T
 

Critical 1 (1)   4 (4)   1 (1) 

Major   5 (4) 4 (3)     

Moderate     8 (9) 2 (1)   

Minor       1 (0)   

Insignificant           

 Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 

 Key risks  LIKELIHOOD 

 

4 Three risks have been added during the latest review period:  

a) Volatile and high-cost, demographic demands of looked after children on the 
Children’s Services budget in 2018/19 may result in adverse impacts on finance 
and service delivery. Some elements of this budget, particularly looked after 
children, are high cost and volatile, and current external demographic demands 
are creating a strain on financial resource allocation. A range of mitigating 

Page 130



controls are in place, including both financial and quality monitoring. The council 
is also leading on establishing a regional organisation for adoption in 
collaboration with partners.  

b) Increasing demand on the dedicated schools grant budget for high needs block 
special education needs services may result in adverse impacts on finance and 
service delivery. The demand in County Durham for special educational needs 
services has increased significantly in recent years. Councillors are being asked 
to authorise an application to the Secretary of State for Education asking for 
permission to transfer funding from the mainstream school budget to the special 
educational needs budget. It is hoped that transferring funds from the 
mainstream funding block will help address the shortfall in funding for pupils with 
special educational needs.  

c) Risk that the Council breaches it’s Adult Care – Residential Care Charging 
Policy and Deferred Payment Policy and is subject to legal challenge by 
providers. This risk reflects the potential implications of the circumstances under 
which the Council exercises its discretion under the Care Act 2014. Significant 
work has been completed in this area to review and update the Council’s Adult 
Care – Residential Care Charging Policy and Deferred Payment Policy. 

5 At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the council, with their respective net risk 
evaluations shown in brackets, are:  

a) If there was to be a slippage in the delivery of the agreed MTFP savings 
projects, this will require further savings to be made from other areas, which 
may result in further service reductions and job losses (critical / possible); 

b) Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to at least 2019/20 will 
continue to have an increasing major impact on all Council services (critical / 
highly probable); 

c) Failure to protect child from death or serious harm - where service failure is a 
factor or issue. (critical / possible); 

d) A service failure of adult safeguarding leads to death or serious harm to a 
service user (critical / possible); 

e) Major interruption to IT service delivery (critical / possible). 

6 The implementation of additional mitigation on a number of risks has enabled the 
council to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is 
detailed in the relevant sections of the report.  

a) Altogether Wealthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme.  

b) Altogether Better for Children and Young People:  Failure to protect a child 
from death or serious harm (where service failure is a factor or issue). 
Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to 
the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage to the council’s 
reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To mitigate the 
risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and reported to the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board. Lessons learned are fed into training for 
front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This risk is long term 
and procedures are reviewed regularly. 

Page 131



c) Altogether Healthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme. 

d) Altogether Safer:  A service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or 
serious harm to a service user.  Management consider it possible that this risk 
could occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on service users, will result 
in serious damage to the council’s reputation and to relationships with its 
safeguarding partners. As the statutory body, the multi-agency Safeguarding 
Adults Board has a Business Plan in place for taking forward actions to 
safeguard vulnerable adults including a comprehensive training programme for 
staff and regular supervision takes place. This risk is long term and procedures 
are reviewed regularly.  

e) Altogether Greener: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this 
theme. 

f) Altogether Better Council:   

i. If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term 
Financial Plan savings projects, this will require further savings to be 
made from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and 
job losses.  Management consider it possible that this risk could occur, 
which will result in a funding shortfall, damaged reputation and reduced 
levels of service delivery.  To mitigate the risk, a programme management 
approach for key projects has been established and embedded across 
the council. Monitoring by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet 
provides assurance over the implementation of the agreed MTFP savings 
projects. It should be recognised that this will be a significant risk for at 
least the next four years. 

ii. Ongoing Government funding cuts which now extend to 2019/20 and the 
possible negative impact on the Fair Funding Review will continue to have 
an increasing major impact on all council services. Management consider 
it highly probable that this risk could occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound 
financial forecasting is in place based on thorough examination of the 
government's red book plans. This will also be a significant risk for at least 
the next four years.  

iii. Major interruption to IT service delivery. Corporate Management Team 
has approved a project to provide improved ICT resilience for the 
council’s main data centre. Design works to improve the infrastructure 
and reduce the risk are underway and are scheduled to be completed by 
the end of December 2018.  

Page 132



 

             

        
 Cabinet 

12 December 2018 

  Update on the delivery of the Medium Term  
Financial Plan 8 

    

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet 
collectively 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on the progress made at the end of June 
2018 on the delivery of the 2018/19 Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP8) 

Recommendation 

2 Members are recommended to note the contents of this report and the 
progress made in delivering MTFP8. 

  

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 7



Background 

3 Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the 
Council in delivering the financial targets within the MTFP since 
2011/12.   

4 The latest MTFP8 was agreed by Council in February 2018 and set a 
savings target of just under £15 million.  This brings the overall savings 
target for the period from 2011/12 to 2020/21 of around £251 million. 

Progress to date 

5 The delivery of the MTFP is being managed with a very robust 
programme management approach being adopted to ensure we take 
into account: 

(a) Our duties under the Equality Act 

(b) Appropriate consultation 

(c) The HR implications of the change including consultation with 
employees and trade unions 

(d) Communication of the change and the consultation results 

(e) Sound risk management. 

6 Through this robust approach we continue to take in managing the 
programme to deliver the savings required, the plans for 2018/19 are 
being successfully delivered.  As a result, by the end of September 
2018, 88% of the savings target for MTFP8 had already been met with 
almost £13 million of savings having been achieved. This brings the 
total to end of June 2018, since 2011 we have now made over £222 
million of savings including Public Health. 

7 Members have been advised of the careful planning and monitoring of 
the savings that is carried out, on occasions plans need to change 
which could delay when savings are made, but through the ongoing 
management of the process we are able to smooth out delivery of 
savings using cash limits, ensuring we haven’t missed our overall 
savings targets. 

 

Consultation  

8 There has not been any public consultation on MTFP (8) proposals in 
the last quarter.  However, there has been consultation on MTFP (9) on 
the council’s website and at AAP meetings throughout September with 
the closing date for comments having was 19th October 2018.  

Page 134



HR Implications 

9 Equality data relating to staff leaving through voluntary redundancy, 
early retirement and ER/VR during the first two quarters of MTFP8 
showed that 84% were female and 16% were male. In terms of race, 
11% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity and the remaining 89% 
stated that they were white British. Regarding disability status 4% said 
they had a disability, 30% had no disability and 66% did not disclose 
their disability status.   

10 The numbers of those leaving through compulsory redundancy are too 
low to effectively analyse. 

Equality Impact Assessments 

11 Equality impact assessments (EIA) form a key part of the ongoing 
MTFP process. A number of initial screenings for new savings and 
updated EIAs for ongoing savings were provided to Cabinet ahead of 
the budget setting decision in February 2018.  They are updated during 
the year to take account of consultation responses and additional 
evidence; the updates also include information on any mitigating 
actions. 

12 The impact assessments and action plans are considered during 
decision making processes, for example, updated EIAs are provided 
where Cabinet receive a report ahead of consultation and where a 
further report is received with any final recommendations. 

Conclusion 

13 We are continuing to plan on the basis that the government’s austerity 
plan will continue for several more years. The Council remains in a 
strong position to meet the ongoing financial challenges and through the 
robust management process. 

14 For MTFP8 the council has already delivered almost £13 million of the 
savings required (88%) and in total we have delivered over £222 million 
in savings since 2011. 

Recommendation 

15 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the contents of this report and the progress made in 
delivering MTFP8. 

Contact: Andy Palmer Tel:  03000 268551 

  

Page 135



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The legal implications of any decisions required are being considered as part of the 
delivery of the proposals. 

Finance 

The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately 
£251million over the period from 2011 to 2021 of which over £222million has 
been delivered to date. 

Consultation 

A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on the MTFP 
prior to its agreement and again in 2013 and 2018.  In addition, where 
appropriate for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans 
are developed so that consultation informs the decision making process. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year 
MTFP plan and additional screening was undertaken for proposals which have 
been identified for subsequent MTFPs, together with any other changes made 
to the original plan.  In addition, for each proposal an EIA is undertaken as 
part of the decision-making before the proposal is implemented. 

Human Rights 

N/A. 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A. 

Staffing 

Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the trade 
unions consulted.  Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through 
voluntary means.  In addition, there has been a proactive management of 
vacancies to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment 
process which continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff. 

Accommodation 

As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is ascertained, with 
staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process.  The loss of over 
2,500 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less 

Page 136



accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the 
Office Accommodation Strategy. 

Risk 

The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks 
and is monitored through the corporate risk management process.  In addition, 
risks for individual proposals are being monitored through the work 
undertaken to deliver the proposal. 

Procurement 

A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts and this 
work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement 
processes. 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Cabinet 

 12 December 2018 

Town and Village Centres – Way Forward 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to set out proposals for an enhanced 
approach to the regeneration of towns and villages across the county.  
The report seeks to: 
 
(a) Confirm the continuation of town centre regeneration in line with 

the suite of established masterplans for the main centres; 
(b) Highlight the opportunities for a renewed regeneration focus in 

towns and villages across the county; and  
(c) Highlight opportunities for concerted programmes of activity to 

make step change improvements in selected centres. 

Executive summary 

 

2 Since 2010 there have been a wide range of successful regeneration 
projects and programmes delivered by the council and its partners 
across the County, with a particular focus on the larger towns.  Building 
on this success the council is looking to develop a stronger focus on 
local priorities in towns and villages, addressing those issues that are 
identified by local communities as most important to them. 

 
3 This report sets out the type of issues that have been identified through 

discussions with local members, based on the AAP geography, and 
highlights the ‘toolbox’ of actions available to the council and its 
partners to tackle them.  The issues range from the need to support 
local retail, to problems with vacant buildings and land, the condition of 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



the environment and the impact of private landlords and empty 
properties.  

4 The council needs to take a comprehensive approach to tackling these 
issues.  This report is linked to the paper on selective licensing agreed 
by Cabinet on 17 October 2018, and the forthcoming housing strategy 
paper.  It also identifies additional capital funding to help deliver the 
local projects and programmes.  

Recommendation 

5 Cabinet is recommended to: 

a) Agree the approach to the delivery of an enhanced town and 
village programme. 

b) Support an increase in capital programme investment through the 
capital bidding process. 

c) Support further work being undertaken to identify strategic town 
centre regeneration schemes that alongside partner investment 
can deliver transformational change in key town centres. 

d) Agree the programme management approach suggested at 
paragraph 46-48. 

 

  

Page 140



Background 

6 The Council’s approach to regeneration is set out within the 
Regeneration Statement, identifying the key priorities for investment to 
transform the economy of the county and ensure residents and 
businesses benefit from the opportunities delivered. 

 
7 Since 2010, there have been a wide range of successful projects and 

programmes undertaken against these priorities delivering or securing 
in excess of £790 million of investment in the County Durham economy 
and supporting the creation of over 9000 jobs. 

8 Alongside these strategic programmes the ongoing regeneration of the 
county’s main towns has remained a constant element of the council’s 
work.  Since 2010, investment of almost £12 million across our main 
centres has delivered a variety of projects including improved public 
realm, enhanced parking provision and support packages for town 
centre businesses in line with the suite of masterplans that have been 
created, consulted upon, delivered against and systematically 
refreshed. 

9 This approach has delivered significant visible improvements to the 
fabric of some of our town centres, improving shopping areas, car 
parking and acquiring and assembling sites for retail development being 
delivered by the private sector.  Alongside this, over 500 town centre 
businesses since 2012 have received bespoke programmes of support 
including shop front improvements, marketing advice and digital skills 
support to assist with trading online.  This approach has created over 
250 FTE jobs and supported the development of 43 new businesses. A 
summary of regeneration investment across the county to date is set 
out in Appendix 4. 

10 It is important that we build on the successes achieved through this 
work to date, which includes not only the physical changes seen in our 
main centres, but also more integration of the working arrangements in 
the range of services that identify, deliver and maintain the 
improvements made. 

11 Funding such a programme of improvement requires the ongoing 
commitment to the current capital budgets which are targeted within our 
centres to deliver against masterplans and provide maximum effect, 
frequently supported by wider packages of revenue funded support.  
However, we also recognise increasing opportunities to address other 
issues of local concern in towns and villages across County Durham 
and the need to align existing budgets to ensure the ongoing 
maintenance of our towns and villages. 

Page 141



12 Given that the pace of change in both our town and village centres 
continues to increase, we must adjust our approach to ensure we can 
readily respond and address the issues raised by Members, Area Action 
Partnerships, residents and businesses. With such diverse challenges it 
is also essential that partners such as housing providers, property 
owners and other public services are fully engaged in programmes of 
change and improvement as we seek to reshape our town and village 
centres. 

Consideration 

 
13 Many places in County Durham are also addressing issues related to 

the future use of historic and heritage buildings.  While some can be 
returned to use effectively, this can often be for a wide range of uses, 
not always retail.  However, historic buildings are distinctive and often 
valued local landmarks which when sensitively managed provide an 
attractive environment for a range of uses, as can be seen in Barnard 
Castle and many of the county’s villages.  The recently declared 
Heritage Action Zone in Bishop Auckland is another example where 
utilising the positive heritage attributes of a town is an opportunity to 
drive further regeneration and growth. 

14 The growth of multi-channel shopping has been a major driving force 
behind change in towns across the country.  Despite online shopping 
having a direct impact on retailer requirements for space, it can also 
influence high street footfall in other ways.  While online shopping can 
be delivered direct to the customer’s home this is not always convenient 
for the working population.  Delivery to a self-service collection point 
can bring people into other spaces, as can the return of unwanted 
goods.  Click and collect is another popular means of delivery and 
although the collection point is typically from the retailer’s own property, 
it can also draw shoppers into a centre, which can lead to linked multi-
trips. 

15 Ensuring these tasks can be undertaken conveniently; with readily 
available short-stay parking helps integrate centres into the online 
shopping process. 

16 While the rise in internet shopping and home deliveries by food retailers 
can be seen to have some advantages for communities outside the 
main retail centres, the loss of local services such as high street 
banking has a disproportionate effect on those who are less digitally 
enabled – often including older people, those in rural communities and 
those with limited access to personal transport including those 
unemployed or on low incomes.  There is also a consequent impact on 
the very nature of communities when their local high street no longer 

Page 142



fulfils the basic needs that have been met in that location for many 
years. 

Options 

17 In applying these issues and opportunities to our approach, the guiding 
principles for the next phase of town and village regeneration are 
therefore recommended to include in a tool box of approaches tailored 
to the requirements and opportunities of the individual towns and 
villages: 
 
(a) Concentrating retail uses – shortening traditional high streets 

where demand for extra space no longer exists and filling retail 

gaps. 

(b) Targeted work to address empty and/or poor quality and wrongly 

configured property through support, conversion, acquisition and 

assembly.  This may lead to demolition of problem local buildings. 

(c) Utilising enforcement powers to their maximum benefit to address 

those issues that are dragging down the rest of a community or 

place. 

(d) Working with private landlords to raise the quality of the offer in 

the private rented sector. 

(e) Maximising partnership opportunities with private and public 

sector investors to deliver a wider range of uses in town centres 

that address the decline in retail use. 

(f) The introduction of alternative uses including leisure, commercial 

and residential schemes as appropriate to local needs. 

(g) Responding to market trends, e.g. Click and Collect and working 

with local companies to maximise such opportunities. 

(h) Maximising the impact of council land and facilities in and around 

centres, providing visible facilities, driving building efficiencies and 

securing capital receipts where possible. 

(i) Improving accessibility – focussing on transport improvements. 

(j) Development of digital programmes to support retailers to reflect 

channel shift in retailing and customer expectations. 

(k) Maintaining a targeted recruitment and training approach to 

ensure local residents and businesses benefit from the 

investment and new job opportunities across centres. 

(l) Ensuring other elements that make up a town are well managed 

and support local communities, especially cleansing and 

environmental maintenance.  Joined up approaches will continue 

to make local places feel better looked-after. 

  

Page 143



Main Implications 

 
The High Street Challenge 

 
18 Over the past year there has been significant press and academic 

debate about the way town centres operate across the UK. The rapid 
growth of town centre and edge of centre retailing since the 1990’s, 
changes in shopping trends, transport and accessibility, and a greater 
focus on leisure opportunities, further compounded by many long 
established high street names disappearing in recent years have led to 
profound change to many high streets across County Durham and 
beyond.  
 

19 The challenges and solutions in our town and village centres are not 
simply based around changes in retailing. Places need to be reshaped 
and rebalanced to provide a diverse range of functions, including 
employment, commerce, leisure, community, residential, healthcare and 
education to meet the current and future needs and/or wishes of local 
communities, but also to attract business and with it, support local 
vibrancy and economic growth. 
 

20 Capital investment by the Council and key partners is essential in 
driving this change, supported by targeted business support and a high 
quality and well maintained environment which builds on recent 
successful initiatives such as ‘operation spruce up’ and the delivery of 
20 mph zones. This integrated approach is central to achieving 
comprehensive change and improvement in our towns and villages and 
addressing local issues. 
 

County Durham Experience 

 
21 Local experience tends to reflect current trends nationally, with most 

towns and villages seeing a loss of comparison retailers – particularly in 
the face of competition from on line retailers, countered by a slight rise 
in convenience retailing – with more multi-trip top-up shopping and a 
focus on discounted retail chains. 
 

22 With the shifting profile of retailers, some noticeable trends have been 
seen with significant new openings of barbers, beauty salons, 
café/tearooms, convenience outlets and vaping shops.  Conversely 
there has been a continued decline in the number of pubs, women’s 
clothes shops, newsagents, bookmakers and shoe shops. 
 

23 Despite these challenges and the ongoing pace of change, County 
Durham’s centres generally continue to exhibit stable levels of 

Page 144



occupancy compared to current national town centre occupancy figures 
as demonstrated by Table 1 in Appendix 2. 

 
24 Public aspirations/expectations for town centres remain high, with 

recent national surveys highlighting customers valuing the availability of 
convenience shopping (64%), access to services (56%) and 
accessibility (56%) as key features.  These priorities have recently been 
borne out by the Durham City Retail Survey (2017) which highlighted 
range of shopping and accessibility as key attractions. 
 

25 These trends are not however restricted to our main towns.  Town 
centre survey work shows shifting patterns of retail and our smaller 
towns and villages continue to see ongoing reductions to the level of 
convenience shopping and the withdrawal of facilities such as high 
street banking. 
 

26 The dispersed rural nature of many of the settlements perhaps being 
linked to a take up of internet based retail and service offers could be 
one explanation for the trend, but regardless of the reason, across the 
county these losses are acutely felt and impact greatly on local 
communities. 
 

27 However, whilst some challenges are related to retail and the high 
street, issues facing communities across County Durham are more 
diverse and require a joined up response.  
 

Local Discussions 

 
28 Recognising the challenges facing towns and villages across County 

Durham, conversations were initiated by the Cabinet Portfolio Holders 
for Regeneration and Economic Development and Strategic Housing 
and Assets with local Members across the county based on AAP 
geography’s to understand local issues and consider particular 
challenges being faced by local people as well as the opportunities to 
deliver local improvements. 
 

29 These meetings took place over the spring of 2018 and were followed 
by an email to all Members seeking further comments or contributions in 
order to ensure all Members had the opportunity to input on behalf of 
their local areas.  A summary of the wide range of issues raised in these 
meetings is set out within Appendix 3, but it can clearly be seen that 
local concerns can be grouped into a number of regularly occurring 
categories as follows: 
 

Page 145



(a) A need to go beyond the core town centre environments and 
improve village and suburban local centres, i.e. the heart of local 
communities; 

(b) A strong theme was the need to target empty shops, commercial 
units and problem residential properties, either by bringing them 
back into a suitable use, improving them, securing them, using 
enforcement powers fully or acquiring and demolishing eyesore 
buildings that are having a negative impact on communities and 
are considered a blot on wider improvements; 

 
(c) Supporting the private sector where necessary by acquiring, 

marketing and supporting the development of sites that present 
opportunities for local places; 

 
(d) Increased cleansing and environmental targeting to maintain local 

environments; 
 
(e) Targeting private landlords and empty or poor quality residential 

properties in the private rented sector (PRS) which are causing 
local problems, particularly through full use of enforcement 
powers and licensing of landlords wherever possible; 

 
(f) Delivering new residential projects that meet the need of the 

county’s communities, particularly affordable and older persons 
housing; 

 
(g) Addressing very localised issues of anti-social behaviour in 

communities, town and village centres; 
 
(h) Support local parking solutions for centres that improve 

accessibility and support local community services and look to 
support other public transport schemes wherever possible; 

 
(i) Bring different uses into town and village centres to support their 

ongoing vibrancy, for example residential or leisure uses; 
 
(j) Improve recreation uses especially for children, which supports 

family’s use of their town and village centres; 
 
(k) Ensure that development schemes deliver appropriate local 

benefits and associated infrastructure, potentially through Section 
106 Agreements; 

 
(l) Many parts of the county are very keen to see development sites 

and other under-utilised areas brought forward for redevelopment 

Page 146



to ensure continued growth and vitality in local communities.  
Members were keen to see local areas remain looked-after in 
order to sustain pride in the communities of County Durham. 

 
30 Overall, whilst these points suggest a need to maintain investment into 

our core centres, they also demonstrate a need for increased focus on 
other activities to pick up issues that are not being addressed due to a 
lack of available funds and to find ways of re-prioritising to deliver 
against these requests. 
 

31 By developing a programme of targeted investment and support to drive 
step change improvements across a number of our places through the 
continuation of masterplan delivery in addition to wider programmes of 
activity that target issues of local concern, including more joined up 
maintenance, approaches to promotion, marketing and investment and 
other programmes that support ongoing economic growth, this revised 
approach will provide benefits across County Durham.  There was much 
support for such an approach from local Members across the county 
during these recent meetings. 
 

Addressing these opportunities 
 

32 In addressing the issues set out at paragraph 27, there are various 
ways in which the Council can achieve greater impact: 
 
Rethinking our town and village centres 

 
(a) Using enforcement powers more regularly and intensely to target 

issues of concern or breach; 
(b) Utilising the capital programme, disposals and CPO powers 

where appropriate to bring forward new development proposals or 
to address local regeneration opportunities; 

(c) Delivering additional Targeted Business Investment schemes in 
villages and suburban centres across the county to broaden the 
support available; 

(d) Targeting empty properties, particularly residential properties to 
seek to bring such properties back into productive use;  
 

Collective working to drive change 
 

a. Targeting improvements in locations where local communities are 
flagging either with local Members or through the AAP that 
particular buildings or locations have become eyesores that are 
causing significant concern; 

b. Promoting shop local schemes to support independent retailers 
who will underpin the future of the local retail market; 

Page 147



c. Adopting the new Housing Strategy which will set out an ambition 
towards improving the PRS for all residents; 
 

Effective integration of strategies, services and projects 
 

a. Joining up services in a concerted approach to target local 
issues; 

b. Adopting a County Durham Plan that provides clarity to the 
development market on opportunities that are supported within 
the county and include associated policies to support s106 
negotiations; 

c. Focused activity under cleansing and environmental services; 
d. Ensuring local highways requirements are addressed where 

possible as part of wider regeneration initiatives. 
 

33 Cumulatively these activities will deliver local improvements and 
respond to issues of local concern.  However, opportunities also exist to 
deliver further countywide programmes that support economic growth in 
the retail economy and address countywide opportunities.  These 
proposals will be worked up and evolve over time, but could include: 
 
(a) A retail academy which supports those who are considering 

developing a retail business in business planning, identification of 
premises or selling opportunities (e.g. market stalls), test trading, 
etc.  Such a project could be important in assisting those who 
have an entrepreneurial retail idea but are not sure how best to 
proceed.  To date the Council has provided strong support to 
those wishing to invest, locate and grow their business in County 
Durham through Business Durham.  However, the retail sector 
has seen less consistent support and the visitor economy sector 
supported by Visit County Durham).  The wider skills of the 
council can be pulled together to develop the offer to the retail 
sector, thereby providing increased focus on the independent 
businesses that will no doubt be the future of the county’s town 
and village centres. 
 

(b) Free Wi-Fi across the County’s towns is an ambition that will 
be explored.  This would be supported by town wide IT strategies 
and proposals that would support local skills including within 
retailers.  
 

(c) Marketing programmes that promote shop local and distinctive 
local opportunities, for example Taste Durham that works well 
with the visitor economy.  Durham welcomed 19.71 million 
tourism visits in 2017 and the visitor economy is worth £867 
million to the county’s economy, supporting over 11,600 FTE 

Page 148



jobs.  Clearly towns such as Bishop Auckland are seeking to 
significantly grow the visitor economy through outstanding new 
product for the visitor to explore.   

 
34 It will be important to ensure that any proposals to support the retail 

sector are responsive to local concerns and opportunities.  
 

35 Overall, putting together relevant retail support activity with programmes 
of maintenance, investment, new development, appropriate 
infrastructure, and other activities that address local concern should 
ensure we respond to local opportunities across the whole county. 
 

36 This will be further supported by working with AAP’s and Town and 
Parish Councils to draw on their local knowledge, as well as seeking 
support and funding as appropriate. 

 
Larger scale opportunities 

 
37 The challenges faced by our town and village centres suggests that 

continued successful regeneration will require significant investment 
over some time, to be secured from a range of funding sources and 
partners, but facilitated by the council.   
 

38 In our identified larger towns, more concentrated retail cores may be 
capable of being supported by a range of other appropriate town centre 
uses, such as new residential and commercial development.  In many 
places recent or planned investment in co-located libraries/leisure 
centres and other public facilities will help draw more users to our towns 
and increase their dwell time, but opportunities to build upon this should 
be sought and partners will be key in bringing additional skills, 
resources and uses into our towns and to deliver larger scale mixed use 
schemes that achieve real impact and change. 
 

39 More emphasis will be given to creating appropriate areas where café 
bars and restaurants enhance the quality leisure offer and create 
opportunities for a night time economy accessible and enjoyable to all.  
Other leisure uses, such as cinemas, gyms and family focused facilities 
also need to be encouraged in town centre locations to reinforce their 
leisure focus and broaden the range of attractions and the groups of 
people who choose to spend time there.  Food and beverage operators’ 
benefit from clustering and the creation of a leisure and casual dining 
zone comprising a mix of bars and restaurants can have a positive 
effect as seen most recently in the North Terrace area of Seaham. 

 
40 Ensuring more people can live in town centres in good quality homes 

will be an important part of the future of places that are vibrant at 

Page 149



different times of the day and also provide greater community 
ownership of town centre spaces.  An appropriate mix of affordable 
housing, public and private rented, retirement and assisted living 
accommodation should all be considered.   
 

41 Delivering against large scale regeneration opportunities will require a 
long term commitment in terms of land acquisition, partnership working, 
capital investment and also ongoing targeted support.  It should be 
highlighted that by including a wider range of uses in our town centres, 
the opportunity to increase vitality and choice but also bring different 
funding partners into schemes, perhaps through a joint venture 
approach, will be enhanced. 

 
42 Further reports on such opportunities will be brought back to Cabinet in 

the near future once opportunities are clearer. 
 

Delivering a new approach 

43 The proposed interventions identify the opportunities for transformation 
beyond the activity currently planned through the town centre 
masterplan process.  The current process provides specific 
programmes of linked activity, typically costed over a rolling three year 
period and focussed on improving the physical condition of the town 
centres and securing regeneration through private sector leverage. 
 

44 In the past three years, this activity has delivered strong capital 
programme performance as highlighted in table 3 below: 

 

Table 2: capital programme spend 

   Year        Outturn spend (£)      Spend / Final Budget (%) 

2015/16 2,481,478 100.73 

2016/17 1,766,594 97.6 

2017/18(f/c) 1,846,716 107.31 

 

45 This investment has seen investments in public realm, car parks, and 
property improvements and has also levered in major sums of private 
sector investment. Much of this activity is enhanced by additional 
support to businesses and environmental maintenance funded through 
existing revenue budgets  

 

Page 150



46 Moving forward it is proposed to continue this approach to supporting 
the renewal of our main centres, at a level of approximately £1.2 million 
per year to ensure we continue to deliver on our agreed masterplan 
ambitions across all our main centres, but subject to Cabinet 
agreement, to supplement this programme to deliver further activity 
countywide to address the issues and themes raised by local Members.  
The work will need to be prioritised and programmed, but presents an 
opportunity to address local issues much more directly. 
 

47 In order to deliver this further work, an additional resource is sought per 
annum for 3 years through the capital bidding process in 2018/19 
onwards.  There is no doubt that far greater resources could be spent, 
but within the context of austerity budget reductions, the council is 
seeking to deliver the maximum it can within available resources and 
will need to ensure that other funding sources are utilised wherever 
possible, including aligning AAP resources, Member budgets and 
external resources. 
 

Governance of the programme 

48 In order to administer the programme it is proposed that the current 
capital allocation will be increased to £2.5 million per annum for three 
years and a programme to address the issues being targeted by this 
funding will be prepared and consulted upon to ensure a transparent 
approach to the setting of priorities and the allocation of resources. 
 

49 It is proposed that the governance arrangements for the delivery of this 
programme utilise existing arrangement where possible. This includes 
reference to the groups overseeing capital funding, existing scrutiny 
arrangements which provide oversight of the town centre regeneration 
agenda and proposals for a group consisting of lead members and AAP 
representatives meeting on a bi-annual basis and reflecting the ongoing 
priorities identified through AAP forums and task groups. The utilisation 
of these groups will assist officers in managing a programme that often 
takes time to deliver and will need to be flexible in moving resources to 
address local opportunities, i.e. managing the expenditure as a 
programme.   
 

50 An element of the overall budget could also be reserved as a local 
opportunity fund to respond to local issues in consultation with the 
Portfolio holder.  Details on the use of the opportunity fund would be 
included in a bi-annual report to Cabinet to advise on progress with 
parallel reporting to scrutiny on the same timescale.   
 

  

Page 151



 

Conclusion 

 

51 The approach set out within this report aims to build on the work 
successfully delivered since 2009 but through a revised and wider 
approach, ensure that local community concerns and town and village 
centre opportunities are tackled at different levels to ensure the whole 
county benefits. 
 

52 This will ensure we shine a focus across the county to address the 
issues raised by local communities whilst at the same time continuing to 
deliver against town centre masterplans.  Further reports will be 
presented on strategic schemes where opportunities suggest larger 
scale investment and change that will benefit a wider area are 
deliverable. 

 

Background papers 

None 

 

Other useful documents 

Durham City Retail Survey 2017 

Beyond Retail redefining the shape and purpose of town centres (2013) 

Grimsey Review 2 “it’s time to reshape our town centres” (2018) 

County Durham town centre surveys 

(https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=46a72ad36

9ea43f3b44dfb5bebeb9882) 

 

Contact: Sarah Robson Tel:  03000 267332 

  

Page 152

https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=46a72ad369ea43f3b44dfb5bebeb9882
https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?appid=46a72ad369ea43f3b44dfb5bebeb9882


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report highlights a range of initiatives which the council has the legal powers to 

tackle  

Finance 

The proposals represent an additional demand on capital directed towards town and 

village regeneration.  The proposals as identified seek to maintain the town centre 

capital programme at its current level while widening work to include support for 

further regeneration in towns and villages aligned to local priorities. 

Consultation 

No identified implications at this stage. Individual project consultations to be 

undertaken in line with established processes. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The proposal will make positive improvements to town and village centre 

environments, improving leisure/social, residential and commercial opportunities, 

which will have a positive impact to all communities. The outlined proposals will have 

a potential positive impact in particular for older and younger people, women and 

disabled people.  

Human Rights 

Any implications of enforcement action or compulsory purchase will be considered in 

detail in the context of specific proposals. 

Crime and Disorder 

No identified implications. 

Staffing 

The current delivery of town centre regeneration activity is undertaken by established 

teams in Economic Development & Housing (ReaL), liaising with colleagues across 

the council. The scale and scope of the proposals identified will have staffing 

implications in terms of both programme and project management. 

Accommodation 

There are no immediate accommodation issues associated with the report. 

Risk 

A risk assessment of the approach has been undertaken. Individual projects will 

have risks assessed and managed as part of project management processes. 

Page 153



Procurement 

No identified implications. 

  

Page 154



Appendix 2:   

 

Table 1: Durham Town Centre Vacancy Rates (Q2 2018) 

 

Town Vacancy 
Rate 

2017 

Vacancy 
Rate 
2018 

Variance 
from 2018 
National 
Rate 

 

Comments 

Barnard 
Castle  

4.9% 8.8% -2.4%  

Bishop 
Auckland 

21.2% 21.2% +10%  

Chester Le 
Street 

14.8% 11.9% +0.7%  

Consett 11.4% 11.7% +0.5%  

Crook  8.3% 7.1% -4.1%  

Durham 
(city) 

9% 11.5% +0.3% Widely reported major 
retailer losses 

Newton 
Aycliffe  

20.6% 19.6% +8.4% Units held vacant by 
owners as part of 
phased regeneration 
programme 

Peterlee 14.6% 17.1% +5.9%  

Seaham  10.4% 10.5% -0.7%  

Shildon  14.6% 14.4% +3.2%  

Spennymoor  15.1% 16.3% +5.1% Festival Walk 
development awaiting 
pre planning 
consultation. Vacant 
possession sought 

Page 155



Stanley  14.4% 16.2% +4% Clifford Road 
redevelopment 
recently commenced 

     

National 
Rate 

11.1% 11.2%   

 
Some of the higher levels of void units illustrated in Table 1 can be attributed to 
property purposely held vacant to facilitate longstanding regeneration projects. 

 

  

Page 156



Appendix 3:  Summary of local Member and AAP conversations 
on local issues 

 

AAP 

 

Discussion 

4 Towns AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Lee Copeland 

 

AAP has main priorities of: 

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Children, Young People 
& Families 

 Older People 
 
 

Discussion Points: 

 Members recognise the benefits achieved 
through the previous coalfield housing schemes 
of improvement and selective demolition. 
Recognise that later phases of the programme 
haven’t been implemented due to government’s 
austerity programme but feel that selective 
demolitions would be appropriate should the 
opportunity arise in future 

 Some longstanding (private) development sites 
not progressing e.g., NECOL site and the CDP 
needs to encourage 

 Still many empty shops to fill in local 
neighbourhood parades 

 Opportunities for rail halt/re-opening station 
linked to Northern Powerhouse/Leamside 
discussions? 

 Previous comprehensive approaches to housing 
regeneration such as at Chilton have worked, 
although still schemes to progress through to 
development including addressing long standing 
demand for bungalows 

 Lack of neighbourhood facilities linked to new 
developments which needs to be addressed 
through the planning process 

 Declining village centres – some with only one 
shop. Need to address boarded retail property 
and consider appropriate uses, access to youth 
facilities is important and ensure housing and 
community facilities go hand in hand. 

 Access to public transport – esp. linking to 
hospitals for appointments / visiting is difficult in 
many of the villages 

Mid Durham AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Andy Coulthard 

 

Discussion Points: 

 Previous consideration of development on St 
Agatha’s site (Brandon). Need to clarify 
intentions and timescales 

 Concern over withdrawal of shopping facilities 
beyond the main street 

Page 157



AAP has main priorities of: 

 Support the 
development an 
sustainability of smaller 
businesses and local 
retailers 

 Support and 
communicate new 
housing and business 
development interest  

 Keeping absent 
landlords in check 
 

 Some residential development sites seem to be 
moving slowly or have stalled, can they be 
encouraged? 

 Lanchester – opportunities to bring sites into 
public ownership to encourage development 

 Frequent short stay parking issues in Lanchester 
which could be addressed 

 Number of small development sites under 
consideration in Burnhope. Opportunity to look at 
cumulative impact / joining schemes. 

 New development generally welcomed, 
especially if helps maintain school numbers. 

 Need to build more confidence within the 
community 

 Castleside – accessibility of Consett town centre 
by public transport needs consideration 

 General concern over quality of management by 
many of the absentee residential landlords. 

 Need for a focussed building improvement 
scheme across much of the area. 

Stanley AAP 

Co-ordinator: Dan O’Brien 

AAP has main priorities of: 

Stronger Stanley: 

 Children, Young People 
and Families 

 Community Safety 
 

Supporting Stanley: 

 Older People 

 Health and Wellbeing 
 

Successful Stanley: 

 Employment, Enterprise, 
and Training 

Discussion Points: 

 Strong town centre focus has been welcomed 
and long standing development priorities are 
now coming forward e.g. former bus station site 
and Clifford Road 

 Would like to see a broader programme for 
Clifford Road and which occupiers will come 
forward 

 Prominent town centre properties/sites still to be 
resolved include Berties Bar, Elite Buildings and 
Board School 

 Residential opportunities exist in and around the 
town centre and would be supported 

 Car parking accessibility/transport access to 
town centre and beyond from outlying 
settlements could be better 

 Wider regen priorities/opportunities linked to the 
previous DDP still to come forward 

 Some problematic properties in the wider 
Stanley area including The Smiths Arms at 
Catchgate need to be addressed 

East Durham Rural AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Jane Bellis 

 

Discussion Points: 

 Bowburn relief road needs greater consideration 
in order to ensure that the opportunities 
presented by development at Integra 61 are 
maximised for the benefit of Bowburn 

 Traffic delays impact on frequency of local bus 
services 

Page 158



Some regeneration projects 
supported previously, including 
support for Targeted Business 
Improvement work 

 

AAP now has main priorities of: 

 Activities for Children, 
Young People and 
Families  

 Older People 

 Health and Wellbeing 
 

 Kelloe – concern relating to loss of local retail 
provision 

 Some issues with private rented residential 
properties 

 Need better communications with Registered 
Providers 

 Some development opportunity sites in Kelloe at 
present 

 Need for starter homes which are currently 
lacking, most development seems to focus on 
family accommodation 

 Opportunities to improve/lift Coxhoe with 
planting, light couplings on street light columns 
and general environmental improvements 

 Kelloe recreation area – facilities are lacking 

 Pedestrian crossing points are needed in 
Bowburn linked to new development schemes at 
Parkhill and Integra 61 

 Local parking could be better, especially near 
neighbourhood shops  

GAMP AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Brian Riley 

 

AAP has main priorities of: 

 Children, Young People 
& Families 

 Older People 

 Employment, Enterprise 
& Training 

 

 Some neighbourhood shopping parade 
improvements are required. 

 Issues of car parking given layout of much of 
Aycliffe. Causes difficulties for traffic/public 
transport and results in informal verge parking 

 Need to ensure flow of communications between 
town centre owners/town centre partnership and 
local members, especially concerning the future 
phases of the town centre 
masterplan/redevelopment 

 Apprenticeships – ensuring links at a local level 
to ensure benefits from new developments and 
company investments 

 Implications/opportunity around the West Ward 
master planning work being undertaken by Livin 
to ensure local people benefit 

 Opportunities linked to HIF announcement of 
funds to support the Low Copelaw project – 
further details and timescales required 

 Development plans for the former Elmfield 
playing field site need clarifying 

 
Members also provided a comprehensive list of 
regeneration opportunities and issues covering the 
wider GAMP area including the Aycliffe Business 
Park which have been circulated to lead 
departments for consideration/action 
 

Page 159



Durham AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Craig Morgan 

 AAP city centre group 
includes regeneration 
team and Durham BID 
representation.  This 
group meets monthly 
and discusses the key 
issues for the city centre 

 Support for Durham BID 
with digital marketing 
project. 

 Community 
centres/facilities.  The 
AAP continues to 
support, where possible, 
a number of community 
facilities with 
information, advice and 
funding. 
 

 Cheverley Park shopping area requires some 
focus 

 Some of the suburban areas haven’t seen much 
investment for some time – issues of limited and 
poor parking, neighbourhood shopping parades, 
street surfaces requiring attention 

 Multiple development sites at Bearpark – 
comprehensive view of local infrastructure 
required to ensure they can all effectively come 
forward. 

 Sherburn Hill – current school consultation 
causing concern but recent housing 
development been positive.  Long term 
aspirations for new community facility. Durham 
AAP is involved in these discussions. 

 Maximising the use of the former Durham baths 
site 

 Future development opportunities around 
Dragonville area need clarifying 

 Highways network – plans for any works in the 
region of Witton Gilbert roundabout, currently the 
site of peak time delays 

 West Rainton – long standing discussions 
around ensuring access to community facilities. 
Further opportunities to support linked to current 
large scale housing application.  Durham AAP is 
working with the Parish Council and Community 
Association on a long term solution to the issues 
relating to Jubilee Hall 

Spennymoor AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Michael Wilkes 

 

AAP has main priorities of: 

 Safer, Stronger and 
Healthier Communities (to 
mainly include/focus on the 
following priority areas): 
o Children, Young People 

& Families 
o Health & Wellbeing 
o Employment, Enterprise 

& Training 

 Culture, Your Local 
Environment, Tourism & 

 Clearly defined regeneration priorities including 
finally resolving the future of the Festival Walk 
precinct 

 Need to ensure support provided to existing 
Festival Walk retailers so they are not lost to the 
town. 

 Further priority area around 
Cheapside/Cenotaph and the ‘witches hat’ 
structure which is looking poor and needs 
upgrading 

 Ensuring ongoing employment opportunities at 
Green Lane 

 Kirk Merrington is used as a back route between 
many destinations and local infrastructure can’t 
cope with volumes of traffic. 

 Need to look again at long standing plans for 
links between Merrington Lane housing 
developments and town centre 

Page 160



Heritage (to mainly 
include/focus on the 
following priority areas): 
o Employment, Enterprise 

& Training 
o Culture, Tourism and 

Heritage 
o Your Local Environment 

 

 Significant housing development – being clear 
on the impacts on key infrastructure across the 
town – schools , doctors, etc 

 Planting on roundabouts – some low 
maintenance planting seems to collect litter and 
detract from the town’s appearance at key entry 
points. 

BASH AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Andrew Walker 

 

Consistent priorities for a 
number of years: 

 Employment, Enterprise 
and Training 

 Community Safety 

 Children and Young 
People 

 

Ref to CLLD coverage across 
some of the BASH area 

 Quality of housing stock in some of the areas, 
especially some private rented stock raises 
concern 

 Impact of long term population reductions which 
leaves empty properties and reduced demand for 
retail and other services 

 Need to hold more Locomotion visitors and 
provide further attractions in the Shildon – culture 
/ leisure / specialist retail offer 

 Need to grasp wider railway heritage 
opportunities given presence of NRM.  

 New opportunities are welcomed but we need to 
be mindful of impact on local road network 

 Opportunities across Bishop Auckland linked to 
the forthcoming Spanish art gallery - and links 
with Durham University through the gallery and 
The Auckland Project. 

 CDHG master planning exercise for Woodhouse 
Close presents opportunities for new 
development. Woodhouse needs to be seen to 
be a more integrated part of Bishop Auckland 

 Maximising opportunities in the visitor economy – 
including increasing overnight stays, especially 
with the development of the visitor economy 
 

East Durham AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: John Murphy 

 

AAP has main priorities of: 

 Children & Young People 

 Health 

 Maintaining the Social 
Fabric of Our Communities 

 Need to recognise issues in some key 
communities – Horden, Deneside, Dawdon, 
Easington, Eden Hill, Haswell 

 Horden - numbered streets issues being 
addressed through the masterplan work, 
although external funding will be essential to 
support any change. 

 Use of premises at Seaview also needs to be 
considered given proximity and employment 
priorities 

 Number of areas with need for intervention to 
either improve them or deliver change – 
recognised difficulty with limited resources due to 
austerity 

Page 161



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Need to look at what is possible with low land 
and property values which is a feature in some 
areas. 

 Caution over links between some new 
developments and traditional village cores – 
Thornley/Wheatley Hill developments on the 
village fringe, not yet seeing any impact in village 
centre. 

 Need for pipeline of schemes to prepare for 
market changes or funding opportunities 

 East/west transport infrastructure is not strong 
enough and has long been seen as a barrier - 
addressing it could open up new development 
sites. 

 Greater awareness of impacts from 
developments across other local authority 
boundaries in Sunderland and Hartlepool 

 Cumulative traffic impacts from new 
developments needs to be monitored / managed. 

 Management of private landlords in villages – 
ensuring standards and investment in property. 

 Many new jobs being created – how do we 
ensure local people can access the 
opportunities? 

 Opportunities for the creation of community 
assets – previous reclamation areas 

 Impact on retail areas of clusters of fast food 
shops – opening times mean poor street scene 
throughout the day and rubbish accumulation not 
helpful. 

 Resolution of Easington Colliery school required 
for wider impact across the village 

 Loss of retail / service outlets in many of the 
former colliery settlements 

 Visitor opportunities exist along the Heritage 
Coast. These could be exploited further to 
provide investment, jobs and footfall. 

Three Towns AAP 

 

Co-ordinator: Sandy Denny 

 

Some recent priorities have 
included:  

 Jobs and the Economy  

 Willington – need to support the independent 
traders given pressures from new development 
in Crook. 

 Strength of the local offer in Crook from the 
market is a real positive – how do we protect and 
build on this? 

 Opportunities in Crook as Civic Centre reopens 
fully and more staff located back there. To keep 
under review any town centre car parking 
pressures. 

 Opportunities in many of the villages that would 
flow from a Durham western relief road 

Page 162



 Glenholme park including 
wifi project proposal  

 Youth engagement/youth 
cafes and diversionary 
activities for young people. 

 

 

 Willington – need to consolidate premises and 
improve the physical condition of retail properties 

 Tow Law – future plans for Auction Mart site and 
its impact on the wider town 

 Public transport services – limited in number and 
time/days. 

Derwent Valley AAP – March 
20th: 

Co-ordinator: Derek Snaith: 

AAP has three main areas of 
priority: 

 Employment, Enterprise 
and Training 

 Environment 

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Within a regeneration 
context the AAP has 
struggled to deliver 
capital projects, but a 
strong focus on 
employability, inc 
apprentices and digital 
skills.  Work with 
Derwentside Business 
Network and also 
focused on some 
manufacturing skills 
opportunities. 

 Also worked on the 
destination development 
plan (DDP) looking at 
tourism and culture.  
This will be taken 
forward more 
prominently in 2018/19 

 Linked to the DDP the 
natural environment is a 
feature and the AAP has 
helped bring people 
together in support of an 
expression of Interest to 
the LEP for circa £400k 
led by Genesis Trust 

 
Discussion points: 
 

 Councillors want to promote a new 
hospital/health centre on the Derwent View site 
adjacent to Starbucks and KFC. Potentially 
involving registered providers Karbon in a care 
facility too.   

 Leisure and play parks important to local 
communities but whilst funds can be secured 
through s106, the Play Strategy can discourage 
investment in local facilities. 

 Burnopfield misses parking in the centre, only 8 
bays available to support the shops.  Been a 
problem for many years and would be good to 
resolve. 

 Private industrial estate on the Hobson not being 
sufficiently progressed which is disappointing. 

 Public transport could be better and the road 
network raises concern.  Doesn’t feel joined up 
with GoNorthEast.  The local network are largely 
B roads - missed priority. 

 Town centre corner site on Medomsley Rd 
needs sorting 

 Traffic Lights in Consett – poor environmental 
quality could we align s106 monies to assist?   

 The planters at the corner of John Street 
/Medomsley Road which are crumbling hould be 
taken out with the aim of creating a small car 
park with some tree scape. 

 Empty properties are a problem and examples 
provided where further action is needed, eg 
Taylor Street 

 

Page 163



Chester le Street AAP – 
March 20th: 

Co-ordinator:  Andrew 
Megginson 

 AAP priorities – town 
centre, employability and 
welfare reform inc impacts 
of universal credit.   

 Really strong local identity 
and good input from local 
businesses 

 Have focused on town 
centre and less on village 
centres. 

 Work to complement the 
countywide retail support 
with a smaller scale project 
that has been well received. 

 Look to utilise events as a 
way to promote the town 
centre 

 Have produced a 
destination development 
plan with VCD 

 Town masterplan a great 
opportunity but need to 
ensure wider coverage, 
especially to the Riverside 
Stadium and the park. 

 Good links with the DCC 
employability team to 
support people into 
employment/self-
employment with an AAP 
funded post. 

 

 

Discussion points: 

 Lumley – lack of affordable housing, starter 
homes and bungalows.  Also, a plot of land in 
Lumley on the Front Street that’s quite an 
eyesore – old Dog and Gun site opposite the 
community centre – an opportunity 

 Chester-le Street – Members very keen to see 
residential development on the former Civic 
Centre site, potentially over 55’s housing.  Local 
estate agents also stating there is much 
buoyancy in the local housing market and should 
support further development. 

 Also want to build on the existing heritage, 
especially the history of St Cuthbert, Beamish, 
Riverside, cricket.  The market should improve in 
the next few years.  A very positive night time 
economy. 

 New traffic improvements following the Gibside 
scheme  

 Need to see a clearer (joined up) plan for the 
town centre.  Need to maximise the benefits of 
the de culverting project. 

 Require highway infrastructure improving, eg 
road outside InShops.   

 Local businesses keen to work with the Council 
to improve the Front Street.  Culvert key to 
unlocking some of these discussions and could 
support more of a café culture. 

 Want to tap into Beamish footfall more. 

 Want to progress an improved market, 
suggestion that through the AAP, Skipton’s 
award winning market should be explored to 
gain ideas for C-L-S. 

 Drum and Stella Gill – use Business Durham to 
link the businesses more to the local community 

 Avenues an area where increased employment 
support would be beneficial.  Need to do as 
much as possible to address poverty. 

 Losing the station master is a concern to 
Members, but everyone hopeful Network Rail 
will keep the waiting room open. 

 Some local village halls are struggling and 
questions over long term viability and being able 
to provide support for communities. 

 Opportunities of Lambton Park recognised and a 
feeling that private investment could be further 

Page 164



increased in the town centre, especially to 
support more distinct zones in the town centre, 
perhaps improving leisure, residential, perhaps a 
hotel 

 Improve links to the rail station and the Riverside 
from the town centre  

 Need to make more of local heritage links eg St 
Cuthbert’s journey 
 

Teesdale AAP 

Co-ordinator: Adam White 

AAP priorities 

 Weakness of retail throughout Teesdale area. 
Vacancy rates may generally be low but constant 
churn 

 Older than average age profile presents specific 
issues in terms of appropriate retail offer, 
accessibility etc. 

 Location and size of new residential 
developments coming through and existing 
capacity constraints on local road network can 
detract from the area. Also linked issue of 
community infrastructure. 

 Lack of competition for food retailing in Barnard 
Castle – long recognised lack of appropriate 
sites in the town centre 

 Broadband access improving but still more to be 
done. 

 Opportunities to further enhance tourism offer 
and connectivity of the Barnard Castle to Bishop 
Auckland route which could be attractive for 
cyclists and walkers – need facilities to support 
visitors 

Round up session – further 
comments: 

 Neighbourhood shopping parades – bin stores / 
maintenance & cleanliness  of service areas 

 Progress with scheme for Black Diamond site at 
Delves Lane 

 Stalled development sites for former community 
buildings 

 Opportunities for Credit Union access points / 
community / internet cafes? 

 Car washes – pop up facilities – impact on 
infrastructure 

 Proliferations of fast food takeaway’s 

 Long standing vacant property on Finchale Ave 
Durham to be reviewed 

 

 

 

Page 165



Appendix 4: Town and Village Centres 

 

Area Regeneration Summary 

3 Towns AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Crook   7.1% 2018 1.2% reduction since 2017 

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Industrial Estate Refurbishment 2011/12 Works at St Stephens Court 

Housing Development 2011/12 Greenside Place / Park Ave schemes 

Queen Street Redevelopment 2014/18 Acquisition and clearance to facilitate 
food retail development 

Croft Street Improvements 2015/16 To link with proposed retail 
development site 

Crook Civic Centre refurbishment 2016/18 As Part of Inspire Programme  

   

   

   

Outputs  

67 residential units completed Inc. 17 Affordable, 4 Bungalows and 
46 Apartments. 

6 properties acquired Queen Street Crook 

  

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 166



 

Area Regeneration Summary  

4 Together   AAP Profile   

Data Year  Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Ferryhill – 15.7% 2018  

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Industrial Estate Refurbishment 2011/12 Works at Chilton Industrial Estate 

Housing Renewal schemes 2011/12 Acquisitions & Demoilitions  at West 
Chilton & Environmental works at 
Ferryhill Station 

Environmental Improvement 
scheme  - Dean Bank 

2014/15 Part of Empty Homes Cluster Bid 

   

   

   

   

   

Outputs  

45 properties acquired in Dene Terrace  

Properties demolished in Dene Terrace  

  

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Bishop Auckland & Shildon AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Bishop Auckland  22.6% 2018  

Shildon  14.4% 2018  

Tindale Crescent   5.3% 2018  

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Scheme Year  

TBI programme Fortune Court 2011/12  

Market Place Improvements 2011/12  

Auckland Castle 2011/12  

Business security Programme 2012/13  

Railway Station improvements 2012/14  

Dale and Valley Homes Decent 
Homes Programme 

2012/14  

Green Lane GRT site refurbishment 2014/15  

Bondgate Car Park extension 2015/16 Includes footpath extensions 

Bondgate car Parking phase 2  In conjunction with A.C.T. 

Refurbishment of Shildon Arches 2017/18  

Pedestrian improvements linking 
Welcome Building ( Bishop 
Auckland)  

2017/18  

Outputs  

Over 5500 Decent Homes Property Improvements Inc. Properties in 3 Towns and 
Weardale AAP areas 
Achieved 0% non-decency rating 

234 additional car park spaces  

  

  

  

Funding    

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

   

  

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Chester Le Street AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Chester Le Street  11.9% 2018  Decrease from 14.8% 2017 

     

     

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Industrial Estate Refurbishment 2011/14 Works at Stella Gill & Sacriston 
Industrial Estate 

Drum Industrial Estate Roundabout 2011/12  

Town centre access improvements 2012/14 Picktree & Ropery Lane  
improvements plus riverside link 
improvements 

Improvements to DCC town centre 
premises 

2013/14 129& 166 Front St improved  to assist 
in relocation of services 

Improved links Town centre – 
Railway street 

2014/15  

Drum Lane GRT site refurbishment  2014/15  

   

     

Outputs  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 169



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Derwent Valley AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Consett  11.7% 2018  

Hermiston  0.0% 2018  

   

    

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018  

New Leisure facility as part of 
Academy Project 

  

Consett Business Park 2011/13 Viewpoint - New Business centre 
development 

Industrial Estate refurbishment 2011/12 Works  at Tanfield Lea south  

Consett Streetscape   Victoria Road Works / bus station  

   

   

   

   

    

Outputs   

2000m2 of new office space completed Initial 33.5 FTR jobs 

   

   

  

  

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Durham AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Durham City  11.5% 2018 Increase from 9% 2017 

Arnison  6.1% 2018  

Dragonville 11.8% 2018  

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Bow Lane Improvements 2011/12  

Durham City Vision 2011/12 Works to the Market Place and 
Vennels 

Transit 15  2012/13 Transport improvement programme 

WHS visitor Centre 2012/13 Funding contribution to University 
Project – RICS award for Tourism and 
Leisure Buildings 2012 

Back Elvet resurfacing 2013/14  

GRT Site Refurbishment 2012/13 Adventure Lane works 

Durham City Homes- Decent 
Homes Works 

2012/13  

Freemenas Reach development 2013/15 NS&I plus HMPO retained in the city 

Belmont Business Park  2013/14 Junction Improvements 

Durham Urban Traffic Control 
Programme 

2015/17 Works at Gilesgate and Leases Bowl 
roundabouts 

Purchase of Salvus House  
 

To provide business / incubator space 
 

Sherburn Hill Residential 
Development 

 Through DVR 

Outputs  

11,176 Decent homes improvements Maintenance of 0% non-decency 
rating 

16 Businesses occupying Salvus House  By April 2018 

81 Residential Units developed  Sherburn Hill DVR scheme 

  

  

Funding   

 DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 171



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

East Durham AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Peterlee  17.1 2018 Increase from 14.6% 2017 

Seaham  10.5 2018  

Dalton Park  11.5%   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

North Dock 2011/17 Berths, Business Units, heritage 
centre, boat hoist and watersports 
centre 

St John’s Square  2011/15 Multi user centre / public realm 

Group repair schemes 2011/15 Properties improved in Dawdon& 
Easington Colliery 

Church Street ( Seaham) 
Streetscape  

2012/13 Part repaving / new street furniture 

Novus II Business Space  Grant to EDBS to create SME 
accommodation at Seaham 

Council office Demolition 
(Easington) 

2012/14 Creation of housing development site  

East Durham Homes – Decent 
Homes works2012/13 

2012-2015  

North East Industrial Estate 
(Peterlee) acquisitions 

2013/18 To create housing development site. 
Outline consentgranted for 390 new 
homes 

Peterlee Bus Station acquisition 
and linkage improvments 

2014/17  

Seaham boulevard improvements 
Railway Station – town centre 

2015/18 
 

 

New residential development at 
Seaham and Peterlee 

2017-  Through DVR programme 

Outputs  

2000 m2 of business space created With East Durham Business Service 

391properties improved Easington Colliery /Dawdon 2012/15 

4874 properties improved through decent homes 
programme 

Inc some properties in East Durham 
Rural AAP area- 99.49 % Decency 
2015 

96 Berths created Seaham Marina 

12 Business Units created Seaham Marina 

9 Long term empty properties brought back into use Easington Colliery /Dawdon 

96 additional car parking spaces St John’s sq, Seaham 

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

£1.7 mill funding for Seaham Marina Coastal Communities Fund award 

  

 

Page 172



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

East Durham Rural AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

No major centre data recorded   

   

   

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

NetPark 2011/12 Discovery 1&2 Buildings 

Housing Renewal 2011/12 Demolition and clearance works at 
Thornley & Wheatley Hill  

Dormand Villa demolition  Station town 

New Community Centre - Thornley 2013/15  

Bowburn Improvement 
programme 

 Community Centre Works, Bridleway 
& Romaine Sq improvements  

Netpark 2014/15 Phase 2 ( Grow on Space) 

   

   

Outputs  

100 jobs at NetPark  

18 Premises demolished St Cuthberts / St Bedes 

26 Premises demolished Henderson Ave / Ryan Terrace 

 Caine Terrace & Henderson Ave 

1 sheltered unit demolished Creation of development site 

654 new residential properties created Caine Terrace and Henderson Ave 
Wheatley Hill  

  

Funding   

£6.83 Million Regional Growth Fund Via NELEP 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Great Aycliffe & Middridge AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Newton Aycliffe  19.6 2018 Some units held void as part of 
ongoing works. Was 20.6% (2017) 

   

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Aycliffe to Shildon Cycleway 2012/14 Multi User route scheme 

Chapter Homes Development 
Woodham 

2016-  

Library Leisure Centre co-location 2016/17 As part of town centre masterplan 
programme. 

Site Servicing( power & Junction 
works) – Forrest Park, Aycliffe 

2015/17 Enabling works for Employment site 

New residential development at 
Cobblers Hall 

 Through DVR programme 

   

   

Outputs  

125 new residential properties constructed  

175 Residential units  DVR scheme at Cobblers Hall 

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Mid Durham AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

 No major centre data recorded   

   

   

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Housing Renewal schemes 2011/12 Acquisitions and demolitions at Esh 
Winning 

DVR masterplanning   

DVR Housing Development 
Programme  

2012/14 The Oaks / Rowan / Riddling Road / 
Pine trees / College View 

   

   

   

   

     

Outputs  

71 new residential units created     Esh Winning Housing Development 
Programme 

  

  

  

Funding   

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Spennymoor  AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Spennymoor  16.3% 2018 Increase from 15.1%  - Vacant 
possession sought at Festival Walk to 
assist redevelopment 

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Durham Gate – new roundabout to 
service site 

2009-13  

Green lance access improvements  
- Yorkhill Road 

  

Sunderland Bridge improvements  Transport scheme  

Industrial Estate improvements 2012/13 Works at Coulson Street Industrial 
Estate 

Croxdale improvements  Transport Improvements 

Tudhoe School Site demolitions 2014/15 Following merger with Spennymoor 
Comprehensive 

DVR Housing Schems at Bowburn 
and Middlestone Moor  

2016/18  

   

Outputs  

2 Development sites created Tudhoe 

83 new residential units DVR schemes 

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Stanley AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Stanley 16.2% 2018 Increase from 14.4% 

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Craghead Group Repair Scheme 2011/16 Including energy efficiency measures 

Stanley Front Street improvements 2012/14  

GRT site refurbishment 2012/13 Tower Road works 

South Moor Energy Efficiency 
Improvements 

2015/17  

Stanley Louisa Centre / Library 
works 

2016/17  

South Moor Improvements   

   

   

Outputs  

251 Properties Improved Craghead 

31 Long term empty properties brought back into use Craghead 

48 Properties improved South Moor 

3048 sq m of public realm improved  

6 Businesses supported South Moor 

  

   

Funding    

DCC Town Centre Capital 
Programme 

   

Stanley Town Council £400,000   

Energy Company obligation Via Warn up North ( British Gas) 

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Teesdale AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

Vacancy Rate  11.2% Nationally 

Barnard Castle   8.8% 2018 Increase from 4.9% ( 2017) 

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Barnard Castle Vision 2011-17 Teesdale Business Awards for Town 
centre works 2012 

Creation of NeSt & Digital Hub   

Digital Dale 4G scheme   

Witham Hall restoration   

Heart of Teesdale Partnership 
Works 

2011-16  

   

   

   

Outputs  

New 225 seat performance space created  

13 Jobs created at Witham hall  

17 small businesses created Through Gentain scheme 2011/14 

71 miles of pathways improved  

800 volunteers and 1500 people trained Through Heart of Teesdale 
Partnership projects 

  

  

Funding   

DCC Town Centre Capital Programme  

£1.9 HLF secured for Heart of Teesdale   

£3 million to refurbish and extend Witham Hall and 
Library 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



 

Area Regeneration Summary 

Weardale AAP Profile  

Data Year Comments 

No major centre data recorded   

   

   

   

   

Key Schemes Delivered 2009-2018 

Improvements to outdoor pool 2011/12 Entrance / access works 

Dales Centre improvements 2012/14 Café and business units 

Killhope museum  2012/13 Energy Efficiency work, repairs and 
water supply 

   

   

   

   

   

Outputs  

  

  

Funding   

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 12 December 2018 

 Children and Young People’s Overview 

and Scrutiny Review: Role of the Social 

Worker from a Child’s Perspective 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Councillor Christine Potts, Chair of Children and Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the findings, conclusions and 
recommendations of Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee review report on Role of the Social Worker from a 
Child’s Perspective attached at appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

2 At its meeting on 14 July 2017, Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee refreshed its work programme and took the 
decision to carry out a scrutiny review focussing on the role of the social 
worker from a child’s perspective. 

3 The review followed six key lines of enquiry: 

 How are children’s social care cases referred into the service? 

 How are cases allocated to social workers including numbers of 
case files and their complexities?  

 How has the new training academy performed in its first year?  
Are places filled for the following year?  What mentoring, support 
and career development is in place for social workers? 

 

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

 How robust is the approach in Durham in relation to continuity and 
stability for the child?  How is the voice of the child reflected in 
casework?  How does Durham compare regionally and 
nationally? 

 How are children prepared for care?  Are they involved in the 
decision and how is this communicated to them? 

 What do children who have had contact with children’s social care 
in County Durham say about their experiences? 

4 The review group gathered evidence via desktop research and held 
eight meetings with officers working within the service including newly 
qualified social workers, partners working in the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and most importantly young people who had 
experience of the service. 

5 The executive summary of the review can be found on page three of the 
appended review report at appendix two and contains the review 
report’s conclusions that relate to: 

 how service improvements are helping to provide stability and 
consistency for children using the service; 

 how establishment of new edge of care and pre-birth teams will 
help to prevent more children from entering into the looked after 
system; 

 evidence indicates there is a wide variety of training and 
development programmes available to social workers; 

 the Newly Qualified Social Worker (NQSW) academy has 
allowed Durham County Council to grow its own social workers; 

 the mental health and emotional wellbeing of social workers is 
as important as their training and development; 

 stability and consistency of social worker is very important to 
children and young people; 

 communication between children and their social worker are 
important for the relationship to work and trust to grow. 

6 The review report contains seven recommendations that relate to the 
conclusions above.  The service has provided a full response to each of 
the review report’s recommendations. 

 

Page 182



 

 
 

Recommendation 

7 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the recommendations contained in the review report: 

(i) The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services continues to monitor via performance information 
the number of children allocated to each social worker to 
ensure consistency and stability for County Durham 
children in contact with Children’s Social Care Services. 

(ii) The Director of Children and Young People’s Services 
carries out an evaluation of the new edge of care services 
and pre-birth services following twelve months in operation 
to highlight their impact on children, young people and 
families and on the numbers of children entering into the 
looked after system. 

(iii) That all members of Durham County Council as corporate 
parents visit the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub at least 
once during their term of office and that as all members are 
corporate parents the Corporate Director of Resources give 
consideration to mandatory Corporate Parenting Training 
for all members of the Council. 

(iv) Durham County Council’s Social Worker Academy has 
made excellent progress within its first year and Children 
and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
keen to monitor its development and asks that 
arrangements be made for report to be presented to them 
with information on progress and achievements. 

(v) The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services together with the Director of Public Health 
consider the establishment and promotion of mental health 
and emotional wellbeing services for children’s social care 
staff and for supervision to monitor staff dealing with highly 
emotional/sensitive cases. 

(vi) The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services with assistance from children and young people, 
who have experience of children’s social care, explore the 
development of a welcome pack. That would help children 
and young people first coming into contact with children’s 
social care services what to expect and to include 
information that will help them to understand their situation.  

Page 183



 

 
 

(vii) The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services establish a communication protocol between 
social workers and children and young people in their care. 

(b) agree that the review report attached at appendix 2 is shared with 
the Children and Families Partnership for information; 

(c) respond within a six-month period for a systematic review of the 
recommendations. 

Background 

8 At its meeting on 14 July 2017, Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee refreshed its work programme and took the 
decision to carry out a scrutiny review focussing on the role of the social 
worker from a child’s perspective. 

9 The Committee agreed the scope of the review at its meeting on 21 
November 2017 that set out the terms of reference with an aim to 
investigate the role of the social worker assessment and the safeguards 
of children from a child’s perspective.   

10 The review followed six key lines of enquiry: 

 How are children’s social care cases referred into the service? 

 How are cases allocated to social workers including numbers of 
case files and their complexities?  

 How has the new training academy performed in its first year?  
Are places filled for the following year?  What mentoring, support 
and career development is in place for social workers? 

 How robust is the approach in Durham in relation to continuity 
and stability for the child?  How is the voice of the child reflected 
in casework?  How does Durham compare regionally and 
nationally? 

 How are children prepared for care?  Are they involved in the 
decision and how is this communicated to them? 

 What do children who have had contact with children’s social care 
in County Durham say about their experiences? 

11 The scoping report set out limitations of the review, in that the review 
would only focus on children on the edge of care and would not look at 
the social care of children looked after by the authority. 

Page 184



 

 
 

12 The review gathered evidence via desktop research and held eight 
meetings with officers working within the service including newly 
qualified social workers, partners working in the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and most importantly young people who had 
experience of the service. 

Conclusions of the Review 

13 The review group learned of service improvements some had taken 
place and others such as the implementation of the new IT system is 
due to take place later in the year.  The new electronic referral form 
used to refer a child when safeguarding issues will speed up the referral 
process.  Auditing of children’s social care casefiles has led to a robust 
quality assurance programme and aspiring to a social worker caseload 
of twenty cases provides support and stability for the child.   

14 The introduction of fourteen Families First teams that will stay with a 
child until its case conclusion will provide stability and consistency and 
allow trust building between social worker and client.  The 
establishment of edge of care and pre-birth teams will help to prevent 
more children from entering the looked after system.  However, the 
review group stressed the importance that the new edge of care and 
pre-birth services be evaluated to establish their impact. 

15 Intervention underlying the creation of the Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Hub is to demonstrate good partnership working in the way that it 
efficiently screens and analyses the information it receives. 

16 The NQSW academy has allowed DCC to ‘grow its own’ social workers 
and has increased its intake annually.  Children and Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny committee is impressed with the performance of 
the academy and is eager to monitor its performance and continued 
development. 

17 Evidence indicates there is a wide variety of training and development 
programmes available to social workers that will assist them to 
demonstrate their continual professional development that is required 
by Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). 

18 However, evidence suggests ‘burnout’ among social workers is more 
likely after working in the profession for eight years.  The mental health 
and emotional wellbeing of social workers is equally as important as 
training and development. 

19 Stability and consistency of their social worker is very important to 
children and young people especially when their lives are chaotic in 
other ways.  However, there will be times when for whatever reason a 
different social worker needs to take over a case and in such situations 

Page 185



 

 
 

the social worker should take the time to familiarise themselves with the 
young person’s case rather than ask the child to repeat their story.  

20 Communications between children and their social worker are important 
for the relationship to work and trust to grow.  Children and young 
people should be asked how they want their social worker to 
communicate with them and out of courtesy, and if appointments are 
cancelled, this information is communicated to them as soon as 
possible. 

21 The review report attached at appendix 2 lists the recommendations on 
pages 3-4. 

Service Response 

22 The service response below is segmented into the three headings used 
in the review report and provides a response to the recommendations in 
each section. 

Service Improvement 

23 Ensuring that social workers have manageable caseloads remains a 
key priority for the service.  Social workers case loads are reviewed 
weekly by the Head of Children’s Social Care. They are reviewed within 
a monthly performance meeting by the Director of Children and Young 
People’s services in conjunction with the Chief Executive and the 
Director of Finance and Transformation and Partnerships and additional 
support staff have been recruited temporarily to teams where there are 
levels of high demand.  

24 The strategic plans to support the management of social work 
caseloads centre around the implementation of a wide range of 
recruitment and retention strategies as well as strategies to ensure the 
timely management of social work case work. 

25 Actions taken to date to ensure that caseloads remain manageable for 
social workers and safe for children include agreement to commission a 
team of 10 additional social workers to carry 180 cases for a sixth 
month period pending the embedding of additional recruitment and 
retention strategies.  

26 A temporary market force allowance has been agreed for ‘hard to fill’ 
posts within the Families First Service for recruitment of new social 
workers and retention of existing experienced social workers. Over 90% 
of staff have signed up to this legal agreement which supports the 
strategy.  

Page 186



 

 
 

27 Agreement has been reached to work with an agency who specialises 
in ‘head hunting’ for experienced social workers with a contract to 
identity 10 experienced social work practitioners who would be 
interested in working permanently in Durham. 

28 There is a commitment to continue to support the social work academy 
and the associated strategy of ‘growing our own social workers’. The 
academy in 2018/19 has 34 newly qualified social workers with two 
practice leads and the intention is that in 2019/20 the academy will 
support up to a further 30 newly qualified social workers. 

29 Other routes into social work continue to be supported by the Service 
and in 2018/19 there will be a further three Frontline social work units in 
Durham compared to one in 2017/18. Further analysis of the increased 
levels of demand for children’s social care services and the impact this 
has on caseload size is underway and will be completed in January 
2019. 

30 Work is underway to review the way in which child in need cases are 
managed to ensure that children receive timely and focused support 
with robust step up and step down arrangements with a wide range of 
other support services. 

31 The Supporting Solutions Service became was fully operational in June 
2018. There will be a mid-way evaluation in December 2018 to assess 
impact to date and a full annual review scheduled for June 2019. 

32 The Pre Birth Service became was fully operational in July 2018. This 
service has been evaluated externally previously and the evaluation 
identified significant positive impact for children; their families and the 
efficient use of public money through the intensive, effective and timely 
support to children and their families. There will be an annual evaluation 
of the first year of this phase of operation in July 2019. 

33 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub will organise a series of visits for 
members throughout 2018/19 in line with the OSC recommendation. 

34 Corporate Parenting training for members is noted as a mandatory 
requirement in the Councillors Learning and Development Programme 
as part of Members Induction.  As this training is considered to be 
mandatory; training was provided in 2017 following the members 
election.  To continuously refresh members regarding their 
responsibilities as corporate parents, it is also intended to provide 
further training to members during their term of office. 

 

 

Page 187



 

 
 

Training and Development 

35 There is an ongoing commitment to maintain the social work academy 
as is described above.  Children and Young People’s Service proposes 
to report to OSC twice yearly about progress and achievements made. 
The first report is proposed for March 2019 with a subsequent follow up 
report in September 2019. 

36 Children's social care staff will be receiving mental health and wellbeing 
training as part of the wider DCC corporate approach to having a 
workforce equipped to understand mental health and provide support 
and advice appropriate to grade and responsibility.  This training will be 
bespoke to the needs of the service and have the experiences of 
children at the heart. There will be a universal offer to all staff to have 
awareness of mental health and then a graded response to the needs of 
staff based on their interface with young people. This training will be co-
developed with the mental health foundation trust provider Tees Esk 
and Wear Valley (TEWV) to ensure more complex aspects of children's 
mental health is covered effectively.  The training will also be designed 
to support staff wellbeing to support staff resilience in a very complex 
and emotionally taxing role. 

37 A bespoke offer of support for social care professionals will be 
developed in conjuncture with Children’s Social Care Service and Public 
Health and significant consultation will take place with front line staff.  
This work will be completed in April 2019. 

What Children Say 

38 Children and Young People’s Services welcome the proposal from 
young people to develop a welcome pack for all those who first come 
into contact with children’s social care.  

39 The service will work with a group of children and young people to 
develop this with a view to having this ready to launch in the service in 
April 2019.  We will explore a range of ways of communicating with 
children and young people including use of video, animation, social 
media channels as well as written information.  

40 CYPS will develop a ‘contract of expectations’ between children, young 
people and their social workers and work with IIC to develop this. This 
will outline practice standards and expectations about how social 
workers will communicate with children they work with; what the 
expectations of the service are if the social worker for the child needs to 
change and how this will be communicated to the child/young person. 
This work will be completed and be ready to launch in April 2019. 

 

Page 188



 

 
 

Background papers 

 None 

 

Other useful documents 

 None 

 

Contact: Tom Gorman Tel:  03000 268027 

 Ann Whitton Tel:  03000 268143 

  

Page 189



 

 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The report of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

is presented to Cabinet in accordance with paragraph 12 of the Council’s 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment initial screening has been carried out on the 

review report.  A full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken by the relevant 

Service Grouping following agreement of the recommendations contained in the 

review report. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 190



 

 
 

Appendix 2:  Role of the Social Worker from a Child’s Perspective 

 

 

 

 

 

Children and Young People’s Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Role of the Social Worker from a Child’s 

Perspective Review 

 

 

December 2018 

 

 

Page 191



 

 
 

Table of Contents 

 

Title Page Number 

 

Chair’s Foreword 

 

1 

Executive Summary 

 

2 

Recommendations 

 

3 

Background 

 

5 

Service Improvement 

 

5 

Training and Development 

 

8 

What Children and Young People Say 

 

10 

Appendix 1 

 

12 

Appendix 2 

 

13 

Page 192



 

1 
 

Chair’s Foreword 

We all want the best for our children but unfortunately, 
sometimes circumstances overtake our lives and we need 
help or intervention from social care to help us get back on 
track. We recognise that the expertise and skills of our 
social workers is critical in delivering support to our children 
and families. 

The impact of austerity often increases the workload of 
social care and the demand for social workers rises.  
Therefore, it is important we do our utmost to retain our 
social workers and attract the very best social workers to 

join us at Durham County Council.  

At its meeting in July 2017, Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
committee agreed to carry out review activity looking at the role of the social worker 
from a child’s perspective. 

The committee wanted to increase awareness of the role of the social worker and 
wanted to find out from children on the edge of care who had contact with social care 
their views and opinions on their relationship with their social worker. 

Following the Ofsted judgement on Durham County Council’s Children’s Services in 
2016, a lot of work has been undertaken to improve the service provided to children 
and their families. 

The working group recognise the complex role of the social worker and in doing so 
recognise the importance of stability and continuity for children in what can be a 
confusing and harrowing time for them.   

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all those involved in the review, 
members of the working group, officers from Children and Young People’s Service, 
partners from Investing in Children, and children and young people who provided us 
with their view and opinions of their experience of the service. 

Councillor Christine Potts 

Chair of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 

 

Page 193

http://mgov:9070/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=176


 

2 
 

 Executive Summary 

1 At its meeting on 4 July 2017 the children and young people’s overview and 
scrutiny committee agreed to undertake review activity looking at the role of 
the social worker from a child’s perspective. 
 

2 The focus of the review was to look at how children are referred into children’s 
social services, the assessment process and the training and development of 
social workers.  In looking at these areas, the review group held focus groups 
with newly qualified social workers (NQSWs), experienced social workers and 
young people who had experience of our services. The terms of reference 
and meeting schedule can be found at appendices 1 and 2. 
 

3 Social work requires professional registration through a national body 
following degree level qualification.  Durham County Council has taken the 
opportunity to ‘grow its own’ social workers with the development of an 
academy that provides protected caseloads and significant support to 
NQSWs.  Focus group sessions held with NQSWs identified that those 
NQSWs taking the academy route felt much more supported than NQSWs 
outside of the academy. 
 

4 Evidence indicates that the Social Work Academy made excellent progress in 
its first year and had increased its cohort.  The success of the academy is 
crucial to the Council addressing social worker recruitment in the long-term 
and therefore the review group is interested to monitor its progress. 
 

5 Durham County Council (DCC) social workers were recognised for the work 
they do in a celebration event held on World Social Work Day in March 2018 
and the review group were delighted to learn that this is to become an annual 
event to recognise the skill and dedication of our social workers.  Evidence 
indicates that whilst social workers have access to support from supervisors 
and counselling services that are available to all council employees there is 
not a bespoke mental health and emotional wellbeing service for social care 
employees.   Establishment and promotion of a mental health and emotional 
wellbeing service together with support from team leaders and managers to 
access these services would provide social care staff with additional support 
when dealing with particularly distressing cases. 
 

6 During the review, information was received relating to a number of service 
improvements that had taken place just prior to the commencement of the 
review or were imminent.  Evidence suggests that the introduction of 
electronic referrals from partner agencies will speed up the referral process 
and cut down on the time taken to input information. The service is replacing 
its current computer system to a much more up to date and efficient system, 
the new system is expected to go live in January 2019.   
 

7 A restructure of Early Help, Assessment and Safeguarding Services took 
place in February 2018 that will improve stability and consistency for children 
in the children’s social care system through the establishment of 14 Families 
First Teams that will take a case from allocation to case conclusion, thus 

Page 194



 

3 
 

reducing the number of social workers involved with the child and family.   The 
restructure has also introduced two additional teams, the pre-birth team and 
edge of care team, to work with specific groups of children and young people.  
Evidence suggests that the impact of these new teams will reduce the number 
of children taken into local authority care.  The new teams should be 
evaluated to establish their impact. 
 

8 An important aspect of the review was the views of children and young people 
who were on the edge of care and had experience of the social care system.  
Young people took part in an evidence gathering session where it was 
highlighted that some young people had many social workers that led to them 
repeating their story many times, and to a point of becoming disengaged with 
the service; they had experienced poor communication from their social 
worker regarding appointment changes.  This was in contrast to the views of 
other young people who had developed a good relationship with their only 
social worker.  However, there were still communication issues at times. 
 

9 Young people said there were problems with communications in relation to 
arranging and cancelling appointments and added their preferred method of 
communication was via a telephone call. 
      

10 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is a central point for screening, 
gathering, sharing and analysing information about children who may be at 
risk of harm or who may need support services.  Professionals are co-located 
from partner agencies to access their own systems and there are virtual links 
with other key agencies and will be requested to provide information when 
necessary.  The review group took the opportunity to visit the MASH to see 
how incoming calls and referrals are analysed. 

Recommendations 

Recommendation One: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services continues to monitor via performance information the 
number of case files of social workers to ensure consistency and stability for 
County Durham children in contact with Early Help, Assessment and 
Safeguarding services. 

Recommendation Two: The Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services carries out an evaluation of the new edge of care services and pre-
birth services following twelve months in operation to highlight their impact on 
children, young people and families and on the numbers of children entering 
into the looked after system. 

Recommendation Three: That all members of Durham County Council as 
corporate parents visit the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub at least once 
during their term of office and that as all members are corporate parents the 
Corporate Director of Resources give consideration to mandatory Corporate 
Parenting Training for all members of the Council.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Page 195



 

4 
 

Recommendation Four: Durham County Council’s Social Worker Academy 
has made excellent progress within its first year and Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is keen to monitor its development 
and asks that arrangements be made for regular report to be presented to 
them with information on progress and achievements. 

Recommendation Five: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services together with the Director of Public Health consider the 
establishment and promotion of mental health and emotional wellbeing 
services for children’s social care staff and for supervision to monitor staff 
dealing with highly emotional/sensitive cases. 

Recommendation Six: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services with assistance from children and young people, who have 
experience of children’s social care, explore the development of a welcome 
pack. That would help children and young people first coming into contact with 
children’s social care services with what to expect and to include information 
that will help them to understand their situation.  

Recommendation Seven: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services establish a communication protocol between social workers 
and children and young people in their care that will set out a procedure that 
will ensure continuity between social workers.  

Page 196



 

5 
 

Background 

11 In 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were judged as 
Requires Improvement by Ofsted.  The Children and Young People’s Service 
(CYPS) established a quality improvement board and associated 
improvement plan to address Ofsted’s recommendations.  
 

12 Highlighted in Ofsted’s recommendations ‘was a need for greater political 
oversight of front line practice’. With this in mind, Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYPOSC) received a 
presentation on the role of the social worker.  Following this presentation, 
members of the committee suggested this as a topic for a review activity but 
they wanted to look at it from a child’s perspective and involve young people 
in the review. 

  
13 At its meeting on 4 July 2017, members of CYPOSC agreed to carry out a 

review of the role of the social worker from a child’s perspective.  At its 
meeting on 21 November 2017, the committee agreed the terms of reference 
for the review, attached at appendix 1. 
 

14 Evidence was gathered using desk research, a visit to the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and from witnesses attending meetings.  A schedule of the 
meetings is attached at appendix 2. 

Service Improvement 

Key Findings 

Electronic referral forms have speeded up the referral process.  

A new IT system will be rolled out that will reduce duplication and 
make it easier for referrals to be tracked. 

A robust quality assurance programme is still being implemented. 

An aspiration for a case file limit of 20 or under is in place. 

The Restructure of the service to 14 Families First teams will give 
more stability to the child allowing a social worker to stay with more 
children to case conclusion. 

A new edge of care and pre-birth team is established, and impact 
needs to be evaluated.  

15 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub is a central point for the screening, 
gathering, sharing and analysing of information about children who may be at 
risk of harm or who may need support services. The Service is made up of a 
range of professionals from different agencies who are all co-located.  
Approximately 2000 referrals a month are received expressing concern for 
children from families, agencies and members of the public.  Until recently, 

Page 197



 

6 
 

referrals from professionals were received via emails or hand written referral 
forms, sometimes the information was incomplete or given in an unstructured 
manner which lengthened the time taken to process.  
 

16 The introduction of an electronic referral form in November 2017 has speeded 
up the referral process providing the information in an ordered manner.  The 
take up of the electronic referral forms was 95% in the first four weeks 
following its introduction and as at June 2018, less than 1% of referrals are 
not on the new Children’s Services electronic referral form. 
 

17 The current social care IT database system has been in operation in excess 
of twenty years and is no longer fit for purpose.  A new database system 
Liquid Logic will replace the old system and is expected to go live in early 
2019.  The new system will reduce duplication of effort, be much more user 
friendly and quicker than the old system.  The design of the new system is 
under pinned by business process reviews following a ‘lean’ methodology 
which aims to improve efficiency of systems. 
 

18 Quality assurance activities includes:- several audit processes that include an 
element of moderation to ensure consistency of judgement is applied across 
the auditing programme and that the standard for good casework is clearly set 
and evaluated.  The revised audit programme will bring a culture of quality 
where only good is good enough.  Performance information indicates that at 
quarter 4 2016/17 50% of cases audited were good or above and at quarter 4 
2017/2018 this had increased to 55%, so significant improvement is required.  
Progress is monitored quarterly via scrutiny. 
 

19 The service aspires for caseload levels to be 20 or less and this will support 
quality of practice.  Performance information suggests that in March 2018 
44% of social workers in children’s social care had caseloads below 20 
compared to 37% in March 2017. 

 

20 In February 2018, Early Help, Assessment and Safeguarding service went 
through a restructure that moved children’s social care services from 11 
locally based families first teams and three child protection teams to 14 
locality based integrated Families First teams split across 4 localities.  In 
addition, three specialist teams focussed on supporting children on the edge 
of care, disabled children and pre-birth are in place and work with families on 
a countywide basis.  The First Contact and Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) is also part of the restructured Families First service.   
 

21 Prior to the establishment of the edge of care team the service had faced a 
number of challenges where there was a family breakdown that required a 
young person needing to become looked after.  The number of looked after 
children has significantly increased and this has been particularly the case for 
older young people and there was a need for more targeted intervention and 
support to families that results in fewer of these young people being looked 
after.  The new pre-birth team is now in place and is providing support to 

Page 198



 

7 
 

ensure that unborn children are adequately safeguarded and families receive 
high levels of intensive support. 
 

22 The new edge of care team provides a rapid response and if required 
overnight provision for children and families in crisis, enabling them to 
address and overcome difficulties that led to the family breakdown and 
prevent further escalation. 
 

Conclusions 
 

23 All of the service improvements mentioned above lead to greater stability and 
consistency for the child.  From speeding up the referral process with the use 
of an electronic referral form, by ensuring a robust quality assurance 
programme and aspiring to a social worker caseload of twenty all provides 
support and stability for the child.  The pending introduction of the new IT 
database system will provide a system appropriate for the needs of its users. 
 

24 The introduction of fourteen Families First teams that will enable social worker 
to stay with more children until their case conclusion will provide stability and 
consistency and allow trust to be built up between social worker and 
child/young person.  The establishment of edge of care and pre-birth teams 
are intended to provide intensive support to families to help them remain 
together with the right support and prevent more children from entering the 
looked after system.  However, it is important that these service 
improvements be evaluated to establish their impact. 
 

25 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub is a model which relies on good 
partnership working to screen and analyse the information it receives, but 
again effectiveness needs careful and consistent monitoring. 
 

Recommendation One: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services continues to monitor via performance information the 
number of case files of social workers to ensure consistency and stability for 
County Durham children in contact with Early Help, Assessment and 
Safeguarding services. 

Recommendation Two: The Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services carries out an evaluation of the new edge of care services and pre-
birth services following twelve months in operation to highlight their impact on 
children, young people and families and on the numbers of children entering 
into the looked after system. 

Recommendation Three: That all members of Durham County Council as 
corporate parents visit the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub at least once 
during their term of office and that as all members are corporate parents  the 
Corporate Director of Resources give consideration to mandatory Corporate 
Parenting Training for all members of the Council.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Page 199



 

8 
 

Training and Development 

Key Findings 

Recruiting and retaining experienced front line social workers is a 
significant challenge. 

Routes into social work are varied and not all via university.  

Durham County Council’s social worker academy continues to grow 
our own social workers. 

Newly qualified social workers from the academy feel supported 
compared to those newly qualified social workers who have not gone 
via that route. 

Experienced social workers have good relationships with their 
managers and are given opportunities to progress. 

Effective support for the mental health and emotional wellbeing 
support to social workers is vital given the challenging the nature of 
their work. 

 

26 The service has faced challenges in the recruitment and retention of 
experienced social workers in some front line teams.  However, this is not the 
case across the whole service and the same recruitment issues are not 
evident within the Looked After & Permanence Service.  CYPS has put in 
place a recruitment and retention programme through the – ‘Raising the Bar 
Group’, to address these issues. 
 

27 The traditional route into a social work profession is via a university degree.  
DCC works with five northeast universities and offers work placement 
opportunities to students on social work programmes. 
 

28 Fast-track routes into social work via government supported programmes 
such as Step Up to Social Work and Frontline are also offered by DCC.  Both 
of these programmes are aimed at graduates with degrees in subjects other 
than social work.   A new apprenticeship route into social work has also been 
developed by CYPS, and this provides a career opportunity for talented and 
experienced support staff to step into social work, and use our apprenticeship 
levy to fund an otherwise expensive degree qualification.  It is expected that 
four staff members will take up the opportunity from October 2019. 
 

29 In 2016, DCC piloted the Social Work Academy. The initiative was designed 
to increase the availability of good quality, experienced social workers. In the 
first year there were 127 applications received for the 12 newly qualified social 
worker posts.  A further 21 NQSWs were employed outside of the academy to 
fill vacant posts.  Evidence suggests that NQSWs who take the academy 

Page 200



 

9 
 

route receive more support compared to NQSWs who do not.  From March 
2018, there were 33 NQSWs. Now all NSQSWs are now treated as academy 
members. 
 

30 Implementation of initiatives to support retention of NQSWs include a 
celebrations event for NQSWs who have completed their Assisted and 
Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) and a salary increment of 
approximately £800 to recognise this significant achievement. 
 

31  The Health Care Professionals Council (HCPC) require social workers to be 
registered with them in order to practice and a part of maintaining registration 
is meeting standards of continued professional development.  Evidence 
indicates there is a comprehensive programme of learning and development 
opportunities for social workers and their managers within the service. 
 

32 Nationally the rate of work related stress and burnout among social workers is 
high compared to similar professions. The estimated average length of career 
of a social worker is 8 years, much less than the 15 years for similar 
demanding professions such as nurses.    Therefore, mental health and 
emotional wellbeing support for social workers should be of as high 
importance level as training and development. 
 

33  World Social Work Day in March 2018 saw DCC celebrate the work of all of 
its social workers.  It is important for events such as this to continue to give 
the appreciation and recognition to social workers for their continued hard 
work. 

Conclusions 

34 The NQSW academy has allowed DCC to ‘grow its own’ social workers and 
has increased its intake annually.  Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny committee is impressed with the performance of the academy 
and is eager to monitor its performance and continued development. 
 

35 Evidence indicates there is a wide variety of training and development 
programmes available to social workers that will assist them to demonstrate 
their continual professional development that is required by HCPC. 
 

36 Evidence suggests ‘burnout’ among social workers is more likely after working 
in the profession for eight years.  The mental health and emotional wellbeing 
of social workers is as equally as important as training and development. 

Recommendation Four: Durham County Council’s Social Worker Academy 
has made excellent progress within its first year and Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is keen to monitor its development 
and asks that arrangements be made for regular report to be presented to 
them with information on progress and achievements. 

Page 201



 

10 
 

Recommendation Five: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services together with the Director of Public Health consider the 
establishment and promotion of mental health and emotional wellbeing 
services for children’s social care staff and for supervision to monitor staff 
dealing with highly emotional/sensitive cases. 

 

What Children and Young People Say…? 

Key Findings 

Young people had varying experiences of their social workers; one 
young person had 12 changes in two years and another two had seven 
social workers in 18 months. 

Young people suggested a welcome pack to include information on 
complaints and complements, contact details, relevant community and 
voluntary organisations and groups young people might want to join.  

Young people want to be contacted by telephone and have information 
communicated to them in a timely manner. 

Young people want a non-emergency contact number for weekends.  

37 A focus group of young people who had experience of being on the edge of 
care highlighted conflicting views of their experiences with the social care 
system. 
 

38 Some young people told of having many social workers over the period of 
their involvement with the service such as in one young person’s case, who 
had twelve social workers over a two-year period.  This creates problems with 
consistency and continuity as each time she had a new social worker she had 
to go over the same details.   A similar case example was highlighted of two 
sisters who had seven social workers over an eighteen-month period.  
However, since going into local authority care they have had the same social 
worker and their experience is extremely positive. 
 

39 Alternatively, another example from a young person gave a contrasting view 
of having had only one social worker and having a good relationship with the 
social worker, and engaged with them over a long period of time and highly 
valued the support.  
 

40 Young people suggested that a welcome pack that included contact 
information, relevant community and voluntary organisations, information on 
groups young people could join and short evaluation of how their first 
experience with their social worker went.  The service could use the 
information from the evaluation for training purposes. 
 

Page 202



 

11 
 

41 Evidence indicates that appointments with social workers were cancelled at 
short notice and on some occasions, the social worker cancelled without 
notifying the young person.  Evidence suggests that young people would like 
social workers to contact them directly by telephone especially when 
arranging or rearranging appointments. 
 

42 Young people were frustrated that at weekends their only contact number was 
that of the Emergency Duty Team.  They suggested that an alternative 
number should be provided where young people could call for advice in non-
emergency cases. 

Conclusions 

43 Stability and consistency of their social worker is very important to children 
and young people when their lives are being turned upside down in other 
ways.  There will be times when for whatever reason a different social worker 
needs to take over a case and in such situations the social worker should take 
the time to familiarise themselves with the young person’s case.  
 

44 Communications between children and their social worker are important for 
the relationship to work and trust to be built.  Children and young people 
should be asked how they want their social worker to communicate with them 
and out of courtesy; if appointments are cancelled this information is 
communicated to them as soon as possible. 

Recommendation Six: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services with assistance from children and young people, who have 
experience of children’s social care, explore the development of a welcome 
pack. That would help children and young people first coming into contact with 
children’s social care services with what to expect and to include information 
that will help them to understand their situation.   

Recommendation Seven: The Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services establish a communication protocol between social workers 
and children and young people in their care that will set out a procedure that 
will ensure continuity between social workers. 

Page 203



 

12 
 

Appendix 1 

Terms of Reference 

The purpose of the review was to increase awareness among elected 
members of the work of Durham County Council’s Social Workers who work 
with children in need and on the edge of care and to hear from children and 
young people their opinions of the service. 

The committee considered six lines of enquiry: 

(a) Cases referred into the service 
(b) Allocation of casework 
(c) Training and development of social workers 
(d) Robustness of approach to the child’s journey and outcomes 
(e) Involvement of children and young people 
(f) Views of children and young people in relation to edge of care social care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 204



 

13 
 

Appendix 2 

Schedule of Review Group Meetings 

A working group of 10 members was established from the members of the 
committee and gathered evidence over a period of seven meetings and a visit 
to the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub.   

Date of meeting Discussion/evidence gathering 

1 December 2017 Referral Pathways 

7 December 2017 MASH visit 

10 January 2018 Case Allocation 

23 February 2018 Focus group: Newly Qualified Social 
Workers 

12 March 2018 Focus group: Social Workers 

4 April 2018 Young People’s views and opinions 

21 May 2018 Social Worker Training and 
Development 

 

The working group received evidence from: 

 Strategic Manager Families First South 

 Strategic Manager Families First North 

 Operations Manager 

 Practice Lead – Social Work Academy 

 Social Workers – this includes Newly Qualifies Social Workers via ASYE and 
the Academy; established social workers, team leaders. 

 Senior Project Worker Investing in Children 

 Young people 
 

Thank you to all who took part in the review. 

 

 

Page 205



 

 
 

Appendix 3:  Equality Impact Assessment 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 

 

TAP – Overview and Scrutiny  Committee  

Lead Officer 

 

Tom Gorman  

Title 

 

 

Review of role of the social worker from a child’s 
perspective 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 

 

12 December 2018 

 

Start Date 

 

October 2018 

Review Date 

 

 

 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

Page 206



 

 
 

 

The review has looked at: how service improvements have improved continuity 
and stability for the child; training and development opportunities for DCCs social 
workers; and the views of children and young people who had used the service of 
their experiences.  It was essential to engage with young people to ensure that 
their voice was heard  Focus groups were held with newly qualified social workers 
and experienced social workers.  

 

Evidence suggests there has been a great deal of service improvement taking 
place during the review including the establishment of an edge of care and pre 
birth teams which would reduce the numbers of children into care; the introduction 
of electronic referral forms that would improve the speed of referrals into the 
system and the introduction of a new robust IT system expected in the New Year 
that will have a positive impact on the work load of social workers.   

 

Durham County Council has taken the opportunity to ‘grow their own’ social 
workers with the development of an academy that provides protected caseloads 
and significant support to newly qualified social workers.  Evidence indicates that 
the social work academy had made excellent progress in its first year and has 
increased its cohort.  The review group highlighted the importance of recognising 
social workers through celebration events such as World Social Work Day and the 
importance that social work staff are supported with a bespoke mental health and 
emotional wellbeing service. 

 

Young people who took part in the review highlighted the need for consistency so 
they can build trust and for clear and timely communications between them and 
their social worker. 

 

Below is a link to the full review report which was considered and agreed at the 
Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 7 November 
2018. 

 

 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 

 

Page 207



 

 
 

Children and Young People; Families; Durham County Council (Children and 
Young People’s Service Grouping); Investing in Children. 

 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics?   A full Equality Impact Assessment will be 
undertaken by the relevant Service Grouping following agreement of the 
recommendations contained in the review report. 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Age 

 

N Y 

Disability 

 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  

(workplace only) 

n/a n/a 

Pregnancy and maternity 

 

N Y  

Race (ethnicity) 

 

N ? 

Religion or Belief 

 

N ? 

Sex (gender) 

 

N ? 

Page 208



 

 
 

Sexual orientation 

 

N ? 

Transgender 

 

N ? 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  

Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

Page 209



 

 
 

 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 

 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

 

 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

Tom Gorman 

 

Date 2 November 2018: 

Service equality representative sign off: 

 

 

Date: 6 November 2018 

Page 210



 

 
 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 211

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

 
 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

  

Page 212



 

 
 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 213



 

 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 214



 

 
 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 

 

 

 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 

 

 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed?  

Page 215



 

 
 

Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

 

 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off:  

    Ruth Ashton 

 

 

Date: 6/11/2018 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and 
forward 

Page 216



1 
 

 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 12 December 2018 

Joint targeted area inspection (JTAI) of the 
multi-agency response to domestic abuse  
in Durham – Improvement Action Plan  
 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children & Young 
People’s Services 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children & 
Young People 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Cabinet with an update following the Joint Targeted Area 
Inspection (JTAI) of the multi agency response to children living with or 
experiencing domestic abuse in County Durham. 

2 To present to Cabinet the JTAI Improvement Action Plan for approval. 

Executive summary 

3 Between 9 and 13 July 2018, four separate Inspectorates undertook a 
joint inspection of the multi-agency response to domestic abuse in 
Durham.  The inspection team was made up of 15 inspectors from the 
following:   

 Ofsted 

 Care Quality Commission 

 HMI Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)  

 HMI Probation  

 

Page 217

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

4 The inspection included a ‘deep dive’ focus on how all agencies worked 
together to respond to the needs of children of all ages living with and 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

5 Key findings from the inspection are contained within a letter which was 
provided to all key partners (Appendix 2) and includes a number of 
strengths, one area for priority action and a number of areas for 
improvement. 

6 The Corporate Director of Children’s Services is the lead officer and is 
required to work with Chief Officers of the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board (LSCB) to provide a response to the joint inspectorate 
with a written statement of proposed actions to the findings.   

Recommendation(s) 

7 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Note the information contained within this report; 

(b) Approve the JTAI Improvement Action Plan; 

(c) Approve the proposed governance arrangements. 

Background 

8 During the inspection, inspectors spent time in our front of house First 
Contact and MASH, they met with senior and middle managers from 
across the partnership, with front-line practitioners across all agencies 
and they also spoke to children and families.  They inspected a large 
number of case files of children who had experienced domestic abuse, 
7 of these were in-depth “deep dive”. 

9 Inspectors acknowledged the challenging nature of the multi-agency 
inspection and the complexities that exist for agencies working with 
families experiencing domestic abuse, where there is often more than 
one victim and risk assessment and decision making is often complex 
because domestic abuse is not the only risk factor and also because the 
impact upon children of domestic abuse is not always immediately 
apparent. 

10 The JTAI process does not provide an overall “grade”.  These 
inspections identify multi agency strengths in practice and areas for 
improvement.  The findings are summarised in paragraphs 11 to 14 
below. 

Areas of Strength: 
 

11 The report identifies 29 areas of strength in relation to practice across 
the partnership.  These can be summarised as follows: 

Page 218



3 
 

 Strong strategic intent and commitment by all partners, together 
with investment and a commitment to commissioning services for 
adult and child victims of domestic abuse; 

 The Council is prioritising Children’s Services through increased 
resources and capacity in the frontline and at senior management 
level and through the commission of an electronic system.  There 
is investment in a new model of social work practice - Signs of 
Safety - and actions to improve the recruitment and retention of 
social workers were being delivered.  This is laying the foundation 
to create an environment in which social work practice can 
flourish; 

 Some of the direct practice with children and families that was 
observed and audited was identified as good and parents that 
were spoken to spoke highly of the support they had received, 
particularly from their social worker; 

 Inspectors identified some positive examples of Operation 
Encompass, whereby schools receive notifications the day 
following a domestic abuse incident and Police call-out; this 
meant they were able to provide swift emotional support to 
children; 

 Police responded swiftly to high risk cases of domestic abuse; 

 Through training and development, health had ensured domestic 
abuse was a safeguarding priority for GP practices; they identified 
good joint working across health services and trusts; 

 Across the criminal justice agencies – National Probation Service 
(NPS), Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and the Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) there was a good strategic 
understanding of the impact of domestic abuse on children and 
targeted services and programmes were in place for perpetrators. 

 The range of services and interventions for victims provided by 
the YOS was highlighted as a strength, in particular their “Clear 
Cut Communication” programme which supports young people 
who may have learning difficulties to express themselves clearly, 
reducing the need for expressive violence. 

 

Priority Action: 
 

12 Inspectors identified one area for Priority Action and required the 
partnership to act swiftly to improve the functioning of Strategy 
Meetings.  Strategy Meetings are held when risk of significant harm to 
children is considered to be high.  Strategy Meetings bring key partners 
together swiftly and usually within 24 hours.  Key partners are set out 
within Working Together 2018 and include Children’s Social Care, 
Police, Health and other relevant agencies such as schools and/or 
nursery providers.   

Page 219



4 
 

13 Inspectors identified that when the threshold for a Strategy Meeting is 
reached, there was significant variation in how long it took for the 
meetings to be convened.  They were critical of agencies with key 
information either failing to attend Strategy Meetings or to provide 
relevant information to inform the meeting and to enable an effective 
risk assessment to take place.  Records of the key actions and 
agreements of the meeting were not always shared. 

Areas for Improvement: 
 

14 There were 42 areas for improvement identified following the inspection 
which are set out within the letter.  For the purposes of developing a 
coherent action plan, these 42 areas, together with the Priority Action, 
have been grouped into 5 multi-agency improvement areas as follows:- 

 
1. Priority Action – Strategy Meetings 
 See paragraphs 12 and 13 above. 
 
2. Front Door – First Contact/Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 

(MASH) 
 A number of improvement actions related to the operation of the 

Front Door, in particular the MASH.  Inspectors identified:- 
 

 The MASH is under-resourced to be able to respond effectively to 
the volume of referrals coming through the front door, and this 
sometimes led to delays in progressing referrals; 

 Governance arrangements need to be strengthened so that there 
is strategic level multi-agency oversight and challenge; 

 Decision making regarding next steps following analysis of risk 
and multi-agency information sharing was felt to be insufficiently 
robust as it was not carried out jointly with other agencies; 

 A range of issues relating to sharing of information were identified 
impacted by some agencies – in particular the criminal justice 
agencies (NPS, CRC, YOS) – not being represented and also that 
knowledge of the distinct roles of each of these was not well 
understood leading to missed opportunities to gather and utilise 
information known;  Inspectors were also concerned that partner 
agencies do not always receive information about decisions taken 
in relation to referrals; 

 Whilst some strengths of Operation Encompass were identified 
(see paragraph 11 above) there were areas for development 
identified particularly in relation to the speed with which 
notifications are provided to schools following medium or low risk 
domestic abuse incidents; 

 Inconsistent application of thresholds meant that some cases that 
were considered high risk by Inspectors were graded low.;    

Page 220



5 
 

 Safeguarding practice within some of the health services were 
identified as being under-developed. 

 
3. Multi-Agency Safeguarding Practice & Workforce 

Development 
 A number of the areas for improvement pertained directly to the 

requirement to strengthen the way practitioners and agencies 
were working together to deliver an effective and robust 
safeguarding function for children across the partnership:- 

 

 The use of chronologies and consideration of cumulative risk of 
domestic abuse and its impact upon children, was considered to 
be insufficiently robust and this led to over-optimism on behalf of 
agencies in relation to future risk and lack of professional 
challenge; 

 Delays were identified in police attending incidents and in 
Children’s Social Care progressing referrals; 

 The quality of assessments and plans need to be more 
consistently good leading to improved decision making, risk 
management and interventions to improve outcomes for children; 

 Multi-Agency challenge needs to be more evident where there are 
disagreements regarding decision making and next steps for 
children and families; 

 Over-reliance on adult victims of domestic abuse to keep their 
children safe.  Use of written agreements need to be more 
balanced and focus on actions required of perpetrators to change 
behaviour; 

 Think Family requires further embedding, particularly across 
health services. 

 
4. Leadership and Management  
 The key areas of improvement that have been captured within this 

section include:- 
 

 The need to improve the quality of auditing and monitoring of 
frontline practice, both at a single- and multi-agency level; 

 Management oversight of safeguarding caseloads in health 
services requires development; 

 Actions identified to address issues in Children’s Social Care such 
as recruitment and retention of social workers and the 
implementation of the new IT system leading to manageable 
caseloads for practitioners and to reduce changes in social 
workers for families need to begin to evidence impact in the 
practice at the frontline; 

 Challenge and scrutiny from the LSCB needs to be strengthened 
so that partners are consistently held to account. 

 

Page 221



6 
 

5. Voice of the Child 
 Ensuring the voice of the child informs practice and decision 

making is key for all agencies; their views, wishes and 
experiences should “leap out of the page” of every assessment, 
plan and record of involvement.  Inspectors found that:- 

 

 Children’s voices were rarely recorded in cases of domestic 
abuse and their views not taken into account when assessing 
vulnerability and risk; 

 The needs of unborn children are not considered at a sufficiently 
early stage. 

 

JTAI Improvement Action Plan: 
 

15 Since the conclusion of the inspection, and in response to the letter 
provided by the Inspectorate (Appendix 2), work has been ongoing with 
partners to develop a multi-agency JTAI Improvement Action Plan 
(Appendix 3).   

16 The plan sets out the detailed actions partners will take to address the 
inspection findings and groups these within 5 themed areas for 
improvement, which are:- 

 Priority Action – Strategy Meetings 

 Front Door & Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

 Safeguarding Practice & Workforce Development 

 Leadership & Management 

 Voice of the Child 
 

17 All actions within the Plan are assigned to either an individual agency or 
to a partnership group.  The plan includes a description of the expected 
impact of each action and sets out a programme of scrutiny and audit to 
assure partners that the required impact has been achieved. 

18 All actions have a timescale of either 3 months (December 2018); 6 
months (March 2019); 9 months (June 2019) or one year (September 
2019).   

Governance: 

 

19 There is clear ownership of this plan within the LSCB Executive Group.  
The leads for each of the actions will be required to provide quarterly 
reports on progress to the LSCB Executive, together with evidence that 
the identified actions have taken place within the timescales set out.   
Quarterly reports will provide evidence that the monitoring and/or 
scrutiny activity has taken place.  Such activity will be required to 
demonstrate the desired impact has been achieved, and progress is 

Page 222



7 
 

being made.  Actions will be reviewed where this is not the case and 
revised where necessary. 

20 The LSCB Executive Group will provide oversight and multi-agency 
challenge for the delivery of all required actions.  This will ensure 
accountability for the delivery of required improvement in safeguarding 
practice is held at a senior executive level across the partnership. 

21 It is the intention of the LSCB Executive Group to commission an 
independent audit of practice against the JTAI Improvement Action Plan 
during the period October to December 2019 – one year post-JTAI.    
This will provide assurance to the partnership that multi-agency 
safeguarding practice has improved and is robust in County Durham 
and that the identified actions have achieved the desired impact on 
outcomes for children and families. 

Conclusion 

22 This report summarises the outcomes of the JTAI Inspection into the 
multi-agency response to domestic abuse in Durham.  

23 All partners worked closely together both during and after the Inspection 
to address the key findings and to develop a comprehensive action plan 
designed to robustly address all areas of improvement identified by the 
joint inspectorate. 

24 The strategic governance of the JTAI Improvement Action Plan and the 
commitment of all partners to provide scrutiny and challenge provides 
assurance of a robust focus on ensuring good progress is made and 
children and families are supported to achieve good outcomes. 

Background papers:  None 

Contact: Julie Scurfield Tel:  03000 261630 

   

  

Page 223



8 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
The Joint Inspection was carried out under Section 20 of the Children Act 
2004.  The Local Authority, as the Lead Agency, is required to provide a 
written response to the findings.  
 
Finance 
Actions to address capacity issues identified by inspectors will be required, 
wherever possible, to be delivered within existing resource  

Consultation 
None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
An equality impact screening assessment has been carried out to ensure 
compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty (Appendix 4). 

Human Rights 
None. 

Crime and Disorder 
The criminal justice agencies, including Police, NPS, CRC and YOS, to take 

required actions to work in partnership to address and tackle the impact of 

domestic abuse upon children. 

 
Staffing 
The JTAI letter identifies the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) is 
under-resourced to deal with the volume of referrals received.  The action in 
response is that a review of the MASH will be carried out.  The review may 
have staffing implications depending upon the outcome and any actions to 
address capacity and volume.  These will be issues for the partnership to 
address collectively. 

Accommodation 
None. 

Risk 
There is a risk that the actions identified do not deliver the required improvement 
in safeguarding practice and outcomes for children and families do not improve.  
The LSCB Executive Group will receive quarterly reports on progress from all 
partners contributing to the plan and remedial action will be identified and taken 
where actions are not delivering the required impact. 

Procurement 
A procurement process may be required to facilitate independent scrutiny and 

overview of the delivery of the JTAI Improvement Action Plan and provide 

assurance that the required impact has been achieved. 

Page 224



Page 225



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 229



 

 

 

 

Page 230



 

 

Page 231



 

 

 

 

 

Page 232



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 235



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 236



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 237



 

 

 

Page 238



Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Joint Targeted Area Inspection                 
“Multi Agency Response to Domestic Abuse”            
Improvement Action Plan 

DATE OF INSPECTION:  9-13 JULY 2018 

DATE OF SUBMISSION TO JOINT INSPECTORATE:  3 DECEMBER 2018 

County Durham 

P
age 241



Acronyms: 

CDDFT  County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

CRC  Community Rehabilitation Company 

CWILTED  
 

Condition, Witness, Incident, Location, Time, Escort, Disability (An assessment tool to identify potential 
abuse) 

DASH  Domestic Abuse, Stalking & Honour Based Violence Assessment 

DASVEG  Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence Executive Group 

DCC  Durham County Council 

ED  Emergency Department 

HDFT  Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust 

ICPC  Initial Child Protection Conference 

IRO  Independent Reviewing Officer 

LSCB  Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 

NPS  National Probation Service 

NYAS  National Youth Advocacy Service 

PIP  Partners in Practice 

PPP  Police Protection Powers 

SDG  Safeguarding Delivery Group 

TAF  Team Around the Family 

TEWV  Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

UCC  Urgent Care Centre 

P
age 242



1 

 

1.  AREA FOR PRIORITY ACTION - STRATEGY MEETINGS 

Ref. Area for improvement Action (intent) Lead Timescale 
Oversight 

& 
Monitoring 

Expected Impact 
Scrutiny & Audit 

Programme  
(Evidence of Impact) 

1.1 

Strategy meetings are not 
always being held where the 
threshold is met due to a lack 
of effective risk-assessment 
by all agencies and 
understanding of thresholds.  
 
Where the threshold is 
recognised, there is 
significant variation in terms 
of timeliness and attendance. 
In some cases, there are 
delays in strategy meetings, 
and sometimes weeks 
between the incidents 
occurring and the strategy 
meeting being held.  
 
Agencies with critical 
information fail to attend 
some strategy meetings or 
provide relevant background 
information.  
 
Action and minutes are not 
always shared, and this 
impedes effective multi-
agency decision-making. 
This means that some 
children are not adequately 
safeguarded in a timely way. 

Develop and implement a SPOC 
process and procedure for the 
notification of strategies so that 
partners with relevant information 
receive an invitation to attend or to 
share this electronically to aid 
decision making as part of the 
Strategy and/or S47 enquiries. 

SDG Mar.19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

Improved engagement in 
Strategy Meetings and S47 
enquiries and compliance 
with Working Together 
2018.  
 
Improved attendance at 
strategy meetings leads to 
more effective information 
sharing regarding risks to 
children. 
 
Evidence of more 
consistent application of 
thresholds across 
organisations.  
 
Improved multi-agency 
challenge as evidenced 
through appropriate use of 
escalation processes.  
 
Children in County Durham 
are safe.   

 
 
 

 Quarterly exception reports 
to LSCB Executive of 

invites to and attendance at 
Strategy meetings. 

 
Safeguarding Delivery 

Group to carry out 
observations of practice 

 
IRO Report to evidence 

improved decision making 
linked to ICPCs. 

 
Annual multi-agency 

thematic audit of Strategies 
and Section 47 Enquiries to 

provide assurance of 
improved application of 

thresholds and  compliance 
with required procedures 

and regulations, timeliness 
of circulation of notes, 

evidence of multi-agency 
challenge. 

 
LSCB to commission 

independent evaluation of 
multi-agency practice 

improvement 

Delivery of Multi-Agency Workshops 
and/or briefings outlining roles, 
responsibilities, procedures and 
requirements of Working Together 
2018 

All strategy meetings to ensure 
attendance is compliant with Working 
Together 2018 through:-  
  - Training for Social Care Team 
Managers and re-issuing of Working 
Together 2018 Guidance 
  - Support from PIP North Yorkshire 
with a focus on direct support to 
front-line managers to improve 
practice 
- Implementation of Signs of 

Safety 

Children's 
Services 

Mar.19 

Implement dial-in/conference 
facilities in each Families First team 
to facilitate partner engagement.   

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Agreed actions to be circulated within 
24 hours of strategy meeting. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

P
age 243



2 

  

Pilot re GP contribution to strategies 
to be rolled out across the county 

Children's 
Services/ 
Primary 

Care 

Dec.18 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

See above. See above. 

All partners when invited to attend 
strategy meetings to prioritise 
attendance.  All relevant and 
proportionate information is provided 
to inform multi-agency decision 
making.  NPS & CRC will ensure 
they identify caring responsibilities or 
contact with children of all adult 
offenders and where involved wil 
provide information to Strategy 
Meetings.  All relevant staff to be 
reminded about the essential 
requirement to attend strategy 
meetings. 
Routine multi-agency audit 
programme to focus on this priority 
area of practice. 
Invites and attendance to be 
monitored. 

SDG Mar.19 

P
age 244



3 

2.   FRONT DOOR & MULTI-AGENCY SAFEGUARDING HUB 

A review of the Front Door will be undertaken using Partners in Practice expertise.  The outcomes of this review will 
inform developments at the Front Door and in frontline practice.   

Ref  Area for improvement Action (intent) Lead Timescale 
Oversight 

& 
Monitoring 

Expected impact 
Scrutiny & Audit 

Programme  
(Evidence of Impact) 

2.1 

The MASH and the First 
Contact are under-
resourced. The volume of 
contacts is high and has 
increased recently. This is 
leading to delays in 
decision-making about 
suitable interventions to 
improve children’s 
outcomes. The pressure to 
make decisions quickly, 
together with the high 
volume of work, results in 
incorrect categorisation of 
some referrals. Some 
checks undertaken by 
social workers in the First 
Contact service are too 
superficial, and result in 
children not receiving the 
right support at the right 
time.  

Review capacity within MASH and 
take necessary action so that 
resource is matched to need and 
new ways of working developed (eg. 
MAST, Diversion of low level Early 
Help referrals from front door 
utilising existing locality information 
sharing arrangements - eg Team 
Around  School, Primary School 
Case Clinics etc.).  Report outcomes 
of Review to LSCB with 
recommendations. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

M
A

S
H

 B
o

a
rd

 

Outcome of review and 
action ensures resource is 
sufficient to meet demand 
appropriate checks are 
carried out leading to 
informed, safe decision 
making 

LSCB Executive to receive 
outcomes of MASH review 

and agree 
recommendations and 

oversees implementation 
through strengthened 

governance arrangements 
and reporting mechanisms. 

 
LSCB to commission 

independent evaluation of 
multi-agency practice 

improvement 

Examples were seen of 
referrals incorrectly graded 
as needing early help when 
in fact they required 
statutory intervention such 
as MASH work or allocation 
to a social worker. 

P
age 245



4 

2.2 

There has been a lack of 
challenge about the 
operation of the MASH, 
which has not ensured 
effective timely multi-
agency decision-making.   

Review governance arrangements 
for MASH and report directly to 
LSCB Executive/Safeguarding 
Partners Board 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

M
A

S
H

 B
o

a
rd

 

Practice development 
within the MASH reflects 
key areas for improvement 
identified through audits 
and SCRs and leads to 
improved practice and 
outcomes for children. 

LSCB 
Executive/Safeguarding 

Partners Board to receive 
regular reports on MASH 

performance, providing the 
opportunity for challenge 

and improved 
effectiveness. 

Programme of reports on MASH 
performance and issues to be 
agreed by LSCB 
Executive/Safeguarding Partners 
Board 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

2.3 

Referrals are not always 
sent through to children’s 
social care in a timely 
manner in order to ensure 
that the risk to children is 
responded to effectively. 
This is due to a number of 
reasons, including a lack of 
understanding of 
thresholds. 

Introduce multi agency screening 
team (MAST) at the Front Door so 
that all DA incidents can be 
screened within 24 hours. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Greater knowledge of 
thresholds within 
organisations. Escalation 
process utilised 
appropriately. Improved 
quality of assessments  

Desktop dip-sample of 
referrals within Children's 

Services to test timeliness. 
.Multi Agency Audit 
Programme to test 

knowledge and application 
of thresholds.  Deficits to be 

reported to LSCB 
Executive. 

Individual agencies to ensure their 
workforce have a well developed 
understanding of thresholds and 
how to apply these to concerns 
about children and families, Learn at 
Lunch/Breakfast Club sessions to be 
developed to support improved 
understanding of thresholds and 
how to apply these. 

SDG Jun.19 

2.4 

Police risk-assessment 
processes focus on the 
victim and perpetrator and 
place insufficient focus on 
the long-term impact on 
children. 

Implement a safeguarding training 
programme to all front line staff 
which will incorporate awareness 
around risk assessment, cumulative 
impact of DA on children, police 
protection powers and through the 
eyes of the child. 

Police Sept. 19 

Risks to children living with 
domestic abuse are well 
understood and responded 
to appropriately by frontline 
officers 

Quarterly performance 
reports on numbers of 

Police staff trained to LSCB 
Executive; 

P
age 246



5 

2.5 

Some cases are incorrectly 
graded by the police as 
standard risk when they 
should be graded as 
medium risk and are 
therefore not shared with 
children’s social care. This 
means that there are 
missed opportunities to 
assess risk and reduce risk 
to children living with 
domestic abuse. In other 
cases, domestic abuse 
referrals graded by the 
police as medium too often 
require an urgent response 
once they are reviewed 
against the multi-agency 
threshold of need, and 
taking into account 
information held by 
children’s services. These 
children experience 
additional delay in having 
their needs, including their 
need for protection, 
assessed.   

Conduct a lean process review of 
the Central Referral Unit to ensure 
more timely sharing of information is 
achieved.   Pilot commenced on 
1/10/18. Police medium risk DA 
incidents where children are linked 
to the incident are jointly assessed 
by a police decision maker and 
social worker on a daily basis. 
Results so far (Nov.2011) suggest 
more timely, appropriate referrals 
and risk identified jointly much 
sooner 

Police Jan.19 

M
A

S
H

 B
o

a
rd

 

Referrals are progressed in 
a timely manner and 
actions to safeguard 
children are implemented 
quickly where required 

Conduct thematic audit of 
risk grading and timeliness 

of DA incidents being 
referred to include 

assurance of consideration 
of children within risk 

assessment.  Outcomes 
reported to LSCB 

Executive. 
  

Review DASH risk assessment on 
Red Sigma to ensure that the child 
is properly considered as part of any 
DA incident by moving the Through 
The Eyes of The Child field in Red 
Sigma to the top of the DASH risk 
assessment to reinforce that the 
impact on the children should be 
considered first. 

Police Mar.19 
All assessments evidence 
consideration of impact on 
child of any DA incident. 

2.6 

Decision-making within the 
MASH about next steps, 
once all known information 
has been collated, is not 
undertaken jointly with other 
agencies. This has inherent 
weaknesses, for example in 
non-health staff interpreting 
health information, levels of 
risk not being agreed on a 
multi-agency basis, and 
partners not being part of 
discussions about levels of 
risk and suitable 
interventions. 

Pilot a Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Team (MAST) daily dynamic 
screening and information and risk 
sharing process between Police, 
Children’s Services and the 0-19 
Service so that joint decisions are 
taken on all Domestic Abuse 
incidents within 24 hours.   

Children's 
Services 

Apr.19 
Multi-agency decision 
making leads to improved 
assessment of risk and 
informs required actions to 
keep children safe 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

Review pilot and implement 
appropriate changes. 

Jun.19 

P
age 247



6 

2.7 

Information gathering and 
sharing in the MASH is 
hampered by some 
specialisms not being 
represented. This includes 
adult and youth criminal 
justice services (CRCs, 
NPS, the YOT), and some 
health services available to 
children and families in 
Durham. This means key 
information about risks to 
children and their families is 
missed. 

CRC, NPS and YOS to develop 
SPOC roles so that information 
sharing and participation in MASH 
decision making takes place in all 
relevant cases.   

CRC, NPS 
& YOS 

Dec.18 

M
A

S
H

 B
o

a
rd

 

Improved information 
sharing leading to improved 
understanding of risks to 
children and more informed 
decision making. 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

Provide access to YOS Database 
within the MASH. 

YOS Mar.19 

2.8 

The safeguarding practices 
in the Urgent Care Centres 
and the Emergency 
Department (ED) at County 
Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust 
(CDDFT) are significantly 
under-developed. These 
shortfalls in both the 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding screening 
processes and the 
knowledge and 
understanding of staff have 
not been identified by the 
trust, either through 
supervision or audit activity. 
This means that risks to 
vulnerable children and 
young people who visit the 
service, or children who are 
associated with adults who 
present with risky 
behaviours, are not 
identified 

Briefing sessions to be held between 
safeguarding team and ED and UCC 
staff both on a 1:1 and in groups to 
support improving the quality of 
Safeguarding children referrals. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

Improved skill and 
knowledge of health 
practitioners within Urgent 
Care Centrs and 
Emergency Departments 
leads to more effective 
assessment of risk to 
children  

Weekly meeting to be held 
with emergency department 

and urgent care lead to 
monitor progress. 

Report to LSCB Executive 
on the outcome of the 

briefing sessions, including 
numbers attended. 

Quarterly report on the 
outcome of weekly dip-

sample activity to be 
provided to LSCB 

Executive together with 
actions to be taken where 
practice issues have been 

identified. 

The child assessment tool will be 
completed on all children age 0-18  
attending ED and UCC. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

Safeguarding team will deliver 
briefing sessions on improving the 
quality of CWILTED and the use of 
HEADSSS and CWILTED or 
HEADSSS will be completed on all 
children 0-18 attending ED and 
UCC. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

P
age 248



7 

2.9 

The backlog of medium-risk 
domestic abuse referrals 
from the police in the MASH 
means that there is a delay in 
taking action to safeguard 
children who are living with 
domestic abuse. Children are 
not being included on 
safeguarding referral forms, 
which means there are 
missed opportunities to 
safeguard them. 

Conduct a LEAN process review of 
the Central Referral Unit and take 
necessary action to address backlog 
and reduce delay.  Outcome of 
review to also inform the wider 
MASH review.  (See also 2.5 - 
review of DASH Risk Assessment) 

Police Sept.18 

M
A

S
H

 B
o

a
rd

 

Process improvements and 
efficiencies within CRU 
resulting in more timely 
sharing of information 

Outcome of LEAN review to 
be reported to LSCB 

Executive together with 
actions taken. 

Outcome of MASH review 
together with actions to be 

reported to LSCB Executive 

2.10 

Only referrers receive 
information about the 
decisions made on referrals. 
Other partner agencies who 
have significant involvement 
with the child and family do 
not receive feedback, which 
means that they cannot 
challenge decisions made. 

Development of MASH Module 
within Liquid Logic so that key 
strategic partners (Police, Health, 
Education) are able to see outcomes 
and share information within their 
agencies. 

Children's 
Services 

Mar.19 
There is evidence of 
improved multi-agency 
challenge where required. 

Single and multi-agency 
audit of Front Door/MASH 

to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making 

2.11 

There is a missed opportunity 
to utilise information gathered 
by the NPS, which is adult-
orientated and has 
safeguarding concerns 
because the systems rely on 
knowing the specific details 
of children or adults close to 
the child. 

Ascertain the possibility of running 
reports on Liquid Logic to determine 
the following information:- 
  - Adults in the Household – date of 
birth and address 
  - Other connected adults – date of 
birth, address, relationship to child 
Run a test to provide outcome and 
assurance so that when requesting 
information from NPS relevant 
identifying data can be provided. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Improved information 
sharing, regarding 
connected adults in relation 
to children experiencing 
Domestic Abuse. 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

2.12 

The MASH does not have 
access to the NPS or the 
CRC databases, and all 
referrals from these two 
services to the front door are 
categorised as ‘probation’. It 
is therefore difficult to monitor 
the numbers and quality of 
referrals from each 
organisation.   

NPS Lead Safeguarding Manager 
and CRC SPOC will work with the 
MASH to facilitate improved 
information sharing. 

NPS & CRC Mar.19 Improved awareness within 
MASH of  of NPS & CRC 
which leads to improved 
contact and information 
sharing and risk 
assessment. 

Quarterly reports to MASH 
Board and LSCB Executive 
on breakdown of referrals 

from CRC & NPS.   
Electronic recording system in 
MASH (SSID) to provide separate 
category for NPS and CRC referrals 
and information. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

P
age 249



8 

2.13 

A lack of understanding from 
partners about the distinct roles 
and statutory responsibilities of 
the NPS and CRC leads to a 
lack of effective information-
sharing, which impacts on 
agencies’ ability to monitor and 
manage risks to victims of 
domestic abuse and on the 
management of risk posed by 
perpetrators to adult and child 
victims.  

NPS & CRC to develop "7 minute 
briefings" to be delivered to staff 
within the MASH and shared with 
partner agencies for dissemination 
in staff team meetings. 

DASVEG Mar.19 

D
A

S
V

E
G

 

Improved understanding 
about the roles of CRC and 
NPS leads to improved 
information sharing and 
joint working with known 
perpetrators 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

2.14 

Information relating to adult 
offenders is not consistently 
directed to the right 
organisation by the MASH. 
This means that information is 
not effectively shared, which 
leads to missed opportunities 
to manage the risk of 
perpetrators effectively. This 
includes delays in information-
sharing when perpetrators 
attend court. 

DASVEG to raise the profile of the 
role of NPS and CRC within multi-
agency representative organisations 
and ensure the workforce has 
knowledge of Domestic Abuse 
Pathways. 

DASVEG   Mar.19 

2.15 

The current threshold to 
access the Multi-agency Risk 
Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) is inconsistently 
applied, meaning that cases 
that meet nationally agreed 
high-risk criteria are not 
benefiting from the multi-
agency information sharing and 
action planning that MARAC 
provides. Agencies are not 
referring significant high risk 
domestic abuse cases to 
MARAC appropriately.  

Multi-agency briefings to raise 
awareness of MARAC criteria and 
agency responsibility to refer to 
MARAC in relation to potential high 
risk domestic cases 

LSCB 
Business 

Unit 
Mar.19 

Improved awareness of 
MARAC criteria and referral 
processes leads to 
improved information 
sharing and access to 
MARAC arrangements for 
victims 

Quarterly performance 
reports to LSCB Executive 
on no's of staff attending 

briefings; 
 

Conduct a review of 
MARAC provide assurance 
of improved application of 
thresholds, multi-agency 
referrals and quality of 

decision-making. 

DASVEG to review MARAC process 
to consider and address capacity 
from a multi-agency perspective in 
order to ensure appropriate cases 
are referred and considered to the 
detail required 

DASVEG Mar.19  
Improved application of 
threshold  

GPs are not currently asked for 
information to contribute to 
MARAC and this means that 
decisions are made without the 
benefit of this information. 

Named GP to work with MARAC Co-
ordinator in police to develop 
process to facilitate GP information 
being included into MARAC process. 

Primary 
Care 

Dec.19 
Improved awareness of 
MARAC criteria and referral 
processes  

There is insufficient quality 
assurance of the decisions.  

Review decision making and quality 
assurance process around MARAC 
referrals to ensure consistent 
application of thresholds  

Police Jul.18 
Consistent application of 
thresholds around decision 
making  

P
age 250



9 

2.16 

Operation Encompass is not 
yet fully effective because 
there are too many children 
living with domestic abuse for 
whom no information on 
incidents is shared with the 
school. In addition to standard-
risk cases not being shared, 
medium-risk cases are not 
shared in cases where there is 
a delay. This also means that 
some children are not being 
identified as needing access to 
available support services to 
meet their emotional needs 
within the school or elsewhere, 
and it also restricts the school’s 
ability to effectively contribute 
to multi-agency planning and 
decision making.   

Operation Encompass to be 
extended to include standard risk 
DA cases. Commissioning 
arrangements to extend Operation 
Encompass agreed by at Domestic 
Abuse Sexual Violence Executive 
Group (DASVEG) on the 12th 
November 2018. Evaluation of 
Operation Encompass led by 
Teeside University expected 
January 2019. (See also 3.12) 

DASVEG 

Apr.19 

D
A

S
V

E
G

 

Improved information 
sharing with schools 
ensures children subject to 
the experience of DA are 
supported within their 
school community. 

Quarterly reports to MASH 
Board and LSCB Executive 

on the number and 
timeliness of Operation 
Encompass referrals to 

schools. 

Review Pilot, seeking feedback from 
schools, and implement appropriate 
changes to current process. 

Mar.19 

P
age 251



10 

3.  SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE & WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 

Ref. Area for improvement Action (intent) Lead Timescale 
Oversight 

& 
Monitoring 

Expected impact 
Scrutiny & Audit 

Programme  
(Evidence of Impact) 

3.1 

When professionals make 
decisions on thresholds, 
children’s history and 
cumulative risk are not fully 
considered. A number of 
children have a history of a 
significant number of re-
referrals and numerous 
assessments because of a 
repeated pattern of abuse.  

Where Domestic Abuse is a factor, 
all Multi-Agency meetings (eg 
Team Around the Family, Core 
Groups, Child Protection Meetings) 
should ensure the following are 
clearly articulated, accurate and 
have been used to inform analysis 
of the risks to and impact upon 
children:  
 - Chronologies are well developed 
and used to analyse risk, 
particularly in relation to repeat 
incidence of DA 
 -  Disguised Compliance is 
specifically addressed through 
assessment; 
 - Coercive Control is specifically 
addressed through assessment;  
 - A clear analysis of risk to the 
child is specifically addressed 
through assessment 

SDG & 
DASVEG 

Mar.19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

  

Improved use of 
chronologies to inform 
assessment and analysis 
of risk to children from 
repeat experiences of 
domestic abuse is well 
articulated throughout 
assessments, including 
specifically addressing 
disguised compliance and 
co-ercive control. 

Multi-Agency Audit to test 
improved use of 

chronologies to inform 
analysis and decision 

making. 
 

LSCB to commission a 
"One Year On" 

independent evaluation of 
multi-agency practice 

improvement in Autumn 
2019. 

Coercive control and 
disguised compliance is not 
as well understood by social 
workers and managers as 
other aspects of domestic 
abuse. 

3.2 

There is often an over-
optimism of all agencies in 
relation to the assessment of 
the future risk of domestic 
abuse, and this includes a 
lack of professional 
challenge.  

Multi Agency Safeguarding Delivery 
Group to work together to improve 
the culture whereby multi-agency 
challenge is encouraged and takes 
place at the earliest opportunity 
leading to improved safeguarding 
practice by developing a Develop a 
Multi Agency "Pledge"  which sets 
out clear expectations regarding 
how challenge should be made and 
how to escalate concerns if nothing 
changes. 

SDG Mar.19 

Improved information 
sharing processes that 
support front line staff in 
considering the cumulative 
impact of DA on children 
and which enable partners 
to challenge decisions if 
they feel risks have not 
been fully or have been 
inaccurately assessed. 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

P
age 252



11 

  

Introduce a "group supervision" 
approach into Team Around the 
Family and Core Groups that are 
"stuck" or where outcomes are not 
being achieved to support review 
and reflection, use of scaling 
questions, danger statements, 
safety goals. 

Children’s 
Services 

Mar.19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

See above. 
See above. 

3.3 
Children’s social care 
services fail to progress 
referrals appropriately.   

Ensure standards and timescales 
for referrals to Families First are 
monitored for compliance across 
the service through monthly and 
quarterly monitoring through the 
use of Team Profiles and 
Scorecards.  Exceptions to be 
reported to Senior Management 
Team. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 
Timely progression of 
referrals to Children's 
Social Care 

Quarterly performance 
report to LSCB Executive 

on timeliness of referrals to 
Children's Social Care. 

3.4 

While flags are visible in 
systems to alert frontline 
staff across agencies to 
changing risk, these are not 
always being used to aid 
decision-making and 
knowledge about the extent 
and severity of risk to 
children. Flags did not inform 
the full extent of risk to those 
involved.  

Multi-agency procedures to be 
developed and implemented to 
provide clear guidance about the 
use of Flags on systems, to include 
guidance on information to be 
recorded and how it should be used 
by practitioners to junderstand and 
assess risk to children. 

LSCB 
Business 

Unit 
Mar.19 

All available information in 
relation to known risk of 
adults towards children is 
stored within appropriate 
areas within systems and 
accessed by staff to inform 
risk analysis and decision 
making in relation to 
keeping children safe. 

Single and multi-agency 
audits on use and 

application of information in 
Flags in systems to provide 

assurance of practice 
improvement relating to risk 

assessment and analysis 
leading to informed 

decision making.  Single 
agency outcomes reported 

to relevant senior 
management teams and 

multi-agency to LSCB 
Executive. 

Case audit to commence during 
August 2018 to assess quality of 
risk registrations applied to cases.  

CRC Sept.19 

All OMs to ensure additional notes 
about specific risks to children are 
included in risk registration flags. 

NPS Sept.19 

Safeguarding induction policy to be 
pilotted for all GP practices which 
will include flags for domestic 
abuse and other risk factors  

Named GPs Dec.19 

Review arrangements for storage of 
MARAC minutes  and ICPC 
minutes to ensure they are 
accessible to all front line staff if 
required 

Police Mar.19 

P
age 253



12 

3.5 

Children’s social care 
assessments vary in quality 
and a consistent deficit is 
that they do not summarise 
children’s history effectively 
in order to inform analysis of 
risk. 

Ensure all staff consistently 
complete chronologies on children’s 
case files which draw on partner 
and historical information gathered 
through MASH process.   Quarterly 
Collaborative Review to ensure 
focus with individual practitioners 
and drive practice improvement 
individual and service-wide. 

Children's 
Services 

Mar.19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

Improved use of 
chronologies to inform 
assessments and plans for 
children leading to 
improved plans and 
interventions to improve 
their safety and wellbeing 
leading to better outcomes. 

Collaborative Review and 
compliance audits on use 
of chronologies, outcomes 

reported to Children's 
Social Care Management 
Team and improvement 

actions taken where 
required. 

Ensure information contained within 
Chronologies is systematically used 
to inform assessments and analysis 
of risk and leads to improved 
quality of assessment. 

Children's 
Services 

Mar.19 

3.6 

Cases sampled highlighted a 
lack of professional 
challenge and escalation 
when health staff disagreed 
with decisions being made 
about children and their 
families. 

Establish a Multi-Agency group for 
Senior Managers to raise issues 
regarding safeguarding practice 
and encourage challenge. See also 
3.2 above. 

SDG Dec.18 

Improved evidence of 
multi-agency challenge 
where there is 
disagreement regarding 
decisions in relation to 
keeping children safe. 

Single and multi-agency 
audit to test the quality of 
information sharing, multi-

agency challenge and 
decision making.  Outcome 

together with required 
actions reported to LSCB 

Executive. 

Develop a briefing on Escalation 
Policy within LSCB procedures 

LSCB 
Business 

Unit 
Mar.19  

Review of the roles and 
responsibilities level 3 safeguarding 
training to ensure staff feel 
equipped to make appropriate 
challenges. 

HDFT Dec.18 

Review of Supervision process 
Increased supervision of 
supervisors by named nurses to 
ensure supervisors report concerns 
for children  so this can be 
addressed by safeguarding team. 

HDFT Dec.18 

Professional Challenge training has 
been rolled out across NTHFT 
following a local learning lessons 
review 

NTHFT Sept.18 

To review training to ensure this 
encompasses the requirement for 
challenge when staff disagrees with the 
decisions made. Ensure that staff are 
made aware of the escalation process 
for when there is no resolution to 
challenges made.  

TEWV Dec.18 

P
age 254



13 

3.7 

Across agencies, case 
planning is not effective. 
Children’s multi-agency 
plans are not well shared 
and do not identify key 
actions and activities against 
their plans. The majority of 
child protection plans are of 
poor quality and are not 
always sent to partner 
agencies. The result of this 
is reduced effectiveness in 
ensuring that agencies and 
families are clear about what 
the risks are to children and 
what needs to happen to 
keep them safe. Outcomes 
and goals do not sufficiently 
identify what needs to 
change to protect children 
from experiencing domestic 
abuse. Some do not mention 
domestic abuse and others 
are adult-focused.   

Multi-agency audit and single-
agency dip--sampling of care plans 
to be carried out by all partners to 
ensure plans are focussed on 
outcomes and that they have been 
shared with appropriate partners 
and children and families.  The 
results of audit and dip-sample 
activity to be shared with partners 
and used to inform multi-agency 
workforce development activity.  7-
minute briefing to be developed and 
disseminated across the 
partnership providing clear 
expectations regarding plans. 

SDG Jun. 19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

Improved plans are in 
place for all children which 
are well understood by 
them and their families.  
TAF/Core Groups are 
clearly focussed on 
delivering the plan leading 
to improved outcomes for 
children.  
Partners involved in 
TAF/Core Groups have 
copies of plans. 

Monitor quality 
improvement through 

Collaborative Review and 
Multi-Agency Review 
process and ensure 

improvement actions are 
taken and reviewed.  
Quarterly report on 
outcomes to LSCB 

Executive. 

Implement multi-agency case audit 
programme and ensure agencies 
are identifying and addressing 
practice improvements 

SDG Dec.18 

Training has been delivered to 
practitioners on the use of the 
Family Plan to ensure actions and 
required outcomes are clearly 
described and reflect the key risks 
to the child.  This included ensuring 
the plans are driving discussion and 
review at  TAF/Core Groups as part 
of progress monitoring arrangement 
and ensuring agreed actions have  
impact on outcomes for children.  

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Above training to be delivered to 
IROs 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

3.8 

Improvements in 
safeguarding practice in 
maternity services have not 
been effective in one of the 
localities. There are still 
some poor approaches to 
safeguarding the unborn, 
adults and linked older 
children. Routine enquiry of 
domestic abuse is not 
embedded or well  

Ensure awareness of current 
deficits in documentation.  Named 
Midwife, Named Nurse and Senior 
Midwife for Safeguarding to provide 
support to frontline staff to improve 
practice. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

Improved awareness 
raising amongst key 
frontline health staff leads 
to improved information 
sharing across 
departments. 

Single agency audits to be 
carried out and outcomes 
reported to relevant health 
senior management team. 

P
age 255



14 

 

considered, even when there 
are known risks. 
Assessments lack 
professional curiosity, which 
impedes the timely 
identification of, and effective 
response to, risks. 

   

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

  

3.9 

Work to assess and respond 
to domestic abuse within the 
CRC is variable, ranging 
from good assessment and 
appropriate planning to delay 
information sharing and 
planning. There is not a 
sufficient focus on risks to 
children. 

Quality of assessments and work 
with domestic abuse will be 
enhanced via a number of 
measures:- 
  - Training – case study delivered 
to all teams;   
  - Updated policies and guidance;   
  - Focused supervision and 
thematic work in teams;  
  - Annual training and development 
on domestic abuse;   

CRC Dec.18 

Raised awareness and 
profile of domestic abuse 
and impact on children via 
measures identified 

Single agency audits to be 
carried out and outcomes 
reported to relevant health 
senior management team. 

3.10 

For some children, there is 
an over-reliance by agencies 
on adult victims of domestic 
abuse, to keep their children 
safe. Written agreements are 
ineffective because they 
place unrealistic 
expectations on the mother, 
such as expecting her (the 
adult victim) to prevent the 
perpetrator from attending 
the home. These 
agreements do not take into 
account the power 
relationship or focus 
sufficiently on the perpetrator 
who needs to change their 
behaviour.   

Re-issue guidance on the use of 
written agreements and ensure 
Family Plans are robust and clear 
in relation to risk management and 
improve awareness of and referrals 
to perpetrator programmes to 
minimise the need for the use of 
written agreements. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Families are supported to 
implement change leading 
to reduced violence and 
improved safety for 
children. 

Collaborative Review to 
review to include use of 
Written Agreements in 
cases of DA, outcomes 
reported to Children's 

Social Care Management 
Team and improvement 

actions taken where 
required. 

 
Introduce new model of working - 
Signs of Safety - across the 
Service.  

Children's 
Services 

Sept.19 

P
age 256



15 

3.11 

Think family’ is not fully 
embedded across health 
services. The impact of the 
adults’ behaviour on children 
is not identified and, 
therefore, children do not 
receive the support they 
need. For example, in the 
adult mental health service, 
the adult substance misuse 
service and in some GP 
practices, assessments 
focus too much on the adult, 
which does not enable the 
effective or timely 
identification of the impact of 
adults’ behaviour on 
children. Cases sampled in 
the ED highlighted significant 
concerns that ED staff are 
not recognising risks to 
children. Therefore, the trust 
cannot assure itself that 
children and adults leaving 
the ED are safe.   

Embed the ‘think family’ approach 
with professionals in ED and UCC, 
GPs, 0-19 Service and TEWV.  
Develop a briefing on what “Think 
Family” means include examples of 
the use of system one “Tasking” 
facility to alert HV and School 
nursing to issues. 

Primary Care 

Dec.18 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

Improved understanding 
of Think Family leading to 
the impact of adults 
behaviour on children 
being more systematically 
embedded into practice 
across the Health 
landscape. 

Improved referrals to the 
Stronger Family 

Programmes from Health 
agencies and 

commissioned services - 
performance reported to 

and monitored by the Think 
Family Partnership 

Raise awareness of Think Family 
across all health agencies through 
training and supervision 

All Health 
Partners 

Ensuring Vulnerable Parent 
Pathway Lead Practitioner raises 
awareness of “Think Family” in 
training, supervision and 
performance management  

HDFT Dec.18 

A section on Think Family is now 
included in all adult health care 
records in NTHFT 

NTHFT Sept.18 

Staff training for all recovery 
workers within Humankind to 
ensure a Think family approach is 
implemented across both adults 
and C&YP pathways 

Humankind Dec.18 

A full think family 
approach will be formally 
embedded into the adult 
pathways of the Drug & 
Alcohol service  

DASVEG Partnership to ensure all 
partners are working to the Think 
Family strategy 

DASVEG Dec.18 DASVEG 
Improved understanding 
of Think Family across the 
DASVEG partnership 

Improved referrals to 
Stronger Family 

Programme 

P
age 257



16 

3.12 

In some cases, children 
were removed from homes 
and placed with other 
individuals without recourse 
to police protection powers 
(PPP). This means that 
checks were not always 
carried out and the 
processes afforded to 
support PPP, such as a 
strategy meeting and joint 
plan for the children, did not 
take place. 

Implement a safeguarding training 
programme to all front line staff 
which will incorporate awareness 
around risk assessment, cumulative 
impact of DA on children, police 
protection powers, and Through the 
Eyes of a Child 

Police Dec.18 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 

G
ro

u
p

 Staff are skilled and 
knowledgeable about the 
legal framework around 
Strategies and S47 
enquiries and practice 
improves leading to 
children being safe 

Quarterly performance 
updates on numbers of 
Police staff trained to LSCB 
Executive to provide 
assurance of progress.  

Provide clear briefing to all staff on 
expectations and procedures in 
relation to strategies and section 47 
enquiries 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

Audits to be carried out bi-
monthly to ensure 
compliance with 
procedures. 

3.13 

There are delays in police 
attendance at domestic 
abuse incidents. This leads 
to a delay in the submission 
of safeguarding referrals, 
which means that these 
medium-risk cases are not 
being shared via Operation 
Encompass and there are 
delays in sharing them with 
the MASH. 

Changes have immediately been 
implemented within the 
Communications Department. This 
includes a new question set for 
Comms staff to ensure that 
children’s details are obtained at 
the point of call, even if the incident 
is to be made subject of a diary 
appointment. This will ensure that 
all domestic abuse incidents are 
shared in a timely fashion with 
schools via Operation Encompass.  
See also 2.16. 

DASVEG Dec.18 

D
A

S
V

E
G

 

The child's needs 
immediately following a 
domestic abuse incident 
can be met by teachers 
who have an 
understanding of what 
has happened to them 
and can provide support 
to the child so that the 
long term impact is 
minimised 

Quarterly reports to MASH 
Board and LSCB Executive 

on the number and 
timeliness of Operation 
Encompass referrals to 

schools 

3.14 

At the time of the inspection, 
domestic violence call-out 
information from the police 
was only provided to NPS if 
the index offence was 
domestic abuse-related. 
People appearing at court 
with other types of charges 
did not have a routine 
domestic violence call-out 
check with the police. Court 
staff could only use the self-
reported information from the 
offender in order to identify  

NPS will facilitate the placement of 
Police Computers into NPS 
buildings  These to be accessed by 
Probation Staff. NPS 

  
Oct.18 

  
Perpetrators risks, better 
assessed with information 
passed to Prisons & CRC 

  
Single agency audits to be 
carried out and outcomes 
reported to relevant health 
senior management team. 

Compliance with OMS and relevant 
checks associated with domestic 
abuse perpetrators 

CRC Through the Gate Team to 
ensure that Safeguarding Children 
concerns are identified, checked 
and information is appropriately 
shared in all custody cases. 

CRC Dec.18 
Safeguarding processes 
can commence/continue 
whilst offender in custody. 

P
age 258



17 

 

whether there were risks to 
children or risks of domestic 
abuse. Therefore, limited 
information was passed on 
to prisons and the CRC, and 
this hampered efforts to 
manage risk. 

On case allocation to DTV CRC 
from NPS, case admin staff to add 
safeguarding registrations. 

CRC/NPS Oct.18 

D
A

S
V

E
G

 

Responsible Officers 
alerted to safeguarding 
information at the point of 
sentence. Regular and 
ongoing checks are 
enabled throughout 
sentence as a risk 
management strategy. 

 CRC to reach protocol agreement 
with Durham Constabulary in 
relation to the routine sharing of 
domestic abuse (call-out) 
information via an electronic 
request in order that risk 
assessments can be fully informed 
and robust risk management plans 
developed.   

CRC Mar.19 

Full information is 
available to inform risk 
assessment and 
management plan to take 
into account domestic 
abuse and risks to 
children. 

3.15 

NPS at court need to have 
access to risk information in 
domestic abuse cases so 
that it can be shared with 
prisons immediately post-
sentence. This then enables 
prisons to take steps to 
manage the risk in order to 
protect the victim.   

Police and NPS to work together to 
develop an understanding of NPS 
requirements and then develop 
working arrangements to ensure 
that information is shared with NPS 
in domestic abuse cases 

NPS & 
Police 

Mar.19 

N
P

S
/P

o
li
c
e

 

Perpetrators risks, better 
assessed with information 
passed to Prisons & CRC 

Single agency audits to be 
carried out and outcomes 
reported to relevant health 
senior management team. 

3.16 

The YOS manages some 
children who pose a 
significant risk to others. 
There are evident difficulties 
in assessing and managing 
these risks when children 
are working on a voluntary 
basis with the YOS. In one 
case, there was a missed 
opportunity to respond to a 
serious assault as 
restorative disposal, which 
did not support the YOT in 
working with the young 
person. 

Review decision making between 
Police and YOS in relation to the 
gravity of offences and outcomes 
proposed.  YOS Police Officers to 
review / challenge low level 
community-based restorative 
justice interventions where 
domestic violence is a feature in 
offending by the young person. 

YOS  Mar.19 

Y
O

S
 

Appropriate response in 
accordance with gravity of 
offences. 

Single agency audits to be 
carried out and outcomes 
reported to relevant health 
senior management team. 

P
age 259



18 

3.17 

While the Police have 
developed some additional 
training, which is positive, 
inspectors found that some 
of the cases tracked and 
sampled show that 
inconsistencies remain in the 
quality of decision-making at 
the front line.  Incidents are 
often dealt with in isolation 
rather than consideration 
being given to the previous 
history of incidents and the 
wider context of risk and 
vulnerability. 

Implement a safeguarding training 
programme to all front line staff 
which will incorporate awareness 
around risk assessment, cumulative 
impact of DA on children, police 
protection powers, and Through the 
Eyes of a Child 

Police Dec.18 

P
o

li
c
e
  

Staff are skilled and 

knowledgeable about the 
legal framework around 
Strategies and S47 
enquiries and practice 
improves leading to 
children being safe 

Quarterly performance 
updates on numbers of 

Police staff trained to LSCB 
Executive to provide 

assurance of progress. 

P
age 260



19 

4.   LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

Ref. Area for improvement Action (intent) Lead Timescale 
Oversight 

& 
Monitoring 

Expected impact 
Scrutiny & Audit 

Programme  
(Evidence of Impact) 

4.1 

The quality of auditing and 
monitoring of work has not 
been sufficiently robust. This 
has been recognised, and a 
new model of auditing has 
now been developed. The 
monitoring across the 
partnership of decision-
making about next steps for 
children in need of help and 
protection has not been 
robust and therefore deficits in 
practice have not been 
sufficiently identified. 

Develop and implement an agreed 
process for the delivery of a 
quarterly multi-agency audit 
programme based on themes from 
inspection, SCR.  

LSCB 
Business 

Unit 
Dec.18 

L
S

C
B

 

Practice development 
reflects key areas for 
improvement identified 
through audits and SCRs 
and leads to improved 
practice and outcomes for 
children 

Implement Multi-Agency 
Audit Programme and 

report quarterly to LSCB 
Executive. 

4.2 

Audit activity is under-
developed in all health 
providers, which is not 
supporting consistency of 
practice or learning from 
domestic abuse-related 
safeguarding casework. 

Rolling monthly audit of 0-19 
records by Named Nurse and 0-19 
management team to include 
practitioner and address:  
  -  Depth of analysis;   
  -  Evidence of Risk;  
  -  Evidence of Escalation;  
  -  Voice of the Child;  
  -  Impact of Interventions;  
  -  Evidence of handover. 

HDFT Dec.18 

H
D

F
T

 

Named Nurses will share 
the themes from audits in 
regular meetings with 
Designated Nurses 

Single agency audit to test 
the quality of information 

sharing, multi-agency 
challenge and decision 

making.  Outcome together 
with required actions 

reported to relevant health 
senior managers. 

All relevant health agencies to be 
part of LSCB Multi Agency Audit 
Programme 

All Health 
Partners 

Dec.18 A
ll
 

H
e
a
lt

h
 

Improved understanding of 
practice improvement and 
development of learning 

P
age 261



20 

4.3 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
NHS Foundation Trust 
(TEWV) has not undertaken 
audit activity to support 
learning from domestic abuse-
related safeguarding 
casework. The leadership 
focus on domestic abuse is 
not evident in case recording, 
and there is limited monitoring 
of domestic abuse 
interventions or their outcome. 

To review documentation around 
domestic abuse in place, develop 
aide memoires to support 
practitioners to consider the impact 
of domestic abuse upon children 
and action required to be taken. 

TEWV 

Mar.19 

T
E

W
V

 

Improved practice in 
relation to domestic abuse 
across the Trust 

Single agency audit to test 
the quality of information 

sharing, multi-agency 
challenge and decision 

making.  Outcome together 
with required actions 

reported to relevant health 
senior managers. 

To review current audit work and 
plan how domestic abuse can be 
integrated into the current audit 
programme. 

Mar.19 

4.4 

Management oversight of 
safeguarding caseloads in all 
health services is 
underdeveloped. Some cases 
sampled showed drift and 
delay, and there was no 
supervision or tracking of 
these cases. Supervision 
arrangements need further 
consideration to ensure that 
they are fit for purpose, easy 
to access and meet the 
specific needs of the local 
teams in Durham. 

The safeguarding team will ensure 
that ED and UCC practice is 
compliant with trust policy and 
safeguarding concerns are 
appropriately identified and acted 
upon. Safeguarding practice will be 
subject to effective operational 
management governance and 
monitoring. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

C
D

D
F

T
 

The safeguarding team will 
adhere with safeguarding 
SOP for hospital nurses; 
Improved safeguarding 
supervision across Health 
leading to improved 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding practice 

Single agency audit to test 
the quality of safeguarding 

practice.  Outcome together 
with required actions 

reported to relevant health 
senior managers. 

TEWV to recirculate the managers 
tool kit to remind staff and 
managers the requirement of 
safeguarding supervision 

TEWV Dec.18 

T
E

W
V

 

Improve impact of safeguarding 
link personnel in ED and UCC to 
support promoting the culture of 
safeguarding and the ‘think family’ 
approach. 

CDDFT Sept.18 

C
D

D
F

T
 

Review of Supervision process, 
increased supervision by named 
nurses and audit the quality of 
safeguarding supervision.  

HDFT Dec.18 

H
D

F
T

 

P
age 262



21 

  

A rolling program of safeguarding 
supervision for SALT has now 
commenced with 4 mandated 
sessions per year. These sessions 
will include the identification of 
vulnerability flags and how these 
should inform assessments 

NTHFT Sept.18 

N
T

H
F

T
 

  

4.5 

Seniors managers are clear 
about the priorities for 
children’s social care to: 
improve recruitment and 
retention of social workers; 
ensure that caseloads are 
manageable; reduce delay; 
and improve the quality of 
practice. Actions taken have 
yet to have sufficient impact, 
and there remains significant 
deficits in practice and multi-
agency working. In addition to 
this, children experience too 
many changes of social 
workers.   

Continue with recruitment and 
retention strategies to achieve 
stability and fill vacancies. 

Children's 
Services 

Dec.18 

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

 

Recruitment and Retention 
Payments to continue until 
teams reach optimum size 
and achieve stability 

Monitoring of all actions to 
be carried out by Children's 

Social Care Senior 
Managers and reported 
through to the Quality 
Improvement Board.  

Updates to be provided to 
the LSCB Executive. 

Commission additional capacity to 
support the service achieve 
optimum caseload sizes 

Dec.18 

Social Workers have 
manageable caseloads 
and the qulaity of frontline 
practice improves as 
evidenced through audit 
activity. 

Children's Social Care Senior 
Management Team to maintain 
focus on monitoring changes in 
SW for children to ensure this is 
kept to a minimum and where it is  
necessary, ensure change is 
managed robustly with agreed 
handover processes which engage 
and involve children and their 
families.    

Jun.19 

Improved stability leads to 
reduced changes for 
Children.  Children's 
Satisfaction Survey to be 
delivered ongoing across 
the service 

Revise and implement induction 
programme and ensure all newly 
recruited SW are supported to 
ensure knowledge of systems, 
process, procedures. 

Dec.18 

Newly recruited SW have 
a solid grounding into their 
role within Durham 
Children’s Services.  
Survey all newly recruited 
SW within 2 months 

P
age 263



22 

  

Identify and address aspects of 
service-wide culture which delivers 
inconsistent and poor quality 
practice, by implementing the 
following:  
• Management Oversight 
Programme.   
• Signs of Safety/Group 
Supervision/Reflective supervision.   
• Liquid Logic.   
• Compliance audits to test 
consistency of practice against 
required standards and 
procedures.   
• Collaborative audit.   
• Review DRP process to ensure it 
is achieving maximum impact on 
quality of practice improvements. 

Children’s 
Services 

Sept.19 

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

 

Practice improvement 
leading to improved 
outcomes for children Monitoring of all actions to 

be carried out by Children's 
Social Care Senior 

Managers and reported 
through to the Quality 
Improvement Board.  

Updates to be provided to 
the LSCB Executive. 

4.6 

Some social workers’ 
caseloads are higher than the 
local authority’s preferred 
maximum, making it difficult to 
allocate incoming work. The 
‘duty inbox’ system results in 
some children experiencing 
additional changes of social 
worker.   

Recruitment and Retention 
strategies continue to be delivered 
to manage vacancies and ensure 
workforce is at optimum capacity;  
Ongoing work by Operations and 
Team Managers to ensure 
improved focus on workflow 
management. 

Children’s 
Services 

Mar.19 

Stable workforce and 
effective management of 
workflow secures 
improved capacity to 
support children to achieve 
good outcomes. 

4.7 

There are capacity pressures 
in the safeguarding specialist 
support function in the 
substance misuse service 
provided by Humankind. As a 
result of some recent support 
staff absence, the 
safeguarding database used 
by the lead practitioner has 
not been updated since May 
2018 and so the monitoring of 
recent safeguarding activity is 
not taking place.  

The database has been updated. 
Management capacity has been 
reviewed and additional capacity 
identified. 

Humankind Dec.18 

H
u

m
a

n
k
in

d
 

Effective management and 
oversight of safeguarding 
risks. 

Contract review to monitor 
compliance with 

commissioned activity. 

P
age 264



23 

4.8 

There is insufficient challenge 
and scrutiny from the LSCB in 
relation to monitoring and 
challenge of children living 
with domestic abuse and the 
response to children at the 
front door. Partners are not 
consistently held to account 
for their safeguarding 
responsibilities. 

Maintain strong links between 
Domestic Abuse Sexual Violence 
Executive Group (DASVEG) and 
the LSCB to ensure issues 
requiring multi-agency and 
individual partner response are 
identified and addressed. 

DASVEG/ 
LSCB 

Sept.19 

D
A

S
V

E
G

/ 

L
S

C
B

 Improved challenge and 
scrutiny leading to 
improved practice at the 
frontline which keeps 
children safe. 

Cross cutting issues 
between DASVEG and 

LSCB Executive in relation 
to Domestic Abuse are 

identified and jointly 
addressed through joint 
ownership and action. 

See action 4.1 above and action 
3.2 in section "Safe Practice & 
Workforce Development" on Multi 
Agency Challenge and Multi 
Agency Audit Programme. 

Dec.18 

4.9 

Schools are not routinely 
putting individual risk 
assessments in place for 
children, when staff become 
aware of domestic abuse and 
the risks that perpetrators and 
other family members may 
pose to children. Instead, they 
are relying on existing security 
arrangements at the school. 

Produce detailed guidance, 
including Health and Safety and 
risk management advice, to be 
produced and disseminated to all 
schools. 

DCC 
Education 
Service 

Mar.19 

D
C

C
 

E
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

S
e
rv

ic
e

 

Improved risk 
assessments in place for 
children keeping them safe 
at school. 

Education Service to check 
compliance with schools. 

P
age 265



24 

5.  VOICE OF THE CHILD 

Ref Area for improvement Action (intent) Lead Timescale 
Oversight & 
Monitoring 

Expected impact 
Scrutiny & Audit 

Programme  
(Evidence of Impact) 

5.1 

Children’s voices are rarely 
recorded in cases where the 
police attend a domestic 
incident.  Implement a safeguarding training 

programme to all front line staff 
which will incorporate awareness 
around risk assessment, cumulative 
impact of DA on children, police 
protection powers, and Through the 
Eyes of a Child 

Police Sept.19 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

Children are routinely 
spoken to and provided 

with opportunities to have 
their views heard and 

taken into account in all 
casework.  Decision 
making evidences 

consideration has been 
given to the experiences 

of children.  

Single agency audits 
reported to relevant Senior 
Management Teams within 

agencies.  Outcomes 
reported to LSCB Executive 

on request. 

There are instances of 
reports being made by 
children who have been 
assaulted and neglected not 
resulting in a criminal 
investigation. This means 
that the opportunities to 
protect children and help 
them feel safe are missed. 

5.2 

Unborn children in families 
with known risk factors are 
not considered at a 
sufficiently early stage on a 
multi-agency basis. 

Ensure Birth Plans are timely and 
robust. 

SDG 

Dec.18 

Early identification of the 
needs of vulnerable 
unborn children;  
Improved referrals 

Thematic Audit of pre-birth 
procedures, reported to 

LSCB Executive. 

Ensure all partners know and 
understand pre-birth procedures 
and how to challenge if required 
through clearly stated escalation 
procedures within each agency. 

Reinforce through our midwifery 
leads the need for early referral and 
promote a joint approach. CDDFT 

Named Nurse to deliver 7 minute 
briefing on  timeliness of referrals 

All partners to ensure frontline 
Practitioners within County Durham 
understand their responsibilities to 
refer unborn children as soon as 
they are aware there is a 
pregnancy and where there are  

SDG 

P
age 266



25 

  

safeguarding concerns at the 
earliest opportunity and not wait 
until 20 weeks stage 

SDG Dec.18 

S
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

in
g

 D
e
li
v
e
ry

 G
ro

u
p

 

  
All partners to ensure frontline 
practitioners are aware of and 
follow LSCB pre-birth procedures. 

5.3 

Some cases seen show that 
children’s views have not 
been taken into account by 
professionals across all 
agencies when assessing 
their vulnerability and risks. 
Where children have a 
consistent social worker, the 
child is well engaged and 
their voice is heard. 
However, the voice of the 
child is rarely visible in most 
cases seen and their views 
are not routinely sought to 
influence practice. 

All partners to ensure they speak to 
children and young people and 
capture their views in recordings 
and review through single service 
and multi-agency audit 
programmes. 

SDG 

Dec.18 

Children are routinely 
spoken to and provided 
with opportunities to have 
their views heard and 
taken into account.  This 
is evidenced in case files.    
Decision making 
evidences consideration 
has been given to the 
experiences of children. 

Multi and Single Agency 
Audit Programmes 

evidence the voice of the 
child is strong there is 

evidence ov management 
oversight through 

supervision and records 
show children's voices 
inform decisions and 
actions and lead to 
improved practice. 

 
Implement Service User 

Survey in Children's 
Services and report 
outcomes to Senior 
Management Team.   

 
Monitor use of NYAS and 
review effectiveness with 

children and young people 
through survey activity. 

Improve the use of tools to support 
children and young people to 
express their views and 
experiences.  All partners to ensure 
supervision of staff explores how 
the child's voice is sought and used 
to inform understanding and 
decision making. 

Collaborative audit to continue to 
identify whether Voice of the Child 
is strong in all cases and identify 
and implement actions to secure 
improvement at individual case and 
service- wide level. 

Children's 
Services 

Improve the use of NYAS 
Advocates for children and young 
people involved in Child Protection 
Conferences to ensure their views 
are represented. 

Children's 
Services 

 

P
age 267



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County Council 
to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people 
from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and recording this is one of the key 
ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

CYPS 

Lead Officer Julie Scurfield 

Title 
 

JTAI Improvement Action Plan  
Following the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) 
of the multi-agency response to domestic abuse in 
County Durham  

MTFP Reference (if relevant) N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 12 December 2018 

Start Date November 2018 

Review Date December 2019 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as 
appropriate (a copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

 
Between 9 and 13 July 2018, Ofsted, the Care Quality Commission, HMI 
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) and HMI Probation 
undertook a Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency response to 
domestic abuse in Durham.  This inspection included a ‘deep dive’ focus on the 
response to children of all ages living with domestic abuse.  
 
A report of the findings of the multi-agency JTAI inspection was published on 24 
August 2018 and contained a number of key findings from the inspection. 
 
Both during and immediately after the JTAI the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LSCB) Executive Group and its partners have been working together to address the 
areas Inspectors identified as requiring improvement.   
 
Careful consideration has been given to the outcome of the inspection by all partners 
and a detailed Multi-agency Improvement Action Plan has now been finalised which 
is the subject of this equality impact assessment. 
 
The Inspection findings have been grouped into 5 Key Improvement Areas: 

1. Priority Action to Improve Strategy Meetings 
2. Front Door/Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASH) 
3. Safeguarding Practice and Workforce Development 
4. Leadership & Management 

Page 269



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

5. Voice of the Child 
 
The LSCB Executive Group will hold responsibility for the overall monitoring and 
scrutiny of the Action Plan.  Individual partner agencies and partnership groups will 
be required to report quarterly to the LSCB Executive Group on the progress of 
actions and the outcome of assurance activity.   
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 

Children and young people living with domestic abuse and their families. 
Durham County Council and partners: Durham Constabulary, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Police and Victim’s Crime Commissioner, Youth Offending 
Service, National Probation Service, Community Rehabilitation Company, Health 
Providers, Voluntary Sector Organsations. 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief 
 

N Y 

Sex (gender) 
 

N Y 

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

 

Page 270



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record 
full details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

Negative impact is not anticipated as a result of the multi-agency improvement action 
plan in response to children and young people living with domestic abuse. 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 

The overall aim of the multi-agency action plan is to improve outcomes for children 
and young people and keep them safe which is positive in terms of age and equality 
of opportunity keeping them free from harassment and victimisation. 
 
As women are disproportionately impacted by domestic abuse compared to men, 
improvements in multi-agency working to address responses to domestic abuse 
incidents should lead to improved outcomes for women which is a positive impact. It 
is recognised however that domestic abuse can take place in any relationship and 
can and often does impact men, and that women can also be perpetrators. 
 
Provision of perpetrator programmes helps to break the cycle of domestic abuse and 
aims to keep families safe. As men are more are likely to be perpetrators, there will 
be a greater benefit for males having access to such programmes.  
 
Improvements as a result of the action plan will help us to demonstrate commitment 
to our public sector equality duty and aim to advance equality of opportunity 
especially in terms of age – children and young people - and for women.  
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

Domestic abuse definition: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-government-domestic-violence-and-
abuse-definition 
 
Domestic abuse is any type of controlling, bullying, threatening or violent behaviour 
between people in a relationship. But it isn’t just physical violence – domestic abuse 
includes emotional, physical, sexual, financial or psychological abuse. Abusive behaviour 
can occur in any relationship. It can continue even after the relationship has ended. Both 
men and women can be abused or abusers. Domestic abuse can seriously harm children 
and young people. Witnessing domestic abuse is child abuse, and teenagers can suffer 
domestic abuse in their relationships.  
 

Page 271

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-government-domestic-violence-and-abuse-definition
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-government-domestic-violence-and-abuse-definition


 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Domestic abuse: Findings from the Crime Survey for England and Wales: year ending 
March 2018 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domestic
abusefindingsfromthecrimesurveyforenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2018 
 
20% of children in the UK have lived with an adult perpetrating domestic violence 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-
abuse/domestic-abuse-facts-statistics/ 
 
One woman in four experiences domestic violence in their lifetime 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/foc
usonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2015/chapter4intimatepersonalviole
nceandpartnerabuse 
 
Who is affected by domestic abuse: 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-
abuse/who-is-affected/ 
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is 
there: 
 

Confirm which refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact 
on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to 
full assessment? 

This assessment will be developed further, 
if required, on review of the JTAI 
Improvement Action Plan. 

No evidence of actual or potential 
impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics? 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Strategic Manager, Children’s Services Reform 

Date: 
3 December 2018 

 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Equality and Diversity Team Leader 

Date: 
3 December 2018 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your service 
equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and equalities 
team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 272

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusefindingsfromthecrimesurveyforenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusefindingsfromthecrimesurveyforenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2018
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse-facts-statistics/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse-facts-statistics/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2015/chapter4intimatepersonalviolenceandpartnerabuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2015/chapter4intimatepersonalviolenceandpartnerabuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/compendium/focusonviolentcrimeandsexualoffences/yearendingmarch2015/chapter4intimatepersonalviolenceandpartnerabuse
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-abuse/who-is-affected/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/child-abuse-and-neglect/domestic-abuse/who-is-affected/
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 12 December 2018 

 Regional Adoption Agency 

Arrangements 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek agreement for the future structure of adoption services for 
County Durham to meet the requirements of Government to be part of a 
Regional Adoption Agency (RAA). 

2 To consider Durham’s position in relation to the Host Model and risks of 
being the host organisation and risks of not. 

3 If Cabinet agrees to the single agency hosted model, to agree that 
Durham County Council submits a bid to be the host authority of the 
RAA.  

Executive Summary 

4 The Council has responded to the Government requirements to move to 
RAAs where its aspiration is to have fewer organisations recruiting and 
assessing adopters and having organisations that are operating at 
much greater scale.  This intention was set out in the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016 which introduced power in March 2018 for the 
Secretary of State to require local authorities to carry out their adoption 
functions jointly.  

. 

Page 273

Agenda Item 11



5 In December 2016 Durham County Council, Cumbria County Council 
and Together for Children/Sunderland City Council began working 
together with assistance from the Department for Education (DfE) to 
consider how they could develop a RAA.  Durham successfully led the 
bid outlining the proposals to develop the RAA and to ensure that the 
three Local Authorities would comply with the DfE requirements.  This 
was approved by the DfE in March 2018 (Appendix 3)  

6 Since then the Corporate Director of Children’s Services for Durham 
County Council has chaired the Governance Board which was awarded 
a grant from the DfE of £670,000 to establish the new organisation by 
October 2019. 

7 The future governance arrangements for the RAA have now been 
explored where there are four potential legal forms: 

(a) RAA hosted by a single lead Council. 

(b) RAA established as a jointly owned Local Authority Company. 

(c) RAA established as a Joint Venture Company between the 
Councils and Voluntary Adoption Agency (VAA). 

(d) Appoint a third company to act as the RAA. 

8 The Governance Board concluded in October 2018 that option (a) 
where the hosted model by a single lead Council was the most cost 
effective and efficient model.  It was also the most popular model 
adopted by other RAAs already ahead in their transformation plans and 
those which had already gone “live”. 

9 The preferred model will need to be agreed by all three Local 
Authorities, and each Local Authority will need to decide if it wishes to 
be the lead Local Authority.  In the event of more than one Local 
Authority wishing to be the lead, an independent competitive process 
will be established. 

10 The outline business case is attached at Appendix 2.  The Governance 
Board has oversight of the Project as it moves forward and the Project 
Board has a number of Working Groups across Legal Services, Finance 
and IT Systems as well as the development of adoption practices within 
the RAA. These Groups will steer the required work to set out a full 
business case by the summer of 2019.  The full business case will be 
presented to Cabinet when agreement to proceed with the Full 
Business Case is agreed by the Governance Board.  

 

Page 274



Recommendation 

11 Cabinet is recommended to:  

(a) approve the principle of forming a RAA  comprising the areas of 
County Durham, Sunderland(Together for Children)  and Cumbria 
and five Voluntary Adoption Agencies in accordance with 
statutory requirements; 

(b) consider and approve the outline business case for the RAA; 

(c) agree that Durham County Council should bid to become the  
host authority when the RAA is established .  

Background 

12 Adoption for looked after children has been the subject of increasing 
focus of the DfE for several years now. Further Action on Adoption: 
Finding More Loving Homes published in January 2013 raised a 
number of concerns regarding the recruitment of adopters and children 
waiting too long for adoption.   

13 The Regionalising Adoption Guidance was issued in June 2015. The 
focus of this was to encourage Local Authorities and VAAs to 
strengthen their relationships to improve speedier matching of children, 
improve adopter recruitment and support, and to reduce costs around 
looked after children, and asked all adoption agencies to consider how 
they work more closely in the region. 

14 The Education and Adoption Act 2016 introduced powers to require 
Local Authorities and VAAs to join together to form RAAs.  

15 The Vision for a Regionalised Adoption System: 

‘A system where matching is as quick as possible, recruitment is 
as effective as possible and adoption support quality is high’ 

16 The vision for the future of adoption services and provision in England 
encompasses: 

(a) A system where children are matched with the most suitable 
adopter as quickly as possible. 

(b) Improved targeted recruitment taking place at an efficient scale 
to provide a pool of ‘adoption ready’ adopters large enough and 
well enough matched to the needs of children waiting. 

(c) Improved and sufficient high-quality adoption support services 
available nationwide. 

Page 275



(d) Potential for efficiency savings avoiding duplication and 
operating on a greater scale. 

17 Within the RAA there will be an opportunity to establish mechanisms to 
ensure a wider overview of children coming into the looked after 
system,  provide an opportunity to develop clearer transparency and 
protocols for Early Permanence Planning for children (EPP) and 
increased opportunities to share costs and to benefit from economies of 
scale.  

18 It is anticipated that this will ultimately reduce financial pressures on the 
Looked After Children budget by placing children as early as possible.  

19 A Regional approach is intended to enable opportunities to share and 
develop wider support services, including in partnership with health and 
independent providers. 

20 The outline business case (Appendix 2) captures the aspiration of a 
RAA that as a collective we benefit from each other’s expertise, with a 
strong partnership with the VAAs in the region through their Alliance.  
This approach will enhance the offer to meet the needs of looked after 
children who require adoption, adoptive parents and birth families.  The 
outline business case seeks to respond to the series of key factors and 
consideration required to consider the legal entity that was required to 
deliver the business need. 

21 Subject to Cabinet approval the outline business case will be developed 
into a full business case in June 2019,  

Main Implications  

Being Part of a Regional Adoption Agency 

22 The DfE in their legislation and guidance in 2016 were clear about the 
requirement for all Local Authorities including Durham to be part of the 
national RAA programme.  The region split to the north where 
Northumberland, Newcastle, North Tyneside, South Tyneside and 
Gateshead worked together, and all of the Teesside Authorities, 
including Darlington to the south of the region came together.   

23 Durham had been part of earlier Regional discussions but had not 
considered a natural partner.  Discussions with both Sunderland and 
Cumbria took place in 2016 and recognised the potential of a coast to 
coast area.  This is how the partnership began, and how as all three 
Local Authorities  all who now have adoption services rated Good by 
Ofsted,  embraced and valued what each organisation brought for better 
and improved outcomes for looked after children. 

Page 276



24 Having come together, the DfE were keen to establish the intention to 
apply to become a RAA.  Durham successfully led the original bid to the 
Regionalisation of Adoption Programme and became responsible for 
management of the associated set up Grant of £670k. (Attached as 
Appendix 3).  In addition, Durham also took responsibility for Chairing 
the established Governance Board.  

25 A report was considered by Corporate Management Team in 2017 and 
also by Children and Young Peoples Transformational Board in 2018.  
Corporate Parent Panel members and Portfolio Holders for CYPS have 
been kept up to date with progress of the Regionalisation Programme.  

26 The Project Plan has been developed by the Project Board and 
approved by the Governance Board.  A Project Manager with 
experience of previously developing a RAA was appointed in 2018.  The 
Project Plan outlines all aspects of the business of moving to a live RAA 
by October 2019.  The first consideration to be made was the type of 
organisation we could and should be.  Legal representatives of the 
three Local Authorities provided a discussion document for the 
Governance Board to consider in October 2018.  This is attached as 
Appendix 4.   

Equality Implications 

27 An initial equality impact assessment for the proposals indicates that the 
establishment of an RAA will have a positive impact on groups with a 
protected characteristic.  The opportunity to work together on a regional 
basis has already identified match parent for some of our most 
vulnerable children.  It is expected that the RAA will provide more 
opportunities and have a positive impact for our children. 

The Legal Form of a Regional Adoption Agency 

28 The Governance Board considered each of the models with the key 
strengths and weaknesses as follows: 

 RAA hosted by single lead authority (Recommended Option) 

29 The advantages with this model were that it was well established and 
feedback from the National Programme confirmed that the majority of 
RAAs were hosted by a single lead Local Authority model.  The benefits 
were described as being most affordable within budgets available, 
reduced the costs of setting up a separate legal entity and could draw 
on wider expertise quickly from the host organisation. 

30 The main disadvantage from this model was the potential loss of control 
of adoption services by the other Local Authorities if not in a lead 

Page 277



position,  although all Local Authorities will be represented on any 
Governance Board arrangement. 

RAA established as a Jointly Owned Local Authority Company 

31 The advantages of this model are that the three Councils jointly own the 
new Company.  This model of business is not new to Local Authorities, 
many of whom have their own Companies to assist with their business 
opportunities. 

32 The disadvantages around this are the set up and additional costs to 
ensure compliance as a business which would be over and above the 
current budget available to the services in each of the Local Authorities. 

33 In addition, there would be a need to set the Company up separately as 
a registered Adoption Agency.  This would incur more costs and require 
additional Ofsted regime. 

RAA established as a joint venture company between Councils and 

VAAs 

34 This option would move further away from the ownership of the three 
Local Authorities and would require finding a further partner to 
participate. 

 Appoint third party to act as the RAA 

35 Given that Sunderland Local Authority has already been required to 
have an independent organisation for their Children’s Services known 
as ‘Together for Children’, as a Company it could effectively lead the 
RAA. 

36 However, the appointment by the Local Authorities of a third party to act 
as RAA would still need to co-ordinate a contract around governance 
and management arrangements with a third party.  This, as the above 
option, was not deemed appropriate. 

37 The Governance Board were unanimous in their recommendation that 
the RAA should move forward at this time to a Hosted Model. The 
national Regionalisation Programme demonstrates that most RAA`s 
have taken this as the preferred model to date. 

38 The North of the region Authorities and the Tees Authorities have also 
adopted this model of RAA. 
 

 

Page 278



Host Authority 

39 Having established a preferred model, Durham now need to consider if 
we wish to submit a bid for the Council to act as the host authority for 
the RAA and lead the transitional work as outlined in the Outline 
Business Case and Project Plan.  

40 All three Local Authorities have adoption services that are rated ‘Good’ 
by Ofsted, the industry regulator.  There are differences in relation to 
the overall judgement by Ofsted of three Children’s Social Care 
Services where Durham and Cumbria overall are rated ‘Requires 
Improvement’ and Sunderland’s Services are overall rated ‘inadequate’.   

41 The challenge in the leadership role as host will be ensuring a high 
performing adoption service on behalf of all three Local Authorities, 
initially through establishing the new organisation, consolidating finance, 
technology and staffing, and growing the quality placement base for 
adoption services. 

Outline Business Case 

42 The final governance arrangements for the management of the RAA will 
be agreed as part of the full business case, but they are likely to be 
similar to the following: 

 

 

 

 

43 The full responsibility for the RAA will lie with the RAA Management 
Board who will make all key decisions including agreeing resources for 
the RAA. The detail of this is yet to be developed as part of the ongoing 
Project Plan. 

44 The commercial terms of the RAA will agreed by the 3 Local Authorities 
and will be approved in principle at the same time as the full business 
case (this should be some time in Spring 2019).  

45 This will deal with all the risks associated with the RAA, the 
apportionment of liability, including how to deal with over and 
underspends. This will form an operating agreement.. 

46 Issues for the host Local Authority to consider: 

(a) It is recommended that the staff with TUPE transfer into the RAA 

RAA Management Board 3 x DCS 

RAA Operational Group Head of RAA plus 3 x 

Adoption Services 

Mgrs 

Page 279



and therefore the host Authority will be the employing 
organisation. This advice is on the basis that the delegation of 
the function will be transferring an undertaking for the purposes 
of TUPE. 

(b) In accordance with Ofsted rules, both the RAA and the Local 
Authorities must have registered managers for adoption and 
fostering. 

(c) It is the Local Authority that is inspected by Ofsted and not the 
RAA. The RAA will be required to support all three organisations’ 
Ofsted inspections. 

(d) The host organisation must have the capacity and the capability 
to deliver the following – these will be set out in a Service Level 
Agreement between the Host and the RAA: 

(i) Commissioning Services. For the commissioning of all RAA 
services such as Birth Parent Support, as well as 
commissioning the VAA Alliance in accordance with the 
recommendations in the outline business case. 

(ii) HR services, including payroll, pension services and it is the 
host Authority HR policies and procedures which will be 
followed by the RAA. 

(iii) Legal support for the RAA. Advice and guidance wherever 
required. They may also be required to provide Legal 
Advice to the Adoption Panel, but how this will be done has 
yet to be determined. 

(iv) ICT services to provide infrastructure (including networks) 
and desktop – although because of the complexity of the 
delivery arrangements there will need to be collaboration 
across all three Local Authority ICT technical teams. 

(v) ICT services to support the RAA line of business system. 
This will include support for the procurement of the system 
as well as the development and implementation of the 
system. There will then be a need for ongoing support, 
including writing reports / new forms / performance 
information. 

(vi) From time to time there may need to be support from other 
Local Authority services such as Information Governance, 
Performance. 

 
47 Once the host Local Authority has been agreed the current project 

management arrangements will change. It is likely that the current 
workstream leads will switch to the host organisation.  The reason being 
that they will be implementing the final solutions e.g. HR leading on the 

Page 280



transfer of staff and all HR matters, ICT leading on the procurement and 
implementation of the ICT solutions. 

Options 

48 Do not progress the work.  This would leave the Council vulnerable to 
not joining a RAA and becoming subject to a direction removing the 
adoption function under section 15 of the Education and Adoption Act 
2016. 

49 Agree to proceed but choose another preferred legal form as outlined in 
Paragraphs 22 and 23. 

50 Agree to the recommendation of the Governance Board and agree to 
the single agency hosted model. 

51 If agreeing to the preferred hosted model, there is an option to express 
an interest in Durham being the lead agency. 

52 A new organisation will be established by October 2019. 

53 Durham, Cumbria and Sunderland Local Authority/Together for Children 
will need to agree the model in order for the proposal to move forward. 

54 If the principle of establishing the RAA is approved, a full business case 
setting out the proposed detailed arrangements would be presented to 
Cabinet early in 2019. 

Conclusion 

55 The development of the RAA is a highly complex project working across 
three Local Authorities.  The size and scale of the proposed RAA is 
extensive. 

56 Given the emerging model, the single agency hosted model offers best 
value for money and in line with national and regional developments. 

57 Durham has already shown significant leadership in bringing authorities 
together, leading the original bid for grant funding, chairing the 
Governance Board and therefore is well placed to express an interest in 
taking forward the work as the host authority. 

58 If supported a full business case will be brought to a future Cabinet 
meeting at a future point. 

Background papers 

 Regionalising Adoption – June 2015 

 

Page 281



Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Karen Robb  

Strategic Manager Looked 
After Children & Permanence 

Tel:  03000 265759 

  

Page 282



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Under Section 15 of Education and Adoption Act 2016 the Secretary of State 

has the power to direct local authorities to join together to deliver their 

adoption functions. Alternatively, there is a power of direction transferring 

those powers to other adoption agencies. It is therefore important to follow the 

Regionalising Adoption Guidance of 2015 and work in collaboration with 

neighbouring authorities.  

Finance 

The development of the RAA will require a “pooling “ of budgets for adoption 

provision and staffing.  This is being worked through the Finance Workstream 

of the Project Board  

Consultation 

All staff within the adoption service and associated stakeholders are involved 

in some of the Workstreams of the Project Board.  Formal HR consultations 

will be required when final determinations are made regarding the movement 

of staff into the new Organisation. 

The Trade Unions have been kept up to date on progress of the RAA.   

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Initial Equality Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix 5 and referred 

to at Paragraph 27 of the report.  The EIA will be kept under review as the 

Project develops.   

Human Rights 

All looked after children with a Care Plan of adoption have the right to a family 

life as soon as is possible 

Crime and Disorder 

N.A 

Staffing 

The Project Board has a HR Workstream which is working through the issues 

for those staff directly affected by the change of service delivery of the 

adoption service 

 

Page 283



Accommodation 

At this stage it is unclear what type of accommodation may be needed for staff 

within the RAA. The principles of flexible and mobile working will apply. 

Risk 

The Local Authority must meet its statutory duties regarding the change to the 

delivery of adoption services as part of the Regionalisation programme.  

As the move to a different method of service delivery there may be a drop in 

adoption performance.  The Project Board must ensure that a Business 

Continuity Plan is developed as soon as possible 

Procurement 

N.A 

  

Page 284



Appendix 2:  Outline Business Case 

Appendix 3 :DfE Regionalisation Programme Bid 

Appendix 4: Legal Discussion Paper  

Appendix 5 : Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             Appendix 2 
 

Coast to Coast 
Regional Adoption Agency 

 
 
 
Outline Business Case 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date   14 November 2018 
Version  1.0 
Status:   Subject to Approval  

 
  

Page 287



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 2 of 37 

Contents 
 
 
1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 3 
2. Executive Summary and Recommendations ................................................................... 4 

2.1 Executive Summary ............................................................................................... 4 
2.2  Recommendations ................................................................................................. 5 

3. Context and Background ................................................................................................. 6 
3.1 Background Information ........................................................................................ 6 
3.2 Approach to Developing the Outline Business Case ............................................. 7 

4. Vision and Objectives ...................................................................................................... 9 
4.1 Strategic Objectives: .............................................................................................. 9 
4.2 Outcomes and Benefits of the RAA ..................................................................... 11 

5. Scope of Coast to Coast RAA ........................................................................................ 12 
5.1 Services in Scope ................................................................................................ 12 
5.2 Services Out of Scope ......................................................................................... 12 
5.3 The Role of the Voluntary Adoption Agencies ..................................................... 12 
5.4 Early Permanence ............................................................................................... 13 

6. Ideal Experience Child / Adopter / Birth Families ........................................................... 15 
6.1 The Child Perspective ......................................................................................... 15 
6.2 The Adopter Perspective ..................................................................................... 15 
6.3 Birth Families ....................................................................................................... 16 
6.4 Consultation......................................................................................................... 16 
6.5 Case Study Examples ......................................................................................... 18 

7. How the Service will be Delivered .................................................................................. 19 
7.1 High Level Processes and Pathways .................................................................. 19 
7.2 Functions and Responsibilities ............................................................................ 21 
7.3 Staffing Roles ...................................................................................................... 24 

8. Delivery Options ............................................................................................................ 26 
8.1 Potential Legal Forms .......................................................................................... 26 
8.2 Conclusion ........................................................................................................... 29 

9. Plan and Next Steps / Risk Assessment ........................................................................ 30 
9.1 Overall Project Plan ............................................................................................. 30 
9.2 Project Governance Arrangements ..................................................................... 31 
9.3 High Level Risk Register ..................................................................................... 31 

Appendix 1 – Case Study Examples .................................................................................. 33 
A1.1 Early Permanence ........................................................................................... 33 
A1.2 Working Together ............................................................................................ 35 
A1.3 How the RAA would have made a difference ................................................... 36 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 288



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 3 of 37 

1. Introduction 

 
In June 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) published ‘Regionalising Adoption’ 

and asked all adoption agencies in England to consider how to work much more closely 

together on a regional basis. This was enacted as the Education and Adoption Act 

2016 which advised authorities and voluntary adoption agencies to join together to 

form Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA).  

 

The Vision for a Regionalised Adoption System: 

 

‘A system where matching is as quick as possible, recruitment is as effective as 

possible and adoption support quality is high’ 

 

The vision for the future of adoption in England encompasses: 

 A system where children are matched with the most suitable adopter as 

quickly as possible 

 Recruitment taking place at an efficient scale to provide a pool of ‘adoption 

ready’ adopters large enough and well enough matched to the needs of 

children waiting 

 Enough high-quality adoption support services available nationwide 

 

Coast to Coast is a Regional Adoption Agency between Cumbria County Council, 

Durham County Council and Together for Children / Sunderland City Council, working 

with a Voluntary Adoption Agency (VAA) Alliance.  The VAA Alliance is made up of the 

following VAAs; After Adoption, ARC Adoption NE, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption 

and DFW Adoption.    

 

Established on the 1st April 2017, Together for Children delivers children’s services on 

behalf of Sunderland City Council. Together for Children is owned by Sunderland City 

Council but controlled by an independent board to ensure operational independence. 

 

The Outline Business Case (OBC) sets out the vision and objectives for a new 

Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) – Coast to Coast. It sets out the high-level design 

principles for the RAA and seeks approval to move onto the next phase of the project, 

the detailed business case. 

 

Coast to Coast is our working title for the development of the new RAA. The final name 

will be agreed as part of the Outline Business Case decision-making process.  

 
 

Page 289



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 4 of 37 

2. Executive Summary and Recommendations 

2.1 Executive Summary 

 
Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / 

Sunderland City Council have been working together since December 2016 to 

consider how they could develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA). In December 

2017 a bid to establish a RAA was submitted to the Department for Education and 

this was approved in March 2018. 

 

All three adoption services are judged to be GOOD by OFSTED, and as a partnership 

they value the strengths that each of the organisations brings to the RAA. Some of 

the benefits of an RAA include: 

 

 Better outcomes for Children, Adopters and Birth Families 

 More Adopters for our Children 

 Ability to share resources 

 Ability to share expertise and best practice 

 

The Outline Business Case document was developed following a series of workshops 

which have included members of staff, independent panel members, professionals 

across all partner organisations including the Voluntary Adoption Agencies. 

 

The vision for the RAA is that children will achieve their full potential within a loving 
and secure family and everyone affected by adoption will receive a high-quality 
innovative and sustainable service. 

 

The overall objectives are to: 

1. Provide child-centred services 

2. Deliver a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential adopters 

3. Provide an accessible independent service for birth families affected by 

adoption  

4. Create strong partnership working with Local Authorities, the Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies and universal services 

5. Offer a service which is high-quality and provides good value for money  

 

Included within the scope of the Regional Adoption Agency are: 

 

 Early Permanence planning 

 Marketing and Recruitment of adopters 

 Assessment and training of adopters 

 Matching and linking  

Page 290



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 5 of 37 

 Pre and Post Adoption Support  

 Birth Family Support 

 Intermediary Services 

 

The RAA is proposing a different model of working which sees a much stronger 

partnership with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies. By working together we will be in 

a much stronger position to meet the challenges faced in Adoption Services. 

 

We also want to extend and improve the early permanence planning for children. 

Early permanence planning will ensure that we are working together to seek the right 

adoptive family as early as possible. 

 

Following an initial review of the potential models for the RAA, it has been identified 

that in principle the following could potentially be appropriate models for the RAA: 

 

(I) RAA hosted by single lead authority; 

(II) RAA established as a jointly owned local authority company; or 

(III) RAA hosted by Together for Children. 

 

The Directors of Children’s Services have examined these options and are 

recommending either option one or option three as the preferred legal form. 

 

2.2  Recommendations 

 

It is recommended that Members approve: 

 

1. The Outline Business Case for establishing Coast to Coast Regional 

Adoption Agency with Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and 

Together for Children / Sunderland City Council  

 

2. The RAA hosted by a single lead Council or the RAA hosted by Together for 

Children 

 

3. The principles of working with the Voluntary Adoption Agency Alliance are 

approved 

 

4. The principles of Early Permanence for children are approved subject to 

further development 

 

 

 

Page 291



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 6 of 37 

3. Context and Background 

3.1 Background Information 

 
Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / 

Sunderland City Council have been working together since December 2016 to 

consider how they could develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA). In December 

2017 a bid to establish a RAA was submitted to the Department for Education and 

this was approved in March 2018. 

 

All three adoption services are judged to be GOOD by OFSTED, and as a partnership 

they value the strengths that each of the organisations brings to the RAA. Some of 

the benefits of an RAA include: 

 

 Better outcomes for Children, Adopters and Birth Families 

 More Adopters for our Children 

 Ability to share resources 

 Ability to share expertise and best practice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

We are also working in partnership with the Voluntary Adoption Agency Alliance (After 

Adoption, ARC Adoption NE, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and DFW Adoption) 

to support us in the development of the RAA and then as partners in delivering good 

outcomes. 

 

The Coast to Coast RAA has significant challenges to overcome: 

 

 An increasing number of Children Looked After 

 A high number of Adoptions 

 An increasing complexity of Adoption needs 

 Ability to recruit sufficient Adopters 

 

Adoption 
Triangle 

Birth Family 

Page 292



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 7 of 37 

 Total Population Number of 
Children Looked 

After  
As at March 2018 

Number of 
Adoptions 

2017 - 2018 

Cumbria CC 498,000 665 51 

Durham CC 522,000 809 53 

Together for Children 277,962 579 47 

 
 

Working collectively together as the Regional Adoption Agency with a strong 

partnership with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies through their Alliance, will help to 

ensure we meet the needs of our Children and Young People, our Adopters and our 

Birth Families. 

 

3.2 Approach to Developing the Outline Business Case 

 
It was important when developing and designing the new Regional Adoption Agency 

that this was informed by professionals and the voice of the customer. To ensure this 

was the case, a large part of the project so far has included workshops and 

consultation. 

 

During July and August 2018 a series of service design workshops took place with 

professionals from all partner organisations and independent panel members: 

 

Event Date Number of 

Attendees 

Child Journey 2 July 24 

Adopter Journey 4 July 15 

Local Authorities interactions  9 July 16 

Roles and Functions 12 July 16 

Vision and Objectives 8 August 14 

Measures and Outcomes 13 August 14 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies 10 August All 5 agencies 

represented 

 

 

Page 293



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 8 of 37 

In addition to the service design workshops a series of consultation exercises were 

also undertaken. 

 

The Adoption staff teams for Cumbria, Durham and Together for Children were all 

consulted during workshops held in June 2018. 

 

The Voice of the Customer consultation was undertaken by After Adoption. They 

undertook both quantitative and qualitative consultation: 

- Questionnaires were sent to Adopters, prospective Adopters, Birth Families, 

Adopted Adults 

- Two engagement events were held in September 2018 which included children 

and young people who had been adopted 

 

All the information gathered at these events has informed the Outline Business Case. 

 

Page 294



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 9 of 37 

4. Vision and Objectives  
 

Our vision is that children will achieve their full potential within a 
loving and secure family and everyone affected by adoption will 

receive a high-quality innovative and sustainable service. 
 

4.1 Strategic Objectives: 

 

Our overall objectives for Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency are to: 

 

 Provide child-centred services 

 Deliver a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential adopters 

 Provide an accessible independent service for birth families affected by adoption  

 Create strong partnership working with Local Authorities, the Voluntary Adoption 

Agencies and universal services 

 Offer a service which is high-quality and provides good value for money  

 

We will deliver our objectives by: 

 

1. Providing child-centred services through: 

 Placing the child at the centre throughout their adoption journey, including 

into adulthood 

 Securing early permanence to prevent delay and achieve the best possible 

outcomes 

 Recognising the child’s voice in permanence planning and ensuring 

communication is effective to enable them to understand their life narrative 

 Creating a sense of belonging for the child, in a secure permanent family and 

in the wider adoption community 

 Ensuring access to support at the level and time that it is needed 

 Ensuring sufficient adopters to promote the best possible match for the child 

 

2. Giving a high-quality accessible service to adopters and potential 

adopters through: 

 Ensuring applicants receive a sensitive, flexible and welcoming service 

 Responding to enquiries from potential adopters in a timely manner 

 Giving prospective adopters clear, realistic and timely feedback at all stages 

of their enquiry and application 

 Ensuring that adopters fully contribute to an evidence-based assessment, 

approval and matching process 

Page 295



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 10 of 37 

 Providing consistent adoption support that is relevant to individual adopter 

family’s needs 

 Identifying and progressing potential matches at the earliest possible stage 

 Providing qualified, skilled and experienced staff to support and guide 

adopters throughout their journey 

 Offering consistent, high quality, up to date training throughout, to enable 

adopters to understand the lifelong impact of adoption 

 

3. Providing an accessible independent service for birth families affected 

by adoption which will include: 

 Support for birth family members whose children have a plan of adoption and 

enabling them, at any point, to contribute to the child’s understanding of their 

life story 

 Intermediary services to birth family members and adopted adults 

 A letterbox service to facilitate ongoing positive contact between birth 

families and children 

 Facilitation of direct contact where this meets the child’s needs 

 

 

4. Creating strong partnership working with Local Authorities, Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies and universal services by: 

 Ensuring Voluntary Adoption Agencies have a full and active role in the 

delivery of Coast to Coast services 

 Sharing learning and striving for evidence-based best practice 

 Ensuring consistent and long-term sustainability of service delivery and 

funding to the Voluntary Adoption Agencies for the benefit of children 

 

 

5. Offering a service which is high-quality and provides good value for 

money through: 

 Demonstrating consistently excellent practice which results in excellent 

outcomes for children 

 Ensuring consistency of service provision across Coast to Coast 

 The efficient and effective use of resources 

 Effectively commissioning appropriate services 

 Developing and implementing clear minimum standards 

 Continually learning from best practice and adapting our services accordingly 

 

 

 

Page 296



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 11 of 37 

4.2 Outcomes and Benefits of the RAA 

 

There is commitment from each organisation to work together in a single RAA across 

the geographical area proposed, to achieve:  

 

 A culture of early permanence planning in order to identify suitable adopters 

for children at the earliest possible stage during the care planning process to 

ensure the timeliness of the child living in their adoptive family  

 

 Marketing and Recruitment of adoptive families to meet the needs of a range 

of children, including sibling groups  

 

 Assessment and training of adopters to a consistently high standard   

 

 Development of services across the range of adoption functions by capturing 

the best practice from across the region and delivering this throughout the 

RAA 

 

 Matching, linking and adoption support that enables children to live in 

supportive and safe placements with their adoptive families 

 

 Pre and Post Adoption support tailored to meet the needs of the children and 

adoptive families and to deliver this as a consistent package of support 

across the RAA area 

 

 Effective and easily accessible Birth Family support 

 

 Access to Intermediary Services  

 

  

Page 297



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 12 of 37 

5. Scope of Coast to Coast RAA 

5.1 Services in Scope 

 

Included within the scope of the Regional Adoption Agency are: 

 

 Early Permanence planning 

 Marketing and Recruitment of adopters 

 Assessment and training of adopters 

 Matching and linking  

 Pre and Post Adoption Support  

 Birth Family Support 

 Intermediary Services 

 

The expectation would be that all adoption functions as currently carried out by 

Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council and Together for Children / 

Sunderland City Council or commissioned by them would be in scope of the new 

RAA.  The commissioning of inter-agency placements as undertaken currently would 

continue. It is anticipated that adoption support services currently commissioned, will 

remain so in the initial stages of the RAA to ensure consistency for children and 

adopters. The expectation would be that at some point the RAA would procure 

services across the region.   

 

5.2 Services Out of Scope 

 

Special Guardianship Order assessments and subsequent support services have not 

been included in the scope of the RAA at this point.   

 

Fostering Service is also out of scope. 

 

Legacy adoption services, including adoption allowance payments agreed prior to the 

setting up of the RAA, will remain as part of existing services and only new allowances 

will be part of the RAA.   

 

5.3 The Role of the Voluntary Adoption Agencies 

 
It is envisaged that the Voluntary Adoption Agencies would play a key role in the 

Regional Adoption Agency. 

 
It is becoming increasing difficult to meet the demand and the increasingly complex 

needs of our children and young people. We believe that by working in partnership 

Page 298



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 13 of 37 

with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies through their Alliance, we will be in a stronger 

position to meet these needs. 

 

We want a different relationship. We envisage that: 

 

 The Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) will work with us each year to look 

at our needs and help us develop our sufficiency plan 

 From this we will identify our gaps and plan our recruitment campaigns 

 We will have an agreement with the VAAs to provide a specific number and 

type of Adopter Families over the year for which they would be paid up-front 

 We would include the VAAs in our regular planning and matching meetings 

so that we can identify suitable matches at the earliest opportunity 

 We would develop our best practice collectively with all partners learning 

from each other. This would include joint training and development days. 

 

 

The benefits of this approach are: 

 

 We would be able to match and place children more quickly 

 We would ensure the children have the most suitable adopter family to meet 

their needs 

 We have shared responsibility for recruitment of Adopters, with the VAA 

supporting us by recruiting Adopters including for our harder to place children 

 There would be a greater number of Adopter Families across the RAA / VAA 

 We would have a stronger relationship between the RAA and the VAA 

 This approach would build stability in the VAA sector 

 

 

In addition to the recruitment of Adopter Families (as described above), the VAA can 

potentially provide a range of additional services to the RAA. Initially it is envisaged 

that existing contracts are reviewed and then extended where appropriate. During the 

first twelve months, the RAA will assess its needs and contract services as 

appropriate. 

 

 

5.4 Early Permanence 

 
In working together to extend and improve the early permanence planning for children 

we can ensure that children have the best start in life by being part of a permanent, 

safe and loving family as early as possible in their lives.  Our RAA will be giving 

particular consideration to the strong links required with the teams who care plan for 

children so we are involved and informed at the earliest possible stage.   

Page 299



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 14 of 37 

Early permanence planning will ensure that we are working together to seek the right 

adoptive family as early as possible.  We can develop recruitment and marketing 

strategies that target recruitment of families that can best meet the needs of the 

children for whom we are seeking families.  Together we can use our combined 

expertise to prepare children to move to their new families and provide bespoke 

adoption support to meet child and adopter family needs. 

 

Early Permanence will include: 

 

 Early Placement Planning 

 Concurrency 

 Foster to Adopt 

 

We will work with the Local Authorities to create a culture of Early Permanence 

planning in order to identify possible suitable adopters for children at the earliest 

stage during the care planning process. Early placement results in the best outcomes 

for children.  

 

What this means in practice: 
 

 Each local authority will have an Early Permanence Strategy which will include 

all children regardless of route to permanence 

 

 We need to create a shift in thinking within each local authority where early 

permanence is standard culture and practice and senior managers and legal 

teams support the principles and the benefits of early permanence 

 

 We will do this by ensuring that early permanence is a fundamental part of 

social work practice 

 

 This will be achieved by: 

 

o Ensuring effective leadership around early permanence 

o Constant raising of awareness – through meetings and other 

engagement opportunities 

o Effective training of all staff – recognising the high level of turn-over in 

children’s social worker teams 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 15 of 37 

6. Ideal Experience Child / Adopter / Birth Families 
 

6.1 The Child Perspective 

 
If things are the best they can possibly be in our RAA, these are the things we 

will see: 

 

 Our children feel like they matter and that their views, wishes and feelings are 

heard 

 They feel they belong to a family and the wider adoption community 

 They feel important and valued 

 They can trust someone to put them first 

 They can recognise themselves in reports  

 They know their story and why they have been adopted 

 They are supported to understand their plan and they know what it means 

 They are placed without delay 

 They know about the people in their birth families and foster families and 

understand why they do or don’t still see them 

 They live in a safe, stable and loving family and know this is forever 

 

6.2 The Adopter Perspective 

 
If things are the best they can possibly be in our RAA, these are the things we 

will see: 

 

 Adopter and prospective adopters feel valued and wanted 

 Prospective adopters who come with a range of experience and circumstances 

feel welcomed and respected 

 Adopters can see our commitment to getting the best outcomes for our children 

 They are able to speak to somebody when they need to 

 They know exactly what is going on in relation to their adopter journey – what is 

going to happen and when 

 They understand what is being talked about / written down – the service should 

be jargon free 

 That appropriate adoption support is available to them when they need it and 

that it is local and accessible 

 They are confident that their emotional journey and its impact is understood 

 There is consistency of message and support when things aren’t going quite 

right 

 They have confidence in the RAA 

Page 301



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 16 of 37 

 

6.3 Birth Families 

 
 

If things are the best they can possibly be in our RAA, these are the things we 

will see: 

 

 Pre-adoption support will be provided to help them understand the adoption 

process 

 They will be able to discuss their concerns, worries and anxieties with an 

experienced social worker  

 They will receive bespoke support which is provided at time that works best for 

them  

 They will feel supported and not judged 

 They will feel confident about contributing to Mailbox and other agreed contact 

arrangements. 

 

6.4 Consultation 

 
After Adoption were commissioned to carry out a series of consultation events with 

service user groups impacted by adoption on behalf of the ‘Coast to Coast’ Regional 

Adoption Agency. The purpose of the consultation events was to gain the views of 

those who have first-hand experience of the adoption process. The consultation 

events aimed to understand service users’ previous experiences of the adoption 

process and to understand their hopes, fears and recommendations for the future of 

adoption support as we move towards a regionalised adoption agency in the 

Cumbria, Durham and Sunderland regions. 

 
 Consultation was undertaken with the following key stakeholders: 

 

 Adoptive Parents 

 Birth Parents and Relatives 

 Adopted Adults 

 Adopter Children and Young People 

 

 

In order to gather feedback from as many people as possible within the consultation 

the approach was two-fold. Face to face consultation events were held in Durham 

and Cumbia and an online consultation survey was circulated via Local Authority and 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies involved in the Coast to Coast Regional Adoption 

Agency.  

 

Page 302



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 17 of 37 

Adoptive Parents 

 

The key messages from the adoptive parents who took part in the consultation events 

were that they wanted to build professional, sustained relationships with staff who 

were reliable, passionate and knowledgeable about adoption. They also wanted to 

be able to access training throughout the adoption journey, in various forms (face to 

face and online) and be able to access support without fear of judgement and 

criticism.  

 

The adoptive parents reported clear hopes and concerns regarding what a Regional 

Adoption Agency will mean for those receiving services. The adoptive parents would 

like the agency to ensure that local knowledge will not be lost, communication will be 

consistent and staffing issues will be addressed quickly and without direct impact on 

the individual family’s adoption journey.  

 

Birth Parents and Relatives 

 

All of the parents involved in the consultation had received support from After 

Adoption in relation to the adoption of their child(ren).  

 

Birth parents feel that support throughout the process is very important. They 

welcome support and counselling and it is important to them that they do not feel 

judged.  

 

Those consulted said that they had had appreciated the emotional support and 

counselling support offered with one participant highlighting that the support offered 

had enabled them to maintain post adoption contact arrangements with their child, 

and another parent had added that After Adoption (alongside the local authority) had 

kept them informed of the adoption process however had also enabled them to 

understand other post adoption support available to them.  

 

Adopted Adults 

 

Accessing adoption information needs to be easy to obtain. Just under half the people 

who were consulted had not had a good experience and the recommendation from 

the consultation is that this area of the service is further developed in the Regional 

Adoption Agency. 

 

When asked to rate the experience when dealing with their local authority/ agency 

with regard to the information, advice and support received, the majority of 

participants had stated that this had been fair, good or excellent. It is evident that 

positive working relationships had contributed to this. 

 

Page 303



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 18 of 37 

The importance of openness in adoption generally, and benefit of allowing children 

to have the greatest understanding of their heritage and background as possible. This 

highlights the need ensure that openness in adoption is supported by the Regional 

Adoption Agency moving forwards. 

 

Adopted Children and Young People 

 

Further work will be undertaken with Children and Young People using existing 

groups as attendance at the scheduled consultation events had low attendance and 

therefore it was not possible to undertake the engagement as originally planned. 

 

 

6.5 Case Study Examples 

 
Set out at appendix A are three case studies.  

 

Case study one is an example of how a trial of Early Permanence is having a positive 

impact on outcomes for children. 

 

Case study two is an example of how working together in a Regional Adoption 

Agency means that there is a much bigger pool of Adopters and therefore ensuring 

the best possible match for the Child and the Adopter Family. The three partner 

organisations are already running events jointly and sharing best practice. 

 

Case study three is an example of the different outcome which might have been 

achieved if our new ways of working with the Regional Adoption Agency had been in 

place at the time of the adoption. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 304



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 19 of 37 

7. How the Service will be Delivered  
 

7.1 High Level Processes and Pathways 

Child Journey 

 

 

Adopter Journey 

 

 
 

Sufficiency

• Develop a sufficiency plan

• Forward Planning

Marketing

• Campaigns

• Targeted

• Website

• Use of Multi-Media

• Strong Brand
• Information events

Enquiry

• Start to filter at this stage

• Initial visits

• initial assessment

• Manager oversight

• Registration of Interest

• second time adopters and foster carers 
fast-tracked to stage 2

Stage 1 (8 weeks)

• Allocate social worker

• Stage 1 plan

• Undertake statutory checks

• Virtual pre-assessment

• Management oversight

• Letter to proceed

• Training

Stage 2

• Assessment

• Mid stage review

• Write Prospective Adopter Report (PAR)

• Management oversight

• Submit to panel

• Training

Panel / ADM (within 4 mths of start of 
stage 2)

• Panel - recommendation to ADM

• ADM decision

• Post approval training

• Ongoing contact / support

• Annual Review

• Linkmaker / Adoption Match registration 
after 3 months

Pre-Birth or Pre-Child Looked After

• Pre-proceedings Public Law Oultine

• RAA notificed and tracked by family 
Finding team

• Family Assessment completed

• Concurrency / Foster to Adopt considered

• Consider adopters of any siblings

Child Looked After

• Assessment of siblings

• Initiate care proceedings

• Assess family and siblings

• Child Adoption Medical

• Direct work with child / observations / 
interactions

• Life Story Work

• Guardian for the child

Permanence

• Permanence plan by 2nd review -
recommendation plan for adoptions

• Child Permanence Report

• Inform RAA

Agency Decision Maker / SHOPA

• ADM decision - should be placed for 
adoption

• Family Finding plan

• Family Finding commences

• Considered at tracking and matching 
meetings

• Notify birth parents

Placement Order

• Final hearing

• Placement Order and care order

• RAA already linking and matching

Page 305



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 20 of 37 

Matching Process 

 
 
 

Interactions between the Local Authority and the RAA and VAA 

 

 
 
 

  

Matching

• Family finding plan

• Tracking meetings

• Joint activity days

• Matching meetings

• Chemistry meetings

• Exchange days

• Preparation of the child

Panel / ADM

• Prepare paperwork for panel

• Develop support plan

• Prepare draft introductions

• Medical Adviser

• Panel - recommendation to ADM

• ADM Decision

• Notify birth parents

Placement Planning

• Placement planning meeting

• Introduce child to adopters

• Review 

• Continue introductions

• Child appreciation days

Placement

• Child placed

• Statutory visits

• Reviews

• within 10 wks of placement, settling in 
letter to birth parents

• Support for child and adopters (adoption 
support)

• meeting adopters and birth parents

• Therapeutic Parenting work

Court

• Application and reports to court

• Attend Court

• Order granted

• Notify birth parents

• Celebration event

• Later life letter and life story book

• Post adoption support

• Cease being Looked After

Support

• Deliver support plan

• Post Box

Planning / Forecasting

• Management Information 

• RAA analyse and produce reports for 
LA/VAA

• Early notification

Early Permanence / Timely permance 
planning

• The principle of early permanence is 
agreed - delivery to be determined

• This feeds the planning and Forecasting

Life Story Work

• Standards and quality assurance is set by 
the RAA

• Possible Electronic Solution for Book

• Life Story Work to be undertaken by the 
Child Social Worker and Foster Carer

• Starts from entry to care

Family Finding and Matching

• Regular tracking and matching meetings

CPR / Panel / ADM

• Panel process is in the RAA

• ADM depends on the early permanence 
model

• Need standard panel documents

• Panel papers should be Electronic

Page 306



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 21 of 37 

7.2 Functions and Responsibilities 

 
Set out below are different models for Adopter recruitment and the Child’s journey. 

The RAA wants to take a transformational approach with a strong relationship 

between the RAA and the VAA organisations as described in section 5.3 and it wants 

to implement Early Permanence planning as described in section 5.4. Set out below 

are the key differences in approach. 

 
 

Scenario 1a – Traditional Model of RAA 
Adopter Recruitment 
 

- RAA responsible for Adopter Recruitment 
(includes: Recruitment, Assessment, Support, 
Training, Matching) 

- Local Authority would be responsible for the 
Child 

- RAA would undertake the Family Finding 

- RAA would be ADM for the Adopter 
Recruitment decision 

Scenario 1b – Traditional Model of Interagency 
Recruitment (from VAA) 
 

- VAA responsible for Adopter Recruitment 
(includes: Recruitment, Assessment, Support, 
Training, Matching) 

- Local Authority would be responsible for the 
Child 

- RAA would undertake the Family Finding 

- VAA would be ADM for the Adopter 
Recruitment decision 

 

Scenario 3 – Shared Adopter Recruitment 
 

- RAA and VAA are responsible for Adopter 
Recruitment (includes: Recruitment, 
Assessment, Support, Training, Matching) 

- VAA would be ‘commissioned’ to deliver a 
number of Adopter families to help meet 
sufficiency over a period of time (e.g. 3-5 years) 

- RAA would undertake the Family Finding with 
VAA at the table 

- RAA and VAA would be ADM for the Adopter 
Recruitment decision (depending on who 
recruited) 

- Interagency fee applies if Adopter is recruited 
by the VAA 

Scenario 2 – Traditional Model of Child 
Permanence 
 

- Local Authority responsible for the Child until 
the Child is no longer looked after 

- RAA would undertake the Family Finding 

- Local Authority would be ADM for the Match 
decision 

Scenario 4 – Early Permanence 
 

- Local Authority would be responsible for the 
Child up to Placement Order 

- RAA would then be responsible for the Child 

- RAA would undertake the Family Finding 

- RAA would be ADM for the Match decision 

 

Traditional Models Transformational Models 

 
 

The Functions tables set out below show who is responsible for the function 

depending on the different scenarios as outlined above. It should be noted that some 

functions can be commissioned.  

Page 307



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 22 of 37 

In the tables below  

 

X is used to denote Traditional 

(n) is used to denote Transformational Scenario (see above) 

Y is used where the function would always be undertaken by that organisation 

J is used to denote where a function is undertaken jointly 

Child Permanence Planning 

 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Early identification of child possibly requiring 
adoption 

  Y   

Tracking and monitoring of child possibly 
requiring adoption 

Y   

Support and advice to child social worker on 
adoption process 

Y   

Sibling or other specialist assessments if 
commissioned by Local Authority 

 Y  

Direct work to prepare child prior to 
placement 

(4) X  

Preparation of Child Permanence Report (4) X  

ADM for ‘should be placed for adoption’ 
(SHOPA) decision 

 Y  

Case management prior to the point agreed 
by LA ADM 

 Y  

Case management from the point of 
placement order 

(4) X  

 

Child / Adopter Matching and Placement 

 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Family finding Y     

Children Looked After reviews Involved (4) X  

Shortlist and visit potential families (4) J  

Organising child appreciation days Y   

Ongoing direct work to prepare child prior to 
placement 

(4) X  

Adoption Panel administration and 
management 

Y   

Agency Advisor role Y   

ADM for matching prospective adopters and 
child (agency for the child) 

(4) X  

Placement planning meetings administration 
and management of introductions 

Y IRO in 
Cumbria 

 

Page 308



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 23 of 37 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Support to family post placement and 
planning and delivery of adoption support 

(4) J (3) 

Ongoing Life Story work and preparation of 
Life Story Book 

(4) X  

IRO monitoring of quality of child’s care and 
care plan 

 Y  

Support prospective adopters in preparation 
and submission of application for Adoption 
Order – including attending court 

(4) J (3) 

Preparation of Later Life Letter (4) X  

 

Adopter Recruitment and Assessment 

 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Marketing and recruitment strategy Y Provision of 
information 

Provision of 
information 

Adopter recruitment and enquiries X  (3) 

Assessments of prospective adopters stage 1 
and stage 2 

X  (3) 

Completion of prospective adopter report X  (3) 

ADM for approval of adopters X   

 

Adoption Support 

 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Post Approval Training X   

Matching (4) J J 

Post placement training for prospective adopters X  (3) 

Assessment for adoption support Y   

Developing and delivering adoption support plans Y  J 

Agree and administer financial support to adopter 
families pre and post adoption order 

J J  

Adoption support delivery including: 

- Support groups 
- Social events 
- Post adoption training 
- Independent birth relative services 
- Support with ongoing birth relative 

contact 
- Specialist Life Story practitioners 
- Adoption counselling and training 

Y   

Therapeutic Services Y   

Psychology Services Y   

Page 309



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 24 of 37 

Others 

 

Process RAA LA VAA 

Special Guardianship Orders   Y   

Post Box Y   

Step parent / partner adoptions Y Y (Cumbria)  

Intercountry adoption support assessment, 
post approval and post order support 

Y   

Long Term Foster Placements  Y  

Foster to Adopt J J (3) 

Court Liaison (4) X  

Schools Liaison (4) X  

Final Quality Assurance / Consistency  

e.g. CPR / Life Story / Setting minimum 
standards 

(4) X  

Identify and share best practice J J J 

Relinquished Children (4) X  

 

 

7.3 Staffing Roles 

 
The proposed staffing roles for the RAA, as set out below, reflect the complexity of 
the new organisation. A full staffing structure will be set out in the Full Business Case. 
 

Role Description 

RAA Head of Service 
 

Accountable for delivery of the service  

 

Responsible to Directors of Children’s Social 
Care and the RAA Board 
 

Agency Decision Maker This would be the role of the Head of Service 

and / or Service Manager(s) 

 

Service Manager 
 

This is a large organisation – this is strategic 

and operational management role 

 

Team Manager Middle management roles 

 

Assistant Team Manager / 
Advanced / Senior Practitioners 
 

Practice lead who will deputise for the Team 

Manager 

Adoption Social Worker Career Grade Social Worker leading on the 

Adopter recruitment, assessment and support 

Page 310



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 25 of 37 

Role Description 

Family Finding Social Worker Career Grade Social Worker lead on Family 

Finding / Early Permanence and Matching 

 

Family Finding Support Workers 
 

 

Adoption Support Worker  
 

To provide Life Story Work support, training, 

calendar events, parenting work 

 

Business Support Officer / 
Performance and Information 
Officer 

Development and provision of management 

information 

 

Performance information 

 

Understands the IT systems – linked to reporting 

 

Analysis of information 

 

Marketing and Recruitment 
Officer 

Marketing in widest sense not just PR and 

promotion 

 

Senior Administration 
Administration Officers / 
Business support / Panel 
Administrator 
 

Administration Support to the RAA 

Therapists 
Psychologist 

Roles depending on the Adoption Support Offer. 

Some of this support may be commissioned 

 
 
 

  

Page 311



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 26 of 37 

8. Delivery Options 

8.1 Potential Legal Forms 

 
The Legal teams in the three Local Authorities developed an options paper which 

explored the potential delivery models for the RAA. 

 

The report identified four potential legal forms for the RAA as follows: 

 
Option 1: RAA hosted by single lead Council 

 

Under this model, one Council would act as lead authority and host the RAA on behalf 

of the other Councils under a shared service arrangement. No new legal entity is 

created. 

 

The host authority would act as the accountable body for the RAA and exercise the 

relevant statutory functions on behalf of the Councils.  

 

The host authority would therefore hold the pooled budget for the RAA, employ the 

relevant staff via TUPE and hold, or have rights to use, the relevant service assets. 

 

It would also be assumed that the host authority would provide all or most of the 

relevant support services to the RAA. 

 

Operational decision making within the RAA (i.e. the day-to-day agency decision 

maker functions) would be carried out by the host authority, whilst the strategic 

management and performance of the RAA would then be overseen by a partnership 

board, or potentially a formal joint committee, of the three Councils. 

 

This arrangement would be governed by a partnership agreement between the 

Councils under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972. This would appoint 

the host authority and formally delegate the exercise of the adoption functions of each 

Council to the host (subject to the supervision of the joint board or committee of the 

three Councils) for the duration of the RAA. The agreement would also cover, 

amongst other things, governance, budget/funding, performance framework, staff 

and assets. 

 

Option 2: RAA established as a jointly owned local authority company  

 

Under this model, the RAA would be established as a jointly owned local authority 

company by the three Councils. 

 

The relevant RAA adoption functions would then be performed on behalf of the three 

Page 312



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 27 of 37 

Councils on an arms’ length basis by the new jointly owned company via a service 

contract(s).  

 

The company would need to be Teckal1 compliant to enable the three Councils to 

contract directly with it for the performance of the relevant adoption functions for the 

duration of the RAA.  

 

Each Council would directly contribute to the company’s budget through an annual 

contract payment. The relevant staff and assets would transfer to the new company. 

 

Support service arrangements between the company and the Councils would also 

need to be established. As under this model there is no single lead authority, the 

support service functions could be apportioned across a number of the Councils. 

 

The Councils could rely on their powers under Sections 1 and 2 of the CYPA 2008 to 

formally contract out the performance of their adoption functions to the company, 

provided the company is registered with Ofsted as an adoption agency. 

 

As a requirement of the CYPA 2008, the company must be a “not for profit” body 

corporate. Therefore, the company would need to be limited by guarantee (rather 

than limited by shares) and the three Councils would be the sole members of the 

company. 

 

A company limited by guarantee has a well-established, clear and flexible 

governance model.  

 
The management of the company would be vested in the board of directors who 

would act in accordance with the defined objects and in the best interests of the 

company. The board would comprise of appointments made by the three Councils 

(although the board does not have to be limited to local authority officers and/o 

members and could include executive directors and/or co-optees). 

 

The company’s members (i.e. the three Councils)would be effectively the joint 

owners of the company and to whom certain key decisions may be reserved under 

the articles of association. 

 

The exact governance arrangements (e.g. the defined objects, the composition of 

the board and the scope and extent of the members’ reserved matters) could be 

designed to meet the requirements of the Councils. 

                                            
1 The company would need to meet the two limbs of the Teckal test to enable a lawful “in-house award” by each 
Council of a service contract to the company (i) control test (i.e. that the Councils jointly (in their capacity as members 
of the company) exercise a “decisive influence” over both the strategic objectives and key decisions of the company 
and there is no private capital participation within the company (i.e. no private VAA membership) and (ii) activities 
test (i.e. 80% of the company’s activities relate to tasks carried out for the three Councils). 

Page 313



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 28 of 37 

 
Option 3: RAA established as a joint venture company between the Councils and 

VAAs 

 
Under this model, the RAA would be formed as a joint venture company between the 

Councils and third parties (e.g. other VAAs). 

 

The key difference between this model and Option 3.2 is that in this case the company 

would not be solely owned by the three Councils and would have third party (private) 

participation in terms of membership and voting rights.  

 

Putting to one side key commercial questions such as the extent of these third party 

rights and the level of control that the Councils would want to exert within the 

company, this arrangement would not be compliant with the Regulation 12 PCR 2015 

public procurement exemptions. Therefore, a public procurement exercise would be 

required in order to appoint the relevant joint venture partners. 

 

Accordingly, subject to clarifying the intended role (if any) of existing VAAs within the 

proposed RAA, it is not considered that this option is an appropriate form of structure 

for the RAA. 

 

Option 4: Appoint a third party to act as the RAA 

 
There are two potential options under this model: 

 

1. Appointment by the Councils of TfC to act as the RAA 

 

This is a potential variation on Option 1 if TfC (rather than Sunderland Council) was 

to participate in the arrangement on the basis that it was agreed TfC should act as 

the “host authority” for the other two Councils. 

 

TfC is a contracting authority in its own right (as a wholly owned subsidiary company 

of Sunderland Council which has been established to meet needs in the public 

interest) and a registered VAA. Therefore, it would be appear that a shared services 

arrangement between Durham, Cumbria and TfC under which TfC was to act as the 

“host” authority could be lawfully implemented pursuant to Regulation 12 of the PCR 

2015 (mutual co-operation between contracting authorities to provide public services 

in the public interest (see Section 2 above)) and Section 1 of the CYPA 2008.  

 

This option would require a shared services agreement for the duration of the RAA 

similar to Option 3.1. The services contract between TfC and Sunderland Council for 

the provision of Sunderland’s adoption services would need to be at least co-terminus 

with this shared services agreement.  

Page 314



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 29 of 37 

 

2. Appointment by the Councils of a third party (other than TfC) to act as the RAA 

 

Under this option, the Councils would effectively appoint a third party VAA (or 

consortium of VAAs) to act as the RAA on their behalf. 

 

As with Option 3.3, this would require a procurement process to identify and appoint 

the third party provider. The Councils would then contract with the third party for the 

performance of the RAA functions and the relevant staff would TUPE transfer to the 

provider. 

 

Under this option, the Councils would still need to co-ordinate their contract 

governance and management arrangements via a lead authority. 

 

In the circumstances, it is not considered that this option is an appropriate form of 

structure for the RAA. 

 

8.2 Conclusion  

 

Following an initial review of the potential models for the RAA, it has been identified 

that in principle the following could potentially be appropriate models for the RAA: 

 

(I) RAA hosted by single lead authority; 

(II) RAA established as a jointly owned local authority company; or 

(III) RAA hosted by Together for Children. 

 

These options were considered by the RAA Governance Board and concluded that, 

their preferred model was either the RAA hosted by a single lead authority or the RAA 

hosted by Together for Children. 

 

 

  

Page 315



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 30 of 37 

9. Plan and Next Steps / Risk Assessment 

9.1 Overall Project Plan 

 
There are five stages to the project: 

The next stage of the project is to develop the Full Business Case which will include the 

detailed service design, staffing and financial implications of the Regional Adoption Agency.  

 

The Key milestones for the project are: 

 Outline Business Case approved by all three partners – January 2019 

 Full Business Case approved by all three partners – March 2019 

 Live – October 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision (OBC)
Service Design 
(Full Business 

Case)

Implement 
new Service

Transition
Go Live & 
Maximise 
benefits

Outline Business 
Case

•Establish 
Governance

•Develop Vision 
and Objectives

•Stakeholder 
Engagements and 
Workshops

•Scope

•Major Decisions

•Baseline

Full Business Case

•Service Design

•Customer 
Interface

•HR Staffing

•Accommodation 
proposal

•ICT and Systems 
proposal

•Governance 
Model

•Critical Success 
Factors

•Overall business 
benefits / 
outcomes

•Financial 
Business Case

Implementation

•Legal

•Finance

•Performance 
Management

•Commissioning 
Arrangements 
(VAA)

•HR & Staffing

•ICT purchase and 
install

•Brand

•Information 
Governance

•Accommodation

•Communications 
and Engagement

•Design - policies 
and procedures

Transition - LA's

•New Ways of 
Working

•New Staffing 
Structures

•Redesign of 
services (where 
fostering and 
adoption 
combined)

•Contracts

•Revised ICT

Transition to RAA

•Set up ICT system 
/ test

•Staff training / 
Workforce 
development

•Team Building

•Records Transfer

•Organisational 
Development / 
Culture

•Establish the 
business

•Logistics

Page 316



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 31 of 37 

9.2 Project Governance Arrangements 

 
The existing project management and governance arrangements will remain in place 
throughout the project. 
 
 

 
 
 

9.3 High Level Risk Register 

 
The following risks have been identified for the next phase of the project: 

 

Risk H/M/L Mitigation 

Staff are not engaged and on board with the 
development of Coast to Coast   

 

M Staff continue to be involved in the 
development of the RAA 

Costs of new service are too high and or 
unsustainable.   
 

H Detailed financial plans are developed 
for the Full Business Case. This will 
include sensitivity analysis of what 
would happen if there was an increase 
or decrease in the number of 
adoptions 

Sharing risk and gain - there is a risk that one or 
more Coast to Coast partners might not commit 
due to lack of assurance on cost / benefit 

M Transparency and option dialogue 
about the potential risk and gains for 
each organisation 

WorkstreamsProject LeadsSponsors

Governance Board

(Chair: Margaret 
Whellans)

Project Board

(Chair: Ruth McHugh)

Practice and Performance

ICT

Finance

HR

Legal

Commissioning

Communications and 
Engagement

Project  Office

Page 317



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 32 of 37 

Risk H/M/L Mitigation 

 

Fail to achieve buy-in from Adopters and Children L Ensure there is the right level of 
engagement with Adopters and 
Children throughout the development 
of the service 

Children's care Planning Teams fail to come on 
board with the RAA objectives.                                                                           
 

H Need strong leadership from all the 
Children's care planning team leads 
and need to involve them in the design 
of the service. Project team consider 
this issue now as to how best to 
engage and begin changes.Actions on 
how to do this should be updated and 
brought to Board regularly 
 

It isn't possible to recruit a Head of Service in time 
to go live in October 2019  
 

H Start recruitment process as early as 
possible after the Full Business Case 
is approved 
 

ICT system cannot be implemented in time, 
impacting on service delivery 
 

M Work has already started on the 
specification of the ICT requirements 

Lack of involvement of Medical Advisors is a risk 
to good continuity of service once live 
 

H Involve Medical Advisers as soon as 
possible in the development and 
design of the panel arrangements 
 

Adopter recruitment and sufficiency becomes an 
issue for the RAA prior to going live 

H Consider recruitment of a dedicated 
Marketing and Recruitment officer as 
part of the project 
 

Information Governance issues may prevent 
effective working and sharing of data before and 
after going live 

H Need to establish IG workstream as 
soon as possible to understand the 
issues and build in solutions 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 318



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 33 of 37 

Appendix 1 – Case Study Examples 
 

A1.1 Early Permanence 

 
Children:- Jake and Abigail (not their real names) – twins, born on 14th November 
2017. 
 
History 
 

Jake and Abigail’s birth parents were both in prison when the pregnancy became 
known to Children’s Services. The Support and Protect Team carried out their 
assessments and concluded that due to the nature of the offences, they could not 
safely care for their unborn children. Other family members were considered, but no-
one identified who could potentially meet the children’s needs.  
 
The babies’ due date was November 2017. The Support and Protect Team made a 
referral for consideration of a Foster to Adopt placement on 17th August 2017. This 
enabled good planning to take place. Due to the extensive adverse publicity about 
the parents’ offences, it was agreed that a placement outside Cumbria would benefit 
the children in the longer term.   
 
Through the contract with ARCAdoption NE, potential Foster to Adopt carers were 
identified by the Family Finder. They had not yet been approved, but were due to be 
considered at the ARC Panel in October 2017. Their draft PAR (Prospective Adopters 
Report) was shared with the Family Finder and children’s Social Worker, and they 
were subsequently approved as adopters.    The Family Finder and Social Worker 
met the adopters to share information about the unborn children and the family 
background. A Planning meeting took place on 20th October 2017 and on 1st 
November 2017 the Agency Decision Maker in Cumbria approved the adopters as 
foster carers for the two specific children. As ARC is not a Fostering agency, a Social 
Worker from the Cumbria fostering service was allocated to support them as 
temporary foster carers. 
 

The Placement 
 

Jake and Abigail were born in hospital on 14th November 2017. Their birth mother 
had further contact with them the following day. On 15th November, at 1 day old, they 
moved to live with their Foster to Adopt carers- and they remain there. 
 
Jake and Abigail are developing well and it is evident they have a secure attachment 
with their carers.  
 
The children have had some limited contact with birth family members, including their 
mother. The children are now wary of strangers and one contact had to be cut short 
due to their distress. 
 

Page 319



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 34 of 37 

Attempts have been made to engage birth family to contribute to the life story books, 
with variable success- however, the birth mother is keen to ensure the children have 
a full and helpful record of their birth family.    
 
 

Legal Issues 
 

In February 2018, the children’s paternal grandparents made an unexpected request, 
via their son, to be assessed as permanent carers for the children. The court ordered 
an independent Social Work assessment, which was negative. The final hearing was 
delayed pending the assessment, and then again when the grandparents had not 
taken legal advice. It took place in October 2018 when a Placement Order was 
granted. The match will be considered at Adoption Panel in November 2018. 
 
 

Outcomes 
 

Jake and Abigail have been able to live with their intended permanent family from 
being 1 day old. The close bond and secure attachment are clearly seen. This is likely 
to lessen the problems for them as they grow up, their care and development having 
been uninterrupted.  
 
The adopters have had to live with the extended period of legal proceedings which 
has not been easy. However, they are clear this uncertainty is worth enduring for the 
opportunity to be with Jake and Abigail from birth.  
 
The early completion of assessments and identification of the need for a placement, 
and the contract with a VAA (Voluntary Adoption Agency) provider outside Cumbria, 
allowed the placement to be well planned and considered, so support was in place 
prior to the children’s birth. The continued close working between the Children’s 
Social Worker, the Family Finding team, the Adopter’s Social Worker and the 
Fostering Social Worker has reduced anxiety and supported the children and the 
adopters towards the making of a Placement Order and matching under Adoption 
Regulations prior to an Adoption order.   
 
 
Had the children not been placed in a Foster to Adopt placement, their move to their 
adoptive home would a have taken place when they were over a year old. They have 
been able to live with their permanent family from being one day old. The risks have 
therefore stayed with the adults for the benefit of the children.  
 
 
 

What difference will it make being in the Regional Adoption Agency? (RAA) 
 

The Early Permanence approach will be embedded as a key principle across the 
whole RAA which supports children being placed with adoptive parents as soon as 
practicably and legally possible.  As a result of the strong partnership with the VAA 
Alliance, effective joint sufficiency planning and targeted adopter recruitment across 
the whole geographical area the ‘pool’ of prospective and approved adopters will be 

Page 320



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 35 of 37 

larger.  Consequently, the likelihood of a suitable match being made earlier will be 
enhanced, securing the desired loving, safe and secure family environment for 
children looked after.   The positive outcomes for children illustrated in this case study 
will be delivered for many more children looked after and at the same time adopter 
experience will be improved. 

 
 

A1.2 Working Together 

 
This is an anonymised case study based on a real case. The names in the case study are 
not the real names. 
 
Oliver was born in September 2016. He has three half siblings, Emma (born 2009), Jack 
(born 2012) and Charlie (born 2014).  Emma is adopted and Charlie and Jack were placed 
in foster care alongside Oliver in September 2016. Their final hearing was 7th August 2017, 
Placement Orders were granted for all three children and the court agreed with the plan to 
family find for Charlie and Jack together, and Oliver on his own.  
 
A family member came forward in October 2017 and a viability assessment was requested. 
However the viability assessment was not positive and family finding progressed again.  
  
Oliver was considered a harder to place child as he has significant developmental delay and 
there is considerable uncertainty about his future development. He has benefited from a 
package of physiotherapy, hydrotherapy and also portage and has made slow but steady 
progress.  Given his complex needs it was clear he would require adopters who understood 
that he would always be delayed developmentally, could require special educational needs 
provision and may need support into adulthood and beyond.  
 
Extensive family finding was undertaken which included profiling Oliver on Link Maker and 
Adoption Match, at the Consortium Exchange meeting, in-house linking meetings with 
attendance from our regional voluntary partners, and Coast to Coast Family Finding 
Meetings.  He was also profiled at National Coraam BAAF Exchange days. All potential links 
were followed up but unfortunately none progressed. Potential adopters generally withdrew 
any interest expressed due to Oliver’s complex needs and the uncertainty about his future 
development.  
 
Due to the ongoing collaboration between Durham, Cumbria and Sunderland as part of 
Regionalisation, this created the opportunity for Oliver to attend an Activity Day held in 
Cumbria on the 21th April 2018. Oliver attended this event with his foster carers and a link 
was made with prospective adopters, Ben and Sophie. They had the opportunity to chat to 
his foster carers, spend time with Oliver and having felt a connection with him, registered 
their interest to adopt him.  
 
Following exchange of CPR and PAR as well as other information sharing opportunities, the 
decision was made to progress with the match. Sophie and Ben had the opportunity to meet 
his portage worker and to observe a portage session, and to meet his physio and observe 
a hydrotherapy session. Consultations were also held with the foster carer, and medical 
advisor. The adopters also had additional meetings with Oliver and his foster carer prior to 
panel as Oliver could be very clingy to her and it was felt that these informal meetings would 

Page 321



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 36 of 37 

assist Oliver’s transition within introductions. Matching panel was held 1st August 2018 and 
Oliver was placed with Ben and Sophie in August 2018.  
 
The collaboration between Durham, Cumbria and Sunderland has already led to this 
successful match of a hard to place child, prior to the Regional Adoption Agency going live. 
Had Oliver not attended the joint activity day it is unlikely that prospective adopters would 
have been found since extensive family finding had already been undertaken with no 
success. Furthermore, the joint working prior to and following Panel, has benefited and will 
continue to benefit Oliver.  

 
 

A1.3 How the RAA would have made a difference 

 

This is an anonymised case study.  The names have been changed. 
Age - 4 years old 
Gender – Male 
Race – White British 
 
Ethan was born 4 weeks prematurely and hospital staff observed that he appeared to have 
symptoms that were commensurate with withdrawal symptoms for amphetamine and both 
mother and baby tested positively for amphetamines.  Hospital staff also reported that birth 
mother presented as under the influence of alcohol when attending hospital to give birth, 
however, this is an allegation that she refutes.  Birth mother has a history of alcohol and 
substance misuse she states that this started when she began to rely more heavily on 
alcohol after her relationship with her partner started to experience difficulties. Birth mother 
has had significant involvement with the police as a consequence of her substance misuse 
and reports from hospital staff state that she was under the influence of alcohol or other 
substances whilst she was in labour although she strongly denies this.   
 
Birth mother’s relationships have, according to her, always been characterised by domestic 
violence. 
 
Ethan has two adult siblings who live with their respective fathers, one adult sibling who was 
relinquished for adoption when a baby. 
 
Ethan is fiercely determined, fearless, confident, loveable and cute. He tends to make a 
decision from the outset to either fully engage with what is going on around him or remain 
stand offish. He has a very good sense of humour for one so little and he is able to engage 
someone as soon as they walk into the room. 
 
He is a very smiley, happy little boy; he shows his pleasure through smile, singing and 
dancing around the room. He giggles and likes cuddles when he is happy. He can express 
sadness, he is able to tell you when he is sad and will seek reassurance.  
 
When Ethan is highly excited he sometimes struggles to manage this and can become over 
excited, this can be regulated by his carers and he can be distracted in to another task or 
activity.  
 

Page 322



Outline Business Case – Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 37 of 37 

Emotionally, Ethan is continuing to develop and through Theraplay that is being provided 
his ability to not only identify his own emotions but to also seek out reassurance from his 
female carer has improved greatly. He can have tantrums however; using the Theraplay 
techniques these are much shorter in duration. He is also able to regulate his emotions more 
positively. 
 
Ethan would like a family of his own especially a dad. 
 
 
What difference will it make being in the Regional Adoption Agency? (RAA) 

As the principle of early permanence is a key feature within the business processes of the 
RAA, engagement with Ethan’s mother could potentially start pre-birth and permanence 
options for Ethan explored sooner.  
 
Should adoption be the identified solution family finding could begin sooner, alongside 
preparing Ethan and his mother for the adoption journey.  Early life story work could also be 
undertaken so that Ethan’s family history is not lost.   
 
Due to the circumstances of Ethan’s early start in life and its impact on his behaviour finding 
a suitable adopter family from with a single local authority adopter pool might be difficult.    
 
Within the RAA the pool of potential adopters would be much wider so identification and 
matching with an adopter family is likely to be more successful and at an earlier stage.  The 
adoption support offer that has been developed for the RAA will also ensure that Ethan’s 
adopters get access to appropriate help and support when they need it and not just 
immediately before and after adoption.  The birth family support will also ensure that Ethan’s 
mother has the offer of support should she choose to access it. 
 
Ethan is likely to get a family of his own (and a Dad) that is more likely to meet his needs 
and much quicker so Ethan can live in a safe, loving and stable family. 
 

  

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 New project proposal 

Regional Adoption Agency Programme Expansion   

Proposal for new project 

Section 1: Contact details 

Name of RAA: Coast to Coast Regional Adoption Agency 

Lead contact  Karen Robb: Strategic Manager Looked After Children & 

Permanence 

Organisation and 

position 
Durham County Council 

Email address Karen.robb@durham.gov.uk 

Phone number 03000 265759 

Who is involved in your Regional Adoption Agency? 

Please list the 

organisations involved 

in your RAA project 

(including VAAs).  

 Cumbria County Council 

 Durham County Council  

 Together for Children Sunderland  
 

 VAA Alliance including: ARC Adoption NE, 
Barnardo’s, DFW Adoption, After Adoption and 
Caritas Care Adoption.  

 

 

 

Where have you got to so far? 

We are keen to understand the progress you have made i.e. the steps you have taken to 

get to this point and the lessons that have been learnt along the way. 

Section 2: What have you done and where are you now? 

Project summary – where are you now?  

 

This section should summarise discussions that have taken place around the 

development of the RAA, including what has already been agreed and at what level. 

 

This can be high level as there is a more detailed section on this below.  

 

This bid is to enable the working group to carry out the activity required to establish a 

regional adoption agency between Cumbria County Council, Durham County Council 

and Together for Children Sunderland, working with a VAA Alliance.  The VAA 

Alliance is made up of the following VAAs; After Adoption, ARC Adoption NE, 

Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and DFW Adoption.    

 

Page 325



 2 New project proposal 

The working group was formed in December 2016 and has been meeting regularly 

throughout this time looking towards the future development of a Regional Adoption 

Agency.  The group confirmed their intention to work together towards a RAA in March 

2017 in a telephone meeting with the DfE and confirmed this formally as requested 

October 2017.  The group is now in a position to make an application for funding to 

enable them to move on with the project work to form what will be the Coast to Coast 

Regional Adoption Agency.  The geographical area covered by the proposed RAA will 

be from the Cumbrian Coast in the West to the Durham and Sunderland Coast in the 

East across the North of England with the clear intention of creating a single service 

for adoption across the region.     

 

There are already in existence partnership arrangements between Cumbria, Durham, 

Sunderland and the proposed VAA Alliance.   There are some identified excellent 

practice examples arising from joint working between local authorities and the VAA’s 

in the region that would be replicated in the proposed Regional Adoption Agency.   

 

There have been regional matching and linking meetings in place for several years 

involving all local authorities and VAAs in the North East, and these have included 

Cumbria (although it sits within the North West region).  Cumbria also already has a 

contract with one VAA to provide placements, and the two agencies already hold joint 

linking and matching meetings.   

 

The best practice from both of the above is being further developed between the 

members of the proposed Coast-to-Coast RAA by formalising the matching and 

linking meetings with member agencies as opposed to the full regional group of local 

authorities and VAAs.   A pilot regional linking and matching meeting to include all 

partners of the Coast to Coast RAA is being held on 7 December 2017 feedback from 

this meeting has been that it had been particularly useful in identifying potential links 

and anticipating needs across the three local authority areas.  These will enable us to 

have a full picture of our current children and adopters and start to work together as a 

region, as well as starting to gain a better understanding of trends and future needs so 

the RAA can be responsive and anticipatory.  The meeting will consider, children prior 

to placement orders being made including complex sibling groups, children with 

placement orders and adopters at all stages of the adoption approval process.  As 

these meetings develop they will enable early linking to provide children with the best 

start in life as early as possible. We will ensure that the RAA maintains strong and 

sound working links into the Local Authorities in order to have early indication of 

children potentially needing an adoptive family.  

 

There is commitment from each member to work together in a single RAA across the 

geographical area proposed, to achieve:  

 

 A culture of early permanence planning in order to identify possible suitable 
adopters for children at the earliest possible stage during the care planning 
process to ensure the timeliness of the child living in their adoptive family.  

Page 326



 3 New project proposal 

 

 Marketing and Recruitment of adoptive families to meet the needs of a range of 
children, including sibling groups.   

 

 Assessment and training of adopters to a consistently high standard.   
 

 Development of services across the range of adoption functions by capturing 
the best practice from across the region and delivering this throughout the 
RAA.   

 

 Matching, linking and adoption support that enables children to live in 
supportive and safe placements with their adoptive families.  

 

 Pre and Post Adoption Support tailored to meet the needs of the children and 
adoptive families and to deliver this as a consistent package of support across 
the RAA area.   

 

 Effective and easily accessible Birth Parent Support. 
 

 Access to Intermediary Services.  
 

 Local authorities involved are aware that they will need to pool their funding for 
adoption into the RAA to achieve this, using the funding formula to be agreed in 
the project phase.  

 

 

Key roles in the project 

 

 Who will be the named sponsor with ownership of the project (Director of 

Children’s Services at a member local authority)? 

 Please provide a summary of the key roles and who will be doing them. Please 

identify your champions for recruitment, matching and early placement, and 

adoption support. 

 Has a project manager been appointed? 

 Will any additional staff join the project team? 

 What specialist advice do you think you will need during this phase and how 

will you access this advice? 

 

Named Sponsor  

 

Page 327



 4 New project proposal 

The named sponsor with ownership of the project development phase will be 

discussed and agreed in the first Governance Board Meeting to be held in February 

2018. 

 

The two Directors detailed below have both indicated their preparedness to be the 

sponsor and will agree who is best placed to carry out the role at this point in the 

aforementioned meeting in February 2018.    

 

 Margaret Whellans Corporate Director: Children and Young Peoples Service, 
Durham County Council  

 

 John Macilwraith Director of Children Services, Cumbria County Council.  
 

Governance Board  

 

This will be made up of Directors of Children’s Services. 

 

Monthly meetings – likely to be a mix of video conferencing and face-to-face 

meetings.   

 

The first Governance Board meeting is to be planned for the beginning of February 

2018 following on from the first Project Board meeting on 25 January 2018.  This 

meeting will start the work to develop the Terms of Reference for the Governance 

Board.   

 

Membership of the Governance Board 

 

 Margaret Whellans Corporate Director: Children and Young Peoples Service, 
Durham County Council  

 

 John Macilwraith Director of Children Services, Cumbria County Council.  
 

 Debra Patterson, Director of Children’s Social Care Together for Children 
Sunderland 

 

 Representative from the VAA Alliance – not yet confirmed but options currently 
put forward are Lynn Charlton CEO After Adoption and Terry Fitzpatrick, ARC 
Adoption North East 

 

Page 328



 5 New project proposal 

 Representative from the Project Board – to be confirmed at first Project 
Meeting in January 2018 

 

 Individuals will be invited to attend to discuss specific agenda items as and 
when required 

 

 Coach Ian Waters and DfE Officer Peter Windram to attend when invited 
 

Project Board  

 

Members of the Project Board will include the 3 operational leads from Cumbria, 

Durham and Together for Children Sunderland (Chair to be identified from one of 

these 3) and representative from VAA Alliance, the coach although not a formal 

member would be expected to attend. In addition once the Project Manager is 

appointed she/he will become a member of the Project Board.   

 

We have identified that there will be a need for representatives from 

CAMHS/therapeutic services and Head of the Virtual School to be part of the Project 

Board.  

 

The Project Board will meet monthly and following the meeting will feedback up 

directly to the Governance Board.  The first meeting of the Project Board has been 

planned for 25 January 2018.  This meeting will work on the development of the 

Terms of Reference for the Project Board.   

 

Membership of the Project Board 

 

 Karen Robb, Strategic Manager Looked After Children, Durham County Council 

 Ruth McHugh, Adoption Service Manager, Cumbria County Council  

 Kathryn McCabe, Lead Manager for Fostering and Adoption, Together for 
Children 

 Sue Holton, Business Development Manager, ARC Adoption NE – VAA 
Alliance Representative 

 Head of the Virtual School – to be agreed between Cumbria, Durham and 
Sunderland 

 Representative from CAMHS/Therapeutic Support Services 

 Coach Ian Waters and DfE Officer Peter Windram to attend when invited.   
 

Identified Champions/Initial Work Stream Leads 

 

Page 329



 6 New project proposal 

Early Permanence Planning including particularly further developments in Foster to 

Adopt and concurrency placements - Cumbria County Council: Ruth McHugh and 

Kathryn McCabe Together for Children Sunderland 

 

Matching and Linking – Cumbria County Council:  Ruth McHugh 

 

Adoption Support – Cumbria County Council: Ruth McHugh and Jane Gray  

 

Marketing and Recruitment – Together for Children Sunderland: Kathryn McCabe and 

Durham Council County: Karen Robb 

 

Identification of Best Practice – Durham County Council: Karen Robb together with 

representative from VAA Alliance  

 

ADM and Panel Decisions: Durham County Council: Karen Robb 

 

From the first meeting of the Project Board in January 2018 work on the development 

of additional work streams and leads will be identified.  

 

Appointment of a Project Manager  

 

The Project Manager has not yet been appointed.  Preliminary enquiries are being 

made via recruitment agencies to identify suitably experienced candidates who may 

be available within our timescale.    

 

Project Manager job descriptions from other RAAs will be used as a template for 

developing the job description for this post.  

 

Decision is yet to be made regarding whether Cumbria, Durham or Together for 

Children Sunderland will be responsible for the engagement of the Project Manager.   

 

This could be under a number of arrangements including:  

 

 Contracted on a daily or weekly rate 

 Officer already employed by one of the parties and seconded to the Project 
Manager post for the duration of the project 

 Employed on a fixed term contract 

Page 330



 7 New project proposal 

 

Additional staff identified as being required to join the Project Team  

 

 12 days of a social work consultant time has been commissioned to complete 
pieces of research and work with the organisations and the coach to prepare 
the Proposal for New Project document and facilitate the work leading up to 
April 2018.  This has been agreed and is funded by Cumbria County Council, 
Durham County Council and Together for Children Sunderland in equal parts.   
 

A lead from the VAA Alliance will be required as part of the Governance and 

Project Boards.  In addition in order to ensure that VAA members of staff are 

available to fully participate in the project development then financial support 

will be required to cover staff costs.  

 

 In order to ensure VAA participation in the development of the RAA financial 
support will be required for representatives to lead on the work stream in the 
identification of best practice and participate in specific pieces of work to 
ensure that clear needs analysis is completed.  

 
 

 Project Management Administration staff  
 

 The need for a data performance officer and analyst working across Cumbria, 
Durham and Sunderland has been identified as being required in order to 
gather and to analyse adoption data across the RAA.  This information is vital 
to provide base line data on which to identify current need and future trends. 
The work will also help us to develop reporting system for the future that 
enables the gathering of data across all of the RAA.  This work will identify 
where the best performance is, and how this can then be used to further 
explore practice and identify specific good practice to be replicated across the 
RAA. The role of the data performance officer in assessing and tracking 
sufficiency across the region and in producing shadow RAA data reports to the 
Project Board and Governance Board is key to understanding performance.  
Where the data is highlighting issues the Project and Governance Board can 
start to influence local authority practice during the 18-month project period.  
The expectation is that the costs to support these roles would come from the 
DfE funding allocation.   

 

 Consideration to be given to having identified hours available from a Children’s 
Commissioner in order to understand current contracting arrangements and 
explore any future contracting options during the sufficiency audit.  This will 
ensure that the RAA can move forward in a timely way with any specific 
services that need to be commissioned to provide continuation of current 
provision that is being bought in or options for future services that may be 
required.  This will be funded from the DfE funding allocation, either through 
appointment or backfill cover. 

 

 There is an identified need for IT staff to work across Cumbria, Durham and 
Sunderland to be able to explore the options around the linking of IT systems 

Page 331



 8 New project proposal 

and design implications of data sharing and formulation of a specific service for 
the RAA.  

 

Specialist Advice Required 

 

 We have identified the need for education input in the development of the RAA 
and will intend to invite Head of the Virtual School from Cumbria, Durham or 
Sunderland to be part of the project board.  
 

 CAMHS and therapeutic services would need to be part of consultation and 
development work and having a representative from CAMHS to provide 
specialist advice on service development will be required.   
 

 The support provided by the DfE coach allocated to us is essential in our 
progress along the journey to designing and planning implementation of the 
project.  

 

 Learning from Cohort 1 and 2 will be extremely useful and it is group’s intention 
to use the documentation on the portal to inform our planning.   

 

 Human Resources and Pensions/Unions/TUPE* 
 

 Governance and Legal* 
 

*HR/Pensions/TUPE/Commissioning/Governance and Legal are all areas where it 

may be possible to provide from within each organisation involved but this has yet to 

be fully considered and agreed.  Expectation would be that some back filling of posts 

would be required in order to have this work completed by members of staff from 

within each organisation who have a sound working knowledge of their own local 

authority.  Involvement of officers is likely to be throughout the 18 month period of the 

development project with dedicated time at varying levels the project processes.   

 

During the project development stage the expectation will be that HR information and 

views of experts in this area will be required as part of decision making and will 

therefore be invited to attend Governance and Project Board Meetings as required. 

Involvement of stakeholders 

 

 What plans do you have in place to manage change, communicate with and 

engage stakeholders? Who are your key stakeholders? 

 Have you had any discussions with voluntary sector organisations on their 

involvement in supporting the RAA? 

 What role do you envisage VAAs will play in the development of the project? 

 How do you propose to engage with the adopter voice? 

 How do you propose to engage with the voice of the child? 

Page 332



 9 New project proposal 

 What are your proposals for ensuring that VAAs and Adoption Support 

Agencies will play an ongoing role within your RAA after it has gone live? 

 

 

Stakeholders 

 

 Children  

 Adopters 

 Foster Carers 

 Birth families 

 Staff working within the Adoption Teams  

 Staff working in Children’s Care Planning Teams  

 Staff working in Fostering Services 

 Central List of Adoption Panel Members 

 Voluntary Adoption Agencies  

 Health and Education Services/Head of the Virtual School 

 Nursery Providers, Child Minders 

 CAMHS and therapeutic services for children and their families  

 Corporate Parenting Boards and elected members 
 

Communication methods will include newsletters both hard copy and online, 

information on respective websites, team meetings, briefing sessions, staff 

engagement sessions, cabinet reports and local press and social media, Cabinet and 

Council Meetings.   

 

Voluntary Sector Organisations  

 

Cumbria, Durham and Together for Children Sunderland have agreements in place 

with a range of voluntary sector organisations.  The plan will be for these to be looked 

at as part of a work stream looking at best practice and the commissioning of those 

bespoke services necessary to meet the identified needs.   

 

The role of the VAAs in development of the RAA project 

 

Cumbria, Durham and Together for Children Sunderland have already a working 

relationship with the group of VAAs.  It is expected that as a fourth member in the form 

of the VAA Alliance they will be fully involved in the development of the RAA project.   

 

Page 333



 10 New project proposal 

The VAA Alliance will be a member of the Project Board via their VAA Alliance 

representative.   

 

The role of the VAAs as part of the RAA in the future will be determined by the work 

undertaken in the audit of current services, adoption figures, projections and by jointly 

completed work to identify areas of good practice to be replicated across the RAA 

area.    

 

We have identified the need for a commissioner to work with us in the earlier stages to 

ensure that current arrangements are considered and maintained and future needs 

identified and plans made for commissioning where needed.  We are aware that VAAs 

will require some reassurances around the continued procurement of some services 

during the development stages of the RAA project.  By having a commissioner 

working with us we ensure that vital arrangements are maintained to provide services 

and to give the reassurances needed to VAAs during this period of change.  This work 

will also enable us to develop a sufficiency strategy that realistically reflects the 

provision that can be supplied from the RAA. The areas where placements and other 

services may need to be purchased from elsewhere on a commissioned or spot 

purchased basis.   

 

Adopter and Child Voice  

 

 Workshops with adopters, adopted adults and children during the initial stages 
and then again during the final 12 months as part of an evaluation on the 
development of the business plan.   

 

 Children’s social workers together with their managers and Independent 
Reviewing Officers engagement sessions.   

 

 Children in Care Council involvement in engagement sessions.   
 

 In order to capture the comments of adopters and children on their adoption 
experience, consideration being given to engaging one of the VAAs within the 
group to take a lead on this piece of work and for them to explore more creative 
ways of gathering and evaluating the information.  This will ensure that the 
views are used to develop specific services within the RAA.   

 

 Use of sensitively compiled questionnaires, direct work with young people, 
information from adopted adults, children’s social workers, adopter feedback, 
views of IRO and social care managers.   

 

Proposals to ensure VAAs will play an ongoing role in the RAA after it has gone 

Live.  

 

Page 334



 11 New project proposal 

The development of the new RAA will be worked on jointly with VAAs.  Identification of 

good practice and how to implement this across the RAA area is vital and it is likely 

that high quality practices from across all agencies including VAAs will be taken into 

the new RAA.  We will be considering the best people to carry out each part of the 

work to ensure the best outcomes for children.   

 

Commissioning and procurement expertise will be brought in as part of the work 

streams and once this is completed and evaluated then we will be in a better position 

to describe the role that VAAs will play after the RAA has gone Live.  We would 

anticipate the RAA will still need to use some interagency placements and the extent 

of this will be part of the work in developing a sufficiency strategy as stated above.  

 

 

Detailed design of the RAA – what you know so far 

The following section requests much more detail about your RAA. It explores what you 

know about what your RAA will look like when it’s up and running, rather than details about 

your project and getting to implementation. There is no expectation that this section will 

be completed in full. You may not know all of the answers at this stage, but where you do 

have any detail about your thinking so far then please do record it.  

Where you don’t yet know the answers to these questions, please outline the steps you 

will take to get there in your project plan (see section 5).   

Section 3: Design of your RAA 

 

Delivery Model 

Please describe what you know at this point about the following:  

 The options analysis approach you have taken. This should include what steps have 

been taken so far to come to any decisions about a preferred delivery model and if 

no decisions have been made yet, what options are being considered and how you 

will reach a conclusion on this?  

 The scope of the RAA and an initial statement about what services will be delivered 

by the RAA; will remain in the LAs; and will be commissioned from other 

organisations. 

 How will the RAA deliver the core functions of recruitment, matching, and adoption 

support (including for birth families and adult adoptees)? 

 The child’s and adopter’s journey through the LAs, VAAs and RAA. This should be 

provided in the format that you have used to capture this information. 

 How you will ensure your RAA focuses on excellent practice and improved 

outcomes for children? 

 

Options Analysis Approach 

Page 335



 12 New project proposal 

 

What steps have been taken so far about preferred delivery model 

 

The scoping and sufficiency work and the work stream developments will inform the 

options and decision for the delivery model.  We strongly believe that the model needs 

to be the one which best promotes excellent practice learning to improved outcomes for 

all children. In architectural terms “form ever follows function” the expectation is that 

once functions are agreed based on data analysis and exploration of best practice, 

finance added, then how the organisation is structured will follow.  We will also consult 

with RAAs from the first phase to understand the decisions they have made and their 

relevance to our RAA.  

 

No decisions have been made regarding the preferred delivery model, this being a task 

for the first six months of the project, however there are a number of things we do know 

at this stage.  

 

 There will be a single management structure across the Coast to Coast RAA.  
 

 That the formation of the RAA will require a pooling of adoption budgets from 
Cumbria, Durham and Sunderland.  

 

 The delivery of services on a day-to-day basis due to the geographical limitations 
would rule out working from one location.  Therefore services would be delivered 
from multiple locations on a Hub and Spoke Model.   

 

 Agile working facilities would be required for staff.  
 

Scope of the RAA 

 

 Early permanence planning 

 Marketing and Recruitment of adopters 

 Assessment and training of adopters 

 Matching and linking  

 Pre and Post Adoption Support  

 Birth Parent Support 

 Intermediary Services 
 

The expectation would be that all adoption functions as currently carried out by Cumbria, 

Durham and Together for Children Sunderland or commissioned by them would be in 

scope of the new RAA.  The commissioning of inter-agency placements as undertaken 

currently would continue. It is anticipated that post adoption support services that are 

currently being commissioned will remain in the initial stages of services delivery in order 

Page 336



 13 New project proposal 

to provide consistent support to children and adopters. The expectation would be that at 

some point the RAA would jointly procure services across the region.   

 

We will review the functions currently delivered by VAAs, and also consider what 

functions can be better commissioned from VAAs, in the meantime we will seek to 

provide some clarity and reassurance to the VAA provides about their existing contracts 

and likely extension.   

 

What at present is out of scope of the RAA  

 

Special Guardianship Order assessments and subsequent support services have not 

been included in the scope of the Coast to Coast RAA at this point.  However, there will 

be an opportunity for the advantages and disadvantages of inclusion or not of Special 

Guardianship to be explored during the 9 – 12 month stage of the development project.   

 

Legacy Adoption Services including adoption allowance payments agreed prior to the 

setting up of the RAA will remain as part of existing services and only new allowances 

will be part of the RAA.   

 

 

 HR and staffing implications 

Please set out what you know, if anything, about the HR and staffing implications for the 

RAA. Again, this should include thinking so far. If possible, it should set out:   

 A description of how the new organisation will be staffed and managed and the 

capability anticipated for each team. 

 Consideration of any resource or staffing implications, particularly TUPE and 

pension implications. 

 Your plans regarding engagement/consultation with staff and unions. 

 

How will the new organisation be staffed and managed 

 

We will not be able to provide staffing structure detail until work planned within each of 

the work steams is complete and is evaluated, from this work will come a plan for how 

the new organisation will be staffed and managed to meet the needs of children in the 

most effective way.  We also need to consult with existing RAAs and learn from their 

experiences.  

 

The role and function of Adoption Panels across the region will be part of the one of the 

work streams and again more details on how panels will work as part of the RAA will be 

Page 337



 14 New project proposal 

identified.  There is an expectation that there will be reconfiguration of some adoption 

panels to meet the needs of a RAA given the geographical area covered.   

 

We do know that the Coast to Coast RAA will be a single managed structure.   

 

Consideration to resources/staffing implications including TUPE/Pensions 

 

Cumbria, Durham and Together for Children all have dedicated adoption social workers.  

Part of the HR work stream will be to explore the implications for bringing together staff 

from each local authority.  How this will work is dependent upon the delivery model 

identified and when this has been agreed then HR staff can begin exploring options 

including TUPE should this be required.  

 

Where they are posts that are shared across other disciplines in addition to adoption 

then consideration of how these posts would be configured as part of the RAA would be 

needed.  

 

Cumbria County Council are currently working on reconfiguring teams in the light of the 

RAA to more clearly identify team functions and budgets.   

 

 

Engagement with Staff and Unions 

 

Staff directly involved with the provision of adoption services are aware of the 

regionalisation plans to form a Regional Adoption Agency bringing together Cumbria, 

Durham and Together for Children Sunderland together with VAAs from across the 

region.  Broadening out the range of groups linked to adoption provision and ensuring 

they are kept up to date will form part of a communication strategy.  Staff and unions will 

be invited to take part in information sharing and engagement sessions when more is 

known about HR implications and possible staffing structures.   

 

 IT design 

Please set out what you know, if anything, about the IT implications for the RAA. If 

possible, it should set out:   

 What these systems will be and how they are different to and will integrate with 

existing systems across the different organisations that are part of the RAA. 

 Are there any specific IT issues/complications that you think may impact on the 

progress of the RAA at this stage?  

 IT Systems 

Page 338



 15 New project proposal 

 

Dedicated IT support will be required from the start of the project work in April 2018.   

 

Liquid Logic Data System will be common to:  

 

Together for Children Sunderland from January 2018  

Durham County Council from September 2018  

Cumbria County Council – currently using Liquid Logic  

 

The collating of data required for Regional Adoption Agency monitoring, ALB Returns 

and Ofsted Inspections is an area that will require IT expertise and agreement for 

information sharing across all 3 of the organisations where the planning for children 

needs to be captured as data.  Understanding this data is crucial to ensure that 

children’s needs are met and they are effectively linked and supported.   

 

Liquid Logic development work on a linking system between authorities is currently in 

progress. Coast to Coast would require such a system, updates on progress of this 

development will need to be shared with the Governance and Project Boards.    

 

Specific IT/Complications that may impact  

 

How this will link with recruitment activity from the VAAs within the RAA and how this 

feeds into the performance between each will need to be explored.  

 

Learning from Cohort 1 and 2 will be useful together with work already done on this by 

Liquid Logic in relation to other RAAs currently in design and implementation phases.   

 

Performance data on adopter recruitment, assessment and approval requires a system 

to be devised to enable performance to be evaluated across all organisations making up 

the RAA.   

 

 

Future Plans 

We would like to understand a little more about your longer term plans, appreciating that 

you are still at an early stage on your journey. 

Section 4: Vision for your RAA 

 

Looking Ahead 

Please outline any thinking that you have undertaken about the following:  

 What is your vision for the RAA and what specifically are you looking to improve as 

a result of establishing an RAA? 

Page 339



 16 New project proposal 

 What are the strengths of the local adoption system; are you looking strategically 

towards preserving and developing them? 

Vision for an RAA 

We aspire to develop a Regional Adoption Agency that will improve quality of services 

for children and develop services that are built on the best practice aspects of the LAs 

and the VAAs and promote the best outcomes for children, their adopters and their 

families; and maintain this consistently across the Cumbria, Durham and Together for 

Children Sunderland area.   

During our work over the past 12 months we have identified a number of ways in which 

we are able to work closely and improve performance and the quality of services 

provided to children and adopters.  We believe in working together in developing a 

Regional Adoption Agency with colleagues from the VAAs we can improve the child and 

adopter journey.  We are committed to identifying excellent practice that is currently 

happening in the region and provide this as a consistent offer to children and adopters.  

We are also looking at ways we can practise differently to improve services and will aim 

to be an innovative and forward looking service.   

In working together to extend and improve the early permanence planning for children 

we can ensure that children have the best start in life by being part of a permanent, safe 

and loving family as early as possible in their lives.  Our RAA will be giving particular 

consideration to the strong links required with the teams who care plan for children so 

we are involved and informed at the earliest possible stage.   

Early permanence planning will ensure that we are working together to seek the right 

adoptive family as early as possible.  We can develop recruitment and marketing 

strategies that target recruitment of families that can best meet the needs of the children 

for whom we are seeking families.  Together we can use our combined expertise to 

prepare children to move to their new families and support adoptive families with 

bespoke adoption support to meet child and adopter needs.   

Accessing good independent birth family support is essential and we can across the 

region look for innovative and sensitive ways of providing this service based on research 

and good outcomes.  

Foster to Adopt and Concurrency planning for children is strong and effective in parts of 

the proposed Regional Adoption Agency area and the expectation is that this early 

placement planning can be further extended across other areas.   

 

Strengths of the Existing Local Adoption System to be Built On 

There are already in place a number of joint training opportunities between the VAAs, 

Adoption Support Agencies and Cumbria, Durham and Together for Children 

Sunderland.  Maintaining the current consistently high quality of training and 

assessments of adopters and the needs of children is essential and new training and 

mentoring will be identified through the work streams and additional and targeted 

training developed and shared.   

Digital Life Story Work has been developed by one of the VAAs in the area and they are 

working closely with one local authority to support children in using this new and exciting 

form of life story work.  This is something that would be extended across the RAA areas.   

Page 340



 17 New project proposal 

 

 

What is next for 2018-19? 

This section asks you to provide detail on the focus for your project in the next phase of 

work, and will need to be clear regarding what you will do to take your project to the next 

stage. You should focus on how the work of the project will enable you to answer the 

questions in section 3 in more detail than you can at this point in the process.   

 Please provide us with a copy of your project plan for the initial development phase 

(2018-19), using the provided template. 
 

 Please provide us with a copy of your financial plan (this doesn’t need to extend 

beyond March 2019 at this stage) using the embedded template. Please indicate for 

each budget line where you are confident about costs or where you are making 

estimates - please also describe any assumptions. 

Section 5: What is next? 

Plans to develop your RAA 

 

 Please summarise the overarching aims of your project in 2018-19 and the 

main activities you will carry out to reach these aims.  

 We will read this alongside your project plan so please ensure the two tell a 

coherent narrative about your aims and how you will achieve these. All projects 

should outline what steps will be taken to ensure your RAA has excellent 

practice at its heart. 

 Work to be done in 2018/2019 from April 2018 is detailed on the Project Plan 

however we intend to start working on the Project Plan as early as January 

2018 and will plan towards implementation by October 2019.  

 Setting up of Governance Board and Project Board 

 Governance Board with Chair being a DCS chosen from Cumbria, Durham or 

Together for Children Sunderland. 

 Recruitment of Project Manager 

 Agreeing the terms of reference, working groups and timetable for the work 

streams.  

 Regular Governance Board meetings to ensure that financial and cabinet 

decision are made in a timely manner and by those able to make those 

decisions.  Frequency of meetings to be agreed, however, frequency needs to 

reflect the timescales necessary to progress the project towards final design 

and implementation planning 

 Project Board with correct membership to be set up and to begin setting out the 

work programme for each of the leads and frequency of meetings to be at a 

level again to avoid any delay in the development work being held up by 

Page 341



 18 New project proposal 

waiting for decisions to be made either at Project Board level or Governance 

Board. 

 Governance and Project Board will ensure that work stream explore areas of 

excellent practice delivered by local authorities and VAAs and learn from 

innovative work currently being undertaken.  With the objective of ensuring that 

the RAA has excellent practice at its heart.  

 Sufficiency Strategy work to be completed by all involved – children and 

numbers of adopters to inform recruitment, training, assessment, matching and 

linking, adoption support and birth parent support.  

 Expectation is to complete work to understand practice during April – 

September 2018 and the implications from this in identifying the delivery model 

by December 2018.  

 

We are aware of the need for decisions regarding the financial input required from 

each local authority.  The work described above will help us formulate the options.  

We need to consider what we do currently spend, what budget we will need, what staff 

we will need.  Answers to these questions together with the exploration of good 

practice to be adopted by the RAA as a whole will enable us to set out a clear case for 

change.  The work on ensuring that we have a sound understanding of current spend 

and allocation of budgets will be done April – September 2018.  Having this 

information will give us a firm base from which to project future budgets as we explore 

delivery options for the RAA.   

 

Project management and specific areas to consider 

Please set out: 

 How will you project manage the development phase?  

 What are the top 3 priorities for your project? 

 What are the top 3 risks for this phase of work? How will you manage them?  

 What are the dependencies for the project? What is needed to help make your 

project a success?  

 

Project Manager to be appointed early by the Governance Board early in 2018 with 

the aim to have someone in post to drive the project and develop a detailed project 

plan with key milestones and measurable timescales forward throughout 2018.  

 

Project Manager will work closely with the work stream leads to bring together 

information for analysis toward the end of the September 2018.   

 

Specialist advice together with lessons learned from other RAAs involved in phases 1 

and 2 will be used to support the work of the work streams and the Governance and 

Project Boards.   

Page 342



 19 New project proposal 

 

Members of both the Governance and Project Boards are committed to working within 

the timescales of the development project with agreement to progress each stage 

through decision making via Chief Executives and Cabinet within each local authority.   

 

Monthly Governance and Project Board meetings will ensure that work is kept to 

timescales and the expectation is that service delivery model will be identified 

between September – December 2018 and Business and Implementation Plan 

developed by the end of March 2019 for going live in October 2019. 

 

Top 3 Priorities for the initial phase of the project are: 

1. To develop a service design that incorporates best practice leading to improved 
outcomes for children.  

2. To understand the financial baseline.  
3. Using information from the work streams and performance data analysis to 

consider the most appropriate delivery model.   
 

Top 3 risks for this phase of the work 

 

The 3 risks are all linked to timing of setting up the project as any delays in starting as 

early as the New Year 2018 will impact upon completing the first part of the work 

which will focus upon financial planning and auditing of current service provision and 

future trends.  

 

1. Delay in setting up a functioning Project and Governance Board in order to 
ensure that decisions are made in a timely way about the direction of work in 
the first crucial months of the project development phase.  
 

 
2. Delay in recruiting the right Project Manager due to lack of availability of a 

candidate with the right skill and knowledge base.  
 

3. The development phase of this project is dependent upon financial support via 
the DfE grants as specific individuals need to be recruited and backfill for 
officers taking time from their substantive post to make a major contribution to 
the development of the RAA.  

 
 
There is a commitment from Sunderland City Council to the development of the Coast 
to Coast RAA.  Clear decisions about how any management oversight will be 
demonstrated by Sunderland City Council where this is required separately from, or in 
addition to Together for Children Sunderland are being clarified.  The RAA Project 
proposal has been developed in consultation with senior council officers (in addition to 
senior staff within Together for Children).  Cabinet endorsement will be sought for the 
proposal at the next cabinet meeting to be held on 10 January 2018.   

 
Page 343



 20 New project proposal 

 

What are the dependencies for the project and what is needed to help make it a 

success 

 

1. A clear commitment to this RAA policy being communicated to lead members, 
DCSs and Chief Executives by the DfE.   

 

2. The agreement of DfE funding to take forward the Coast to Coast development 
project.  

 

3. Commitment from Governance Board and Project Board to work within the tight 
timescale of this 18-month project.   

 

Funding required to develop the RAA 

 

 Based on your financial plan, please provide us with an overview of what the 

funding will achieve next financial year (2018-19).  

 At this point, do you envisage needing set-up funding beyond 2018-19? If so 

please provide an indication of how your grant allocation will be spread across 

financial years. 

Overview of how funding will be used during 2018-19 

 

 Recruitment of Project Manager, Identification of Work Stream Leads, 
agreements in place for involvement of paid staff from VAA Alliance.   

 

 Completion of a sufficiency audit and development of sufficiency 
statement/strategy – to ensure that accurate data is used to base future 
planning and data from previous years used to forecast future need.   

 

 Have a clear understanding of current budget by the end of September 2018 to 
enable forecasting budget requirements across a range of service delivery 
options.   

 

 Excellent practice identification and exploration of what would be required to 
embed this into practice across the RAA.   

 

 Where there are excellent practices currently working between the VAAs and 
LA within the Coast to Coast group – exploration of resources required to 
replicate this across the RAA – funding, practice and legal considerations. Input 
from Children’s Commissioner with this would be helpful at the earliest stages 
of development.   

 

Page 344



 21 New project proposal 

 Identify areas there could be expected savings due to economy of scale and 
reduced duplication in the provision of some services.  

 

 Identification of specific work that will be commissioned by the RAA to maintain 
continuity for some existing services provided by individual LA under Service 
Level Agreements, for example some of the adoption support provision, 
therapeutic services, birth parent support and Post Box Services.   

 

 IT links and information sharing agreements/governance/legal services.   
 

 Consultation with Unions and implications for current staffing levels.   
 

 Identify delivery model and produce final business plan together with RAA 
implementation plan to go live in October 2019.   

 

Set up funding beyond 2018-2019 

 

Set up funding will be required until at least October 2019 as this is the date that we 

intend for the RAA go to live.  

 

 

Support to deliver your RAA  

 

In addition to the financial support outlined above and in your financial plan what 

support do you need to drive your project forward? You should outline: 

 

 What you need from your coach in terms of the level of support and in which 

areas you consider support is needed most. 

 

 Access to up to date information regarding the implementation of RAA’s around 
the country, to ensure opportunities to learn from best practice examples and to 
have early awareness of any specific difficulties or complex situations 
encountered by others to avoid repeating mistakes.  

 

 The support of the DfE coach to provide some of the above, together with 
consultation sessions at each stage of the RAA consultation, planning, design 
and implementation planning.   

 

 At the present time the 3 local authorities within the Coast to Coast area belong 
to two different Adoption Leadership Board areas.  In order to be make full use 
of adoption performance data gathered via the Adoption Leadership Board we 

Page 345



 22 New project proposal 

need this data to be provided to us as a group and so that we can bench mark 
against other RAAs and areas and use this to inform our practice.   It will be 
crucial that we are located within the remit of one ALB only, rather than two.   

 

 

 

 

Page 346



1 
 

For Discussion        APPENDIX 4 

Confidential - Coast to Coast RAA Proposal 

Initial Options Paper on Potential Legal Model for the RAA 

1) Background 

 

Durham County Council, Cumbria County Council and Sunderland City 

Council/Together for Children Sunderland Limited1 are jointly developing a 

proposal for a new regional adoption agency covering their three areas, 

namely the Coast to Coast RAA proposal (“the RAA”).  

 

The purpose of this paper is to consider in outline terms the potential options 

for the legal form of the new RAA and to identify which of these options 

should be subject to further consideration as part of the development of the 

outline business case for the proposal. 

 

2) Key Factors/Considerations 

 

There are a number of key factors and considerations which will influence the 

assessment as to the most appropriate legal model for the new RAA. These 

are set out below. 

 

In summary, the model for the RAA needs to: 

 

[DN: this section should refer to the key objectives/vision for the new RAA and 

against which each potential model can then be fully assessed in due course. 

I appreciate this is work in progress. By way of illustration, the key factors may 

include: 

 

(i) The agreed vision for the RAA [to be defined and based on service 

outcomes]; 

(ii) The establishment of a single legal entity as the RAA in order to 

enable the effective discharge of the relevant adoption functions of the 

three Councils; 

(iii) To provide a fully co-ordinated, pooled, consistent and innovative 

practice model for adoption services across a wide geographical area; 

(iv) To provide clear, transparent and effective governance arrangements 

within the RAA and between the Councils; 

                                                           
1 Sunderland has outsourced the performance of its children’s social care functions (including the adoption 
functions) to TfC (a wholly-owned Teckal compliant company) in accordance with Section 1 CYPA 2008. This 
arrangement is also reflected in a DfE Direction dated March 2017. 

Page 347



2 
 

(v) To provide clarity and transparency between the respective roles and 

responsibilities of the RAA and the Councils; 

(vi) To provide a structure that is lawful, namely one that is within the 

scope of the Councils’ legal powers2 and is compliant with public 

procurement law to permit the direct procurement of adoption agency 

services by the Councils from the RAA3; 

(vii) To enable effective collaboration between the RAA and existing 

voluntary adoption agencies (VAAs) [we need to be clear on the 

intended role of VAAs as this impacts on the model]; 

(viii) To provide the most tax efficient structure possible in order to minimise 

additional VAT costs arising under the RAA proposal; and 

(ix) To minimise any additional costs and risks arising to the Councils 

(either directly or indirectly) as a result of the new RAA arrangements 

(e.g. equal pay risks).  

 

3) Summary of Potential Legal Forms 

 

The current DfE guidance on the establishment of regional adoption agencies 

identifies four potential legal models for an RAA.  

 

Based on the (draft) key factors and considerations outlined in Section 2 

above, I agree that the four models identified by the DfE are the most suitable 

potential options for the RAA, albeit it should be noted that there are a number 

of variations that can exist under each model. Some of these variants are 

identified below. 

 

Further, it should be noted that at this stage it is still to be determined how 

Sunderland will participate in the proposed RAA i.e. whether it will be the 

Council or TfC (as the Council’s current outsourced service provider and a 

VAA) (or both) who should participate in the formal arrangements. Given that 

Sunderland’s adoption functions are currently subject to the DfE Direction, 

dialogue will be required with the DfE in the coming months. 

 

However, depending upon which model is identified as the preferred option, 

this could impact on how Sunderland participates under the model. For 

example, if the preference is Option 3.2 (Controlled company) then it would 

                                                           
2 Principally Sections 101 (power to delegate to another local authority or a joint committee of two or more 
authorities) and 111 (power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate the discharge of any of their 
functions) of the Local Government Act 1972; Sections 1 and 2 (power to contract out the discharge of care 
functions) Children and Young Persons Act 2008; and Section 1 (general power of competence) Localism Act 
2011. 
3 The model will need to comply with Regulation 12 (contracts between public sector entities) of The Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 i.e. the model must be either (i) a Teckal compliant company jointly controlled by 
the Councils which meets the control and activities tests; or (ii) meet the Hamburg Waste tests of mutual inter-
contracting authority co-operation  to provide public services in the public interest.   

Page 348



3 
 

appear that the Council, rather than TfC should participate due to the 

provisions of the CYPA 2008 (which do not appear to permit formal sub-

delegation of functions by TfC to a third party) and similarly if the preference is 

Option 3.1 and another authority is to act as host, then the Council rather than 

TfC should participate. However, if it was to be agreed that Sunderland should 

act as host then Option 3.4(i) could also be a potential option.  

 

The four potential legal forms for the RAA are as follows: 

 

3.1 RAA hosted by single lead Council 

 

Under this model, one Council would act as lead authority and host the 

RAA on behalf of the other Councils under a shared service 

arrangement. No new legal entity is created. 

 

The host authority would act as the accountable body for the RAA and 

exercise the relevant statutory functions on behalf of the Councils.  

 

The host authority would therefore hold the pooled budget for the RAA, 

employ the relevant staff via TUPE and hold, or have rights to use, the 

relevant service assets. 

 

It would also be assumed that the host authority would provide all or 

most of the relevant support services to the RAA. 

 

Operational decision making within the RAA (i.e. the day-to-day agency 

decision maker functions) would be carried out by the host authority, 

whilst the strategic management and performance of the RAA would 

then be overseen by a partnership board, or potentially a formal joint 

committee4, of the three Councils. 

 

This arrangement would be governed by a partnership agreement 

between the Councils under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 

1972. This would appoint the host authority and formally delegate the 

exercise of the adoption functions of each Council to the host (subject 

to the supervision of the joint board or committee of the three Councils) 

for the duration of the RAA. The agreement would also cover, amongst 

other things, governance, budget/funding, performance framework, 

staff and assets. 

 

                                                           
4 The detailed governance arrangements for the preferred model will need to be developed in due course. A 
formal joint committee of the three Councils is an option under Sections 101(5) and 102 of the 1972 Act but is 
not essential. The alternative would be to establish a strategic partnership board under the shared service 
agreement. My initial view is that the latter may be more appropriate in this case. 

Page 349



4 
 

This legal form meets the majority, if not all, of the key factors and 

considerations set out in Section 2 above.  

However, some of the initial questions arising under this model are: 

 

(a) Are the Councils content for one authority to host the functions as 

part of their own in-house operations (subject to the joint 

governance arrangements to be agreed for the partnership)? Or 

should the RAA have its own separate corporate identity distinct 

from each Council and a greater degree of day-to-day operational 

independence from each Council?;  

 

(b) Potential workforce harmonisation issues for the host authority. 

 

3.2 RAA established as a jointly owned local authority company  

 

Under this model, the RAA would be established as a jointly owned 

local authority company by the three Councils. 

 

The relevant RAA adoption functions would then be performed on 

behalf of the three Councils on an arms’ length basis by the new jointly 

owned company via a service contract(s).  

 

The company would need to be controlled jointly by the three councils 

and carry out at least 80% of its activities for the three councils .This is 

sometimes described as the Teckal test and would need to be passed  

to enable the three Councils to contract directly with it for the 

performance of the relevant adoption functions for the duration of the 

RAA.  

 

Each Council would directly contribute to the company’s budget 

through an annual contract payment. The relevant staff and assets 

would transfer to the new company. 

 

Support service arrangements between the company and the Councils 

would also need to be established. As under this model there is no 

single lead authority, the support service functions could be 

apportioned across a number of the Councils. 

 

The Councils could rely on their powers under Sections 1 and 2 of the 

CYPA 2008 to formally contract out the performance of their adoption 

functions to the company, provided the company is registered with 

Ofsted as an adoption agency. 

 

Page 350



5 
 

As a requirement of the CYPA 2008, the company must be a “not for 

profit” body corporate. Therefore, the company would need to be 

limited by guarantee (rather than limited by shares) and the three 

Councils would be the sole members of the company. 

 

A company limited by guarantee has a well-established, clear and 

flexible governance model.  

 

The management of the company would be vested in the board of 

directors who would act in accordance with the defined objects and in 

the best interests of the company. The board would comprise of 

appointments made by the three Councils (although the board does not 

have to be limited to local authority officers and/o members and could 

include executive directors and/or co-optees). 

 

The company’s members (i.e. the three Councils)would be effectively 

the joint owners of the company and to whom certain key decisions 

may be reserved under the articles of association. 

 

The exact governance arrangements (e.g. the defined objects, the 

composition of the board and the scope and extent of the members’ 

reserved matters) could be designed to meet the requirements of the 

Councils. 

 

This legal form will meet the majority of the key considerations and 

factors set out in Section 2. 

 

However some of the questions arising under this model include: 

 

(i) Do the Councils want to establish an arms’ length (but jointly 

owned) delivery model for the RAA with its own distinct 

corporate identity?; 

(ii) Careful consideration will be required for the VAT position if a 

corporate structure is adopted; 

(iii) A corporate model is likely to give rise to additional operating 

costs than an in-house model (albeit there will be some 

additional operating costs for the RAA under whatever model is 

adopted); and 

(iv) There may be benefits to each Council from a potential equal 

pay risk perspective if the staff are employed within a company 

which is not controlled by any one Council. 

 

 

Page 351



6 
 

3.3 RAA established as a joint venture company between the Councils and 

VAAs 

 

Under this model, the RAA would be formed as a joint venture 

company between the Councils and third parties (e.g. other VAAs). 

 

The key difference between this model and Option 3.2 is that in this 

case the company would not be solely owned by the three Councils 

and would have third party (private) participation in terms of 

membership and voting rights.  

 

Putting to one side key commercial questions such as the extent of 

these third party rights and the level of control that the Councils would 

want to exert within the company, this arrangement would not be 

compliant with the Regulation 12 PCR 2015 public procurement 

exemptions. Therefore, a public procurement exercise would be 

required in order to appoint the relevant joint venture partners. 

 

Accordingly, subject to clarifying the intended role (if any) of existing 

VAAs within the proposed RAA, it is not considered that this option is 

an appropriate form of structure for the RAA. 

 

3.4 Appoint a third party to act as the RAA 

 

There are two potential options under this model: 

 

(i) Appointment by the Councils of TfC to act as the RAA 

 

This is a potential variation on Option 3.1 if TfC (rather than 

Sunderland Council) was to participate in the arrangement on 

the basis that it was agreed TfC should act as the “host 

authority” for the other two Councils. 

 

TfC is a contracting authority in its own right (as a wholly owned 

subsidiary company of Sunderland Council which has been 

established to meet needs in the public interest) and a 

registered VAA. Therefore, it would be appear that a shared 

services arrangement between Durham, Cumbria and TfC under 

which TfC was to act as the “host” authority could be lawfully 

implemented pursuant to Regulation 12 of the PCR 2015 

(mutual co-operation between contracting authorities to provide 

public services in the public interest (see Section 2 above)) and 

Section 1 of the CYPA 2008.  

 

Page 352



7 
 

This option would require a shared services agreement for the 

duration of the RAA similar to Option 3.1. The services contract 

between TfC and Sunderland Council for the provision of 

Sunderland’s adoption services would need to be at least co-

terminus with this shared services agreement.  

 

(ii) Appointment by the Councils of a third party (other than TfC) to 

act as the RAA 

 

Under this option, the Councils would effectively appoint a third 

party VAA (or consortium of VAAs) to act as the RAA on their 

behalf. 

 

As with Option 3.3, this would require a procurement process to 

identify and appoint the third party provider. The Councils would 

then contract with the third party for the performance of the RAA 

functions and the relevant staff would TUPE transfer to the 

provider. 

 

Under this option, the Councils would still need to co-ordinate 

their contract governance and management arrangements via a 

lead authority. 

 

In the circumstances, it is not considered that this option is an 

appropriate form of structure for the RAA. 

 

4) Conclusion and Next Steps 

 

Following an initial review of the potential models for the RAA, it has been 

identified that in principle the following could potentially be appropriate models 

for the RAA, subject to further analysis and discussion in due course (in 

particular once the key factors and considerations in Section 2 have been 

confirmed): 

 

(I) RAA hosted by single lead authority; 

(II) RAA established as a jointly owned local authority company; or 

(III) RAA hosted by TfC. 

 

Jonathan Rowson 

Head of Contractual Relationships 

Sunderland City Council 

August 2018 

Page 353



This page is intentionally left blank



1
EIA Template October 2015

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard.

Section One: Description and Screening

Service/Team or Section CYPS

Lead Officer Karen Robb
Strategic Manager Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers

Title Regionalisation of Adoption Services 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant)

None 

Cabinet Date (if relevant)

Start Date January 2019  (EIA start date November 2018)

Review Date July 2019

Subject of the Impact Assessment

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link):

The Council has responded to the Government requirements for all Local 
Authorities to move to providing adoption services via Regional Adoption Agencies 
(RAA).  The Governments`  aspiration is to have fewer organisations recruiting and 
assessing adopters and having organisations that are operating at much greater 
scale to provide a greater choice of adopters for those children who require them.  
This intention was set out in the Education and Adoption Act 2016 which 
introduced power in March 2018 for the Secretary of State to require local 
authorities to carry out their adoption functions jointly. 

In December 2016 Durham County Council, Cumbria County Council and 
Together for Children/Sunderland City Council began working together with 
assistance from the Department for Education (DfE) to consider how they could 
develop a RAA.  Durham successfully led the bid to ensure that the three Local 
Authorities would comply with the DfE requirements.  This was approved by the 
DfE and another two Local Authorities in principle in March 2018.  Since then the 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services for Durham County Council has chaired 

Page 355



2
EIA Template October 2015

the Governance Board which was awarded a grant from the DfE of £670,000 to 
establish the new organisation by October 2019.

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users):

Staff within Durham CYPS Adoption Service and Childrens Care Planning Teams 
Members of the public who are interested in adopting a child
Birth parents of looked after children
Adopted adults

Screening

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics?

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Positive Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Age ? ?

Disability ? ?

Marriage and civil partnership 
(workplace only)

? ?

Pregnancy and maternity ? ?

Race (ethnicity) ? ?

Religion or Belief ? ?

Sex (gender) ? ?

Sexual orientation ? ?

Transgender ? ?

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment.

Page 356



3
EIA Template October 2015

The move towards a Regional Adoption Agency may cause some disruption to the 
delivery of adoption services to children, adopters and birth families.  It will also 
have an impact on staff.  It could cause a drop in the performance of Durham 
CYPS in relation to the adoption of looked after children which could have an 
adverse impact on the Ofsted outcome for adoption services which is currently 
good. Any drop in performance could also have an impact on the overall outcome 
of Durham CYPS with Ofsted under the ILACS Framework. 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 
 advance equality of opportunity, and 
 foster good relations between people from different groups

The intention behind the RAA is to increase the number of available adoptive 
families for children who need them and to provide increased choice. Working as a 
regional service is intended to reduce the delay in children being adopted by 
having more adopters who are local to meet the needs. Pooling resources across 
the three LA`s and utilising increased resources of the VAA`s is intended to also 
provide a more effective and efficient service to children and their families by 
collectively approaching the recruitment of adopters and the provision of 
placements. 

The RAA will also ensure a consistent and high quality service is provided to all 
children, adopters and birth families across the 3 Local Authorities. 

Evidence

What evidence do you have to support your findings? 
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment.

When a decision is made on the proposal to form a Regional Adoption Agency, 
equality data relating to staff within Durham CYPS Adoption Service Children’s 
Care Planning Teams, members of the public who are interested in adopting a 
child and the birth parents of looked after children will be analysed to identify any 
potential impacts on protected characteristics. 

A full impact assessment will begin following the decision. However, we do not 
have evidence to suggest there will be a significant impact on service users, as the 
proposals are intended to improve the consistency and quality of service for all of 
those who may be affected by adoption.  

Page 357



4
EIA Template October 2015

Screening Summary

On the basis of this screening is there: Confirm which 
refers (Y/N)

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment?

Yes as the 
proposal 
develops

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics?

Sign Off

Lead officer sign off:
Strategic Manager Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers

Date: November 2018

Service equality representative sign off:
Equality and diversity officer

Date: November 2018

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two.

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 
service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 
equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk

 

Page 358

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2018
	4 Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2019-20 and Transfer to High Needs Block -  Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of Resources [Key Decision: CORP/R/18/06]
	Revised Schools Appendix 3
	Revised Schools Appendix 4

	5 Council Activity Report - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	6 Quarter Two 2018/19 Performance Report - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	7 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	8 Town and Village Centres - Way Forward - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	9 Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Review: Role of the Social Worker from a Child's Perspective - Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	10 Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency response to domestic abuse in Durham - Improvement Action Plan - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	JTAI Appendix 2
	JTAI Appendix 3
	JTAI Appendix 4.

	11 Regional Adoption Agency Arrangements - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	RAA Appendix 2
	RAA Appendix 3
	RAA Appendix 4
	RAA Appendix 5


